
1 

 
  
 
 

 
 

 
 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
UPLAND PLANNING COMMISSION  

AGENDA 
 

January 22, 2020 at 6:30 PM 
Council Chambers 

  
ROBIN ASPINALL, CHAIR 

GARY SCHWARY, VICE CHAIR 
CAROLYN ANDERSON, COMMISSIONER 

LINDEN BROUSE, COMMISSIONER 
ALEXANDER NOVIKOV, COMMISSIONER 

YVETTE WALKER, COMMISSIONER 
VACANT, COMMISSIONER 

 
 
CALL TO ORDER OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
ROLL CALL OF THE PLANNING      Chair Aspinall, Vice Chair Schwary, Commissioners  
COMMISSION Anderson, Brouse, Novikov and Walker 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES      December 11, 2019   
 
COUNCIL ACTIONS Robert D. Dalquest, Development Services Director   
 January 13, 2020  
 
FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS Mike Poland, Contract Planning Manager  
 
ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 
 
This is the time for any citizen to comment on any items that are not listed on the agenda under 
“Public Hearings” but within the Planning Commission’s purview. Anyone wishing to address the 
Planning Commission should submit a speaker card to the Planning Secretary prior to speaking. 
The speakers are requested to keep their comments to five (5) minutes. The use of visual aids 
will be included in the time limit. Under the provisions of the Brown Act, the Planning Commission 
is prohibited from taking action on items not listed on the agenda. 
 
 
 



2 

PRESENTATION REGARDING AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
Robert Dalquest, Development Services Director and Liz Chavez, Development Services 
Manager. 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS  
 
1. PUBLIC HEARING FOR SPECIFIC PLAN REVIEW NO. 18-02, GENERAL PLAN 

AMENDMENT NO. 18-04, ZONE CHANGE NO. 18-04, TENTATIVE TRACT NO. 
20245 (TT-18-03), SITE PLAN NO.  18-10, DESIGN REVIEW NO. 18-14, 
AND ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT REVIEW NO. 0070. (Continued from 
December 11, 2019). 

 
A proposed Specific Plan Review and related Planning Entitlements for the development of 
65 single-family detached homes, private open space land uses and infrastructure 
improvements to serve the development. 

 
Project Location: North side of E. 15TH Street, south of the Upland Hills Country Club, and 

approximately 0.25 miles east of North Campus Avenue. APN: 1045-
121-04. 

 

STAFF:  Joshua Winter, Associate Planner 

APPLICANT:  
FH II, LLC (Frontier  Homes) 
2151 E. Convention Center Way #100 
Ontario, CA 91764 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Planning Commission: 

1. Receive staff’s presentation; and 
 

2. Hold a public hearing and receive testimony from the 
public; and 

 

3. Move to adopt a Resolution of the Planning Commission 
of the City of Upland, recommending that the City 
Council approve the Mitigated Negative Declaration, 
Specific Plan Review No. 18-02, General Plan 
Amendment No. 18-04, Zone Change No. 18-04, 
Tentative Tract No. 20245 (TT-18-03), Site Plan No.  18-
10, and Design Review No. 18-14. 

COUNCIL HEARING 
REQUIRED: Yes 

APPEAL PERIOD: N/A 

 
 
2. PUBLIC HEARING FOR CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 19-05, SITE PLAN 

NO. 19-02, DESIGN REVIEW NO. 19-02, TENTATIVE PARCEL MAP NO. 19-
01, AND ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT REVIEW NO. 0079. (Continued 
from December 11, 2019). 

 
The proposed project is for the demolition of an existing building and development of 60 
townhouse apartments within eleven buildings. 
 
Project Location: 760 Mesa Court, APN: 1046-102-130. 

 
 



3 

STAFF:  Joshua Winter, Associate Planner 

APPLICANT:  
Soroush Rahbari 
4790 Irvine Boulevard #105-276 
Irvine, CA 92620 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Planning Commission: 

1. Receive staff’s presentation; and 
 
2. Hold a public hearing and receive testimony from the 

public; and 
 
3. Find the project is Categorically Exempt from 

environmental proceedings pursuant to Article 19, Section 
15332, In-Fill Development Projects, Class 32 (a-e), of the 
California Environmental Quality Act; and 

 
4. Move to adopt a Resolution approving Conditional Use 

Permit No. 19-05, Site Plan No. 19-02, Design Review No. 
19-02, and Tentative Parcel Map No. 19-01, subject to 
conditions of approval as set forth in the Draft Resolution 
dated January 22, 2020.  

COUNCIL HEARING 
REQUIRED: No 

APPEAL PERIOD: 10 days, ending February 3, 2020. 

 
BUSINESS ITEMS 
 
1. Update on landscape maintenance issues at the Upland Hills Country Club (Mike Poland). 
 
COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
Adjourn to the next regular scheduled Planning Commission meeting on February 26, 2020. 
 

NOTICE TO PUBLIC: All maps, environmental information, and other data pertinent to this item are filed in the City of 
Upland Development Services Department and will be available for public inspection prior to the meeting at 460 North 
Euclid Avenue during normal business hours. 
 

If you wish to appeal a decision of the Planning Commission, you must do so within ten (10) calendar days following the 
meeting. Please contact the Planning Division for information regarding the appeal procedure.  
 

If you challenge the public hearing(s) or the related environmental determinations, in court, you may be limited to raising 
only those issues you or someone else raised at the public hearing described in this notice, or in written correspondence 
delivered to the City of Upland, at or prior to, the public hearing.  
 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in this meeting, please 
contact the Planning Division at 931-4305. Notification 48 hours prior to the meeting will enable the City to make 
reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility to this meeting. [28 CFR 35.102-35.104 ADA Title II] 

POSTING STATEMENT:  On January 16, 2020, at least 72 hours prior to the meeting, a true and correct copy of this 
agenda was posted on the bulletin boards at 460 N. Euclid Avenue (Upland City Hall) and 450 N. Euclid Avenue (Upland 
Public Library) per Government Code Section 54954.2. 

 



Page 1 

 

MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
UPLAND PLANNING COMMISSION HELD 

WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 11, 2019 
AT 6:30 P.M. 

 
CALL TO ORDER OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING  
 
Chair Aspinall called the Regular Meeting of the Upland Planning Commission to order in the Council Chambers of 
the Upland City Hall at 6:30 P.M. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
The pledge of allegiance was led by Commissioner Anderson.  
 
ROLL CALL 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT: Commissioners Anderson, Novikov, Walker, Vice Chair Schwary, and Chair 

Aspinall 
  
MEMBERS ABSENT: Commissioner Brouse  
 
ALSO PRESENT: Development Services Director and Planning Commission Secretary Dalquest, 

Contract Planning Manager Poland, Associate Planner Winter, Assistant Planner 
Hong, Senior Administrative Assistant Davidson, Deputy City Attorney Shah  

 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
Moved by Vice Chair Schwary, to approve of the minutes of the Planning Commission meeting of November 13, 
2019. 
 
The motion was seconded by Commissioner Anderson.  
 
The motion carried by the following vote:  
 
AYES:    Commissioners Anderson, Novikov, Walker, Vice Chair Schwary, and Chair Aspinall 
 
NAYS:      None      ABSTAINED:       None 
 
ABSENT: Commissioner Brouse 
 
COMMISSION COMMUNICATION 
 
Vice Chair Schwary spoke about the email policy for contacting Planning Commissioners.  
 
Development Services Director Dalquest spoke about the recommendations made by the City Attorney as a result of 
the initial inquiry and associated changes in the process.  
 
Deputy City Attorney Shah spoke about concerns for Brown Act violations via email communications, and indicated 
that the City’s policy is meant to safeguard against potential violations.  She also noted that the City Council would 
need to determine any changes made to the policy.   
 
Vice Chair Schwary inquired about future discussions regarding affordable housing.   
 
Development Services Director Dalquest indicated that the discussion is being agendized for the January 22, 2020 
Planning Commission Meeting.   



MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
UPLAND PLANNING COMMISSION                    DECEMBER 11, 2019 
 

Page 2 

COUNCIL ACTIONS  
 
Development Services Director Dalquest provided a brief follow up on the November 25th Council Meeting, noting 
that the Council approved the second reading of a sidewalk vending Ordinance; and set a public hearing and first 
reading of an Ordinance to adopt the 2019 California Building Code.  He also noted that at the meeting of December 
9th, the Council approved seven (7) Mill’s Act applications for single-family dwellings.   
 
FUTURE AGENDAS  
 
Contract Planning Manager Poland indicated that at the January 22, 2020 meeting there will be a presentation on 
Affordable Housing and a continuation of Item 5, Public Hearing for Specific Plan Review No. 18-02, General Plan 
Amendment No. 18-04, Zone Change No. 18-04, Tentative Tract No. 20245 (TT-18-03), Site Plan No.  18-10, Design 
Review No. 18-14, and Environmental Assessment Review No. 0070.  He also noted that there is also a review of 
the State’s new requirements for Accessory Dwelling Units tentatively scheduled. 
 
ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 
 
Chair Aspinall  stated this is the time for any citizen to comment on any items that are not listed on the agenda under 
“Public Hearings” but within the Planning Commission’s purview.  Anyone wishing to address the Planning 
Commission should submit a speaker card to the Planning Secretary prior to speaking. The speakers are requested to 
keep their comments to five (5) minutes. The use of visual aids will be included in the time limit. Under the provisions 
of the Brown Act, the Planning Commission is prohibited from acting on items not listed on the agenda.   
 
Roger Stephenson spoke in opposition to the Bridge Development; and expressed concerns for the number of trucks 
and delivery van trips and related impacts on infrastructure, as a potential result of the operation.  He also displayed 
photos for the record from the impacts from a similar facility on Euclid and Kimball; and spoke about potential issues 
with high capacity at intersections around the City.     
 
In response to Roger Stephenson’s comments, Development Services Director Dalquest indicated the next workshop 
on the project mentioned will be a joint meeting of the City Council and the Planning Commission, strictly on the 
environmental documents. 
 
Contract Planning Manager Poland provided information related to the public notice for the review period for the 
environmental documents on the Bridge Development project and indicated where the public can view the 
documents.   
 
Jim Mc Joynt spoke about the report on upcoming Planning developments and requested more specificity be included 
with regards to occupancy for the proposed developments.   
 
Noting there were no further members of the public wishing to address the Commission, Chair Aspinall closed the 
oral communications.   
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS  
 

1. PUBLIC HEARING FOR TENTATIVE PARCEL MAP NO. 19-02 (TPM 20122). 
 

The proposal is a request to subdivide one lot into three lots.  
 

Project Location:   494 N. Mountain Avenue, APN: 1007-521-05.  
 

STAFF:        Jacqueline Hong, Assistant Planner 

APPLICANT:  
      Steward Plaza, LLC 
      400 N Mountain Ave, Ste 200 
      Upland, CA.91784 



MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
UPLAND PLANNING COMMISSION                    DECEMBER 11, 2019 
 

Page 3 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Planning Commission: 
1. Receive staff’s presentation; 

 
2. Hold a public hearing and receive testimony from the public; 

 
3. Find that the project is Categorically Exempt from further 

environmental proceedings pursuant to Article 19, Section 15315, 
Minor Land Divisions of the California Environmental Quality Act 
Guidelines; and 

 
4. Move to adopt a Resolution approving Tentative Parcel Map No. 19-

02 (TPM 20122), subject to conditions of approval as set forth in the 
Draft Resolution dated December 11, 2019. 

COUNCIL HEARING 
REQUIRED:       No 

APPEAL PERIOD:       10 days, ending December 23, 2019. 

 
Assistant Planner Hong presented the details of the staff report, including location; General Plan and Zoning 
designation; current uses; subdivision request; breakdown of proposed parcels 1, 2 and 3; minimum parcel sizes for 
the zone; parking code requirements; elevations; findings; review by the Technical Review Committee; and staff 
recommendations.   
 
Commissioner Walker inquired as to future maintenance of the property.  
 
In response to Commissioner Walker’s inquiry, Assistant Planner Hong indicated that there are separate Conditions 
of Approval which include provisions for property maintenance.  
 
Development Services Director Dalquest confirmed that CC&R’s are required and maintenance is a condition, as 
well as access and common improvements.   
 
Serge Bonaldo, applicant, indicated that there are measures in place to insure property maintenance.  He also indicated 
parking is addressed in the CC&R’s.  
 
Vice Chair Schwary requested clarification on existing parcels, ownership and the option to purchase with the future 
development.    
 
In response to Vice Chair Schwary’s inquiry, Serge Bonaldo indicated that the developer is looking to give existing 
tenants an opportunity to own their own property.  He also spoke about interest in purchasing by existing tenants.   
 
Chair Aspinall inquired about shared parking.   
 
In response to Chair Aspinall’s inquiry, Serge Bonaldo indicated there will be a reciprocal parking agreement.  
 
Chair Aspinall opened the public hearing.  Seeing no members of the public wishing to address the Commission, 
Chair Aspinall closed the public hearing.  
 
Vice Chair Schwary moved to find that the project is Categorically Exempt from further environmental proceedings 
pursuant to Article 19, Section 15315, Minor Land Divisions of the California Environmental Quality Act Guidelines; 
and moved to adopt a Resolution approving Tentative Parcel Map No. 19-02 (TPM 20122), subject to conditions of 
approval as set forth in the Draft Resolution dated December 11, 2019. 
 
The motion was seconded by Commissioner Anderson.    
 
The motion carried by the following vote:  
 
AYES:    Commissioners Anderson, Novikov, Walker, Vice Chair Schwary, and Chair Aspinall 



MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
UPLAND PLANNING COMMISSION                    DECEMBER 11, 2019 
 

Page 4 

NAYS:  None  ABSTAINED:  None 
 
ABSENT: Commissioner Brouse 
 

2. PUBLIC HEARING FOR CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 19-12, SITE PLAN NO. 19-11, DESIGN 
REVIEW NO. 19-18, AND ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT REVIEW NO. 0038. 

 
The proposed project is a 35,015 square foot supermarket and an ABC Type 21 License for the sale of beer, 
wine, and distilled spirits for consumption off the premises. 

 
Project Location: 235 E. Foothill Boulevard, APN: 1045-551-20. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Assistant Planner Hong presented the details of the staff report including proposal; proposed location; hours of 
operation; ABC Type 21 License request; Police Department recommendations; site plan; floor plan; parking code 
and parking deficiency; parking analysis results; center architectural design; review by the Technical Review 
Committee; CEQA exemption; and staff recommendations.   
 
Vice Chair Schwary inquired as to the deficiency in 37 parking spaces.   
 
In response to Vice Chair Schwary’s inquiry, Assistant Planner Hong indicated that recent center renovations have 
resulted in the deficiency in parking spaces, however parking has been addressed in past entitlements.  
 
Development Services Director Dalquest added that in accordance with the municipal code, the parking is deficient, 
however, the applicant has the opportunity to submit their own parking analysis to review parking demand by land 
use.  He expressed confidence in the results of the applicant’s parking analysis based on peak time demand.   
 
Commissioner Walker further inquired as to the parking requirement for retail uses.   
 
In response to Commissioner Walker’s  inquiry, Development Services Director Dalquest explained the base formulas 
for parking based on use.  
 
Contract Planning Manager Poland spoke about the reduction which would be necessary to meet parking 
requirements.   
 

STAFF:        Jacqueline Hong, Assistant Planner  

APPLICANT:  
      Upland Village Shopping Center  
      2950 Airway Avenue  
      Costa Mesa, CA 92929 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Planning Commission: 
1. Receive staff’s presentation; 

 
2. Hold a public hearing and receive testimony from the public; 

 
3. Find the project is Categorically Exempt from environmental 

proceedings pursuant to Article 19, Section 15332, In-Fill 
Development Projects, Class 32 (a-e), of the California Environmental 
Quality Act; and 

 
4. Move to adopt a Resolution approving Conditional Use Permit No. 19-

12, Site Plan No. 19-11, Design Review No. 19-18 and Environmental 
Assessment Review No. EAR-0088, subject to conditions of approval 
as set forth in the Draft Resolution dated December 11, 2019. 

COUNCIL HEARING 
REQUIRED: No 

APPEAL PERIOD: 10 days, ending December 23, 2019. 



MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
UPLAND PLANNING COMMISSION                    DECEMBER 11, 2019 
 

Page 5 

Commissioner Novikov expressed concerns with the proximity to the existing Girl Scout facility and related sale of 
alcohol.  
 
In response to Commissioner Novikov’s inquiry, Development Services Director Dalquest indicated that ABC 
provisions exist for schools, but not necessarily administrative offices for groups such as the Girl Scouts.  
 
Chair Aspinall further inquired to the use of the Girl Scout facility.   
 
In response to Chair Aspinall’s inquiry, Development Services Director Dalquest indicated that he was not certain, 
however, there are several buildings located on the subject property.   
 
Commissioner Anderson inquired as to the tenant who will be occupying the building.  She also expressed concern 
for potential vacancy.  
 
Chair Aspinall inquired if the perspective tenant would be required to comply with the City’s sign policy.   
 
In response to Chair Aspinall’s inquiry, Development Services Director Dalquest indicated that the tenant would be 
required to comply with the City’s sign policy.   
 
Matthew Bush, applicant, indicated that he is unable to disclose the tenant at this time, however, indicated that the 
tenant will be a full-use store and he does not believe there are any current similar models. 
 
Chair Aspinall inquired as to the hours of operation.  
 
Discussion ensued related to the proposed hours of operation; typical hours of operation for supermarkets;  negotiated 
hours per the lease; and the potential for an earlier closing time.   
 
Chair Aspinall inquired as to any concerns or conditions assessed by the Police Department.  
 
In response to Chair Aspinall’s inquiry, Development Services Director Dalquest indicated the zone does not set a 
parameter on the hours of operation and that the Police Department conditions are located in the draft Resolution.  
He also noted that the Police Department did not put any restrictions on hours of operation, however, they are 
requiring digital video surveillance system and a six-month review.   
 
Matthew Bush, applicant, expanded on the business model of the proposed tenant and reiterated that he cannot discuss 
further details due to his inability to disclose the tenant.  He also indicated that although he is unable to disclose the 
duration of the lease, he assured the Commission the lease is long-term.   
 
Chair Aspinall opened the public hearing.  Seeing no members of the public wishing to address the Commission, 
Chair Aspinall closed the public hearing.  
 
Vice Chair Schwary spoke about revenue potential for the City and the potential for limiting hours of operation.   
 
In response to Vice Chair Schwary’s comments, Development Services Director Dalquest confirmed that the Police 
Department did not assess any restrictions related to hours of operation, however they did indicate they would be 
conducting a six-month review to ensure compliance; will be requiring a digital video surveillance system; and 
indicated no alcohol may be consumed on the property.  He also spoke about the six-month review period and 
requirements which would need to be met, should the Conditions of Approval need to be amended.  
 
Commissioner Walker inquired as to the possibility to reduce the footprint to accommodate extra parking.   
 
In response to Commissioner Walker’s inquiry, Matthew Bush indicated that the reduction of footprint is not a viable 
option.   
 
Development Services Director Dalquest reiterated his confidence in the parking study.   
 
Matthew Bush, applicant, spoke about the existing condition of the center, and the potential positive impact on the 
community the tenant could have.   



MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
UPLAND PLANNING COMMISSION                    DECEMBER 11, 2019 
 

Page 6 

Vice Chair Schwary  moved to find that the project is Categorically Exempt from environmental proceedings pursuant 
to Article 19, Section 15332, In-Fill Development Projects, Class 32 (a-e), of the California Environmental Quality 
Act; and moved to adopt a Resolution approving Conditional Use Permit No. 19-12, Site Plan No. 19-11, Design 
Review No. 19-18 and Environmental Assessment Review No. EAR-0088, subject to conditions of approval as set 
forth in the Draft Resolution dated December 11, 2019, as amended to add the conditions that there would be a six-
month review by the Police Department to evaluate hours of operation and parking. 
 
The motion was seconded by Commissioner Anderson.     
 
The motion carried by the following vote:  
 
AYES:    Commissioners Anderson, Novikov, Walker, Vice Chair Schwary, and Chair Aspinall 
 
NAYS:  None  ABSTAINED:  None 
 
ABSENT: Commissioner Brouse 
 
3. PUBLIC HEARING FOR CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 19-08, SITE PLAN NO. 19-05, 

DESIGN REVIEW NO. 19-08, STREET VACATION NO. 19-01, AND ENVIRONMENTAL 
ASSESSMENT REVIEW NO. 0082. 

 
The proposed project is for a Starbucks with a drive-thru and a street vacation of the frontage road. 
 
Project Location: 275 E. Foothill Boulevard, APN: 1045-551-04.  
 

STAFF:       Joshua Winter, Associate Planner 

APPLICANT:  
     Upland Village Shopping Center 
     2950 Airway Avenue 
     Costa Mesa, CA 92626 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Planning Commission: 
1. Receive staff’s presentation; and 

 
2. Hold a public hearing and receive testimony from the public; and 

 
3. Find that finding for General Plan Conformity of the Street Vacation 

(SV-19-01) is Categorically Exempt from environmental proceedings 
pursuant to Article 5, Section 15061(b)(3), the activity is covered by the 
common sense exemption that The CEQA Guidelines apply only to 
projects which have the potential for causing a significant effect on the 
environment; and 

 
4. Find that the Street Vacation (SV-19-01) is in conformity with the City 

of Upland General Plan; and 
 

5. Recommend the City Council find the project is Categorically Exempt 
from environmental proceedings pursuant to Article 19, Section 15332, 
In-Fill Development Projects, Class 32 (a-e), of the California 
Environmental Quality Act; and 

 
6. Move to adopt a Resolution recommending that the City Council approve 

Conditional Use Permit No. 19-08, Site Plan No. 19-05, Design Review 
No. 19-08, Environmental Assessment Review No. EAR-0082, and 
Street Vacation No. 19-01, subject to conditions of approval as set forth 
in the Draft Resolution dated December 11, 2019. 

COUNCIL HEARING 
REQUIRED: Yes 

APPEAL PERIOD: N/A 



MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
UPLAND PLANNING COMMISSION                    DECEMBER 11, 2019 
 

Page 7 

Associate Planner Winter presented the details of the staff report, including the proposal; project location; General 
Plan Designation and Zoning; existing conditions; vehicle circulation; proposed design; floor plan; General Plan 
conformance; CEQA findings; Conditions of Approval; and staff recommendations.  
 
Vice Chair Schwary expressed concerns for the drive-thru and management of cars in the drive-thru queue.   
 
In response to Vice Chair Schwary’s inquiry, Associate Planner Winter indicated that there is a Condition of 
Approval that requires the operator to address any issues that are caused, and the operator would be required to 
implement measures to the satisfaction of the Development Services Director.      
 
Chair Aspinall inquired as to inquired as to who the owner of the Starbucks will be; the walking paths; and ADA 
access to enter the tenant space.  She also inquired as to the doors facing Foothill Boulevard.  
 
In response to Chair Aspinall’s inquiry, Associate Planner Winter indicated that the property owner is the same 
owner as the previous item, and Starbucks will lease the building.  He also pointed out pathways and ADA access 
ways and noted the doors facing Foothill Boulevard are utility doors.  
 
Discussion ensued related to design, landscaping, utility doors and enhanced design elements.   
 
Commissioner Anderson expressed concern for back-up traffic and suggested a two-lane design.   
 
In response to Commissioner Anderson’s inquiry, Associate Planner Winter indicated that the two-lane design was 
not proposed, and the space is fairly narrow.   He also indicated that as part of Conditions of Approval, there is a six 
(6) month review period.  
 
Chair Aspinall inquired as to next steps with regards to the multiple applications.  
 
In response to Chair Aspinall’s  inquiry, Associate Planner Winter indicated that procedurally, as there are multiple 
applications at once time, the approval goes to the highest authority, which would be under the purview of the City 
Council.   
 
Chair Aspinall opened the public hearing. 
 
Matthew Bush, applicant, spoke about the design of the drive-thru and indicated that the design eliminates a back-up 
of traffic on to Foothill Boulevard.  He also spoke about State Water Board requirements in the landscaping area; 
and addressed areas where design can be changed or added.  
 
Dr. Nehal Zaveri, adjacent tenant, expressed concerns for parking for his staff and access for dental patients.   
 
Associate Planner Winter indicated that per the Municipal Code, the dental office has adequate parking.  
 
Dede Ramela spoke in opposition to the project and expressed concern for the traffic back-up on Foothill Boulevard.  
 
Matthew Bush, applicant, reiterated the design process with regards to the drive-thru; and spoke about the Conditions 
of Approval with regards to ADA accessibility and additional parking.   
 
Seeing no further members of the public wishing to address the Commission, Chair Aspinall closed the public 
hearing.  
 
Commissioner Anderson  moved to find that the finding for General Plan Conformity of the Street Vacation (SV-19-
01) is Categorically Exempt from environmental proceedings pursuant to Article 5, Section 15061(b)(3), the activity 
is covered by the common sense exemption that The CEQA Guidelines apply only to projects which have the 
potential for causing a significant effect on the environment; and move to find that the Street Vacation (SV-19-01) 
is in conformity with the City of Upland General Plan; and recommend the City Council find the project is 
Categorically Exempt from environmental proceedings pursuant to Article 19, Section 15332, In-Fill Development 
Projects, Class 32 (a-e), of the California Environmental Quality Act; and move to adopt a Resolution recommending 
that the City Council approve Conditional Use Permit No. 19-08, Site Plan No. 19-05, Design Review No. 19-08, 
Environmental Assessment Review No. EAR-0082, and Street Vacation No. 19-01, subject to conditions of approval 



MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
UPLAND PLANNING COMMISSION                    DECEMBER 11, 2019 
 

Page 8 

as set forth in the Draft Resolution dated December 11, 2019, as amended to add a Condition of Approval providing 
for the addition of enhancements to the south façade.  
 
The motion was seconded by Chair Aspinall.     
 
The motion carried by the following vote:  
 
AYES:    Commissioners Anderson, Novikov, Walker, and Chair Aspinall 
 
NAYS:  Vice Chair Schwary ABSTAINED:  None 
 
ABSENT: Commissioner Brouse 
 
Chair Aspinall inquired as to the date in which the City Council review will take place.  
 
In response to Chair Aspinall’s inquiry, Development Services Director Dalquest indicated the item will most likely 
go before the City Council in early February.  
 
4. PUBLIC HEARING FOR CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 19-05, SITE PLAN NO. 19-02, 

DESIGN REVIEW NO. 19-02, TENTATIVE PARCEL MAP NO. 19-01, AND ENVIRONMENTAL 
ASSESSMENT REVIEW NO. 0079. 

 
The proposed project is for the demolition of an existing building and development of 60 townhouse apartments 
within eleven buildings. 
 
Project Location: 760 Mesa Court, APN: 1046-102-130. 
 

STAFF:       Joshua Winter, Associate Planner 

APPLICANT:  
     Soroush Rahbari 
     4790 Irvine Boulevard #105-276 
     Irvine, CA 92620 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Planning Commission: 
1. Receive staff’s presentation; and 

 
2. Hold a public hearing and receive testimony from the public; and 

 
3. Find the project is Categorically Exempt from environmental proceedings 

pursuant to Article 19, Section 15332, In-Fill Development Projects, 
Class 32 (a-e), of the California Environmental Quality Act; and 

 
4. Move to adopt a Resolution approving Conditional Use Permit No. 19-

05, Site Plan No. 19-02, Design Review No. 19-02, Environmental 
Assessment Review No. EAR-0079, and Tentative Parcel Map No. 19-
01, subject to conditions of approval as set forth in the Draft Resolution 
dated December 11, 2019. 

COUNCIL HEARING 
REQUIRED: No 

APPEAL PERIOD: 10 days, ending December 23, 2019. 

 
Associate Planner Winter presented the details of the staff report, including the General Plan Designation and Zoning; 
surrounding uses; existing site conditions; proposed parcel map; subdivision request; proposed site plan; parking and 
circulation; proposed architectural design; ADA accessibility; landscaping; open space; CEQA findings; traffic, noise 
and air quality study findings; and staff recommendations.  He also indicated the units will be for-rent.   
 
Vice Chair Schwary inquired as to the number of parking spaces per unit.  
 



MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
UPLAND PLANNING COMMISSION                    DECEMBER 11, 2019 
 

Page 9 

In response to Vice Chair Schwary’s inquiry, Associate Planner Winter spoke about the breakdown of parking spaces, 
ratios, guest spaces, and noted that there is an excess of parking above what is required.   
 
Commissioner Novikov inquired as to potential impacts to the nearby assisted living facility.  
 
Chair Aspinall spoke about the color of the building; inquired as to ADA requirements; and inquired if this is an 
affordable housing development.  She also inquired about connectivity of driveways.   
 
In response to Chair Aspinall’s inquiry, Associate Planner Winter clarified living spaces and bathroom requirements 
for lower floor and indicated the floor plan for these particular units are classified as a den with a half-bathroom.  He 
also indicated these units will not be classified as affordable housing and clarified paths of travel within the 
development.  
 
In response to Chair Aspinall’s comments, Development Services Director Dalquest indicated that City does have 
requirements for above moderate rates and added the proposal meets said requirements.  He also deferred to the 
applicant for clarification on rental rates.   
 
Associate Planner Winter outlined the path of travel throughout the development via alleyways.   
 
Chair Aspinall opened the public hearing.   
 
Greg Powers, applicant, spoke about rental rates, history of ownership and spoke about the modifications to the 
driveway to allow for more space at the assisted living facility.   
 
Further discussion ensued related to the alleyways, increased traffic, and maintenance of said alleys.   
 
Vice Chair Schwary inquired as to the breakdown in maintenance responsibilities for each alley way.  
 
In response to Vice Chair Schwary’s inquiry, Greg Powers indicated that they are responsible for the alley between 
the two (2) hospitals; and spoke about the previous alley vacation by the City Council.   
 
Commissioner Anderson inquired as to the history of the lot with regards to vacancy.  
 
In response to Commissioner Anderson’s inquiry, Greg Powers, applicant, spoke about the history of the property 
and the development.   
 
Philip Montgomery spoke in opposition for the project and expressed concerns for traffic and parking in the proposed 
development, noting parking on Mesa Court is already impacted with an overflow of parking from the nearby 
apartment complex.   
 
Dorothy Strahm inquired as to the impact of the development to her adjacent property, specifically where the 
placements of trash bins will be.  She also spoke about existing conditions of excessive street parking.     
 
Joe Fuscoe spoke in support of the project, noting he supports the family and indicated this is a legacy project.    
 
Mark Walters spoke in opposition to the proposal; expressed concern for traffic in the area; alleys not being wide 
enough; and recommended eliminating parking on Campus should this project be approved. 
   
Lois Sicking-Dieter spoke in opposition to the proposal; expressed concern for traffic; parking in the area; and 
proximity of this project being located next to a convalescent home.  She also spoke about the negative impact on 
the quality of life of surrounding residents this proposal could have.   
 
Terri D spoke in opposition to the proposal; expressed concern for impacts on the nearby nursing home; traffic and 
safety in the area; spoke about affordable housing; and ADA accessibility.  She displayed a video recording of the 
intersection of Campus and Mesa Court for the record.  
 



MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
UPLAND PLANNING COMMISSION                    DECEMBER 11, 2019 
 

Page 10 

Natasha Walton suggested an initial study be performed, and spoke about CEQA exemptions; density; outreach; 
Memorial Park plans; open space; suggested the City collect Quimby Act Fees; and encouraged the developer to 
include native plants in the landscape plan.  
 
Development Services Director Dalquest clarified the City does collect Quimby Act Fees through Development 
Impact Fees.  
 
Dan Close, consultant, indicated his firm conducted a traffic study for the project, and spoke about the process; 
results; trip generation requirements; growth factor; and results of analysis.  He also addressed comments about 
parking, noting the intersection will be Level of Service B and the project meets City code with garage parking, and 
exceeds requirements on guest parking spaces. 
 
Chair Aspinall inquired if safety was evaluated in the traffic study.  
 
In response to Chair Aspinall’s inquiry, Dan Close indicated safety issues were not evaluated as part of the traffic 
study, noting there were no requirements to do so.     
 
Commissioner Anderson spoke about housing requirements state-wide and the use of garages exclusively for parking.  
 
In response to Commissioner Anderson’s inquiry, Greg Powers indicated residents would not be granted permits to 
park in guest parking overnight.   
 
Vice Chair Schwary spoke about parking enforcement for the development.  
 
In response to Vice Chair Schwary’s inquiry, Greg Powers indicated the owners will strive to deter residents from 
parking in guest spaces by designating the spaces as guest-only; by issuing permits for overnight parking; and 
contracting enforcement through a tow-company.   
 
Chair Aspinall inquired as to the City’s policy on permit parking.   
 
In response to Chair Aspinall’s inquiry, Associate Planner Winter indicated that permit parking throughout the City 
is established by district.  
 
Vice Chair Schwary inquired as to the feasibility of eliminating parking on Campus. 
 
In response to Vice Chair Schwary’s inquiry, Development Services Director Dalquest indicated the prohibition 
would need to be established by the City Council.   
 
Discussion ensued related to street parking; alley access; and alley maintenance. 
 
Vice Chair Schwary inquired if it would be possible to vote on the item, contingent on Council’s review or prohibition 
of parking on Campus.     
 
In response to Vice Chair Schwary’s inquiry, Development Services Director Dalquest indicated the issues cannot 
be tied together, however, he can relay concerns to the City Manager.   
 
Vice Chair Schwary proposed potentially continuing the item in order to be able to potentially mitigate concerns 
raised.   
 
In response to Vice Chair Schwary’s suggestion, Development Services Director Dalquest indicated that the 
Commission may continue the item and allow for Public Works to review the safety issues on Campus.  
 
Commissioner Novikov suggested a smaller, retirement community be developed in lieu of apartments.   
 
Greg Powers, applicant, spoke about the history of the intent of the development and indicated a zoning change 
prohibited initial plans.  
 
Discussion ensued related to options for continuing the item and next steps.   



MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
UPLAND PLANNING COMMISSION                    DECEMBER 11, 2019 
 

Page 11 

Seeing no others wishing to address the Commission, Chair Aspinall closed the public hearing.   
 
Vice Chair Schwary moved to continue this item and public hearing to the January 22, 2020 meeting to allow Public 
Works to conduct a safety study on Campus and bring traffic concerns to the Commission at a subsequent meeting.     
 
The motion was seconded by Commissioner Walker.     
 
The motion carried by the following vote:  
 
AYES:    Commissioners Anderson, Novikov, Walker, Vice Chair Schwary and Chair Aspinall 
 
NAYS:  None   ABSTAINED:  None 
 
ABSENT: Commissioner Brouse 
 
5. PUBLIC HEARING FOR SPECIFIC PLAN REVIEW NO. 18-02, GENERAL PLAN 

AMENDMENT NO. 18-04, ZONE CHANGE NO. 18-04, TENTATIVE TRACT NO. 20245 (TT-18-
03), SITE PLAN NO.  18-10, DESIGN REVIEW NO. 18-14, AND ENVIRONMENTAL 
ASSESSMENT REVIEW NO. 0070. 

 
A proposed Specific Plan Review and related Planning Entitlements for the development of 65 single-family detached 
homes, private open space land uses and infrastructure improvements to serve the development. 
 
Project Location: North side of E. 15TH Street, south of the Upland Hills Country Club, and approximately 0.25 miles 
east of North Campus Avenue. APN: 1045-121-04. 
 

STAFF:       Joshua Winter, Associate Planner 

APPLICANT:  
     FH II, LLC (Frontier  Homes) 
     2151 E. Convention Center Way #100 
     Ontario, CA 91764 

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Planning Commission: 
1. Receive staff’s presentation; and 

 
2. Hold a public hearing and receive testimony from the public; and 

 
3. Continue this item to the next regularly scheduled Planning 

Commission meeting on January 22, 2020. 

COUNCIL HEARING 
REQUIRED: Yes 

APPEAL PERIOD: N/A 

 
Associate Planner Winter provided the details of the report, including entitlements; project location; General Plan 
Designation and zoning; surrounding uses; history of the Colonies Specific Plan, including Development Agreement; 
proposed Tentative Tract Map; lot setbacks; garages; parking; driveway dimensions; access to residences; right-of-
way improvements; architectural design features; floor plans; open space amenities; landscape plan and design 
criteria; storm drain basin modifications; traffic analysis and trip generations; and Initial Mitigated Negative 
Declaration.  He indicated that due to the volume of public comments received in response to the item, it is 
recommended that the item be continued to allow staff to adequately respond to all comments received.   
 
Chair Aspinall inquired about the potential danger for homes being in a flood area.  
 
In response to Chair Aspinall’s inquiry, Associate Planner Winter indicated that Public Works staff worked with the 
applicant’s consultants and conducted additional analysis and geotechnical studies to make a determination; and 
spoke about additional storm drain improvements.   



MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
UPLAND PLANNING COMMISSION                    DECEMBER 11, 2019 
 

Page 12 

Chair Aspinall inquired about the Specific Plan territory; expansion of 15th Street; timing of the project; and when 
the public comment period ended.   
 
In response to Chair Aspinall’s inquiry, Associate Planner Winter indicated that the Specific Plan does not include 
Upland Hills Country Club, and is not connected to any other projects in the area; indicated there are no plans to 
expand 15th Street; and noted that public comment period ended December 2nd.   
 
Chair Aspinall opened the public hearing.   
 
Tim Nguyen, applicant, spoke about the collaboration process between the applicant and staff; history of the 
development company; housing crisis in the state; density; other projects within the City; public outreach; public 
feedback; property values; neighborhood enhancements; analysis; parking spaces; traffic and safety; evaluation of 
the extension of 15th Street; and project benefits.  
 
Vice Chair Schwary inquired about Hold Harmless Agreements for owners protecting the City against the potential 
for flooding.  
 
In response to Vice Chair Schwary’s inquiry, Tim Nguyen, applicant, indicated that his comments will be noted and 
addressed at a future hearing.   
 
In response to Vice Chair Schwary’s inquiry, Development Services Director Dalquest indicated that there would be 
an indemnification condition in the CC&R’s for the tract.   
 
Philip Ferree, adjacent neighbor, expressed concerns for flood issues; spoke about dirt in-fill process; potential 
damage to his property; the potential damage to 15th Street due to trucks passing through; and suggested lowering 
project elevations.  He also spoke about storm drain easements; the loss of his view; the increase in daily trips on 15th 
Street; tie-ins; and noise. 
 
Roger Flores, adjacent neighbor, spoke about previous conversations with the Planning Division regarding 
development in the area and spoke in opposition to the amendment of the General Plan.  He encouraged the Planning 
Commission to maintain the original General Plan, and expressed concerns with increased traffic; entrance and exit 
to the community; surrounding communities; impacts to 14th Street; and the progression of the neighborhood.   
 
James Eihen, adjacent neighbor, spoke in opposition to the proposed project and spoke about the character of the 
neighborhood; previous City transactions; consequences of construction to the residents; loss of view from his home; 
increase in traffic to the neighborhood; and requested the Planning Commission deny the project.    
 
Sandra Sidders, adjacent neighbor, concurred with previous speakers; spoke about the value of open land in the 
foothills and spoke in opposition to the amendment of the General Plan.  She also expressed concerns for the flood 
area; dust; traffic; and the landfill.  
 
Caryn Zappia, adjacent neighbor, spoke in opposition to the proposed project, and spoke about the differences in 
characteristics of the adjacent neighborhoods; zoning in the area; minimum parcel areas and minimum proposed lot 
sizes; the increase in vehicle traffic; and significant impacts to her neighborhood.  She also encouraged the plan be 
modified to remove gates; reduce the number of two-story homes; and address lot sizes in order to match the 
characteristics of the existing neighborhood.   
 
Jaime Romero, adjacent neighbor, impartial to the proposed project, noted the project will change the characteristics 
of the neighborhood and is concerned with the impact on the quality of life for existing residents. 
 
Catina Flores, adjacent neighbor, spoke in opposition to the development; and expressed concerns for the impact a 
gated community would have on the existing neighborhood; the loss of the view; increase in crime rate; traffic; and 
environmental impacts.  
 
Darrell Maxey, adjacent neighbor, spoke about the public notice; expressed concerns for the environmental and flood 
report; the infill of the flood basin; timing of the reports conducted; and wildlife impacts.  



MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
UPLAND PLANNING COMMISSION                    DECEMBER 11, 2019 
 

Page 13 

Betty Cavanaugh, adjacent neighbor, spoke in opposition to the proposed project; and spoke about the history of 
development in the area; previous Planning Commission action; and requested the Planning Commission deny the 
project.    
 
John Anderson, adjacent neighbor, spoke in opposition to the proposed project; spoke about the history of the 
neighborhood; traffic in the area; parking; street conditions; water rates in the City; and water accessibility.  
 
Robyn Tan, adjacent neighbor, expressed concerns for impacts to the view; traffic volume and infrastructure; street 
design; traffic counts; health ramifications; and communications with residents.  She also requested further data on 
environmental impact studies; suggested design modifications be explored; and requested the development have its 
own entrance and exit access to a major street.   
 
Diana Reymundo, adjacent neighbor, spoke in opposition to the proposed project and expressed concerns with traffic, 
safety and living conditions within the existing neighborhood.  She also encouraged the Planning Commission to 
confer with surrounding cities Frontier has been involved with, and spoke about previous discussions regarding 
development in the area.   
 
Bill Gardener, adjacent neighbor, expressed concerns for the proposed project and spoke about the adjacent driving 
range; traffic; and unsafe speeds on Campus. 
 
Oleg Bolotov, adjacent neighbor, spoke in opposition to the proposed project and concurred with previous speakers.  
He spoke about research he did on the flood basin prior to purchasing his home and indicated he was assured there 
would be no development in the area.  He also expressed concerns with future safety in the area and urged the 
Planning Commission deny the project.  
 
Mark Walters, adjacent neighbor, spoke in opposition to the proposed project; expressed concerns for the proposed 
project and concerns with the public notice from the developer.  He also spoke about frequency of accidents in the 
intersection of 16th Street and Campus Avenue; expressed concerns with the CEQA documents; and inquired whether 
an EIR would be conducted. He also spoke about the history of transactions between the City and the Colonies, 
noting the City is still owed another High School.  
 
Dan Russell, adjacent neighbor, expressed concerns for the proposed project and inquired about Dry Dock Depot 
being in the land fill; chain link fence on 15th Street; restricted access to underground tunnels; and methane venting. 
 
Peter Jackson, adjacent neighbor, expressed concerns for the proposed project and spoke about the fence along the 
basin; recent one-hundred year events; impact of climate change; and filling of the basin.  He indicated the project 
puts the communities below the basin at risk.    
 
Chair Aspinall thanked the community for expressing their concerns.   
 
Deputy City Attorney Shah spoke about protocol for applicant responses.   
 
Seeing no others wishing to address the Commission, Chair Aspinall closed the public hearing.   
 
Chair Aspinall inquired as to any errors in the public notice.  
 
In response to Chair Aspinall’s inquiry, Associate Planner Winter indicated that there was an error on the map in the 
public notice.   
 
Development Services Director Dalquest indicated that the project will be re-noticed for the January 22nd Public 
Hearing.  
 
Chair Aspinall inquired as to requirements of the developer to re-pave damaged streets.  
 
In response to Chair Aspinall’s inquiry, Development Services Director Dalquest indicated he will confer with the 
Developer and return to the Commission with an update.   
 
Commissioner Anderson requested an update on the status of the closed landfill.   



MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
UPLAND PLANNING COMMISSION                    DECEMBER 11, 2019 
 

Page 14 

In response to Commissioner Anderson’s inquiry, Development Services Director Dalquest indicated that the County 
continually monitors the closed landfill.    
 
Vice Chair Schwary moved to continue this item to the January 22, 2020 meeting.     
 
The motion was seconded by Commissioner Anderson.     
 
The motion carried by the following vote:  
 
AYES:    Commissioners Anderson, Novikov, Walker, Vice Chair Schwary and Chair Aspinall 
 
NAYS:  None   ABSTAINED:  None 
 
ABSENT: Commissioner Brouse 
 
BUSINESS ITEMS  
 
1. UPDATE ON LANDSCAPE MAINTENANCE ISSUES AT UPLAND HILLS COUNTRY CLUB 

 
Vice Chair Schwary moved to continue this item to the January 22, 2020 meeting.     
 
The motion was seconded by Chair Aspinall.     
 
The motion carried by the following vote:  
 
AYES:    Commissioners Anderson, Novikov, Walker, Vice Chair Schwary and Chair Aspinall 
 
NAYS:  None   ABSTAINED:  None 
 
ABSENT: Commissioner Brouse 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business to come before the Planning Commission, Chair Aspinall adjourned the meeting at 
10:45 P.M., to the regular meeting of the Planning Commission on January 22, 2020, at 6:30 P.M. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
        Robert D. Dalquest, Secretary  
        Upland Planning Commission 
 

  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION REPORT 

 
ITEM NO. 1 

 
 
DATE: JANUARY 22, 2020 
  
TO: PLANNING COMMISSION 
  
FROM: ROBERT D. DALQUEST, DEVELOPMENT SERVICES DIRECTOR 
  
PREPARED BY: JOSHUA WINTER, ASSOCIATE PLANNER  
 
SUBJECT: SPECIFIC PLAN NO. SPR-18-02, GENERAL PLAN 

AMENDMENT NO. GPA-18-04, ZONE CHANGE NO. ZC-18-04, 
TENTATIVE TRACT NO. 20245 (TT-18-03), SITE PLAN NO.  
SP-18-10, DESIGN REVIEW NO. DR-18-14, AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT REVIEW NO. EAR-0070 FOR 
CONSIDERATION OF A RESIDENTIAL SPECIFIC PLAN FOR 
THE DEVELOPMENT OF A GATED RESIDENTIAL COMMUNITY 
THAT CONSISTS OF 65 SINGLE-FAMILY DETACHED 
RESIDENTIAL UNITS AT A DENSITY OF 7.1 DWELLING 
UNITS PER ACRE AND ON-SITE ACTIVE AND PASSIVE 
RECREATIONAL AMENITIES TO BE PROVIDED WITHIN THE 
COMMON AREA OPEN SPACE ON AN EXISTING 9.2-ACRE 
PORTION OF THE 15TH STREET FLOOD CONTROL DETENTION 
BASIN INCLUDING MODIFICATIONS TO THE REMAINDER 
DETENTION BASIN.  

 
 
PROJECT BACKGROUND 
 
The Planning Commission held a Public Hearing regarding this project on December 
11, 2019 (See Exhibit B – Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019).  
Due to the status of the response to public comments for the  Project’s Environmental 
Analysis, the Planning Division recommended to open the public hearing for the 
project, but to continue the item to the next regularly scheduled Planning Commission 
meeting (January 22, 2020) so the environmental comments can be addressed prior 
to action being taken. 
 
 



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Villa Serena Specific Plan  

January 22, 2020 
Page 2 of 6 

 
 

MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION – RESPONSE TO COMMENTS 
 
On November 13, 2019, a Notice of Availability/Notice of Intent for the Draft Initial 
Study and Proposed Mitigated Negative Declaration (IS/MND) was circulated.  In 
response, the City received comments from 15 individuals.  Attached, is the formal 
response to comments (Exhibit C – Response to Comments) provided by the 
Environmental Consultant, LSA.  In addition, multiple residents spoke in opposition 
to the project at the Public Hearing.  Comments centered around Public Noticing, 
Basin Operation and Stability, Traffic, Biological Concerns, and Integration into the 
existing neighborhood.  A summarized response to these issues is discussed below. 
 
Summary of Comments  
 
Public Notice 
 
Comment - Mapping error on the Notice of Availability/Notice of Intent mailed to 
surrounding property owners.  Specifically, Campus Ave. was mislabeled on the 
Notice’s map, resulting in some confusion with regard to the actual location of the 
project.   
 
Response - The Planning Division issued another Notice of Public Hearing with a 
revised map, to notice the continuation of the public hearing and clarify the location. 
(See Exhibit D - Villa Serena Public Notice for 1/22/20)  
 
Noticing for the January 22, 2020 Planning Commission Meeting: 

 
1. On January 8, 2020, a Notice of Public Hearing was mailed to all property 

owners within 1,500 feet of the project site to notify. This resulted in a total of 
approximately 1,100 property owners being noticed. 
 

2. The Public Hearing Notice was also published in the Inland Valley Daily Bulletin 
on January 10, 2020 and posted in 2 physical locations (Upland City Hall and 
Upland Library) on January 16, 2020. 

 
Basin Operation and Stability  
 
Comment - Concerns regarding the safety and stability of the modified basin.  

Response - The project includes modifications (including relocation of existing basin 
infrastructure) to the existing basin to accommodate the residential site and maintain 
a fully operational flood control and retention facility. 

Development of the Project Site and modification of the remaining portion of the 15th 
Street Basin reduces the overall area of the existing basin, but the proposed 
improvements to the 15th Street basin would provide the required storage volume 
by increasing the depth of the ponding in the basin. In the existing condition, the 
basin ponds to an elevation of 1,422.6 feet during a 100-year storm event. In the 
proposed condition, the basin would pond to an elevation of approximately 1,426 



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Villa Serena Specific Plan  

January 22, 2020 
Page 3 of 6 

 
 

feet. This increased depth will provide 0.5 feet of freeboard between the emergency 
spillway crest and the 100-year water surface elevation. The emergency spillway shall 
be constructed for the 1,000-year event (1.35 × 100-year flow rate) in accordance 
with San Bernardino County Detention Basin Design Criteria, with the required 
freeboard to the top of the dam embankment to be above the 1,000-year water 
surface elevation. Combined with the proposed box weir outlet system, potential 
impacts associated with Project development would be minimized. The box weir 
outlet system would be designed to pass through the 200- to 500-year storm, with 
the emergency spillway providing discharge capacity for larger events. As the box 
weir outlet system can accommodate flows well in excess of the 100-year storm 
event, it is unlikely flows over the emergency spillway would occur during foreseeable 
storm events. The City also required additional geotechnical analysis in the form of a 
Slope Stability Evaluation (See Appendix G5 of the IS/MND).  The results of the 
analysis show that the planned side slopes will be stable and geotechnical suitable.  
 
As requested at the Planning Commission meeting in December, the City’s contract 
Engineer, who reviewed the conceptual engineering plans, will be available to answer 
questions regarding the modified basin and its operation. 
 
Traffic 

Comment - Many residents expressed concerns related to the traffic generated by 
the project, including both new residential traffic and construction traffic.   

Response - As discussed in the original staff report (Exhibit B) a Traffic Impact 
Analysis was prepared for the project to determine if any impacts would be caused 
by the project.  The analysis showed that the Proposed Project is anticipated to 
generate a net total of 623 trip-ends per day with 50 a.m. peak hour trips and 65 
p.m. peak hour trips.  The Traffic Consultant also prepared a Level of Service (LOS) 
analysis for the project.  Results of the Analysis show that all study area intersections 
currently operate at satisfactory LOS under existing conditions and are forecast to 
continue to operate at satisfactory LOS with the construction of the project.   

Upon further discussion with the Applicant, and even though the project will have a 
less than significant impact on traffic, the Applicant is open to exploring, in good 
faith, the construction of a private, two-lane road that would be gated, that will 
connect the project site to 15th Street, allowing direct access to and from Campus 
Ave into the project site.  Due to the “Last Minute” nature of the potential drive isle, 
a Condition of Approval (COA 20.3) has been included in the project requiring the 
applicant work in good faith with City Staff to determine the feasibility of the 
connection prior to the issuance of grading permits. Further, the applicant has 
indicated that the possibility of connecting the project to 15th Street would be a 
positive improvement for the project from a marketability standpoint.         

Comment - Concerns related to the truck routes used to access the site, and potential 
damage to streets caused by said trucks.   

Response - While the truck routes are yet to be determined for the project, and the 
IS/MND identified required mitigation related to truck routes, and required the least 



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Villa Serena Specific Plan  

January 22, 2020 
Page 4 of 6 

 
 

impactful route as determined by the City (Standard Condition N-2, Bullet 5), an 
additional Condition of Approval (COA 20.3) has been included with the project, 
requiring a construction truck phasing plan, with multiple routes be provided.  For 
example, the plan will identify Route 1, which will be used the 1st 3 month period of 
construction, Route 2 will used for the 2nd 3 month period, Route 3 will be used for 
the 3rd 3 month period and so on to prevent the brunt of the impact caused by 
construction trucks to be placed on one road, or group of residents. 

Regarding street damage resulting from construction activities related to the project, 
the Public Works Department has included a standard Condition of Approval (COA 
30.12) requiring existing improvements (i.e. roadways, curb, gutter, sidewalk, 
landscaping, etc.) damaged during the construction of the project to be replaced to 
the City’s satisfaction prior to occupancy of the final unit.  In addition, the portion of 
15th Street adjacent to the project, will be reconstructed to the satisfaction of the 
Public Works Department, as the amount of new construction will result in the street 
being removed.  
 
Biological Concerns  
 
Comment - Bill Rodstrom, who claims to be former U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service 
(USFWS) biologist, argues the existing Sage Scrub habitat of the proposed project 
includes habitat for the resident Coastal California Gnatcatcher, which is listed as a 
Threatened Species under the Endangered Species Act. Mr. Rodstrom goes on to say 
that he has seen and/or heard this species virtually every time he has visited the 
site.   
 
Response - State and federal authorities recognized that highly specialized skillsets 
and formal certification were required in order to investigate, observe, and make 
professional recommendations on this threatened species. Randall Arnold, Parker 
Smith and Blake Curran are the three principals that conducted on-site field 
observations and prepared the report. Mr. Arnold is licensed and certified by USFWS 
to evaluate the California gnatcatcher.  
 
The technical analysis has stated that the site is not located within the critical habitat 
for any threatened or endangered species. No endangered, threatened, or sensitive 
species, including the California gnatcatcher, were identified during the July 2018 
biological field survey. While plant species identified on site include some species 
common in fan sage scrub, the isolated nature of site, absence of connectivity, and 
absence of sensitive species results in a “negligible”’ impact. As stated in IS/MND 
Section 3.3.4, to address potential impacts to biological resources, a pre-construction 
burrowing owl and nesting bird survey is required prior to ground disturbance 
operations.  For a complete response, please see the response to “Comment Letter 
B: Bill Rodstrom” on Page 3 of Exhibit C. 
 
Integration into the existing Neighborhood 
 
Comment - Concerns over the integration of the proposed development into the 
existing neighborhood, such as density and homes fronting on 15th Street. 



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Villa Serena Specific Plan  

January 22, 2020 
Page 5 of 6 

 
 

Response - Staff’s observation is that the addition of more homes fronting the north 
side of 15th Street would not necessarily integrate into the neighborhood, as the south 
side of 15th Street, across from the proposed project do not have homes fronting on 
15th Street, and instead has 6 foot side and rear yard walls along the street frontage, 
similar to the proposed project.  
 
Regarding density, while the project is more dense then the existing neighborhood 
to the south of the project, a density of 7.1 dwelling units per acre is generally 
consistent with the surrounding residential single-family low (SFR-L) and single-
family medium (SFR-M) General Plan Designations located within the neighborhood 
south of the Project Site.  More specifically, the SFR-M density range is from 4-10 
dwelling units per acre, a range the proposed project is within.  Further, the project 
is at a similar in density to surrounding developments including the “Redhill North” 
development, which is approximately 9 dwelling units per acre, and has access 
directly onto Grove Avenue.    
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
The Planning Division recommends the Planning Commission adopt a Resolution 
entitled: 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF UPLAND 
RECOMMENDING THAT THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF UPLAND APPROVE 
SPECIFIC PLAN NO. SPR-18-02, GENERAL PLAN AMENDMENT NO. GPA-18-04, ZONE 
CHANGE NO. ZC-18-04, TENTATIVE TRACT NO. 20245 (TT-18-03), SITE PLAN NO.  
SP-18-10, DESIGN REVIEW NO. DR-18-14 FOR CONSIDERATION OF A RESIDENTIAL 
SPECIFIC PLAN FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF A GATED RESIDENTIAL COMMUNITY 
THAT CONSISTS OF 65 SINGLE-FAMILY DETACHED RESIDENTIAL UNITS AT A 
DENSITY OF 7.1 DWELLING UNITS PER ACRE AND ON-SITE ACTIVE AND PASSIVE 
RECREATIONAL AMENITIES TO BE PROVIDED WITHIN THE COMMON AREA OPEN 
SPACE ON AN EXISTING 9.2-ACRE PORTION OF THE 15TH STREET FLOOD CONTROL 
DETENTION BASIN WITH MODIFICATIIONS TO THE REMAINDER DETENTION BASIN 
AND TO APPROVE ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT REVIEW NO. EAR-0070 FOR AN 
INITIAL STUDY AND ADOPT MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION FOR THE PROJECT.  

MOTION 
 
The Planning Commission Recommends the City Council: 

• Move to adopt a Resolution of the Planning Commission of the City of Upland, 
recommending that the City Council approve the Mitigated Negative 
Declaration, Specific Plan Review No. 18-02, General Plan Amendment No. 18-
04, Zone Change No. 18-04, Tentative Tract No. 20245 (TT-18-03), Site Plan 
No.  18-10, and Design Review No. 18-14. 

 
 
 
 



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Villa Serena Specific Plan  

January 22, 2020 
Page 6 of 6 

 
 

EXHIBITS 
 
Exhibit A: Draft Resolution  
Exhibit B: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019 
Exhibit C: Response to Comments 
Exhibit D: Villa Serena Public Notice for 1/22/20 
 



 

 

Exhibit A – Draft Resolution 

 



EXHIBIT A 
      RESOLUTION NO.  

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE 
CITY OF UPLAND RECOMMENDING THAT THE CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE CITY OF UPLAND APPROVE SPECIFIC PLAN NO. 
SPR-18-02, GENERAL PLAN AMENDMENT NO. GPA-18-04, 
ZONE CHANGE NO. ZC-18-04, TENTATIVE TRACT NO. 20245 
(TT-18-03), SITE PLAN NO.  SP-18-10, DESIGN REVIEW NO. 
DR-18-14 FOR CONSIDERATION OF A RESIDENTIAL 
SPECIFIC PLAN FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF A GATED 
RESIDENTIAL COMMUNITY THAT CONSISTS OF 65 SINGLE-
FAMILY DETACHED RESIDENTIAL UNITS AT A DENSITY OF 
7.1 DWELLING UNITS PER ACRE AND ON-SITE ACTIVE AND 
PASSIVE RECREATIONAL AMENITIES TO BE PROVIDED 
WITHIN THE COMMON AREA OPEN SPACE ON AN EXISTING 
9.2-ACRE PORTION OF THE 15TH STREET FLOOD CONTROL 
DETENTION BASIN WITH MODIFICATIONS TO THE 
REMAINDER DETENTION BASIN AND ADOPTION OF THE 
MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION.  

 
Intent of the Parties and Findings 
 

WHEREAS, The State of California Government Code Section 65300 requires 
the City to adopt and maintain a General Plan that contains certain elements, 
describes its long-term goals, and develop policies and programs to achieve those 
goals;  

 
WHEREAS, The State of California Government Code Section Government Code 

65450-57 grants authority to cities to adopt specific plans for purposes of 
implementing the goals and policies of their general plans; 

 
WHEREAS, FH II LLC. (Applicant) has filed applications requesting approval of 

the Project; 
 

WHEREAS, Upland Municipal Code Section 17.43.050 E. requires that if one or 
more permit application is submitted concurrently for a single proposed project, each 
application shall be acted upon concurrently by the highest review authority.  In this 
case, the highest review authority is the City Council, therefore the Planning 
Commission shall make a recommendation to the City Council;  
 

WHEREAS, Upland Municipal Code Section 17.44 provides that the Planning 
Commission may attach conditions to the approval of the project as needed to ensure 
compliance with the Zoning Ordinance, other City Ordinances, the General Plan, and 
any other applicable community or specific plan, previously approved subdivisions 
and parcel maps  and easements;  

 
WHEREAS, In accordance with CEQA Guidelines Section 15073, a Notice of 

Intent and Notice of Availability was issued for the Draft Initial Study (IS) and 
Mitigated Negative Declaration (MND) for a 20-day public review and comment period 
beginning on November 13, 2019 through December 2, 2019; and 
 



Page 2 of 35  

 
WHEREAS, Notice of a public hearing on said application has been given in the 

manner and for the time required by law; and 
 
WHEREAS, On December 11, 2019 at 6:30 p.m. and January 22, 2020 at 6:30 

p.m. the Planning Commission conducted a public hearing for the project, and heard 
and considered both oral and written evidence.  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, the Planning Commission hereby finds, determines and 

resolves and recommends as follows:  
 

Section 1. Actions the Planning Commission recommends to be taken by the 
City Council: 
 
A. Approve the Initial Study and adopt a Mitigated Negative Declaration for the 

Villa Serena Specific Plan including the Mitigation Summary conditioned in 
Section 3 of this Resolution; 

 
B. Adopt the Villa Serena Specific Plan (SPR-18-02) which includes amending the 

General Plan Land Use Designation (GPA-18-04) from Public Utilities – Flood 
Control (PU-FC) to Specific Plan (SP) and amending the Zoning Designation 
(ZC-18-04) from Public – Flood Control (P-FC) to Specific Plan (SP). 

 
C. Approve Tentative Tract No. 20245 (TPM-18-03) to subdivide one (1) parcel 

into 65 numbered lots and ten (10) lettered lots as conditioned in Section 3 of 
this Resolution; and 

 
D. Approve the Development Plan (SP-18-10 and DR-18-14) as conditioned in 

Section 3 of this Resolution.  
 

Section 2. FINDINGS.  The Planning Commission hereby makes the following 
findings and determinations in connection with the recommendation for approval of 
the Project:   

 
A. The above Recitals are true and correct.  

 
B. Upland Municipal Code Section 17.49.060 provides that the approval body, 

before it may approve a General Plan Amendment, shall make a determination 
to allow the activity based upon the following findings: 

1. Finding: The proposed General Plan Amendment is in the public interest. 
 

Evidence:  The proposed General Plan Amendment is in the Public 
interest because the amendment shows consistency with the General 
Plan as discussed within the Specific Plan Section 6, including the 
utilization of underutilized land and the provision of a range of housing 
types for the community that is more consistent with the surrounding 
residential development and land use.  The amendment will result in a 
development that improves 15th Street to the ultimate with landscaping 
and pedestrian connectivity thereby activating an area currently 



Page 3 of 35  

 
unimproved and often used for nefarious activity.  The density is 
generally consistent with surrounding residential neighborhoods.    

 
2. Finding: The proposed General Plan Amendment is consistent and 

compatible with the rest of the General Plan. 
 

Evidence: The Villa Serena Specific Plan identifies consistency with the 
General Plan elements including the Land Use Element, Community 
Character and Urban Design Element, Economic Sustainability Element, 
Circulation Element, Open Space and Conservation Element, Public 
Services and Facilities Element, Healthy Community Element and the 
Safety Element.  Analysis is provided in Section 6 of the Villa Serena 
Specific Plan document. 

 
3. Finding: The potential effects of the proposed General Plan Amendment 

have been evaluated and have been determined not to be detrimental 
to the public health, safety, or welfare. 

 
Evidence: The proposed General Plan Amendment has been evaluated 
and determined not to be detrimental to the public health, safety, or 
welfare.  Review of the project included a review of Environmental 
Effects related to the project including traffic, noise, and air quality, 
which have been show to not have any significant impacts.  Any 
environmental effects potential caused by the project have been 
appropriately mitigated.  The project has been reviewed, appropriately 
conditioned and approved by both the Upland Police Department and 
the San Bernardino County Fire Department.  

 
4. Finding: The proposed General Plan Amendment has been processed in 

accordance with the applicable provisions of the California Government 
Code and CEQA. 

 
Evidence: The proposed General Plan Amendment has been processed 
in accordance with the applicable provisions of the 
California Government Code including Title 7, Division 1, Chapter 3, 
Article 8, Section 65350 which regulates the amendment of General 
Plans and, specifically sections 65450-57, which grants authority to 
cities to adopt specific plans for purposes of implementing the goals and 
policies of their general plans.  Pursuant to the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines and the City’s local Guidelines, an Initial 
Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration (IS/MND) was prepared 
pursuant to Sections 15063(c) and 15070 of the California 
Environmental Quality Act Guidelines and the City of Upland CEQA 
Guidelines to address the potential environmental effects of the 
proposed project. The IS/MND analyzed environmental impacts 
that  would be potentially affected by the proposed project and 
determined that potentially significant impacts with respect to Air 
Quality, Biological Resources, Cultural Resources, Geology and Soils, 



Page 4 of 35  

 
Hydrology and Water Quality, Noise, and Tribal Cultural Resources, 
would be reduced to less than significant levels with the incorporation 
of mitigation measures imposed on the project.   

 

C. Upland Municipal Code Section 17.48.060 provides that the approval body, 
before it may approve a Zoning Amendment, shall make a determination to 
allow the activity based upon the following findings: 

1. Finding: The proposed amendment is consistent with the General Plan 
and any applicable community or specific plan as provided 
by Government Code Section 65860. 

 
Evidence: The project is inclusive of a General Plan Amendment to 
amend the Land Use Designation of the Project from Public Utilities – 
Flood Control (PU-FC) to Specific Plan (SP).  This Zoning Amendment is 
to amend the Zoning from Public – Flood Control (P-FC) to Specific Plan 
(SP).  Government Code Section 65860 requires a city's zoning 
ordinance to be consistent with the general plan, therefore the project 
is consistent with Government Code Section 65860.    

2. Finding: The proposed amendment will not be detrimental to the public 
interest, health, safety, or welfare of the City. 

 
Evidence: The proposed Zoning Amendment will not be detrimental to 
the public interest, health, safety, or welfare because the amendment 
will result in residentially zoned land via the Specific Plan, consistent 
with the surrounding residential land uses. the project will result in 
additional property tax generation. All impacts cause by the project have 
been determined to be less then significant, with potentially significant 
impacts being required to be mitigated to ensure impacts are less then 
significant.  The project has been reviewed and appropriately 
conditioned by Building and Safety, Public Works and Police and Fire 
Services to further ensure public interest, health, safety, or welfare of 
the City.         

 
3. Finding: The affected site is physically suitable in terms of design, 

location, shape, size, and other characteristics to ensure that the 
proposed uses and development will not endanger, jeopardize, or 
otherwise constitute a hazard to the property, surrounding properties, 
and the community at large. 

 
Evidence: Plans were submitted with the application that show the 
zoning amendment that show the site is physically suitable in terms of 
design, location, shape, and size.  The plans show adequate space for 
the implementation of the specific plan, including the development of 
the 65 residential homes, private and common open space as well as 
necessary infrastructure improvements to serve the development.  The 



Page 5 of 35  

 
plans show the proposed architectural and landscape design makes use 
of appropriate materials, texture, and color, and will remain 
aesthetically appealing and appropriately maintained.  The Storm Drain 
Improvement plans show the basin will continue to operate adequately, 
The project has been appropriately conditioned by Police and Fire 
Services, and mitigation measure have been incorporated into the 
project to ensure the new development endanger, jeopardize, or 
otherwise constitute a hazard to the property, surrounding properties, 
and the community at large  

 
D. Upland Municipal Code Section 17.44.080(F) provides that the Planning 

Commission, before it may approve a Tentative Tract Map shall make the 
following findings: 
 

1. Finding: No Lots shall be created without frontage on a public street, 
except lots created in conjunction with approved private access 
easements. 

Evidence: All lots on site will be served by the development of private 
streets that connect to the public street; therefore all lots will have 
adequate access to the public street.  

2. Finding: The side lines of the lots shall run at right angles or radially to 
the street upon which the lot fronts, except where impractical by reason 
of unusual topography.  

Evidence: The side lines of all lots run at right angles or radially to the 
street upon which the lot fronts, excepting the private street system in 
the project, or where impractical by reason of unusual topography.   

3. Finding: Lots shall be equal or larger in measure than the prevalent size 
of existing lots in the surrounding area except where a deliberate change 
in the character of the area has been initiated by the adoption of a 
specific plan, a change in zone or general plan designation. 

Evidence: While the project is being initiated by a Specific Plan, The 
creation 65 single-family residential lots that are a minimum of 3,337 
square feet is generally consistent with the surrounding neighborhood.    

4. Finding: The site is physically suitable for the proposed type and density 
of development. 

Evidence: The site is physically suitable for the proposed type and 
density of development in that, at the proposed density of 7.1 dwelling 
units to the acre; the site contains adequate common open space 
amenities and parking for the project, the site also provides each lot 
adequate space for the construction of detached single-family 
residential dwellings between 2,159 SF and 2,591 SF and the site 
maintains adequate space for needed infrastructure improvements. 

 



Page 6 of 35  

 
5. Finding: The design of the subdivision or the proposed improvements is 

not likely to cause substantial environmental damage or substantially 
and avoidably injure fish or wildlife or their habitat.   

Evidence: An Initial Study (IS) was prepared to determine the 
environmental effects created by the project. Based on the findings 
contained in the Initial Study, it was determined that Mitigation 
Measures related to Air Quality, Biological Resources, Cultural 
Resources, Geology and Soils, Hydrology and Water Quality, Noise, and 
Tribal Cultural Resources, there would be no substantial evidence that 
the project would have a significant effect on the environment. Based 
on that determination, a Mitigated Negative Declaration (MND) was 
prepared.  A Mitigation Monitoring Program has also been prepared to 
ensure implementation of, and compliance with, the mitigation 
measures for the Project.    

6. Finding: The design of the subdivision or type of improvements is not 
likely to cause problems to the public health, safety, or welfare. 

Evidence: The design of the subdivision provides for complete site 
improvements that provide for adequate emergency vehicle access, 
vehicle and pedestrian circulation, and conditions of approval are 
included requiring adequate lighting and security measures.  Therefore 
the design of the subdivision or type of improvements is not likely to 
cause problems to the public health, safety, or welfare.  

7. Finding: The design of the subdivision and the type of improvements 
will not conflict with easements, acquired by the public at large, for 
access through or use of, property within the proposed subdivision. In 
this connection, the review authority may approve a map if it finds that 
alternative easements, for access or for use, will be provided, and that 
these will be substantially equivalent to ones previously acquired by the 
public. 

Evidence: The Public Works Department has reviewed the proposed 
design of the subdivision and has determined there are no conflicts with 
existing easements.  In addition, the project includes the creation of 
multiple easements needed for storm drain infrastructure, which have 
been reviewed and accepted and conditioned by the Public Works 
Department.    

8. Finding: The design of the subdivision provides to the extent feasible, 
for future passive or natural heating or cooling opportunities in the 
subdivision. 

Evidence: The project provides adequate space between buildings to 
allow for natural airflow.  The subdivision provides adequate space for 
trees in the project which will provide some natural shading.  Buildings 
will include eaves that provide additional shade on building walls and all 



Page 7 of 35  

 
roofs will be, as conditioned to be solar ready.  Buildings are also 
required to comply with Title 24 energy requirements.   

E. Upland Municipal Code Section 17.44.030(H) provides that the approval body, 
before it may approve a Development Plan (Site Plan and Design Review), shall 
make a determination to allow the activity based upon the following findings: 

1. Finding: The design and layout of the proposed project will not interfere 
with the use and enjoyment of existing and future neighboring 
properties and structures. 

 
Evidence: The design and layout of the project includes the construction 
of private streets and street improvements, private and public open 
space, recreation areas and meets the requirements within the Specific 
Plan and is consistent with The General Plan.  Therefore the proposed 
project will not interfere with the use and enjoyment of existing and 
future neighboring properties and structures.   

 
2. Finding: The proposed architectural design makes use of appropriate 

materials, texture, and color, and will remain aesthetically appealing 
and appropriately maintained. 

 
Evidence: The project, as conditioned, uses high quality materials and 
design, includes enhanced elevations in areas in public view and uses 
multiple colors and design styles.  An HOA and conditions of approval 
are in place to ensure future maintenance of the project.  The proposed 
architectural design makes use of appropriate materials, texture, and 
color, and will remain aesthetically appealing and appropriately 
maintained.    

 
3. Finding: The proposed landscaping design, including color, location, 

size, texture, type, and coverage of plant materials, as well as provisions 
for irrigation, maintenance, and protection of landscaping elements, will 
complement structures and provide an attractive environment. 

 
Evidence: As conditioned, the proposed landscaping design will meet the 
requirements of the specific plan.  Landscaping shown on Open Space 
exhibits, including color, location, size, texture, type, and coverage of 
plant materials, as well as provisions for irrigation, maintenance, and 
protection of landscaping elements, will complement structures and 
provide an attractive environment.   

 
4. Finding: The proposed design will not be materially detrimental to the 

public health, safety, or welfare, or be injurious to the property or 
improvements in the vicinity of the proposed project. 

 
Evidence: The proposed design includes adequate Emergency Vehicle 
Access, has been conditioned by the Upland Police Department with 
multiple safety requirements, and will include complete plan check 
reviews by the Upland Building Division and San Bernardino County Fire 



Page 8 of 35  

 
department thereby protecting safety and welfare.  Furthermore the 
implementation of the project includes multiple mitigation measure to 
ensure the project will not be injurious to the property or improvements 
in the vicinity of the proposed project.      

Section 3. DETERMINATION.  In light of the evidence presented at the hearing 
on this application, and based on the findings set forth above, the Planning 
Commission hereby finds that the requirements necessary for the recommendation 
of approval of the Project, subject to all applicable provisions of the Upland Municipal 
Code, and the following conditions of approval: 
 
10.0 General Conditions 
 

10.1. All Ordinances, Policy Resolutions, and Standards of the City in effect at 
the time this project is approved shall be complied with as a condition 
of this approval. 
 

10.2. The project shall comply with development standards and guidelines 
prescribed within the Upland Municipal Code. 

 
10.3. Prior to issuance of future permits, all tract maps and development plans 

shall be subject to plan check with the Planning Division, Building 
Division, Engineering Division, Public Works Department and Fire 
Department. 
 

10.4. No construction or grading shall commenced until the applicable final 
maps, final grading and improvement plans have been approved.   

 
10.5. No building permits shall be issued until rough grading has been certified 

by the Engineer of Record, and a building permit has been issued by the 
Building Division. 

 
10.6. All landscaped areas shall be maintained in a healthy and thriving 

condition, free from weeds, trash, and debris at all times.  Dead, 
damaged, and/or missing landscaping shall be replaced/replanted, 
subject to the satisfaction of the Planning Division. 

 
10.7. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Applicant shall indemnify, 

defend and hold the City, its elected officials, officers, contractors 
serving as City officers, agents, and employees (“Indemnitees”) free 
and harmless from: (i) any and all claims, liabilities and losses 
whatsoever occurring or resulting to any and all persons, firms, entities, 
or corporations furnishing or supplying work, services, materials, or 
supplies in connection with, or related to, the performance of work or 
the exercise of rights authorized by approval of the project; and (ii) any 
and all claims, lawsuits, liabilities, and/or actions arising out of, or 
related to the approval of Specific Plan No. SPR-18-02, General Plan 
Amendment No. GPA-18-04, Zone Change No. ZC-18-04, Tentative 
Tract No. 20245 (TT-18-03), Site Plan No.  SP-18-10, Design Review 
No. DR-18-14 (Project) and/or the granting or exercise of the rights 



Page 9 of 35  

 
authorized by said approval; and (iii) from any and all claims, liabilities 
and losses occurring or resulting to any person, firm, entity, corporation 
for property damage, personal injury, or death, arising out of or related 
to the approval of, or exercise of rights granted by, this Project. 
Applicant's obligation to indemnify, defend, and hold the Indemnitees 
free and harmless as required hereinabove shall include, but is not 
limited to, paying all fees and costs incurred by legal counsel of the 
Indemnitees’ choice in representing the Indemnitees in connection with 
any such claims, losses, lawsuits, or actions, and any award of damages, 
judgments, verdicts, court costs or attorneys' fees in any such lawsuit 
or action. 
 

10.8. The applicant and recorded property owner of the property shall submit 
to the Development Services Department written evidence of agreement 
with all conditions of this approval before the approval becomes 
effective. 

 
10.9. Expansion of project beyond the scope and nature of the project, which 

would increase the projected scale of the project, shall not be permitted 
except upon application for and approval of modification to this 
Approval. 
   

10.10. The developer shall not engage in any construction activities other than 
between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. on weekdays, except in 
case of urgent necessity in the interest of public health and safety or as 
otherwise approved by the Development Services Director. 

 
10.11. Termination of approval if either: (1) development has not been 

diligently commenced and actively pursued to completion thereafter 
within a two (2) year period from the date of approval (i.e. December 
11, 2021); or, (2) if the use approved hereunder is discontinued for a 
period of one hundred and eighty days or longer; or, (3) non-compliance 
with any provision of the Upland Municipal (UMC) not specifically waived 
in compliance with City procedures. 

 
20.0 Planning Division Conditions  
 

20.1 The applicant shall submit Final Map exhibits to the Public Works 
Department for review and approval prior to recordation. 
 

20.2 Prior to recordation of the final map, all organizational documents for 
the project including Conditions, Covenants, and Restrictions (CC&R’s) 
shall be submitted to and approved by the Development Services 
Director and the City Attorney.  The applicant/developer is responsible 
for costs associated with the review of these documents.  The approved 
CC&Rs shall be recorded concurrently with the recordation of the final 
map and a copy of the recorded documents shall be submitted to the 
Development Services Department within five (5) days after 



Page 10 of 35  

 
recordation.  These documents shall include, but not be limited to, the 
following: 

 
a. No lot in the development shall be sold unless a Home Owner’s 

Association has been legally formed with the right to assess all 
those properties which are jointly owned or benefited to operate 
and maintain all other mutually available features of the 
development; 

 
b. The City shall be included as a party to the CC&Rs for enforcement 

purposes of those CC&R provisions in which the City has an 
interest.  However, the City shall not be obligated to enforce the 
CC&Rs; 

 
c. Association bylaws must be established; 

 
d. Provisions for the effective establishment, operation, management, 

use, repair, and maintenance of all common areas and 
improvements by the Home Owner’s Association; 

 
e. Membership in the Home Owner’s Association shall be inseparable 

from ownership of individual and Lettered Landscape Lots;  
 

f. Architectural controls shall be provided and shall include, but not 
be limited to, establishing the requirement to obtain design review 
approval from the Home Owner’s Association and the City of Upland 
to construct any additions, accessory buildings, and establishing 
minimum design guidelines to ensure compatible development; 

 
g. Provisions shall prohibit owners from modifying drainage facilities 

or flow patterns, without first obtaining permission from the City; 
 

h. Provisions for the perpetual maintenance of parkways and Bus 
Shelter and Improvements (i.e. trash can, benches); 
 

i. Provisions to implement the approved Water Quality Control Plan.  
Maintenance of all common area water quality measures shall be 
the responsibility of the Home Owner’s Association; 
 

j. The Home Owner’s Association shall be responsible for establishing 
and following procedures for providing access to public utilities for 
maintenance of their facilities within the project area;  

 
k. The Home Owner’s Association shall be responsible for filing the 

most current name, address, and phone number of at least one 
member of the association board with the City of Upland; and 
 



Page 11 of 35  

 
l. The Home Owner’s Association shall be responsible for establishing 

and enforcing procedures for the maintenance and management of 
parking facilities, and the storage of vehicles on-site. 

 
20.3 Prior to the issuance of Grading Permits, the City and Developer agree 

to work in good faith to investigate the feasibility of the City’s vacating 
the public right-of-way located west of the Project site such that 15th 
Street could potentially be connected to Campus Avenue for use as a 
two-way private road by future Villa Serena residents. As reasonable 
and applicable, City and Developer shall evaluate issues and 
opportunities related to the potential roadway including (1) engineering 
design options, (2) impacts (if any) to the future storm drain, water and 
sewer systems to be installed as part of the Villa Serena project, (3) fee 
credits, (4) neighborhood input, and (5) expedited permit processing.  
If it is determined that the addition of a two-way private street 
connecting 15th street to Campus Ave is feasible, the applicant shall 
acquire all needed permits and approvals for construction of said street, 
prior to the issuance of Grading Permits, with the street being fully 
constructed prior to issuance of the first Certificate of Occupancy of the 
home in the subdivision. 
 

20.4 Prior to the issuance of Grading Permits, the Applicant shall provide a 
truck route phasing plan that identifies multiple truck routes to the 
project, for phased use (i.e. Route 1 is used the 1st 3 month period of 
construction, Route 2 is used for the 2nd 3 month period, Route 3 is used 
for the 3rd 3 month period and so on) to the satisfaction of the 
Development Services Director.  If a single route that has minimal 
impacts to surrounding residents is identified, the single route may be 
used by the developer of the project, at the discretion of the 
Development Services Director. 
 

20.5 Prior to the issuance of Building Permits, the applicant shall submit a 
Development Review Application that addresses the following: 
 

a. A wall and fence plan is required prior to the issuance of building 
permits.  A 6’ block wall shall be provided around the entire 
perimeter of the project site, including the project boundary 
between the open space area/ walking path and the existing 
residences to the south-east. The perimeter wall is required to be 
a split face block wall with a decorative cap.  Columns shall be 
provided at a distance determined appropriate by the Development 
Services Director.  Split face block walls are also required in all 
places in public view, including around open space areas, side yards 
and street side yards.  2 sided split face block is required if both 
sides are in public view, walls may be single sided split face where 
private yards are (excepting the project boundary between the 
open space area/ walking path and the existing residences to the 
south-east, where both sides of the wall shall be split face.) 
 



Page 12 of 35  

 
b. The applicant is required to submit enhanced elevations for the rear 

elevations of homes facing Upland Hills Golf Course and 15th 
Street, to the satisfaction of the Development Services Director.  
The elevations shall include additional design features, to the 
satisfaction of the Development Services Director. 

 
c. The applicant is required to submit landscape plans for the project.  

Landscape plans will include all open space areas, common 
landscaped area, right-of-way landscaping and typical front yard 
landscaping. 

 
30.0 Public Works Conditions 
 

I SUBDIVISION MAPS (EASEMENTS-MONUMENTS-BONDS) 
 

Map 
 

30.1 The approval of this project is subject to, and contingent upon, the 
recordation of a Final Map.  Said Final Map shall have adequate 
reservations of public and/or private utility easements and 
abandonment of existing utility easements to the satisfaction of the 
Public Works Director. 
 

30.2 The submittal, approval, and recordation of a subdivision map shall be 
in accordance with the provisions of the State Subdivision Map Act, 
state and federal laws, and Upland Municipal Code.  

 
30.3 The applicant shall have encroachment permit from the City before 

issuance of a permit for the City to allow encroachment of the projects 
entry into part of City’s right of way. 

 
30.4 Prior to grading permit issuance, the developer shall provide to the 

City of Upland letters from easement holders consenting to the 
proposed construction, as applicable.  

 
Right-of-Way Dedication and Easements 

  
30.5 Access and utility easement(s) shall be dedicated to the City of Upland 

for all-public sewer and water systems not located within the public 
right-of-way. Minimum width shall be 25 feet along the long side of 
which must be located only on one parcel.  

 
30.6 Relocation of any public water or sewer lines shall be subject to 

approval by the Public Works Director. 
 

Monuments 
 

30.7 The Owner/Developer shall comply with Assembly Bill 1414, which was 
enacted into law and effective January 1, 1995.  This bill amended 



Page 13 of 35  

 
Section 8771 of the Business and Professions Code (of the Land 
Surveyors Act).  The County Surveyor requires that two corner records 
be filed; they are when: 

 
a. Monuments exist that controls the location of subdivisions or tracts, 

streets or highways or provides survey control.  The monuments 
are located and referenced by a licensed Land Surveyor before any 
streets or highways are reconstructed or relocated.  The corner 
record(s) of the references are filed with the County Surveyor. 
 

b. Monuments are reset in the surface of the new construction and a 
corner record is filed with the County Surveyor before recording of 
a Certificate (Notice) of Completion for the project. 

 
30.8 Permanent survey monuments shall be set at the intersection of street 

centerlines, beginning, and end of curves in centerlines, and at other 
locations designated by the Director of Public Works/City Engineer.  All 
other centerline monuments shall be in accordance with standard 
survey practice.  A complete set of all street centerline ties (a 
minimum of three per monument) shall be submitted prior to final 
project acceptance. 

 
Bonds 

 
30.9 Before the recordation of the Tentative Tract Map or the issuance of a 

permit, a surety shall be posted in a form acceptable to the City.  Also 
accompanying the surety shall be an agreement executed to the 
satisfaction of the Public Works Director and the City Attorney, 
guaranteeing completion of all improvements, public and private. 

 
II STREET IMPROVEMENTS 

 
30.10 All deficient public improvements at 15th Street shall be upgraded to 

current City Standards and to the satisfaction of the Public Works 
Director.  

 
30.11 Developer shall submit plan for the construction of 15th Street as 

depicted on the exhibit. Handicap ramps conforming to current state 
and federal standards shall also be constructed at street/alley 
intersections.  

 
30.12 Prior to occupancy of the last unit, existing improvements, including 

but not limited to, roadways, curb, gutter, sidewalk, landscaping, etc., 
damaged during construction of the project shall be repaired/replaced 
to the satisfaction of the Public Works Director. 

 

30.13 Landscaping and irrigation plans shall be submitted for City review and 
approval. Drought tolerant and water efficient irrigation system shall 



Page 14 of 35  

 
be required. Parkway landscaping shall be maintained by the 
Owner/Developer.  

 
Furthermore, developer shall submit “Declaration of Covenant for 
Parkway Landscape Maintenance prior to or at map recordation. City 
will provide necessary agreement form. 

 
30.14 In accordance with California Building Code, Title 24 and the 

requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), handicap 
facilities shall be constructed and existing facilities shall be 
reconstructed within the project limits, as necessary, in locations 
specified by the Director of Public Works/City Engineer and the 
Development Services Director. 

 
III UTILITY (WATER – SEWER – ENVIRONMENTAL) 

 
Utility General 

 
30.15 All utility companies (for non-City owned utilities) shall be contacted 

to establish appropriate easements to provide services to each parcel. 
 

30.16 If Phasing, each phase shall be served by utilities, allowing each 
phase/lot to function separately and independent from one another. 

 
30.17 The Owner/Developer is responsible for research on private utility lines 

(Gas, Edison, Telephone, Cable, Irrigation, etc.) to ensure there are 
no conflicts with the site. 

 
30.18 All existing on-site utility lines, if any, that conflict with this project 

shall be relocated, removed to the satisfaction of the Public Works 
Director. 

 
30.19 Composite Utility Plans shall be submitted before the issuance of a 

Grading Permit.  Any easements will be dedicated to the appropriate 
Utility Company as required to accommodate the location and 
maintenance of each facility. 

 
30.20 Developer shall comply with latest State Health Code regulating 

minimum clear separations among water and sewer lines. 
 

Undergrounding 
 

30.21 All utility plans (Edison, Telephone, and Cable TV, among others) shall 
be submitted to the Public Works Department for review and approval 
prior to the issuance of any permits for utility work within public right-
of-way or public easements. 

 
 
 



Page 15 of 35  

 
Environmental 

 
30.22 This project is subject to the General Construction Permit for Storm 

Water Discharges.  The Owner/Developer is required to file a Notice of 
Intent (NOI) with the State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB) 
for construction activities.  A Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan 
(SWPPP) shall be prepared and be available at the job site at all times.  
A copy of the Waste Discharger’s Identification Number (WDID) from 
the SWRCB shall be provided to the City before the issuance of grading 
permit. 

 
30.23 This project is required to submit Project Specific Water Quality 

Management Plan (WQMP) (reference City of Upland “Construction 
Stormwater Guidelines” and the County of San Bernardino “Guidelines 
for New Development and Redevelopment”) for review and approval 
by the City of Upland, Public Works Department, Environmental 
Division.  The WQMP shall include a description and map of the project 
along with an outline of structural and non-structural Best 
Management Practices (BMPs), which apply to the project pursuant to 
the “New Development and Redevelopment Guidelines.”   
 

30.24 Prior to issuance of any permit, the developer shall have completed 
the Site Specific  Water Quality Management Plan (WQMP) and 
executed the WQMP Maintenance Agreement with the City  

 
Sewer 

 
30.25 Sanitary sewer system(s) shall be constructed pursuant to the City’s 

Master Plan and subsequent studies applicable to the project site, to 
the satisfaction of the Public Works Director. 

 
30.26 All proposed on-site sewer mains shall be maintained by the City. 

Drainage facilities shall be maintained by the owner/ property owners 
association. 

 
30.27 City staff will inspect all newly installed sewer mains with the TV 

camera before acceptance of the line for public improvements. 
 

30.28 Extend any sanitary sewer and water line facilities as necessary to 
serve the entire development, including the payment of any sewer and 
water connection fees as determined by the Public Works Director. 

 
30.29 The Owner/Developer shall provide the necessary Sewer Service 

Backflow Prevention Device as required by the City. 
 

Water 
 

30.30 All proposed on-site sewer mains shall be maintained by the City. 
 



Page 16 of 35  

 
30.31 Developer/Engineer shall submit water/fire plans to the San 

Bernardino County Fire Department for review and approval. 
 

30.32 A separate water meter shall be provided for each unit (including any 
necessary easements to provide such services.  

 
30.33 All new and upgraded developments shall meet the requirements of 

Chapter 7 “Municipal Water System,” Article VII, of the Upland 
Municipal Code.  This Code pertains to water system connection fees, 
water additive fees, and the transfer of water stock to the City of 
Upland. 

 

30.34 Underground utilities shall maintain a minimum seven-foot setback 
from the backside of the curb and shall not encroach into the water 
utility easement, excepting as may be authorized by the Public Works 
Director subject to special construction methods.  As-built plans of all 
underground utilities, including water facilities, shall be submitted for 
approval prior to final approval of the development. 

 

30.35 The provision of fire protection water systems, hydrants, and 
appropriate easements shall be in conformance with the San 
Bernardino County Fire and Public Works Department Standards. 

 

30.36 Public on-site protection hydrant(s) and water systems shall be 
installed in accordance with the San Bernardino County Fire and Public 
Works Department Standards. 

 

30.37 All landscape meter(s) and approved Backflow Device(s) shall be 
installed and inspected, in accordance with the Public Works 
Department Standards. 

 

30.38 All water facilities shall be installed outside any driveways and drive 
approaches, and shall be in accordance with the Public Works 
Department Standards. 

 

IV GRADING - STORM DRAIN - EROSION CONTROL 
 

30.39 The first permit that will be issued to this project is for the construction 
and grading of the basin. The project developer shall remove and 
reconstruct existing storm water basin berms  (approximately 4230 
linear feet) as an engineered berm, unless project developer’s 
registered professional engineers test, inspect, analyze and certify  in 
a report that the berm is structurally stable in saturated condition.  
 

30.40 Project developer, alternatively, shall line the berms with gunite and 
ensure structural stability of the new basin including the slope on the 
westerly side of the new basin. 



Page 17 of 35  

 
30.41 The new basin shall have emergency spillway as shown on the 

tentative map exhibit. The final design shall be submitted for approval 
by the developer’s civil engineer. Said spillway shall be designed and 
constructed in a manner that all the water passing thru said spillway 
will be in a controlled condition to avoid and/or minimize damage to 
downstream properties. 

 
30.42 Developer shall have the City inspect the subject new basin as certified 

by developer’s engineering consultants. 
 

30.43 After basin construction, subject to issuance of necessary permits, 
developer shall commence construction/realignment of the 12’ x 9’ 
reinforced concrete box (RCB) from project’s westerly boundary to the 
new basin and construct 84-inch reinforced concrete pipe (RCP) from 
the new basin to connect to existing discharge point on 15th Street. 

 
30.44 Storm drain system(s) shall be constructed in accordance with the 

City's Master Plan applicable to the project site and to the satisfaction 
of the Public Works Director. 

 
30.45 A hydrology/hydraulics analysis is required to the satisfaction of the 

Public Works Director.  Any offsite drainage, which may impact this 
development, or additional drainage created by this development, 
shall be addressed in accordance with the mitigation measures 
required in the hydrology report before issuance of any permits. 

 
30.46 Each parcel/lot shall drain to the street or other approved drainage 

facility.  Cross lot drainage is not allowed. 
 

30.47 All drainage shall be directed on-site at the points so indicated upon 
the subject map/plan (any deviation will require resubmittal to the 
Technical Review Committee for approval). 

 
30.48 Location, direction, and devices for conveying site drainage directed 

to a street shall be subject to review and approval by the Public Works 
Director. 

 
30.49 Temporary drainage controls may be required during construction 

phases as directed by the Public Works Director. 
 

30.50 All catch basins and Storm Drain Inlet Facilities shall be stenciled with 
the appropriate “No Dumping” message.  

 
30.51 Grading plan shall be prepared and shall conform to the requirements 

of California Building Code (CBC), latest edition. Said grading plan 
shall propose all recommendations contained in the project’s 
geotechnical report.  

 



Page 18 of 35  

 
30.52 An erosion control plan shall be required as directed by the Public 

Works Director. 
 

30.53 No permanent building construction shall commence until the final 
grading and improvement plans have been approved, rough grading 
certified and a building permit issued by the Building Division. 

 
30.54 Owner/Developer shall submit design and calculations and obtain 

permit and inspection for all development perimeter and retaining 
walls from the Building Division. 

 
30.55 Owner/Developer is required to prepare Water Conservation Plan for 

its grading and construction operations in compliance to water 
conservation mandate by the State of California. Use of reclaimed 
water is highly encouraged. 

 
30.56 Dust Control operations shall be performed by the Contractor at the 

time, location and in the amount required and as often as necessary 
to prevent the excavation or fill work, demolition operation, or other 
activities from producing dust in amounts harmful to people or causing 
a nuisance to persons living nearby or occupying buildings in the 
vicinity of the work.  The Contractor is responsible for compliance with 
Fugitive Dust Regulations issued by the Air Quality Management 
District (AQMD). 

 
30.57 Control of dust shall be by sprinkling of water, use of approved dust 

preventatives, modifications of operations or any other means 
acceptable to the Engineer, City of Upland, the Regional Water Quality 
Control Board (RWQCB), the AQMD, and any Health or Environmental 
Control Agency having jurisdiction over the facility.  The Engineer shall 
have the authority to suspend all construction operations if, in their 
opinion, the Contractor fails to adequately provide for dust control. 

 
30.58 In compliance to water conservation mandate of the State of 

California, before or at submission of grading plans, Owner/Developer 
shall submit/develop Water Conservation Plan. Among others, said 
plan encourages the use of reclaimed water and use of any/all water 
conservation measures during construction.  

 
30.59 All storm drain catch basins must be in accordance with the Trash 

Amendments, per Water Code Section 13383, complete with 
Maintenance Agreement. Please see attached/link for approved list of 
full capture devices. Developer shall provide for regular maintenance 
of all catch basins. 
 
Please check all approved devices from the following website: 
https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/water_issues/programs/stormwater
/docs/trash_implementation/a1_certified_fcd_rev04aug17.pdf 

 



Page 19 of 35  

 
V LANDSCAPING 

 
30.60 Any landscaping proposed within a City utility easement or right of 

way is subject to approval by the Public Works Director and 
Development Services Director. Developer shall enter into covenant 
with the City for landscape installation and maintenance of parkway 
landscaping. 

 
30.61 All landscape and irrigation systems, located in the public parkways, 

shall be connected to a water supply system that is metered to the 
property owner. 

 
30.62 All developments require a tree-planting scheme.  Residential 

developments require one tree per forty feet of residential street 
frontage with a minimum on one tree per lot.   

 
a. If planting in an area without sidewalk, plant the trees four feet to 

six feet from the existing or planned curb or street 
 

b. Plant trees a minimum of five feet from other utilities, a minimum 
of ten feet from driveways, water meters, water lines, sewer lines, 
traffic and directional signs, and fire hydrants, a minimum of fifteen 
feet from street lights, and a minimum of thirty feet from street 
corners. 

 
30.63 The project frontage shall be fully landscaped, including an automatic 

irrigation system in accordance with a plan subject to review and 
approval by the Community Development Director and the Public 
Works Director. Drought tolerant and water efficient irrigation system 
shall be required. Parkway landscaping shall be maintained by the 
Owner/Developer. 

30.64 Before the final approval of streetscape plans (landscaping, irrigation 
systems, walls and/or fences, etc.), the hardscape portion of the 
plan(s) shall be designed by a registered engineer, and submitted to 
the Community Services Director for review and approval. 

30.65 After City approval of the landscaping plan, the Owner/Developer shall 
provide 180-day maintenance during the plant establishment period.  

30.66 The Owner/Developer shall also: 

a. Include in the CC&Rs, provisions for the perpetual maintenance of 
said parkway(s) by the Property Owners’ Association (POA).  POA’s 
maintenance responsibility shall commence at the completion of 
the plant establishment period. 
 

b. Provide for the maintenance of the open space area(s) and/or 
detention/desiltation basin. 

 



Page 20 of 35  

 
VI OTHER AGENCY 

 
30.67 Approval and/or permits may be required from the following agencies 

among others: 
 
a. San Bernardino County. 
b. Inland Empire Utilities Agency. 
c. San Antonio Water Company. 
d. California Regional Water Quality Control Board, Santa Ana Region 

for an NPDES Permit or Clearance Letter. 
 

VII STUDIES – REPORTS – CC&Rs 
 

30.68 Conditions, Covenants, and Restrictions (CC&Rs) shall be recorded 
requiring the provision of the following special features, and 
maintenance thereof in perpetuity, in conjunction with the approval of 
this project.  

 
a. Prior to recordation of the Tract/Parcel Map 
b. Prior to Occupancy Release 

 
30.69 Geotechnical Report, hydrology and hydraulic studies, traffic impact 

analysis, and other supporting reports/studies shall be submitted for 
review together with grading plans and other construction plans 
submitted for review and approval. 

 
VIII GENERAL ENGINEERING 

 
30.70 Owner/Developer is required to arrange for a PRE-CONSTRUCTION 

MEETING with the Public Works Department 72 hours in advance 
before any permitted work can commence. 

 
30.71 Public improvement plans and grading plans shall be submitted for 

plan check to the Public Works Department as a complete package.  A 
complete package includes street; sewer, water, grading, drainage, 
and any appropriate reports and back up documents.  Incomplete 
submittals shall be rejected. 

 
30.72 All plans (including Landscaping Plans) depicting any work to be plan 

checked by Public Works shall be prepared on 24”x36” on City 
Standard title block.  This includes street, sewer, water grading, storm 
drain, grading, erosion control, private street design, and landscape 
plans. “Cut and paste,” “sticky-backs,” “zip-a-tone,” “Kroy lettering,” 
or other tape will not be permitted on mylars. 

 
30.73 As-built plans (including street, sewer, water, and storm drain and 

grading plans) shall be submitted. Electronic drawing files on compact 
disc (CD’s) shall be submitted to the City for file in the format 
acceptable by the City. 



Page 21 of 35  

 
 

30.74 All Ordinances, Policy Resolutions, and Standards of the City in effect 
at the time this project is approved shall be complied with as a 
condition of this approval. 

 
30.75 No certificate of occupancy, or any other final clearance needed prior 

to occupancy, shall be given until all other conditions are met. 
 

IX MISCELLANEOUS CONDITIONS 

Other Agency and/or Project 
 

Phases 
 

30.76 In the event that developer/owner performs the works in phases, a 
phasing plan shall be submitted for City’s approval prior to 
implementation.  Each phase must be fully independent and functional 
from each phase of    the   development especially considering onsite 
utility connections such as sewer, water, electric power, gas, drainage, 
handicap access ramps and communications utilities, among others. 
Each phase shall have at least two points of access and construction 
traffic shall not be mixed with residents’ traffic. 

 
30.77 The requirements for undergrounding overhead utility lines shall be 

implemented prior to occupancy. 
 

30.78 All phases shall comply with the conditions set forth for the Tentative 
Map. 

 
30.79 Adequate drainage/erosion control shall be provided at all times during 

each phase of the development (including model/sales trailer sites).  
Submit appropriate erosion control plans to the Public Works Director 
for approval. 

 
30.80 The location of the temporary access road each phase shall be 

approved by the Public Works Director and it shall be paved to the 
satisfaction of the Public Works Director and County Fire Chief. 

 
30.81 Prior to occupancy in each phase, Owner/Developer shall complete the 

following minimum improvements: 
 

a. Complete finish grading of all parcel/lots including submittal of 
grading certification to the Public Works Department. 

b. Complete all underground utilities and their service lines for each 
unit. 

c. Complete curb and gutter, sidewalk, street lighting, and street 
paving. 

d. Provide “as-built” plans. 
 



Page 22 of 35  

 
40.0    Police Department 

40.1 The approved conditions shall be retained on the premises at all times 
and produced immediately upon request of the Upland Police 
Department, and City Planning. 
 

40.2 A 6-month review/inspection shall be conducted to ensure permittee's 
compliance with all operating conditions. 

 
40.3 Prior to the issuance of building permits, the project must be enclosed 

with a 6-FT. high chain link fencing to prevent access to construction 
areas by the public and to minimize theft of building materials and 
equipment. All fencing and gates shall meet the approval of the Fire 
Department and Police Department. 

 
40.4 Graffiti abatement by the business owner/licensee shall be immediate 

and ongoing on the licensed premises, but in no event shall graffiti be 
allowed unabated on the premises for more than 48 hours. Abatement 
shall take the form of removal or shall be covered/painted over with 
a color reasonably matching the color of the existing building, 
structure, or other surface being abated. Additionally, the business 
owner/licensee shall notify the City within 24 hours of any graffiti 
elsewhere on the property not under the business owner/licensee's 
control so that it may be abated by the property owner. 

 
40.5 The Developer, builder, contractors, sub-contractors, and any other 

persons associated with this project shall adhere to the Upland 
Municipal Code (UMC) dealing with unnecessary noises under section 
9.40.100. Furthermore, prior to the beginning of construction, a sign 
shall be posted at the entrance of the property educating everyone 
entering as to the authorized construction times and failure to comply 
with such requirements will result in an immediate citation for 
violating the aforementioned UMC section. 

 
40.6 Units with front and rear drive access shall affix or paint address 

numbering/lettering in a conspicuous location, free from plant 
obstruction, and readily visible to emergency services personnel on 
both front and rear accesses. 

 
40.7 Prior to occupancy all private streets, parking areas, parking lots, and 

driveways shall be dedicated for off-road traffic, fire lane, soliciting, 
handicap, and loitering enforcement. The applicant must submit a 
written request to the City Clerk asking that a resolution from the City 
Council allow Police Enforcement of the above violations on the 
property. Once the resolution has been obtained, a sign shall be 
erected/posted at all access points stating the above listed locations 
and violations have been dedicated for enforcement by the Upland 
Police Department. 

 



Page 23 of 35  

 
40.8 If security gates are desired at any access points to the project, the 

Police Department and Fire Department will be provided access by the 
Knox Submaster System. If gates are not electronically operated, a 
"KNOX" padlock may be substituted for electrically operated override 
systems. 

 
40.9 All fencing and gates shall meet the approval of the Fire Department 

and the Police Department. 
 
40.10 The applicant shall submit for review by the Police Department the 

design and specifications for all proposed lighting fixtures proposed 
for the buildings, drive aisles, parkways, parking areas, pathways, 
and surrounding areas within the development. The fixtures shall be 
reviewed for quality, aesthetics, illumination values, sustainability 
values such as LED and shall be decoratively and architecturally 
consistent with the building design. The number, location, height, 
style and design shall be reviewed and approved by the Police 
Department prior to issuance of building permits. 

 
40.11 Prior to the issuance of Building Permits, the applicant shall submit a 

Photometric Study providing a minimum of two foot candle all around 
the structure and surveillance cameras all around the perimeter, 
common areas, and throughout the parking area, with the ability or 
resolution to make license plates discernable. 

 
40.12 All exterior lighting lower than 12 feet from the ground level shall be 

enclosed in vandal-resistant covers. 
 
40.13 Lighting shall be required in all area of public access. 
 
40.14 Public parking areas and access thereto shall be provided with a 

maintained minimum of 2 foot candle power of light on the parking 
surface, from dusk to dawn, or as modified by the Chief of Police, 
based on documented proof that meeting the 2 foot candle power 
standard is impractical. Lighting shall be provided through the  

 
40.15 A digital video surveillance system is required at the premise. It is 

recommended to have a surveillance video/visual media that shall be 
maintained for a minimum of sixty (60) days and upon request, shall 
be accessible to law enforcement personnel for viewing, copying and 
collection purposes during regular business hours. The system shall 
be able to make license plates discernable. The video system shall 
cover all ingress and egress points of public access areas such as 
guest parking lots, community clubhouse, pool area, and recreation 
areas. 

 
40.16 Provide UPD with contact information of person responsible for 

maintaining video equipment/system and who has access to retrieve 



Page 24 of 35  

 
and copy surveillance video. The surveillance video/visual media shall 
be remotely accessible to the Upland Police Department. 

 
 
40.17 The applicant shall be responsible for maintaining the area adjacent 

to the premises over which they have control free of litter. 
 
40.18 Applicant shall comply with 6404.S(b) of the Labor Code, which 

prohibits smoking within any place of employment. 
 
40.19 All landscaping must adhere to the 2' 6' rule (all ground cover 

landscaping must be maintained no higher than 2' from ground level 
and all lower tree canopy must be maintained no lower than 6' in 
height from the ground level). 

 
40.20 Any vehicles not parked legally may be cited and/or towed if it is in 

violation of the California Vehicle Code and/or Upland Municipal Code. 
 
50.0 San Bernardino County Fire Protection District (SBCo FD) 
 

50.1 The development shall have a minimum of 2 points of vehicular access. 
These are for fire/emergency equipment access and for evacuation 
routes.  
 

a. Single Story Road Access Width. All buildings shall have access 
provided by approved roads, alleys and private drives with a 
minimum twenty-six (26) foot unobstructed width and vertically to 
fourteen (14) feet six (6) inches in height. Other recognized 
standards may be more restrictive by requiring wider access 
provisions.  

b. Multi-Story Road Access Width. Buildings three (3) stories in height 
or more shall have a minimum access of thirty (30) feet 
unobstructed width and vertically to fourteen (14) feet six (6) 
inches in height. 

c. Parking on both sides of the street will be allowed, parking in the 
turning radius will not be permitted. 
 

50.2 Fire Access 
 

a. Provide approved Fire Apparatus Access Roadways (Fire Lanes) in 
accordance with current Fire Code and Fire Department Standard 
A-1. 

b. Parking shall be allowed on one side of roadways that are a 
minimum of 32' in width but less than 40'. 
 

50.3 Additional Requirements 
 

a. In addition to the Fire requirements provided, other on site and of 
site improvements may be required which cannot be determined 



Page 25 of 35  

 
from tentative plans at this time, and would have to be reviewed 
after more complete improvement plans and profiles have been 
submitted to the Fire Code Official. 
 

50.4 Jurisdiction 
 

a. The referenced project is under the jurisdiction of the San 
Bernardino County Fire Department. Prior to any construction 
occurring on any parcel, the applicant shall contact the Fire Code 
Official for verification of current fire protection requirements. All 
new construction shall comply with the current San Bernardino 
County Fire Code requirements and all applicable statutes, codes, 
ordinances and standards of the Fire Department. 
 

50.5 Building Plans 
 

a. Shall submit separate Building Plans to San Bernardino County Fire 
for any community/rec buildings on the site. 
 

50.6 Fire Sprinklers Required 
 

a. Fire Sprinklers are required in all new SFR's. Fire sprinklers shall 
comply with NFPA 13D Standards or CRC R313 standards and 
SBCoFD Standard F-2. 
 

50.7 Fire Access Roads 
 

a. All fire access roads in to this project shall meet San Bernardino 
County standards and CFC codes and shall be paved and all 
weather. 
 

50.8 Addressing 
a. Premise and Building identification and addressing shall be a 

minimum of 12 inch in height. Single-Family Homes addresses shall 
be a minimum of 4 inches in height and shall be internally 
illuminated during the hours of darkness. 
 

50.9 Interior/Exterior Fire Department Access 
 

a. Interior/exterior Fire Department access roadways/fire lanes shall 
be required per Fire Department Standard. If gates installed, must 
comply with Fire Department Standards. 
 

50.10 Knox Switch 
 

a. All access gates shall require mechanical means for opening in 
event of power failure, shall not impinge on required clear width 
when fully open, and shall be equipped with Knox Box lock 
actuation devices. 



Page 26 of 35  

 
 

50.11 Opticom 
 

a. Access gates shall be provided with an Opticom receiver capable of 
opening gates via decoding of the Opticom strobe signal 
transmitted by Fire, Police, and Ambulance units. 
 

50.12 Approved Water Supply System 
 

a. An approved water supply system, complete with street fire 
hydrants complying with Fire Department Standard, shall be in 
place prior to any combustible construction. 
 

50.13 Fire Flow 
 

a. Required fire flow for this project shall meet the minimum 
requirements established in the California Fire Code. 

b. Required flow is 1000 gpm at 20psi for a 2 hour duration for he 
SFR's. The required fire flow for any community/rec building on the 
site cannot be determined at this time based on the information 
submitted. 
 

50.14 Proposal Changes 
 

a. Any changes to this proposal shall require new Fire Department 
condition letter. 
 

50.15 Shall Comply 
 

a. Shall comply with all current Building, Fire Codes and Fire 
Department Standards requirements based on occupancy 
classification. 

 
60.0 Building and Safety  
 

60.1 Full Design to be in compliance with City of Upland Construction Codes. 
 
60.2 Soils report is required at the time of plan check submittal. 
 
60.3 Provide full compliance ADA parking, Site Accessibility, and Parking. 
 
60.4 A Demolition permit of existing building will only be issued after new 

building plan submittal. 
 
60.5 To the satisfaction of the Building Official, abatement reports required 

prior to building demolition.  
 
 
 



Page 27 of 35  

 
70.0 Environmental 
 

70.1  The applicant shall perform and comply with all required Mitigation 
Measures outlines in Section 5 of the approved Initial Study/Mitigated 
Negative Declaration.  All required Mitigations Measures are included as 
Conditions of Approval.  

 
Required Mitigation Measures 

 
70.2 Air Quality  
 

AQ-1: Prior to issuance of grading permits and/or construction permits, 
the Applicant shall provide to the City verification that all off-road diesel 
construction equipment greater than 150 horsepower (>150 HP) to be 
used for the Project shall comply with the Environmental Protection 
Agency (EPA)/California Air Resources Board (CARB) Tier 3 emissions 
standards during all construction phases. During construction, the City 
shall ensure that all construction equipment be tuned and maintained in 
accordance with the manufacturer’s specifications. This measure shall 
be implemented to the satisfaction of the City Planning Division.  

 
70.3 BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES  
 

BIO-1 A burrowing owl and nesting bird pre-construction clearance 
survey shall be conducted within three days prior to ground-disturbing 
activities. The survey shall encompass the entire area of Project-related 
ground disturbance. If no active avian nests and no burrowing owls are 
found during the clearance survey, no additional mitigation will be 
required.  
 
If a special-status species is located during the survey, consultation with 
the local California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) 
representative shall occur to determine what avoidance actions are 
required. If an active avian nest is discovered during the pre-
construction clearance survey, construction activities shall be redirected 
around the nest(s). As determined by the City Planning Division, a 
qualified biologist shall delineate the boundaries of any such buffer area. 
The buffer shall be sufficient to ensure that nesting behavior is not 
adversely affected by the construction activity. For listed and raptor 
species, this buffer may be expanded to up to 500 feet from the active 
nest at the discretion of the qualified biologist in consultation with the 
City Planning Division and CDFW.  
 
The biologist shall have the authority to temporarily halt construction if 
it occurs within an established avian buffer or if new nesting activity 
occurs and a new buffer is required. Encroachment into buffers around 
active nests must be conducted only at the discretion of the biologist. 
Once the young have fledged and left the nest, or the nest otherwise 
becomes inactive under natural conditions, construction activities within 



Page 28 of 35  

 
the buffer area may occur or resume at the discretion of the qualified 
biologist in consultation with the City Planning Division and CDFW. Upon 
completion of construction monitoring, the biologist shall prepare a 
report of findings documenting the results of the recommended 
protective measures described above to document compliance with 
applicable State and federal laws pertaining to the protection of nesting 
birds. This measure shall be implemented to the satisfaction of the City 
Planning Division.  

 
70.4 CULTURAL RESOURCES  
 

CUL-1 In the event that pre-contact cultural resources are discovered 
during project activities, all work in the immediate vicinity of the of the 
find (within a 100-foot buffer) shall cease and a qualified archaeologist 
meeting Secretary of the Interior standards shall be hired to assess the 
find. Work on the other portions of the project outside of the buffered 
area may continue during this assessment period. Additionally, the San 
Manuel Band of Mission Indians Cultural Resource Department (SMBMI) 
shall be contacted as detailed within Mitigation Measure TCR-1, if any 
such find occurs and be provided information after the archaeologist 
makes his/her initial assessment of the nature of the find, so as to 
provide Tribal input with regard to significance and treatment.  
 
If significant Native American historical resources, as defined by CEQA 
(as amended, 2015), are discovered and avoidance cannot be ensured, 
the archaeologist shall develop a Monitoring and Treatment Plan, the 
drafts of which shall be provided to the SMBMI for review and comment, 
as detailed in Mitigation Measure TCR-1. The archaeologist shall monitor 
the remainder of the project and implement the Plan accordingly.  
 
If human remains or funerary objects are encountered during any 
activities associated with the project, work in the immediate vicinity 
(within a 100-foot buffer of the find) shall cease and the County Coroner 
shall be contacted pursuant to State Health and Safety Code Section 
7050.5 and that code enforced for the duration of the project. 

 
70.5 GEOLOGY AND SOILS  
 

Standard Condition G-1: Prior to the approval of grading and/or building 
permits, the Applicant shall provide evidence to the City for review and 
approval that on-site structures, features, and facilities have been 
designed and will be constructed in conformance with applicable 
provisions of the most current edition of the CBC at the time of 
construction and the recommendations cited in Section 5 of the Project-
specific Geotechnical and Infiltration Evaluation. Geotechnical 
recommendations include, but are not limited to, remedial earthwork 
and/or ground improvement to provide a sufficient layer of engineered 
fill or densified soil beneath the structural footings/foundations, as well 
as proper surface drainage devices and erosion control. Verification 



Page 29 of 35  

 
testing must be performed upon completion of ground improvements to 
confirm that the compressible soils have been sufficiently densified. This 
condition shall be implemented to the satisfaction of the City Building 
and Safety Division.  
 
GEO-1 Prior to the issuance of grading permits, the maximum depth of 
ground-disturbing activities shall be provided to the City. If ground 
disturbance in excess of 15 feet is required, the Applicant shall provide 
evidence to the City that a qualified paleontologist has been retained. 
Upon review of Project materials, the qualified paleontologist shall 
identify those areas of the Site that require monitoring.  
 
In the event that paleontological resources are unearthed during 
ground-disturbing activities, the qualified paleontologist shall halt or 
redirect ground-disturbing activities away from the vicinity of the find 
so that the find can be evaluated by a qualified paleontologist. A buffer 
area shall be established around the find within which construction 
activities shall not be allowed to continue. The buffer area parameters 
will be determined by the Project paleontologist in consultation with the 
City and Project proponent, but shall not be less than 100 feet. Work 
shall be allowed to continue outside the buffer area. The paleontologist 
shall determine the need for paleontological construction monitoring in 
the vicinity of the find thereafter.  
 
All paleontological resources unearthed by Project construction activities 
shall be evaluated by a qualified paleontologist. At the paleontologist’s 
discretion, and to reduce any construction delay, the grading and 
excavation contractor shall assist in removing rock samples for initial 
processing and evaluation of the find. The Project proponent shall 
coordinate with the paleontologist and the City to develop an 
appropriate treatment plan for the resources. Preservation in place (i.e., 
avoidance) shall be considered the preferred treatment measure. If 
preservation in place is not feasible, treatment may include the 
implementation of paleontological data recovery/salvage excavations to 
remove the resource from the Project Site along with subsequent 
laboratory processing and analysis of the fossil specimens.  
 
Any fossils encountered and recovered shall be prepared to the point of 
identification and catalogued before they are donated for final 
repository. Any fossils collected shall be curated at a public, non-profit 
institution with a research interest in the materials, such as the San 
Bernardino County Museum, if such an institution agrees to accept the 
fossils. If no institution accepts the fossil collection, they shall be 
donated to a local school in the area for educational purposes. 
Accompanying notes, maps, and photographs shall also be filed at the 
repository and/or school.  
 
Following the completion of the above measures, the paleontologist shall 
prepare a report summarizing the results of the monitoring and 



Page 30 of 35  

 
salvaging efforts, the methodology used in these efforts, as well as a 
description of the fossils collected and their significance. The report shall 
be submitted by the Project proponent to the City, the San Bernardino 
County Museum, the Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County, 
and representatives of other appropriate or concerned agencies to 
signify the satisfactory completion of the Project and required mitigation 
measures. This measure shall be implemented to the satisfaction of the 
City Planning Division.  

 
70.6  HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY  
 

HYD-1 Prior to the issuance of a grading permit, the Applicant shall file 
and obtain a Notice of Intent (NOI) with the Regional Water Quality 
Control Board (RWQCB) in order to be in compliance with the National 
Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) General Construction 
Storm Water Permit for discharge of surface runoff associated with 
construction activities. Evidence that this NOI has been obtained (i.e., a 
copy of the Waste Discharger’s Identification Number) shall be 
submitted to the City for coverage under the NPDES General 
Construction Permit. The NOI shall address the potential for an extended 
and discontinuous construction period based on funding availability. This 
measure shall be implemented to the satisfaction of the City Public 
Works Department and Planning Division as appropriate.  
 
HYD-2 Prior to the issuance of a grading permit, the Applicant shall 
submit to and receive approval from the City of Upland of a Storm Water 
Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP). The SWPPP shall include a surface 
water control plan and erosion control plan citing specific measures to 
control on-site and off-site erosion during the entire demolition, grading, 
and construction period. In addition, the SWPPP shall emphasize 
structural and nonstructural Best Management Practices (BMPs) to 
control sediment and non-visible discharges from the Site. The SWPPP 
will include inspection forms for routine monitoring of the Site during 
demolition and construction phase to ensure National Pollutant 
Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) compliance. The SWPPP will be 
kept on site for the duration of Project demolition and construction and 
will be available to the local Regional Water Quality Control Board 
(RWQCB) for inspection at any time. Project BMPs may include (but shall 
not be limited to) the following:  
 
• Sediment discharges from the Site may be controlled by the following: 
sandbags, silt fences, straw wattles and temporary basins (if deemed 
necessary), and other discharge control devices. The construction and 
condition of the BMPs will be periodically inspected during construction 
and repairs will be made when necessary as required by the SWPPP.  

• Materials that have the potential to contribute to non-visible pollutants 
to storm water must not be placed in drainage ways and must be 
contained, elevated, and placed in temporary storage containment 
areas.  



Page 31 of 35  

 
• All loose piles of soil, silt, clay, sand, debris, and other earthen material 
shall be protected in a reasonable manner to eliminate any discharge 
from the Site. Stockpiles will be surrounded by silt fences and covered 
with plastic tarps.  

• In addition, the construction contractor shall be responsible for 
performing and documenting the application of BMPs identified in the 
SWPPP. Weekly inspections shall be performed on sandbag barriers and 
other sediment control measures called for in the SWPPP. Monthly 
reports and inspection logs shall be maintained by the contractor and 
reviewed by the City of Upland and the representatives of the State 
Water Resources Control Board. In the event that it is not feasible to 
implement specific BMPs, the City of Upland can make a determination 
that other BMPs will provide equivalent or superior treatment either on 
or off Site.  
 
This measure shall be implemented to the satisfaction of the City Public 
Works Department and Planning Division as appropriate.  
 
HYD-3 Prior to the issuance of a grading permit, the Applicant shall 
submit a Final Water Quality Management Plan (WQMP) to the City of 
Upland for review and approval. Prior to grading permit approval, the 
Project shall provide evidence that the Project design features identified 
in the Final WQMP have been fully incorporated into the Project plans. 
In accordance with the Technical Guidance Document for Water Quality 
Management Plans prepared for the County of San Bernardino Areawide 
Stormwater Program, National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
Permit Number CAS618036, Order Number R8-2010-0036, the Final 
WQMP shall confirm performance standard calculations for each of the 
Project Site’s drainage areas. Specifically, the Final WQMP shall detail 
low impact development (LID) best management practices (BMPs) 
designed to retain the Project Site’s minimum storm water treatment 
capacity and design capture volume to ensure post- development storm 
water runoff volume or time of concentration for the 2-year frequency 
storm shall not exceed that of the pre‐development condition by more 
than five percent. The proposed LID BMPs specified in the Final WQMP 
shall be incorporated into the grading and development plans submitted 
to the City for review and approval. Periodic maintenance of any 
required BMPs, including landscaped areas, during Project occupancy 
and operation shall be in accordance with the schedule outlined in the 
WQMP. This measure shall be implemented to the satisfaction of the City 
Public Works Department and Planning Division as appropriate.  

 
70.6 NOISE  
 

Standard Condition N-1: Construction activities occurring as part of the 
Project shall be subject to the limitations and requirements of Section 
9.40.100(M) of the City Municipal Code, which states that construction 
activities may occur between 7:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m., Mondays 
through Fridays. No construction activities shall be permitted outside of 



Page 32 of 35  

 
these hours or on Saturdays, Sundays, and City holidays except in case 
of urgent necessity in the interest of public health and safety, and then 
only with a permit from the building inspector, which permit may be 
granted for a period not to exceed three days while the emergency 
continues, and which permit may be renewed for periods of three days 
or less while the emergency continues. If the building inspector should 
determine that the public health and safety will not be impaired by the 
erection, demolition, alteration or repair of any building or the 
excavation of streets and highways within the hours of 6:00 p.m. and 
7:00 a.m., and if he or she shall further determine that loss or 
inconvenience would result to any party in interest, he or she may grant 
permission for such work to be done between the hours of 6:00 p.m. 
and 7:00 a.m., upon application being made at the time the permit for 
the work is awarded or during the progress of the work. This standard 
shall be implemented to the satisfaction of the City Building and Safety 
Division.  
 
Standard Condition N-2: Prior to issuance of grading permits, the 
Applicant shall incorporate the following standards as notes on the 
grading plan cover sheet to minimize construction noise:  
 
• Install sound dampening mats or blankets to the engine compartments 
of large mobile equipment (greater than or equal to 80,000 pounds) 
which are capable of a minimum 5 A-weighted decibels (dBA) noise 
reduction. The dampening materials must be capable of the minimum 5 
dBA noise reduction and can be made of commercially-available sound 
dampening materials, including but not limited to polyurethane foam 
and vinyl sheeting.  

• Project construction activities shall comply with the City of Upland 
Municipal Code requirements.  
 
•Equip all construction equipment, fixed or mobile, with properly 
operating and maintained mufflers, consistent with manufacturers’ 
standards. The construction contractor shall place all stationary 
construction equipment so that emitted noise is directed away from the 
noise sensitive receptors nearest the Project Site.  
 
• The construction contractor shall locate equipment staging in areas 
that will create the greatest distance between construction-related noise 
sources and noise-sensitive receivers nearest the Project Site during all 
Project construction (i.e., to the northern center).  

• The contractor shall design delivery routes to minimize the exposure 
of sensitive land uses or residential dwellings to delivery truck-related 
noise.  

 
This standard shall be implemented to the satisfaction of the City 
Building and Safety Division. 



Page 33 of 35  

 
70.7  TRIBAL CULTURAL RESOURCES  
 

TCR-1 The San Manuel Band of Mission Indians (SMBMI) shall be 
contacted, as detailed in Mitigation Measure CUL-1, of any pre-contact 
cultural resource discovered during project implementation, and be 
provided information regarding the nature of the find, so as to provide 
Tribal input with regard to significance and treatment. Should the find 
be deemed significant, as defined by CEQA (as amended, 2015), a 
cultural resources Monitoring and Treatment Plan shall be created by 
the archaeologist, in coordination with the SMBMI, and all subsequent 
finds shall be subject to this Plan. This Plan shall allow for a monitor to 
be present that represents SMBMI for the remainder of the project, 
should SMBMI elect to place a monitor on-site.  
 
TCR-2 Any and all archaeological/cultural documents created as part of 
the project (isolate records, site records, survey reports, testing reports, 
etc.) shall be supplied to the Applicant and City for dissemination to the 
SMBMI. The City and/or Applicant shall, in good faith, consult with the 
SMBMI throughout the life of the Project. 

 
80.0    Review/Compliance 

80.1 The Planning Commission may review the use 90 days, 180 days, and 
on an annual basis following the date of final inspection, or as needed 
at the discretion of the Development Services Director, to determine 
whether the applicant and operators are operating the use in a manner 
that is compatible with the community.  The Planning Commission may 
establish additional conditions of approval that are necessary to 
eliminate any issues that arise from the operation of the use that 
adversely impact the public health, welfare, and safety, or may direct 
staff to initiate revocation proceedings.  The conditional use permit may 
be revoked if the permittee, his agents or assigns, or employee(s) of 
the establishment, or any other person connected or associated with the 
permittee or his business establishment, or any person who is exercising 
managerial authority of the business establishment has: 

 
a. Violated any rule, regulation, or condition of approval adopted by the 

Planning Commission relating to the conditional use permit or 
contained in the Upland Municipal Code, or state or federal 
regulations. Violation of any provision of the Upland Municipal Code 
(UMC) or the conditions of approval set forth in this resolution, shall 
be deemed to constitute an infraction of the Upland Municipal Code, 
and shall be subject to the applicable fines and penalties, including 
the possibility of revocation of this permit.  

 
b. Conducted the operation permitted hereunder in a manner contrary 

to the peace, health, safety, and general welfare of the public, or in 
a manner which either generates or contributes to noise and/or 
health/sanitation nuisances, or which results in undesirable activities 



Page 34 of 35  

 
that negatively affects adjacent properties or creates an increased 
demand for public services. 

 
Section 3. CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT (CEQA). Pursuant to 

the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines and the City’s local 
Guidelines, an Initial Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration (IS/MND) was 
prepared pursuant to Sections 15063(c) and 15070 of the California Environmental 
Quality Act Guidelines and the City of Upland CEQA Guidelines to address the 
potential environmental effects of the proposed project. The IS/MND analyzed 
environmental impacts that  would be potentially affected by the proposed project 
and determined that potentially significant impacts with respect to Air Quality, 
Biological Resources, Cultural Resources, Geology and Soils, Hydrology and Water 
Quality, Noise, and Tribal Cultural Resources, would be reduced to less than 
significant levels with the incorporation of mitigation measures imposed on the 
project.   
 

Section 4.  APPEAL.  Pursuant to Upland Municipal Code Section 17.47.040, 
the decision of the Planning Commission may be appealed to the City Council provided 
that written notice of the appeal is filed with the City Clerk within ten (10) days 
following the date the decision was rendered, unless a longer appeal period is 
specified as part of the project approval.  Failure to file a timely appeal shall constitute 
a waiver of the right of appeal, and the decision of the Planning Commission shall be 
final. 
 

Section 5.  INCONSISTENCY.  If any section, division, sentence, clause, phrase 
or portion of this resolution or the document in the record in support of this resolution 
is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, unenforceable, 
unconstitutional or otherwise void, that determination shall not affect the validity of 
the remaining sections, divisions, sentences, clauses, phrases of this resolution.  
 

Section 6.  CERTIFICATION.  The Secretary of the Planning Commission shall 
certify to the passage, approval, and adoption of this Resolution, and shall cause this 
Resolution and his certification to be entered in the Book of Resolutions of the 
Planning Commission of the City. 
 
 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 22nd day of January, 2020. 
 
      
        

_________________________________ 
Robin Aspinall, Chair 

 
        
 
 
 
 
 



Page 35 of 35  

 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 

 

____________________________ 

Robert D. Dalquest, SECRETARY 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution was duly and regularly passed and 
adopted by the Planning Commission of the City of Upland at a regular adjourned 
meeting thereof held on the 22nd day of January, 2020, by the following vote: 

AYES:     

NAYS:   

ABSENT:    

ABSTAIN:    

____________________________ 
Robert D. Dalquest, SECRETARY 

 
 
 
 



 

 

Exhibit B – Planning Commission Packet              

from December 11, 2019 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION REPORT 

ITEM NO. 5 

DATE: DECEMBER 11, 2019 

TO: PLANNING COMMISSION 

FROM: ROBERT D. DALQUEST, DEVELOPMENT SERVICES DIRECTOR 

PREPARED BY: JOSHUA WINTER, ASSOCIATE PLANNER 

SUBJECT: SPECIFIC PLAN NO. SPR-18-02, GENERAL PLAN 
AMENDMENT NO. GPA-18-04, ZONE CHANGE NO. ZC-18-04, 
TENTATIVE TRACT NO. 20245 (TT-18-03), SITE PLAN NO. 
SP-18-10, DESIGN REVIEW NO. DR-18-14, AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT REVIEW NO. EAR-0070 FOR 
CONSIDERATION OF A RESIDENTIAL SPECIFIC PLAN FOR 
THE DEVELOPMENT OF A GATED RESIDENTIAL COMMUNITY 
THAT CONSISTS OF 65 SINGLE-FAMILY DETACHED 
RESIDENTIAL UNITS AT A DENSITY OF 7.1 DWELLING 
UNITS PER ACRE AND ON-SITE ACTIVE AND PASSIVE 
RECREATIONAL AMENITIES TO BE PROVIDED WITHIN THE 
COMMON AREA OPEN SPACE ON AN EXISTING 9.2-ACRE 
PORTION OF THE 15TH STREET FLOOD CONTROL DETENTION 
BASIN INLCUDING MODIFICATIONS TO THE REMAINDER 
DETENTION BASIN.  

REQUEST 

The applicant has requested the establishment of a Residential Specific Plan for the 
development of a gated residential community that consists of 65 single-family 
detached residential units at a density of 7.1 dwelling units per acre with on-site 
active and passive recreational amenities provided within the common area open 
space on an existing 9.2-acre portion of the 15th street flood control detention basin. 
The Project includes modifications (including relocation of existing basin 
infrastructure) to the existing basin to accommodate the residential site and maintain 
a fully operational flood control and retention facility on the remaining 11.1 acres of 
the basin area. The request includes the following applications: 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Villa Serena Specific Plan  

December 11, 2019 
Page 2 of 12 

 
 

Specific Plan (SPR-18-02) to establish site specific development standards and design 
guidelines. 
 
General Plan Amendment (GPA-18-04) to amend the Land Use Designation from 
Public Utilities – Flood Control (PU-FC) to Specific Plan (SP). 
  
Zone Change (ZC-18-04) to amend the Zoning from Public – Flood Control (P-FC) to 
Specific Plan (SP). 
  
Tentative Tract No. 20245 (TT-18-03) to subdivide one (1) parcel into 65 numbered 
lots and ten (10) lettered lots, consisting of private streets and common open space.  
 
Site Plan (SP-18-10) to establish the site layout consistent with the development 
standards identified within the Specific Plan. 
 
Design Review (DR-18-14) to establish the architectural design of the proposed 
residential units, landscaping design, open space deign and amenities.  
 
Environmental Assessment Review (EAR-0070) to evaluate project impacts to the 
environment, and review the Initial Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration and to 
adopt appropriate mitigation measures to ensure project compliance with the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 
 
SYNOPSIS  
 
Applicant: FH II, LLC 
Representative: Tim Nguyen  
Property Owner: The Colonies Partners L.P. 
Property Location: The project site constitutes a 9.2-acre portion of an 

the existing 15th street flood control detention basin 
located north of E. 15th Street, south of the Upland 
Hills Golf Course, east of Campus Avenue and west of 
grove avenue. The project site is further described as 
Assessor’s Parcel Numbers 1045-121-04 and 1045-
151-35. 

Existing General Plan Land 
Use Designation: Public Utilities – Flood Control (PU-FC) 

Existing Zoning 
Classification: Public – Flood Control (PB-FC) 

Site Size:  9.2 Acres ( remainder basin to be 11.1 Acres) 
Building/Suite Size: Proposed Single Family residential ranging From  
Access: 15th Street 
Existing Conditions: Flood Control Detention Basin  

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Villa Serena Specific Plan  

December 11, 2019 
Page 3 of 12 

 
 

Surrounding Land Uses: 

See Exhibit A – Vicinity Map 

Direction  Land Use  General 
Plan  

Zone  

North  Multi-family 
Residential and 
Golf Course  

SP  SP  

East  Flood Control 
Basin  

PU-FC/R  PB-FC  

South  Single-family 
Residential  

SFR-L 
and SFR-
M  

RS-7.5 
and RS-
10  

West  Single-family 
Residential  

SFR-L  RS-7.5  

Previous 
Applications/Entitlements: N/A 

 
AUTHORIZATION/GUIDELINES 
 
Upland Municipal Code Section 17.43.050 E. requires that if one or more permit 
application is submitted concurrently for a single proposed project, each application 
shall be acted upon concurrently by the highest review authority.  In this case, the 
highest review authority is the City Council.  Therefore, the City Council will take 
action on the project. The Planning Commission role in this case, is to make a 
recommendation to the City Council. 
 
PUBLIC NOTICE 
 
This project included multiple modes of notifying the public, in accordance with 
Upland Municipal Code (UMC) Section 17.46.020.   
 

1. Notice of Filing Signs (4) were posted at the project site in August of 2019, 
and staff posted the Notice of Public Hearing on the signs on Wednesday, 
November 27, 2019. 
 

2. On November 13, 2019, a Notice of Availability/Notice of Intent for the Draft 
Initial Study and Proposed Mitigated Negative Declaration (IS/MND) was 
published in the Daily Bulletin, a notice was mailed to all property owners 
within 1,500 feet of the project site resulting in approximately 1,100 property 
owners surrounding the project site, and a notice was mailed to all agencies, 
organizations that may have an interest in the project (e.g. San Antonio Water 
Company, Upland Unified school District, Utility companies).   
 

3. On November 27, 2019, a Notice of Public Hearing was mailed to all property 
owners within 1,500 feet of the project site.  This resulted in a total of 
approximately 1,100 property owners being noticed.   
 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Villa Serena Specific Plan  

December 11, 2019 
Page 4 of 12 

 
 

4. The Public Hearing Notice was also published in the Inland Valley Daily Bulletin 
on November 29, 2019 and posted in 2 physical locations (Upland City Hall and 
Upland Library) on November 27, 2019. 

 
PROJECT BACKGROUND 
 
Public Comments regarding Initial Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration 
 
On November 13, 2019, a Notice of Availability/Notice of Intent for the Draft Initial 
Study and Proposed Mitigated Negative Declaration (IS/MND) Circulated.  In 
response, the City Received comments from 11 individuals, after the project was 
publicly noticed on November 27, 2019. 
 
One specific comment, received from Bill Rodstrom, who claims to be former U.S. 
Fish & Wildlife Service biologist, argues the existing Sage Scrub habitat of the 
proposed project includes habitat for the resident Coastal California Gnatcatcher, 
which is listed as a Threatened Species under the Endangered Species Act. Mr. 
Rodstrom goes on to say that he has seen and/or heard this species virtually every 
time he has visited the site.  This is in contrast to the Biological Report of the project, 
which argues the site does not support suitable habitat for the species. As such, 
additional time is needed to respond to this comment.     
 
In addition to Mr. Rodstrom’s comments, additional time is needed to respond to the 
remainder comments provided by surrounding residents.  
 
Due to the status of the response to public comments mentioned above for the  
Project, the Planning Division recommends to hold the public hearing for the project, 
but to continue the item to the next regularly scheduled Planning Commission hearing 
so the environmental issues can be addressed prior to action being taken. 
 
Site Background 
 
The 15th Street Basin is a functioning portion of a flood control system that originally 
extended from a dam in what is now the Colonies Specific Plan area. With more recent 
storm drain improvements in the Colonies, much of the storm water drainage that 
previously flowed into the 15th Street Basin was diverted, so there is no need for the 
entire 20.27 acres to be used for flood control purposes. 
 
Development Agreement DA-02-01, was approved by the City Council on September 
24, 2002, along with the associated entitlements, to allow the development the 
Colonies at San Antonio. Section 4.10 of the Development Agreement requires the 
City to pay the Colonies $5 million dollars to assist in the City's fair share cost for 
increasing the capacity for various streets and the capacity of various storm and 
sewer facilities to serve an area larger than the Colonies Specific Plan area. However, 
soon after DA-02-01 was approved, it was determined that the City could not afford 
the $5 million dollar payment. 
 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Villa Serena Specific Plan  

December 11, 2019 
Page 5 of 12 

 
 

On December 22, 2003, the City Council approved the first amendment to the 
Development Agreement. Specifically, this first amendment to the Development 
Agreement modified Section 4.10, to allow the City to pay the Colonies $1.5 million 
from Measure I funds and for the remaining $3.5 million, the City granted the 
Colonies a 10-year term for their first right of refusal to explore and identify a 
potential project before acquiring a portion of the 15th Street Basin property. Section 
4.10 went on to require that the City would determine the portion of the 15th Street 
Basin that is no longer needed for flood control purposes, and could therefore be 
developed. This property could then transfer to the Colonies for the sum of one dollar, 
in exchange for the Colonies waiving the City's required payment of $3.5 million 
dollars. The 10-year term expired on January 21, 2014.  
 
Subsequently, on February 9, 2015, the City Council approved a second amendment 
to the Development Agreement, allowing the 10-year term to explore and identify a 
community enhancing development on a portion of the 15th Street Basin property, 
be extended until January 21, 2018. 
 
As a result of the aforementioned, The Colonies Partners requested a Quitclaim Deed 
to transfer 9.2 acres of the overall 20.3 acres of the 15th Street Storm Basin, 
pursuant to Section 4.10, of said Development Agreement. Public Works staff 
reviewed and accepted a drainage study for the 15th Street Basin prepared by Madole 
& Associates. This study identifies that of the 20.3 acre site constituting the 15th 
Street Basin, that only 11.1 acres are necessary for future flood control purposes due 
to the previous construction of an additional storm water retention basin in the 
Colonies and the construction by the Army Corps of Engineers, of a concrete drainage 
channel along the eastern edge of the Colonies project. Based on the drainage study, 
9.2 acres of land in the 15th Street Basin area was transferred to the Colonies Partner 
for future development. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
General Plan and Zoning  
 
The Project includes a General Plan Amendment (GPA) to change the General Plan 
Land Use Map designation for the Site from Public Flood Control/Recharge (FC/R) to 
Villa Serena Specific Plan (SP), which will allow for residential land use development 
at a density of 7.1 dwelling units per acre generally consistent with the surrounding 
residential single-family low (SFR-L) and single-family medium (SFR-M) located south 
of the Site and the Upland Hills Country Club SP located north of the Site. Adoption 
by the City of the Specific Plan by ordinance will change the City’s zoning map for the 
City from Public (PB-FC) to “Villa Serena Specific Plan.” (See Exhibit B – Current 
General Plan and Zoning Designation) 
 
The Villa Serena Specific Plan document (See Exhibit C – Villa Serena Specific Plan) 
identifies consistency with the General Plan elements including the Land Use Element, 
Community Character and Urban Design Element, Economic Sustainability Element, 
Circulation Element, Open Space and Conservation Element, Public Services and 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Villa Serena Specific Plan  

December 11, 2019 
Page 6 of 12 

 
 

Facilities Element, Healthy Community Element and the Safety Element.  Analysis is 
provided in Section 6 of the Villa Serena Specific Plan document. 
 
Specific Plan  
 
State of California Government Code, Title 7, Division 1, Chapter 3, Article 8, Section 
65450-57, grants authority to cities to adopt specific plans for purposes of 
implementing the goals and policies of their general plans. The Government Code 
specifies that specific plans may be adopted either by resolution or by ordinance and 
that the specific plan must be consistent with the General Plan. The Government 
Code sets forth the minimum requirements and review procedures for specific plans 
including provision of a land use plan, an infrastructure and public services plan, 
criteria and standards for development, and implementation measures.  
 
The Specific Plan serves as the legal document to implement the General Plan land 
use designation for the Project Site of Villa Serena Specific Plan (SP) and provides 
the zoning for development of the Project Site as a residential community at a density 
of 7.1 dwelling units per acre. The Specific Plan establishes land use and development 
regulations designed to govern development of the Project Site. In instances where 
the Specific Plan is silent, regarding a specific development standard or procedure for 
implementing the Specific Plan, the Upland Municipal Code Zoning Code Title 17, 
(Planning and Zoning) shall prevail. The Specific Plan provides a “blueprint” for 
development of the Project establishing permitted uses, a land use plan, the develop-
ment requirements, and design criteria for land development as set forth herein. 
 
Tentative Tract Map and Site Plan  
  
The proposed Tentative Tract Map will subdivide the one (1) 9.2 acre parcel into 65 
numbered lots and ten (10) lettered lots, consisting of private streets and common 
open space.  The numbered lots will be a minimum of 3,337 square feet, 47 feet in 
width and 71 feet in depth. (See Exhibit D – Tentative Tract Map)  
 
The projects layout consists of a central private street with homes on both the north 
side and south side of the street.  Homes on the south-west portion of the project 
site are buffered from 15th Street by a 20 to 30 feet wide landscaped easement.  The 
easement contains needed inlet/outlet pipes for the basin.  Homes at the south-east 
area of the project site will be located behind existing residential homes that face 
onto 15th Street.  The existing homes rear yards will back up to a 50 foot wide open 
space walking path and landscaped area.  Homes on the north side of the site will 
have the rear yards facing onto the Upland Hills Golf Course.     
 
Each home will have front door and garage access off of the private street with front 
door access located off of the private street.  Each home will have a minimum 10 foot 
front-yard setback to the living area, and 19 foot setback to the garage.  Minimum 5 
foot side-yard setbacks and a minimum 15 foot rear-yard setbacks (rear yard patio 
covers may have a 5 foot rear yard setback) are also provided. (See Exhibit E – Site 
Plans) 
 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Villa Serena Specific Plan  

December 11, 2019 
Page 7 of 12 

 
 

Architecture 
 
Three separate and distinct architectural styles have been selected for the Site. They 
include Spanish, Italianate, and French Country. The Project will also include 3 
different models, with each model having an iteration of one of the 3 architectural 
designs.  In addition to the 3 models and 3 architectural designs, the applicant has 
proposed 3 paint schemes for each style.  All homes are proposed to be 2-stories.  
This results in a wide array of variation in colors, materials, textures that create a 
varied street scape.  Some details of the architectural designs include:  
 
Spanish. Distinguishing features of this style include smooth stucco walls, chimneys 
with distinctive hoods, s-tile roofs, decorative wrought iron and gable ends.  
 
Italianate. Distinguishing features of this style include low-pitched hip roofs, 
decorative eave brackets, horizontal banding, round columns, and arched elements.  
 
French Country. Distinguishing features include a steeper roof slope than other styles 
which provides for a diverse street scene corbels, shutters, and window shelves. 
Stone veneer surrounds, and decorative gable ends are incorporated for texture and 
color accompaniments. 
 
Additional Design features that encompass each architectural style include varied roof 
lines, including gable and hip roofs, first floor design features including trellises and 
first floor roofing that break up the 2 story massing.  The designs include forward 
living space with garages setback to create depth and avoids flat facades.  High 
quality materials such as concrete cast or wood molding around doors and windows 
will be provided throughout each architectural style. Stucco banding and shutters are 
also employed to add color and texture. (See Exhibit F – Architectural Plans) 
 
In addition to the elements identified in the Architectural exhibits, the Planning 
Division has included a Conditions of Approval requiring additional elevation 
enhancements (e.g. shutters, window trim, etc) be provided on the second level of 
homes facing onto the Golf Course and 15th Street.   
 
Floor Plans  
 
As mentioned above, the project will include 3 different models.  The models include 
the following details: 
 

Plan # Plan Size (SF) Number of Bedrooms Number of Bathrooms 
1 2,159 SF 4 or 3 + Loft 3 
2 2,374 SF 5 or 4 + Loft 3 
3 2,591 SF 5 or 4 + Loft 3 

 
Landscaping 
 
The Villa Serena Specific Plan, Section 4 provides design criteria for on-site 
landscaping.  The landscape design requirements encompasses “hardscape” 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Villa Serena Specific Plan  

December 11, 2019 
Page 8 of 12 

 
 

elements such as entry monuments, signage, walls, fences, gates, paving, recreation 
and picnic equipment, as well as “softscape” elements such as trees, shrubs, vines 
and ground cover.  Design requirements include California native/drought tolerant 
trees, plant and ground covers.  The builder will install groundcover and appropriate 
shrubs and trees in the front yards of homes within residential areas, with the rear 
yards being homeowner installed. Installation of automatic irrigation within the front 
yards of all residential areas, common open space areas and perimeter will also be 
provided by the home builder. Prior to the issuance of construction permits, the 
applicant is required to submit, for review and approval, landscape plans for the 
project.  Landscape plans will include all open space areas, common landscaped area, 
right-of-way landscaping and typical front yard landscaping. 
 
At project build-out, the HOA will maintain all landscaping within open space area’s 
and perimeter landscaping, including landscaping installed within the right-of-way 
along 15th street.  
 
As conditioned, a wall and fence plan is required prior to the issuance of building 
permits.  The perimeter wall, as conditioned will be a split face block wall with a 
decorative cap and columns will be provided around the perimeter of the project site, 
including the project boundary between the open space area/ walking path and the 
existing residences to the south.  Walls are also required in all places in public view, 
including around open space areas, side yards and street side yards, etc.  Prior to 
the issuance of construction permits, the applicant is required to submit a wall and 
fence plan, for review and approval, for the project.   
 
Open Space 
 
The Project provides approximately one acre (42,266 square feet) of common area 
open space. A 0.75-acre recreation area is planned with a community pool, pool 
house with restrooms, and areas improved with picnic tables, a children’s play area, 
and barbeque and picnic areas. Four individual pocket parks totaling 9,526 square 
feet are planned for passive recreation uses by residents. The smallest pocket park 
is approximately 1,700 square feet and the largest is approximately 3,550 square 
feet. The pocket parks are accessible from Project sidewalks and will include shady 
landscape areas with benches, picnic tables, and children’s play areas. (Please see 
Exhibit G – Open Space Plan) 
 
Parking and Circulation 
 
Each residence will be provided a two car garage, which totals 130 parking spaces.  
Street parking will also be available throughout the project site, totaling 46 spaces.   
With all forms of parking provided, the project is anticipated to provide adequate 
parking for residents and guests.  
 
Access for residents to the Project Site is provided from 15th Street at two locations. 
A primary gated community entry for the Project is located at the easterly Project 
boundary adjacent to existing residential uses.  The gated entry will be inclusive of 
enhanced paving, landscaping and decorative tubular steel gate. Residents will open 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Villa Serena Specific Plan  

December 11, 2019 
Page 9 of 12 

 
 

the gate via fob, with guests operating the gate via code. A second gated entry is 
provided from 15th Street at the westerly boundary of the Project. Emergency vehicle 
access is provided at both entries along 15th Street, but the gate at the westerly 
boundary of the site will not allow for guest access.  
 
An internal private two way street system provides primary circulation within the 
Project Site serving residential dwellings and the common area open space.  The total 
right of way width through most of the project will be a total of 48 feet, and will be 
inclusive of 5 foot sidewalks on both sides of the street and a 38 foot roadway (with 
a 1 foot curb adjacent rolled curb) (See Figure 1 Below).  Parking is allowed on both 
sides of the street in these areas, with exception of required fire lane areas around 
the primary open space area. The roadway will narrow around the primary open space 
area to 32 feet and parking will only be allowed on one side of the street.  The road 
will also narrow to 26 feet at the westerly entrance, and the roadway at the easterly 
entry to the basin. All streets are planned as private roadways.   
  
Figure 1 

 
 
Maintenance crews serving the remaining Upland Basin flood control and detention 
basin are provided vehicular access to the westerly boundary of the basin through 
the Project within the internal street system. A service road and gate are located at 
the easterly boundary of the Project Site for maintenance vehicles to access the 
basin.  
 
Ultimate right of way improvements for 15th Street include 40 feet of paved travel 
area with a 5 foot wide sidewalk and an 8 foot wide landscaped parkway on each side 
of 15th Street for a total right of way of 66 feet. As part of the Project the developer 
will construct an additional 8 feet of travel area, a new 5 foot sidewalk and an 8 foot 
wide landscaped parkway within the existing right of way adjacent to the Project Site.  
See Figure 2. 
 
 
 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Villa Serena Specific Plan  

December 11, 2019 
Page 10 of 12 

 
 

Figure 2 
 

 
 
Pedestrian circulation will be provided by sidewalks throughout the site.  Sidewalks 
provide access to all open space areas, including the linear walking path at the south-
east of the project site. The connection of the Project to the public walkway system 
is provided at both entries to the project on 15th Street.  This connects the project 
site to the greater community and provides for a bicycling and pedestrian friendly 
environment.  
 
Basin Modifications  
 
In 2017, the consulting firm of Madole and Associates, Inc. prepared a Drainage 
Study in the City of Upland for the 15th Street Basin. Based on the analysis, the study 
determined that a surplus parcel of 9.2 acres, located on the westerly end of the 
existing basin could be created, and that the remaining basin area of 11.1 acres 
would be sufficient for flood control operations without demonstrably impacting 
downstream facilities.  The modifications to the basin will include filling the 9.2 
portion of the residential development, and reconfiguration of the remaining 11.1 
acres making the bottom of the basin deeper, and modification of the inlet/outlet 
structures which include the following: 
 

1. Extension of the basin inlet pipe currently located at the north-west corner of 
the basin will be extended approximately 1900 linear feet through the south 
side of the project into the modified basin.   
 

2. An existing local inlet pipe located approximately 300’ east of the Project Site’s 
easterly boundary will be routed through the Project Site to the modified basin. 

 
3. An existing concrete channel located approximately 60’ west of the eastern 

edge of the Project Site will be picked up in a new pipe and routed through the 
Project Site into the modified basin. 
 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Villa Serena Specific Plan  

December 11, 2019 
Page 11 of 12 

 
 

4. The basin outlet pipe will be  extended approximately 1800 feet The proposed 
pipe from the southeast corner of the modified basin westerly to the proposed 
Project main entry, then south into 15th Street and west along 15th Street 
connecting to the existing outlet pipe. 

 
5. An Emergency Spillway will be constructed at the intersection of Grove Avenue 

and the Basin  
 

For additional details, Please see Exhibit H – Storm Drain Plans.  

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT 
 
An Initial Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration (IS/MND) was prepared pursuant 
to Sections 15063(c) and 15070 of the California Environmental Quality Act 
Guidelines and the City of Upland CEQA Guidelines to address the potential 
environmental effects of the proposed project. The IS/MND analyzed environmental 
impacts that  would be potentially affected by the proposed project and determined 
that potentially significant impacts with respect to Air Quality, Biological Resources, 
Cultural Resources, Geology and Soils, Hydrology and Water Quality, Noise, and 
Tribal Cultural Resources, would be reduced to less than significant levels with the 
incorporation of mitigation measures imposed on the project. (See Exhibit I - Initial 
Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration). 

Traffic 

A Traffic Impact Analysis was prepared for the project to determine if any impacts 
would be caused by the project.  The analysis specifically looked at both Trip 
Generation and Level of Service (LOS) to determine if any impacts would be created.  
Trip generation rates are calculated using rates from the Institute of Transportation 
Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual (10th Edition) for Land Use 210 “Single 
Family Detached.” The Proposed Project is anticipated to generate a net total of 623 
trip-ends per day with 50 a.m. peak hour trips and 65 p.m. peak hour trips. With the 
knowledge if the trips generated by the project, that data was applied in the LOS 
analysis.  The LOS analysis looked at multiple intersections surrounding the project 
including prepared and included the following seven 
Intersections: 
 

1. Campus Avenue & 14th Street; 
2. Driveway 1 & 15th Street (Future Intersection); 
3. Driveway 2 & 15th Street (Future Intersection); 
4. Alta Avenue & 15th Street; 
5. Alta Avenue & 14th Street; 
6. Alta Avenue & Foothill Boulevard (State Route 66); and 
7. Grove Avenue & Foothill Boulevard (State Route 66).     

 
Results of the Analysis show that all study area intersections currently operate at 
satisfactory LOS under existing conditions and are forecast to continue to operate at 
satisfactory LOS with the construction of the project. For Additional Information, 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Villa Serena Specific Plan  

December 11, 2019 
Page 12 of 12 

 
 

please review section 3.3.17 and Appendix I of the Initial Study/Mitigated Negative 
Declaration.  
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
The Planning Division recommends that the Planning Commission continue the Public 
Hearing until the next regularly scheduled Planning Commission Meeting so the 
environmental issues can be resolved.  
 
MOTION 
 

• Move to continue the item to the next regularly scheduled Planning 
Commission Meeting on January 22, 2019. 

 
EXHIBITS 
 
Exhibit A: Vicinity Map 
Exhibit B: General Plan and Zoning 
Exhibit C: Villa Serena Specific Plan 
Exhibit D: Tentative Tract Map 
Exhibit E: Site Plans 
Exhibit F: Architectural Plans 
Exhibit G: Open Space Plan 
Exhibit H: Storm Drain Plans 
Exhibit I: Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration 
 
 
EXHIBIT I can be found at the link here: 
 
https://www.uplandca.gov/uploads/files/DevelopmentServices/Environmental%20R
eview%20Documents/SPR-18-02%20Villa%20Serena%20Draft%20IS-
MND%20with%20appendicies%20A-I.pdf 
 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019

https://www.uplandca.gov/uploads/files/DevelopmentServices/Environmental%20Review%20Documents/SPR-18-02%20Villa%20Serena%20Draft%20IS-MND%20with%20appendicies%20A-I.pdf
https://www.uplandca.gov/uploads/files/DevelopmentServices/Environmental%20Review%20Documents/SPR-18-02%20Villa%20Serena%20Draft%20IS-MND%20with%20appendicies%20A-I.pdf
https://www.uplandca.gov/uploads/files/DevelopmentServices/Environmental%20Review%20Documents/SPR-18-02%20Villa%20Serena%20Draft%20IS-MND%20with%20appendicies%20A-I.pdf


 

 

Exhibit A – Vicinity Map 

 
EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Exhibit A - Vicinity Map 
 

 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

 

Exhibit B – General Plan and Zoning  

 
EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Exhibit B - General Plan and Zoning Map 
 
General Plan Land Use Map 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Exhibit B - General Plan and Zoning Map 
 
Zoning Map  

 

 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

 

Exhibit C – Villa Serena Specific Plan  

 
EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



DRAFT
Villa Serena Specific Plan

OCTOBER 2019

Frontier Communities
2151 Convention Center Way

Suite 222
Ontario, CA 91764

Consultants:

Linn & Associates 

Proactive Engineering 

LANTEX Landscape Architecture Inc.

Bassenian Lagoni Architects

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan

TABLE OF CONTENTS

 i

Section 1. Introduction

1.1 Project Overview  ....................................................................................................1.1

1.2 Project Setting  .........................................................................................................1.4

1.3 Purpose and Authority   ........................................................................................1.4
1.3.1 Purpose  ................................................................................................................................................1.4

1.3.2 Authority of the Specific Plan  ......................................................................................................1.4

1.4 Objectives  .................................................................................................................1.6

1.5 Project Summary  ....................................................................................................1.7
1.5.1 Residential   .........................................................................................................................................1.7

1.5.2 Common Area Open Space  ..........................................................................................................1.7

1.5.3 Pedestrian and Bicycle Connectivity  .........................................................................................1.7

1.5.4 Infrastructure   ....................................................................................................................................1.8

1.6 Governing Documents  .........................................................................................1.8
1.6.1 General Plan  .......................................................................................................................................1.8

1.6.2 Specific Plan  .......................................................................................................................................1.8

1.6.3 Subdivision Maps  .............................................................................................................................1.9

1.6.4 Development Plan Review   ..........................................................................................................1.9

1.6.5 Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions  .................................................................................1.9

1.7 CEQA Compliance  ..................................................................................................1.9

1.8 Specific Plan Components  ..................................................................................1.9

Section 2. Development Plan

2.1 Land Use  ....................................................................................................................2.1
2.1.1 Residential Use   .................................................................................................................................2.1

2.1.2 Open Space Use  ...............................................................................................................................2.1

2.2 Circulation .................................................................................................................2.1
2.2.1 15th Street  ..........................................................................................................................................2.3

2.2.2 Project Streets  ...................................................................................................................................2.3

2.2.3 Pedestrian and Bicycle Mobility   ................................................................................................2.3

2.3 Infrastructure and Public Services  ...................................................................2.3
2.3.1 Water   ...................................................................................................................................................2.3

2.3.2 Sanitary Sewer  ..................................................................................................................................2.8

2.3.3 Storm Drain and Water Quality Management  .......................................................................2.8

2.1 Land Use  ....................................................................................................................2.1
2.1.1 Residential Use   .................................................................................................................................2.1

2.1.2 Open Space Use  ...............................................................................................................................2.1

2.2 Circulation .................................................................................................................2.1
2.2.1 15th Street  ..........................................................................................................................................2.3

2.2.2 Project Streets  ...................................................................................................................................2.3

2.2.3 Pedestrian and Bicycle Mobility   ................................................................................................2.3

2.3 Infrastructure and Public Services  ...................................................................2.3
2.3.1 Water   ...................................................................................................................................................2.3

2.3.2 Sanitary Sewer  ..................................................................................................................................2.8

2.3.3 Storm Drain and Water Quality Management  .......................................................................2.8

2.4 Public Utilities   .........................................................................................................2.8
2.4.1 Telephone and Cable   .....................................................................................................................2.8

2.4.2 Natural Gas  .........................................................................................................................................2.8

2.4.3 Electricity  ............................................................................................................................................2.8

2.4.4 Solid Waste  .........................................................................................................................................2.8

2.4.5 Schools  ............................................................................................................................................. 2.11

2.5 Basin Modifications and Project Grading  ................................................... 2.11

2.6 Fire Safety  ............................................................................................................... 2.13

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ii

2.4 Public Utilities   .........................................................................................................2.8
2.4.1 Telephone and Cable   .....................................................................................................................2.8

2.4.2 Natural Gas  .........................................................................................................................................2.8

2.4.3 Electricity  ............................................................................................................................................2.8

2.4.4 Solid Waste  .........................................................................................................................................2.8

2.4.5 Schools  ............................................................................................................................................. 2.11

2.5 Basin Modifications and Project Grading  ................................................... 2.11

2.6 Fire Safety  ............................................................................................................... 2.13

Section 3. Development Regulations

3.1 Introduction  .............................................................................................................3.1

3.2 Definition of Terms  ................................................................................................3.1

3.3 Applicability  .............................................................................................................3.1

3.4 General Site Development Standards  ............................................................3.1

3.5 Green and Sustainable Development Standards  .......................................3.1

3.6 Permitted Uses and Structures  ..........................................................................3.2

3.7 Residential Development Standards  ..............................................................3.3

3.8 Temporary Uses  ......................................................................................................3.5

3.9 Common Area Open Space Development Standards  ..............................3.5

3.10 Landscaping, Fencing, and Walls  ......................................................................3.5
3.10.1 Landscape and Irrigation Standards  .........................................................................................3.5

3.10.2 Fence and Wall Standards  .............................................................................................................3.6

3.11 Signage  ......................................................................................................................3.6
3.11.1 Master Sign Program Contents  ...................................................................................................3.6

3.12 Lighting  .....................................................................................................................3.7
3.12.1 General Requirements   ..................................................................................................................3.7

3.12.2 Public Street Lights   ........................................................................................................................3.7

3.12.3 Private Street Lighting Fixtures  ...................................................................................................3.7

3.12.4 Common Area Open Space Lighting   .......................................................................................3.7

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan

TABLE OF CONTENTS

 iii

Section 4. Design Criteria

4.1 Purpose and Intent  ................................................................................................4.1

4.2 Landscape Design   .................................................................................................4.1
4.2.1 Landscape Elements  .......................................................................................................................4.1

4.2.2 Community Entries  .........................................................................................................................4.8

4.2.3 Interior Streetscapes   ......................................................................................................................4.8

4.2.4 Common Open Space and Connectivity  ..............................................................................4.19

4.3 Walls and Fencing   .............................................................................................. 4.19
4.3.1 Community Walls  .......................................................................................................................... 4.19

4.3.2 Residential Walls and Fences  ....................................................................................................4.30

4.3.3 Other Fences  ................................................................................................................................... 4.30

4.4 Outdoor Lighting  ................................................................................................ 4.30
4.4.1 Entry Monument Lighting  .........................................................................................................4.30

4.4.2 Common Open Space Areas and Walkway Lighting  ........................................................4.30

4.5 Signs ......................................................................................................................... 4.30
4.5.1 Sign Program Objectives  ............................................................................................................4.32

4.5.2 Sign Design Criteria  ...................................................................................................................... 4.32

4.6 Architectural Design   ......................................................................................... 4.32
4.6.1 Spanish Influenced Style   ...........................................................................................................4.33

4.6.2 Italianate Influences   .................................................................................................................... 4.36

4.6.3 French Country Influences  ........................................................................................................4.39

Section 5. Implementation and Administration

5.1 Methods and Applicability  .................................................................................5.1

5.2 Severability  ...............................................................................................................5.1

5.3 Interpretation  ..........................................................................................................5.1

5.4 Development Review  ...........................................................................................5.1
5.4.1 Subdivision Maps  .............................................................................................................................5.1

5.4.2 Site Plan and Design Review  ........................................................................................................5.1

5.5 Specific Plan Modifications and Amendments  ...........................................5.2
5.5.1 Modifications  .....................................................................................................................................5.2

5.5.2 Specific Plan Amendments   .........................................................................................................5.2

5.6 Appeals  ......................................................................................................................5.2

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan

TABLE OF CONTENTS

iv

5.7 Compliance with Mitigation Measures  ..........................................................5.2

5.8 Project Financing  ...................................................................................................5.2
5.8.1 Facilities and Services   ....................................................................................................................5.3

5.8.2 Facilities and Services   ....................................................................................................................5.3

5.9 Project Phasing  .......................................................................................................5.3

5.10 Maintenance  ............................................................................................................5.3

Section 6. General Plan Consistency

6.1 Land Use Element  ..................................................................................................6.1

6.2 Community Character and Urban Design Element  ...................................6.3

6.3 Economic Sustainability Element  .................................................................. 6.14

6.4 Circulation Element  ............................................................................................ 6.14

6.5 Open Space and Conservation Element  ..................................................... 6.15

6.6 Public Services and Facilities Element  ......................................................... 6.22

6.7 Healthy Community Element  ......................................................................... 6.25

6.8 Safety Element  ..................................................................................................... 6.25

List of Tables
Table 2.1
Statistical Summary ........................................................................................................... 2.1
Table 3.1
Residential Development Standards .......................................................................... 3.4
Table 4.1
Suggested Plant List
Table 5-1
Project Maintenance Matrix  .......................................................................................... 5.4

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan

TABLE OF CONTENTS

 v

List of Exhibits
Exhibit 1
Regional Context Map ...................................................................................................... 1.2
Exhibit 2
Project Vicinity Map ........................................................................................................... 1.3
Exhibit 3
Project Setting ..................................................................................................................... 1.5
Exhibit 4
Land Use Plan ...................................................................................................................... 2.2
Exhibit 5
Master Plan of Circulation ............................................................................................... 2.4
Exhibit 6
Street Cross Sections ........................................................................................................ 2.5
Exhibit 7
Street Cross Sections ........................................................................................................ 2.6
Exhibit 8
Water Master Plan .............................................................................................................. 2.7
Exhibit 9
Sewer Master Plan.............................................................................................................. 2.9
Exhibit 10
Storm Drain Master Plan ................................................................................................2.10
Exhibit 11
Conceptual Basin Modification Plan .........................................................................2.12
Exhibit 12
Conceptual Grading Plan ..............................................................................................2.14
Exhibit 13
Conceptual Grading Plan Cross Sections ................................................................2.15
Exhibit 14
Fire Safety Plan ..................................................................................................................2.16
Exhibit 15
Conceptual Landscape Plan ........................................................................................... 4.7
Exhibit 16
Primary Community Entry .............................................................................................. 4.9
Exhibit 17
Primary Community Entry Elevation View ..............................................................4.10
Exhibit 18
Secondary Community Entry ......................................................................................4.11
Exhibit 19
Streetscape Key Map ......................................................................................................4.12
Exhibit 20
Streetscape Sections .......................................................................................................4.13

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan

TABLE OF CONTENTS

vi

Exhibit 21
Streetscape Sections .......................................................................................................4.14
Exhibit 22
Streetscape Sections .......................................................................................................4.15
Exhibit 23
Streetscape Sections .......................................................................................................4.16
Exhibit 24
Streetscape Sections .......................................................................................................4.17
Exhibit 25
Streetscape Sections .......................................................................................................4.18
Exhibit 26
Central Open Space Plan ...............................................................................................4.20
Exhibit 27
Pocket Park Plans .............................................................................................................4.21
Exhibit 28
Open Space Amenities ...................................................................................................4.22
Exhibit 29
Park Furnishings ...............................................................................................................4.23
Exhibit 30
Connectivity Plan .............................................................................................................4.24
Exhibit 31
Wall and Fence Master Plan ..........................................................................................4.25
Exhibit 32
Wall and Fence Details ...................................................................................................4.26
Exhibit 33
Typical Street Light Fixture ...........................................................................................4.28
Exhibit 34
Spanish Style ......................................................................................................................4.31
Exhibit 35
Spanish Style Details .......................................................................................................4.32
Exhibit 36
Italianate Style ...................................................................................................................4.34
Exhibit 37
Italianate Style Details ....................................................................................................4.35
Exhibit 38
French Country Style ......................................................................................................4.37
Exhibit 39
French Country Style Details ........................................................................................4.38

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 1.1

SECTION 1. INTRODUCTION

Villa Serena Specific Plan

Section 1. Introduction

1.1 Project Overview
The Villa Serena Specific Plan (Specific Plan) is 
a proposal by Frontier Communities (Applicant) 
to develop a gated residential community on ap-
proximately 9.2 acres (Project Site) located north 
of 15th Street and approximately .3 miles east of 
North Campus Avenue in the City of Upland. 
The regional location of the Project Site is illus-
trated in Exhibit 1, “Regional Context Map” 
and is further described in the “Project Vicinity 
Map,” Exhibit 2. 

The Project Site is an infill site surrounded by 
single family residential uses to the south and 
west, the Upland Hills Country Club and res-
idential community to the north, and resi-
dential uses to the east. A Southern California 
Edison substation is located in proximity to the 
Project Site on the northwest. The Specific Plan 
is a comprehensive plan for development of 65 
single family detached residential units at a den-
sity of 7.1 dwelling units per acre and on-site 
active and passive recreational amenities within 
common open space areas. 

The new community planned as part of the 
Specific Plan incorporates the traditional hous-
ing styles of Upland, California, while also re-
flecting the architecture of recently built neigh-
borhoods. The architectural styles of the Specific 
Plan are influenced and inspired by Spanish, 
Italianate, and French Country that echo the 
classic architecture of the Southern Californian 
regions. The Specific Plan integrates styles, ele-
ments, and a mix of materials from both estab-
lished and newer residential communities locat-
ed near the Project Site. The use of Spanish roof 
tiles, gable end details, and delicate metal rails 
reflects the classic Spanish style of the histori-
cal Upland communities. Similarly, the vertical 
corner details, symmetry, and arched openings of 
the Italianate style, and the corbels, stone siding, 
and steep roof pitches of the French Country 

architectural style, capture the details of the past 
and present styles of Upland homes. The new 
homes planned within the Project Site are de-
signed to reflect the massing and scale of existing 
neighboring homes by using similar proportions, 
heights, and footprints allowing for the new 
community to comfortably blend with the exist-
ing neighborhood and the community at large. 
Construction of new Project roadways and in-
frastructure is planned to connect to existing 
facilities located adjacent to the Project Site. 
The proposed plan utilizes existing circulation 
and transportation facilities reducing the need 
for construction of additional arterial and major 
roadway extensions or improvements to serve the 
Project Site. 
The proximity of the Project Site within walk-
ing and biking distance to existing recreation-
al and commercial facilities can help to reduce 
automobile trips to and from the Project Site. 
The Project provides pedestrian and bicycle 
connectivity to a nearby Sierra Vista Park, lo-
cated approximately .5 miles southwest of the 
Project Site and Upland Memorial Park locat-
ed approximately .8 miles south of the Project 
Site. Commercial services within biking distance 
from the Project Site are located within one mile 
of the Project Site at the Colonies Crossroads 
Center located at North Campus Avenue and 
19th Street. This regional commercial center 
offers residents a supermarket, restaurants, per-
sonal services, entertainment, and home goods 
for residents in the vicinity. 
The Specific Plan is designed to create a distinc-
tive sense of place for residents in a gated com-
munity with a pedestrian friendly street system 
creating an atmosphere where neighbors can 
visit with one another while walking through-
out the community. Common area open space 
within the community offers active and passive 
recreational amenities for residents and a com-
munity gathering place for residents. Homes are 
planned to front onto streets, enabling residents 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan1.2

SECTION 1. INTRODUCTION

Source: Google MapsExhibit 1
Regional Context Map N

Project
Location

Sierra 
Vista Park

Upland 
Memorial Park

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  1.3

SECTION 1. INTRODUCTION

Source: Google Maps
N

PROJECT 
LOCATION

Exhibit 2
Project Vicinity Map

Drainage 
and Storm 
Water Basin

Upland Hills 
Country Club

Upland Hills 
Country Club

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



1.4

SECTION 1. INTRODUCTION

Villa Serena Specific Plan

the Villa Serena Specific Plan (Specific Plan) im-
plements the General Plan land use designation 
of SP through the establishment of site specific 
zoning regulations for the development of the 
Project Site.  

The Specific Plan is a comprehensive plan for de-
velopment of residential and private open space 
land uses and infrastructure improvements to 
serve the development. The Specific Plan estab-
lishes the development regulations and design 
criteria for development of the Project Site as 
well as the procedures and requirements enabling 
City review and approval of development within 
the Project Site thereby ensuring that the City’s 
General Plan, as amended for the Project Site, is 
implemented.

1.3.2 Authority of the Specific Plan
State of California Government Code, Title 7, 
Division 1, Chapter 3, Article 8, Section 65450-
57, grants authority to cities to adopt spe-
cific plans for purposes of implementing the 
goals and policies of their general plans. The 
Government Code specifies that specific plans 
may be adopted either by resolution or by ordi-
nance and that the specific plan must be con-
sistent with the general plan. The Government 
Code sets forth the minimum requirements and 
review procedures for specific plans including 
provision of a land use plan, an infrastructure 
and public services plan, criteria and standards 
for development, and implementation measures. 
The Government Code also states that specific 
plans may address any other subjects which, in 
the judgment of the city, are necessary or desir-
able for implementation of the general plan. 

to have their “eyes on the street,” promoting a 
safe hometown feel and encouraging interaction 
among neighbors. 

1.2 Project Setting
The Project Site constitutes a portion of a 17.5-
acre flood control detention basin which is 
bounded by residential uses and the Upland 
Hills Country Club on the north, and single 
family residential uses on the east, west, and 
south. The physical setting for the Project Site is 
illustrated on Exhibit 3, “Project Setting.” The 
City of Upland has determined the 9.2 acre por-
tion of the flood control detention basin com-
prising the Project Site to be a surplus parcel 
which can be used as a development site for res-
idential uses with the remaining 11.11 acres of 
the flood control detention basin as adequate for 
continued flood control operations pursuant to 
completion of modifications to portions of the 
basin made as part of the Project. As part of the 
Project, access for flood control detention basin 
maintenance vehicles is provided through the 
Project Site with a gated entry to the basin locat-
ed at the easterly edge of the Project boundary. 

1.3 Purpose and Authority 

1.3.1 Purpose
The Villa Serena Specific Plan serves as a General 
Plan Amendment changing the General Plan 
Land Use Map for the Project Site from Public 
Flood Control/Recharge (FC/R) to Villa Serena 
Specific Plan (SP), allowing residential land use 
development at a density of 7.1 dwelling units 
per acre consistent with surrounding residen-
tial single family low (SFR-L) and single family 
medium (SFR-M) development located south of 
the Project Site and the Upland Hills Country 
Club Specific Plan (SP) located north of the 
Project Site. Adoption by the City of the Specific 
Plan by ordinance changes the City’s Zoning 
Map for the Project Site from Public (PB-FC) 
to “Villa Serena Specific Plan." The adoption of 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  1.5

SECTION 1. INTRODUCTION

Source: LSA/RCA Assoc.Exhibit 3
Project Setting N

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



1.6

SECTION 1. INTRODUCTION

Villa Serena Specific Plan

arterial roadway, and minimize points of 
access to existing roadways.

• Provide for a pedestrian and bicycle friend-
ly circulation system providing connectivi-
ty within the community and connecting to 
15th Street where pedestrians and bicyclists 
can access public streets and sidewalks which 
connect to existing adjacent residential neigh-
borhoods, public City of Upland parks, and 
to retail commercial centers in the vicinity of 
the Project Site. 

• Provide for adequate storm water collection 
within the Project Site to contain on-site and 
off-site flows affecting the property.

• Provide for adequate wastewater facilities on-
site and ensure that adequate capacity is avail-
able within existing public sewer facilities to 
serve the Project Site. 

• Provide on-site facilities for water quality 
treatment and ground water replenishment. 

• Participate in payment of appropriate 
Development Impact Fees to accommodate 
the public service needs generated by the 
community.

Objective 3: 

Incorporate the following green and sustainable 
design features into the development plan.

• Design homes with opportunities for home 
offices allowing people to work from home re-
ducing driving time and vehicle emissions.

• Incorporate native plant materials and/or 
drought tolerant plant materials within the 
landscaping of public spaces, and encourage 
homeowners to utilize drought tolerant plant 
materials in private yard areas.

• Design homes with currently available tech-
nology for internet access allowing residents 
to shop and work on-line, helping to reduce 
vehicle trips to employment centers and 
shopping.

1.4 Objectives
The Specific Plan addresses the following plan-
ning and design objectives to ensure that de-
velopment of the Project Site is consistent with 
the City’s General Plan, as amended, and serves 
as a foundation for the design of a residen-
tial community which provides a sense of place 
for residents and responds to the existing sur-
rounding built environment. Consistency of 
the Project with the General Plan is discussed 
in Section 6,"General Plan Consistency," of the 
Specific Plan.

Objective 1: 

Foster a sense of community and promote a uni-
fied and cohesive neighborhood environment 
through the following design measures:

• Create a distinctive community design with 
a well designed entry, streetscapes, walls, and 
entry monument. 

• Provide for architectural diversity within the 
community with varying residential floor 
plans and architectural styles. 

• Create a strong sense of arrival into the 
Project Site through an enhanced community 
entry.

• Provide for on-site recreational opportunities 
for residents through provision of common 
area open space within the community offer-
ing active and passive recreational amenities 
for all age groups.

Objective 2:

Design a development plan which ensures the 
community is adequately served by public facili-
ties, infrastructure, and utilities without the need 
for extensions or improvements to existing facili-
ties through the following measures: 

• Provide for a simple two way private street 
system connecting to an existing public 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 1.7

SECTION 1. INTRODUCTION

Villa Serena Specific Plan

1.5.1 Residential 
Sixty five single family detached residential 
dwellings are planned at a density of 7.1 dwell-
ing units per acre designed in a variety of styles 
and floor plans. The Project incorporates three 
distinctive architectural styles for homes in-
fluenced and inspired by Spanish, Italianate, 
and French Country architecture as depicted 
in Section 4.6 “Architectural Design.” Private 
streets within the Project provide access to res-
idential dwellings. All residential dwellings are 
planned as street fronting units.

1.5.2 Common Area Open Space
The Project includes provision of approximate-
ly 42,266 square feet (approximately one acre) 
of common area open space distributed through-
out the community. A .75 acre recreational area 
is planned with a swimming pool, a pool house 
with restrooms, a children’s play area, and bar-
beque and picnic areas. Four individual pocket 
parks totalling 9,526 square feet are planned 
for passive recreational use by residents. Pocket 
parks will include shady landscaped areas with 
benches, picnic tables, and children's play areas.

1.5.3 Pedestrian and Bicycle Connectivity
The Project includes a private two way street 
system with sidewalks on both sides of the street 
providing pedestrian connectivity throughout 
the Project. The connection of the Project street 
and walkway system to 15th Street provides for 
on-street bicycle and pedestrian connectivity 
within the community and connectivity to 15th 
Street continuing bike and pedestrian access to 
commercial services located at North Campus 
Avenue and 19th Street, approximately one mile 
to the north of the Project Site, and to Sierra 
Vista Park, approximately .5 miles southwest of 
the Project Site and Upland Memorial Park lo-
cated approximately .8 miles south of the Project 
Site. 

• Incorporate passive solar design and energy ef-
ficient construction materials and techniques 
into residential design such as cool roofs, dual 
pane windows, increased insulation to mini-
mize heat transfer and thermal bridging, and 
roofs designed to accommodate homeown-
er installation of solar panels to help reduce 
energy demand. 

• Implement “dark sky friendly” outdoor light-
ing within streets and common area open 
space.

• Provide for a plant palette which includes 
canopy trees to achieve natural ventilation 
and cooling and use of water conserving land-
scape plant materials and irrigation systems.

• Provide for a landscape and irrigation plan 
consistent with Upland Municipal Code 
Chapter 17.12 (Landscaping) and the State 
Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance 
(23 C.C.R § 490 et seq.)

1.5 Project Summary
The Specific Plan is a comprehensive plan for the 
development of up to 65 single family detached 
residential dwelling units designed around a pri-
vate two way street system with pedestrian walk-
ways linking residences to on-site common area 
open space and to existing adjacent roadways 
connecting to existing nearby recreational ame-
nities and commercial services. The Project street 
system provides walking and biking connectivity 
from the Project Site to 15th Street enabling res-
idents to walk or bike to the nearby Sierra Vista 
Park located approximately .5 miles southwest of 
the Project Site, Upland Memorial Park located 
approximately .8 miles south of the Project Site 
and the Colonies Crossroads commercial center 
located north of the Project Site. 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



1.8

SECTION 1. INTRODUCTION

Villa Serena Specific Plan

In addition to the state mandated elements, the 
City of Upland General Plan includes the fol-
lowing elements:

• Focus Areas

• Community Character and Urban Design

• Economic Sustainability

• Healthy Community
The Villa Serena Specific Plan serves as a General 
Plan Amendment changing the General Plan 
Land Use Map for the Project Site from Public 
Flood Control/Recharge (FC/R) to Villa Serena 
Specific Plan (SP) allowing residential land use 
development at a density of 7.1 dwelling units 
per acre. The Specific Plan is consistent with 
applicable goals, objectives, and policies of the 
Upland General Plan, as amended, pertain-
ing to the planned development as described in 
Section 6, “General Plan Consistency.” 

1.6.2 Specific Plan
The Specific Plan serves as the legal document to 
implement the General Plan land use designa-
tion for the Project Site of Villa Serena Specific 
Plan (SP) and provides the zoning for develop-
ment of the Project Site as a residential commu-
nity at a density of 7.1 dwelling units per acre. 
The Specific Plan establishes land use and devel-
opment regulations designed to govern develop-
ment of the Project Site. In instances where the 
Specific Plan is silent, regarding a specific devel-
opment standard or procedure for implementing 
the Specific Plan, the Upland Municipal Code 
Zoning Code Title 17, (Planning and Zoning) 
shall prevail. The Specific Plan provides a “blue-
print” for development of the Project establish-
ing permitted uses, a land use plan, the develop-
ment requirements, and design criteria for land 
development as set forth herein. 

1.5.4 Infrastructure 
The Specific Plan proposes new on-site road-
ways, water mains, sewer mains, and drain-
age facilities designed to connect to 15th Street 
and existing public facilities located within 15th 
Street. Expansion of existing roadways or infra-
structure facilities is not necessary to serve the 
Project.  As part of the Project, site improve-
ments, as described in Section 2, “Development 
Plan,” will be made to the entire Upland Basin 
flood control and detention basin to create the 
Project Site suitable for residential development 
and to ensure the downstream flows to the basin 
are not impacted. 

1.6 Governing Documents
The adoption of the Specific Plan is the first step 
in a process leading to the development of the 
Project. The development of the Project is gov-
erned by the following documents.

1.6.1 General Plan
California Government Code (Title 7, 
Division 1, Chapter 3, Article 8, Section 65450-
65457, permits the adoption and administra-
tion of a specific plan as an implementation tool 
for elements contained in the local general plan. 
Specific plans must demonstrate consistency in 
regulations, guidelines, and programs with the 
goals and policies set forth in the general plan. 
In September 2015 the City adopted the “City 
of Upland General Plan” which sets forth the 
following topics to address the state mandated 
general plan elements:

• Land Use

• Circulation

• Housing

• Open Space and Conservation

• Safety (which includes the state mandated 
Noise Element)

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 1.9

SECTION 1. INTRODUCTION

Villa Serena Specific Plan

1.8 Specific Plan Components
The Specific Plan is organized into the following 
sections in addition to Section 1, “Introduction.”

Section 2 - Development Plan 

This section describes the physical setting for the 
Project Site outlining the existing physical condi-
tions found within and surrounding the Project 
Site, the Project land use plan describing residen-
tial and open space land use areas of the Project, 
and the on- site and off site infrastructure im-
provements for the Project.

Section 3 - Development Regulations 

This section establishes the allowable land use 
within the Project Site and standards and re-
quirements for development of all land uses 
within the Project Site. 

Section 4 - Design Criteria 

The Design Criteria establishes the architectur-
al and landscape design requirements for the 
Project to ensure that a cohesive community of 
distinctive design quality, definitive architecture, 
and comprehensive landscaping is achieved.

Section 5 - Implementation 

The policies and procedures for the adminis-
tration of the Specific Plan, procedures for the 
review and approval by the City of specific devel-
opment proposals within the Project Site, Project 
financing, and Project maintenance responsibili-
ties within the development are described in this 
section. 

Section 6 - General Plan Consistency

The relationship of the Specific Plan to the appli-
cable policies of the Upland General Plan is dis-
cussed in this Section.

1.6.3 Subdivision Maps
Approval by the City of a Tentative and Final 
Tract Map is required for the development of 
the Project. The Tentative Tract Map will be 
prepared pursuant to the applicable provisions 
of the State of California Subdivision Map Act 
(Government Code Section 66410 through 
66499), the City of Upland Municipal Code, 
Title 16, “Subdivisions,” and consistent with the 
applicable provisions of the Specific Plan. 

1.6.4 Development Plan Review 
Applicable provisions of Upland Municipal 
Code, Title 17, (Planning and Zoning) Section 
17.44.030 (Development Plan Review) shall 
apply to the review and approval of the site de-
velopment plans for the proposed Project. 

1.6.5 Covenants, Conditions, 
and Restrictions

Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions 
(CC&Rs) approved by the City serve to ensure 
and enforce quality design of the Project over the 
long term and the continued uniform mainte-
nance of streets, common areas, and street and 
common area landscaping.

1.7 CEQA Compliance
An Initial Study (IS) prepared by the City of 
Upland for the Project in accordance with the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
and City requirements considers the potential 
environmental impacts of all Project related ac-
tivities and the discretionary and ministerial ap-
plications associated with implementation of the 
Project. The IS recommends that a Mitigated 
Negative Declaration (MND) be prepared for 
the Project to include a Mitigation Monitoring 
and Reporting Program (MMRP) in order to 
ensure that any potential significant impacts of 
the Project on the environment be reduced to a 
less than significant level.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 2.1

SECTION 2. DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Villa Serena Specific Plan

Section 2. Development Plan 
The Specific Plan is a proposal for development 
of a planned residential community within an 
existing urban setting on approximately 9.2 gross 
acres in the City of Upland. This section de-
scribes the land use plan and the plan for infra-
structure and public services for the community. 

2.1 Land Use
The proposed development of the Project Site 
is depicted on Exhibit 4, “Land Use Plan” and 
is further described in Table 2.1, “Statistical 
Summary.” The Project is designed to respond 
to both on-site and off-site conditions, as well as 
anticipated market conditions. The Specific Plan 
ensures that a strong community identity is es-
tablished for residents and visitors through a co-
hesive plan for residential and open space areas.

Table 2.1
Statistical Summary

Land Use Acres Dwelling 
Units

Residential 5.4 65

Common Area 
Open Space 1.0  

Landscaped 
Easements 0.4

Private streets 
(curb to curb) 2.4  

Total 9.2 65

Density 7.1 du/acre

2.1.1 Residential Use 
Approximately 5.4 acres of the Project Site are 
planned for development of 65 single family de-
tached residential dwelling units. 

a. Residential Design.  
Residential dwellings shall be designed to 
front onto private streets with floor plans de-
signed to present an “architecture forward” 
image so that the residence and not the garage 

is the predominant view from the street. 
Residential design incorporates human-scale 
details to promote a pedestrian friendly char-
acter for the community. Such details include 
the use of enhanced entries, a mix of materi-
als and textures, and authentic detailing on el-
ements such as windows, porches, doors, and 
lighting. 

b. Community Design. 
The Specific Plan offers a strong community 
identity for residents and visitors through a 
unified approach to site design, architecture, 
and landscape design elements. The land-
scaped private street and street adjacent walk-
ways link residences to common area open 
space encouraging neighborly interaction. 

2.1.2 Open Space Use
Approximately one acre (42,266 square feet) 
of common area open space is provided as part 
of the Project to include a pool, pool house 
with restrooms, and areas improved with picnic 
tables, barbeque facilities, exercise station, and 
children’s play area. Residents are provided with 
an inviting environment for informal gathering 
and a place to meet and greet each other as part 
of leisurely walks through the community. Four 
informal pocket parks totaling 9,526 square feet 
are provided as part of the Project. The smallest 
pocket park is approximately 1,700 square feet 
and the largest is approximately 3,550 square 
feet. The pocket parks are located throughout 
the Project Site accessible from sidewalks, and 
will be improved with landscaping and benches 
offering additional passive recreational areas for 
residents. 

2.2 Circulation
Access for residents to the Project Site is provid-
ed from 15th Street at two locations. A primary 
gated community entry for the Project is located 
at the easterly Project boundary adjacent to exist-
ing residential uses. A second gated entry is pro-
vided from 15th Street at the westerly boundary 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan2.2

SECTION 2. DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Source: Proactive Engineering ConsultantsExhibit 4
Land Use Plan

N

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 2.3

SECTION 2. DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Villa Serena Specific Plan

the same side of the street. Where the centrally 
located common area open space fronts the 
street on one side and residential units front the 
street on the opposite side a sidewalk is provid-
ed on both sides of the street. Emergency ve-
hicle access is provided at both project entries 
along 15th Street. Enhanced paving materials are 
planned to be installed at the main project entry 
and in three locations along Street A. The street 
improvements for the Project are illustrated on 
Exhibits 6 and 7, “Street Cross Sections.” 

2.2.3 Pedestrian and Bicycle Mobility 
The Project street system includes provision of 
street adjacent sidewalks for pedestrian mobil-
ity within the community. A separate pedestri-
an walkway will be provided within the centrally 
located common area open space of the Project 
connecting to sidewalks within the project street.

The Project Street system allows for on street bi-
cycle mobility. The Project street and sidewalk 
system connects to 15th Street where bicyclists 
and pedestrians can continue on existing City 
streets and sidewalks to Sierra Vista Park locat-
ed to the south of the Project Site and Upland 
Memorial Park located to the southwest of the 
Project Site, and to general retail commercial 
services located at North Campus Avenue and 
19th Street, approximately one mile north of the 
Project Site.

2.3 Infrastructure and 
Public Services

2.3.1 Water 
The City of Upland Water Department provides 
water service to the City of Upland. Water ser-
vice to the Project Site is provided via an exist-
ing 10 inch diameter water main located in 15th 
Street. The development of the Project includes 
construction of a network of 8 inch diameter 
on-site water mains adequate to provide for the 
domestic and fire protection water requirements 
of the Project. Exhibit 8, “Water Master Plan” 

of the Project. Emergency vehicle access is 
provided at both entries along 15th Street. An 
internal private two way street system provides 
primary circulation within the Project Site serv-
ing residential dwellings and the common area 
open space. Maintenance crews serving the re-
maining Upland Basin flood control and de-
tention basin are provided vehicular access to 
the westerly boundary of the basin through the 
Project within the internal street system. A ser-
vice road and gate are located at the easterly 
boundary of the Project Site for maintenance ve-
hicles to access the basin. All streets are planned 
as private roadways. 

The circulation system serving the Specific Plan 
is illustrated on Exhibit 5, “Master Plan of 
Circulation.”

2.2.1 15th Street
Ultimate right of way improvements for 15th 
Street include 40 feet of paved travel area with a 
5 foot wide sidewalk and an 8 foot wide land-
scaped parkway on each side of 15th Street for 
a total right of way of 66 feet. As part of the 
Project the developer will construct an addition-
al 8 feet of travel area, a new 5 foot sidewalk 
and an 8 foot wide landscaped parkway within 
the existing right of way adjacent to the Project 
Site. The existing right of way for 15th Street 
and proposed project improvements for 15th 
Street are illustrated on Exhibit 6, "Street Cross 
Sections.” 

2.2.2 Project Streets
On site Project circulation is provided by means 
of a private two way street with a paved travel 
area varying in width from 26 to 38 feet with 
adjacent wedge curbs. On-street parking is per-
mitted in designated segments of the street. 
A 5 foot wide street adjacent sidewalk is pro-
vided on both sides of the street where homes 
front both sides of the street. In instances where 
the sides of homes are also adjacent to the street 
a 5 foot wide adjacent sidewalk is provided on 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan2.4

SECTION 2. DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Exhibit 5
Master Plan of Circulation

Source: Proactive Engineering Consultants

N

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  2.5

SECTION 2. DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Source: Proactive Engineering ConsultantsExhibit 6
Street Cross Sections

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan2.6

SECTION 2. DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Exhibit 7
Street Cross Sections

Source: Proactive Engineering Consultants

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  2.7

SECTION 2. DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Exhibit 8
Water Master Plan

Source: Proactive Engineering Consultants

N

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



2.8

SECTION 2. DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Villa Serena Specific Plan

basin to infiltrate runoff from the majority of the 
site. The underground infiltration basin is pro-
posed to be 23’ x 123’ and will have dual 72” 
perforated pipes encased in gravel. In addition, 
two bioretention treatment systems designed 
to treat stormwater are proposed, one located 
at each project entry, to treat on-site areas that 
are not tributary to the underground basin. The 
biotreatment systems proposed for use within 
the Project Site are trademarked as "Modular 
Wetland Systems." Detailed information on 
these systems can be found on the company 
website at biocleanenviornmental.com.

Exhibit 10, “Storm Drain Master Plan,” illus-
trates the proposed storm drain and water quali-
ty management system to serve the Project Site.

2.4 Public Utilities 

2.4.1 Telephone and Cable 
Verizon will provide telephone service to the 
Project Site. Proposed on-site facilities will be 
placed underground. 

2.4.2 Natural Gas
The Southern California Gas Company (Gas 
Company) will provide natural gas to the Project 
Site. Gas mains will be installed to the Project 
Site by the Gas Company as necessary.

2.4.3 Electricity
Southern California Edison will provide electric-
ity to the Project Site from existing facilities in 
the vicinity of the Project Site. Proposed new fa-
cilities to serve the Project will be owned and op-
erated by Southern California Edison and locat-
ed underground.

2.4.4 Solid Waste
The City of Upland contracts with Burrtec 
Waste Industries (BWI), a private refuse hauler, 
to provide solid waste collection services for the 
City. Refuse service will be provided by BWI for 
the Project.

illustrates the proposed water system to serve the 
Project.

2.3.2 Sanitary Sewer
Sewer service to the Project Site is provided by 
the City of Upland. Existing off-site sewer fa-
cilities available to serve the Project Site include 
an existing 8 inch diameter sewer main locat-
ed in 15th Street adjacent to the Project Site. 
Development of the Project Site includes con-
struction of an on-site network of new 8 inch 
sewer mains and the relocation of one exist-
ing 8 inch off-site sewer main connecting to the 
on-site system. Exhibit 9, “Sewer Master Plan,” 
illustrates the planned sewer system to serve the 
Project.

2.3.3 Storm Drain and Water 
Quality Management

The existing drainage pattern for the Project Site 
generally drains from east to west as part of a re-
gional detention basin consisting of an essential-
ly flat bottom, with 3:1 side slopes. 

2.3.3.1 Drainage

The proposed drainage plan for the Project will 
drain the single family lots and streets into a 
storm drain collection system on site, which in-
cludes street flow. Runoff will then be passed 
through an underground infiltration basin 
and outlet into a new 12-foot by 8-foot rein-
forced concrete box culvert which outlets into 
the detention basin. Modifications to the exist-
ing flood control and detention basin as part of 
the Project are discussed in Section 2.5, "Basin 
Modifications and Site Preparation."

2.3.3.2 Water Quality

The Project provides for stormwater retention 
and infiltration on the Project Site to mitigate 
an 85th percentile storm. This is accomplished 
by passing the on-site runoff through a contin-
uous deflection separator (CDS) unit for pre-
treatment and then an underground infiltration 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  2.9

SECTION 2. DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Exhibit 9
Sewer Master Plan

Source: Proactive Engineering Consultants

N

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan2.10

SECTION 2. DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Exhibit 10
Storm Drain Master Plan

Source: Proactive Engineering Consultants

N

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 2.11

SECTION 2. DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Villa Serena Specific Plan

structures. The recommended improvements to 
be made are described below.

a. Extension of the basin inlet, located in the 
northwest corner of the existing basin, to the 
new eastern edge of the Project Site. New 
storm drain improvements will consist of a 
combination of 12’x8’ and 10’x9.5’ RCBs. 
The improvements will extend approximately 
1900 LF from west to east along the southern 
edge of the Project Site and outlet through 
a new headwall in the modified basin. The 
modified inlet will also pick up two existing 
smaller inlets tributary to the basin within the 
proposed Project Site as described below. 

•  An existing local inlet pipe located approx-
imately 300’ east of the Project Site’s easter-
ly boundary is anticipated to be a 36” RCP 
routed through the Project Site to the new 
inlet RCB.

•  An existing concrete trapezoidal channel 
located approximately 60’ west of the east-
ern edge of the Project Site will be picked 
up in an approximately 48” diameter pipe 
and routed through the Project Site into 
the new inlet RCB.

b. Extension of approximately 1,800 linear feet 
of the basin outlet from the western edge 
of the Project Site to the eastern edge of the 
Project Site. This extension is proposed to be a 
102” RCP to account for the design outlet as 
well as the spillway flows and includes a new 
outlet structure in the basin. The proposed 
pipe will extend from the southeast corner 
of the Project Site westerly to the proposed 
Project main entry, then south into 15th 
Street and west along 15th Street connecting 
to the existing outlet pipe. Easements will be 
granted to the City of Upland for all basin in-
frastructure proposed to be located within the 
Project Site.

2.4.5 Schools
School facilities will be provided by the Upland 
Unified School District. The Project will be re-
quired to pay school fees in accordance with 
Government Code Section 65995 of the State of 
California.

2.5 Basin Modifications and 
Project Grading

The existing Project Site comprises 9.2 acres of 
an existing 17.5 acre flood control and detention 
basin. The existing ground slopes are predom-
inantly flat grades with less than 0.5% slope at 
the bottom of the basin, then generally sloping 
from east to west with 3:1 slopes that make up 
the basin sides. 

As part of the Project, modifications will be 
made to the existing basin to create the 9.2-
acre Project Site. The conceptual plan for the 
basin modifications is illustrated in Exhibit 11, 
"Conceptual Basin Modification Plan" and is 
described below.

In 2017, the consulting firm of Madole and 
Associates, Inc. prepared a Drainage Study in the 
City of Upland for the 15th Street Basin. The 
intent of this study was to “determine if the cur-
rent basin has excess capacity, which could lead 
to the reduction in area of the basin and allow 
for “surplus” property for development.” Based 
on the analysis, the study determined that a sur-
plus parcel of 9.16 acres, located on the west-
erly end of the existing basin could be created, 
and that the remaining basin area of 11.11 acres 
would be sufficient for flood control operations 
without demonstrably impacting downstream 
facilities. The limits of the proposed Project 
Site are based on the recommendations in the 
Madole Report which includes requirements for 
relocation of existing basin infrastructure, recon-
figuration of the basin itself by filling in the 9.2-
acre development portion, reconfiguration of the 
remaining 11.1 acres making the bottom of the 
basin deeper, and modification of the inlet/outlet 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan2.12

SECTION 2. DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Exhibit 11
Conceptual Basin Modification Plan

Source: Madole and Assoc. 

N

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 2.13

SECTION 2. DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Villa Serena Specific Plan

2.6 Fire Safety
The Project will incorporate measures for fire 
safety to include construction of emergency ve-
hicle access entries from 15th Street, new fire 
hydrants, and designation of restricted red curb 
areas as part of Project implementation. The plan 
for the provision of fire protection improvements 
is illustrated in Exhibit 14, “Fire Safety Plan.”

A portion of the remaining 11.1 acres proposed 
for the modified basin will be graded to create 
a new basin footprint filling the western edge 
of the basin located at the easterly boundary of 
the Project Site and creating a new berm be-
tween the basin and Project Site. From the top 
of the berm, a new slope will be graded to the 
bottom of the basin proposed to be at an ap-
proximate elevation of 1,410 feet. Modifications 
to the bottom of the existing basin will be made 
from the toe of the new slope to a point approx-
imately 900 linear feet to the east, by grading 
the bottom of the basin in this area to an eleva-
tion of approximately 1,410 feet from an exist-
ing elevation of 1,414 to 1,415 feet. The excess 
cut material generated can be utilized as fill for 
the proposed new berm located at the wester-
ly edge of the new basin as well as for fill within 
the proposed Project Site. The remainder of the 
existing basin will be untouched by the Project. 
Total earthwork for the Project is estimated to 
be approximately 46,000 cubic yards of cut, and 
87,000 cubic yards of fill, resulting in import of 
roughly 41,000 cubic yards.

The grading operation for the Project Site itself 
will generally consist of demolition, clearing, 
grubbing, and moving of surface soils to con-
struct streets, building pads, and driveways. 
Grading within the Project Site will attempt to 
balance cut/fills for the site.

Grading plans for the Project will be reviewed 
and approved by the City of Upland Land 
Development and Transportation Division of the 
Public Works Department prior to the issuance 
of grading permits. All grading plans and activ-
ities will conform to the City grading ordinance 
and dust and erosion control requirements. The 
conceptual grading plan for the Project Site is 
illustrated in Exhibit 12, “Conceptual Grading 
Plan” and in Exhibit 13, “Conceptual Grading 
Plan Cross Sections.”

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan2.14

SECTION 2. DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Exhibit 12
Conceptual Grading Plan

Source: Proactive Engineering Consultants

N

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  2.15

SECTION 2. DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Source: Proactive Engineering ConsultantsExhibit 13
Conceptual Grading Plan Cross Sections

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan2.16

SECTION 2. DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Exhibit 14
Fire Safety Plan

Source: Proactive Engineering Consultants

N

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 3.1

SECTION 3. DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS

Villa Serena Specific Plan

Section 3. Development 
Regulations

3.1 Introduction
The provisions contained herein shall regulate 
design and development within the Project Site. 
These regulations establish the minimum stan-
dards and requirements for development of resi-
dential uses, common area open space, landscap-
ing, fences, walls, signage and lighting within the 
Project Site. 

3.2 Definition of Terms
The meaning and construction of words, phras-
es, titles, and terms shall be the same as provided 
in Upland Municipal Code Title 17, “Planning 
and Zoning,” (Zoning Code) Chapter 7 
(Definitions) unless otherwise specifically pro-
vided for herein. 

3.3 Applicability
The Specific Plan serves to implement the City’s 
General Plan and establishes the zoning regula-
tions for the Project Site. These Development 
Regulations address general requirements, per-
mitted uses, and development standards for all 
development within the Project Site. Application 
of these Development Regulations is intended to 
encourage the most appropriate use of the land, 
ensure the highest quality of development, and 
protect the public health, safety, and general wel-
fare. Whenever the provisions and development 
standards contained herein conflict with those 
contained in the Zoning Code, the provisions of 
the Specific Plan shall take precedence. Where 
the Specific Plan is silent, the Zoning Code shall 
apply. These Development Regulations shall re-
inforce specific site, architectural, and landscape 
design criteria contained in Section 4, “Design 
Criteria” of the Specific Plan. All architectural 
and landscape improvements shall comply with 
Section 4, “Design Criteria” of the Specific Plan.

3.4 General Site Development 
Standards

The following general site development stan-
dards shall apply to all development within the 
Project Site.

a. Maximum Number of Dwelling Units – A 
maximum of 65 residential dwelling units is 
permitted for development within the Project 
Site.

b. Common Area Open Space – A minimum 
of 42,000 square feet of common area open 
space shall be provided within the Project Site 
for recreational use by Project residents.

c. Grading – Development within the Project 
Site shall utilize grading techniques as ap-
proved by the City of Upland. Grading con-
cepts shall respond to the design criteria in-
cluded in the Specific Plan.

d. Building Modification – Residential build-
ing additions and/or alterations permitted by 
the Specific Plan shall match the architectural 
style of the primary dwelling unit and shall be 
constructed of the same materials, details, and 
colors as the primary dwelling unit.

e. Utilities – All new and existing public utility 
distribution lines of 34.5 kV or less shall be 
subsurface throughout the project.

3.5 Green and Sustainable 
Development Standards

The following green and sustainable develop-
ment standards shall apply to development 
within the Project Site.

a. Technology – All homes shall be equipped 
with modern telecommunications technology 
for computer internet access, phone, fax, and 
television. Fiber optics cable shall be installed 
to all the properties if available from the utili-
ty provider.

b. Energy Efficiency - All homes shall be con-
structed to meet or exceed the California 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



3.2

SECTION 3. DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS

Villa Serena Specific Plan

construction equipment to reduce construc-
tion emissions. During Project construction, 
the developer shall use locally produced and/
or manufactured building materials (materials 
that are obtained from sources using the least 
amount of transport) for at least 10 percent of 
the construction materials used, shall recycle 
or reuse at least 50 percent of the demolished 
and/or grubbed construction materials, and 
use “Green Building Materials,” such as those 
that are resource efficient and are recycled and 
manufactured for at least 10 percent of the 
Project.

f. Drought-tolerant and/or native landscap-
ing materials shall be used in all public and 
common areas to reduce water consumption.

g. Smart Controller irrigation systems shall 
be installed in all public and common area 
landscaping. 

h. Landscape areas shall be designed on a “hydro 
zone” basis to group plants according to their 
water and sun requirements.

3.6 Permitted Uses and Structures
The following uses and structures are permitted 
“by right” within the Specific Plan subject to ap-
proval by the City of Development Plan Review 
pursuant to Zoning Code Section 17.44.030 
(Development Plan Review). Any proposed use 
not specifically listed is not permitted unless the 
Development Services Director finds that the 
proposed use is equivalent to a listed permitted 
use and is permitted pursuant to the procedures 
established in Zoning Code Section 17.02.020 
(Authority) “Unlisted Land Uses.” 

a. Residential single family detached dwelling 
units and garages.

b. Residential attached and detached patios and 
patio covers. 

c. Public or private parks, recreational buildings, 
greenbelts, and/or common area open space.

Building Code Title 24 energy standard.

 Energy efficient design techniques include, 
but are not limited to, the following:

• Increased insulation to minimize heat 
transfer and thermal bridging.

• Roof orientations and design to accom-
modate homeowner installation of rooftop 
solar electric equipment. 

• Heating and cooling distribution systems 
that limit air leakage throughout the struc-
ture to minimize energy consumption.

• Installation of ENERGY STAR or better 
rated windows, space heating and cooling 
equipment, light fixtures, appliances, and 
other applicable electrical equipment.

• Installation of efficient lighting and light-
ing control systems and a building design 
which utilizes daylight as an integral part 
of the lighting system.

• Installation of “cool roofs” and cool 
pavements.

• Installation of solar light-emitting diodes 
(LEDs) for outdoor lighting or low level 
lighting.

c. Builder-installed indoor appliances, includ-
ing dishwashers, showers, and toilets, shall be 
low-water use in compliance with the adopted 
California Building Code.

d. Solid Waste/Recycling - Development within 
the Project shall comply with City of Upland 
requirements for the provision and placement 
of solid waste and recycling receptacles. The 
homeowners association for the Specific Plan 
shall provide educational information on recy-
cling to all homeowners as part of the initial 
purchase of homes and again thereafter on an 
annual basis. 

e. During Project construction the developer 
shall use clean-burning diesel fuel, biodiesel 
fuel, and/or other alternative fuels for heavy 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 3.3

SECTION 3. DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS

Villa Serena Specific Plan

d. Small family child care/day care facilities (up 
to 8 children).

e. Accessory uses and structures to include the 
following and which conform to the pro-
visions of Zoning Code Section 17.19 
(Accessory Uses and Structures).

1. Swimming pools, spas, sports courts, 
and other similar outdoor recreational 
amenities.

2. Storage structures, garden structures, ca-
banas, and greenhouses.

f. Minor home occupations pursuant to reg-
ulations established for Home Occupations 
per Upland Municipal Code Section 17.27, 
"Home Occupations."

g. Cottage Food Operations per Upland 
Municipal Code Chapter 17.25 "Cottage 
Foods Operations." 

h. Model home home and subdivision sales 
trailers, temporary construction parking, 
offices and facilities, real estate signs, sig-
nage indicating future development and di-
rectional signage pursuant to approval by 
the City of Development Plan Review per 
Upland Municipal Code Section 17. 44.030 
(Development Plan Review). 

3.7 Residential Development 
Standards

Residential development areas are subject to the 
development standards contained in Table 3.1 
“Residential Development Standards.”

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan3.4

SECTION 3. DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS
Table 3.1
Residential Development Standards

SFD RESIDENTIAL USE
Lot Criteria
Min. Lot Width  47'

Min. Lot Depth 71'

Min. Lot Area (sq. ft.) 3,337

MINIMUM SETBACKS (1) (2)

Front Setback
Living Area 10'

Street Facing Garage 19’

Side Setback
From Interior PL 5’

From Street 5'

Patio Covers 5'

Rear Setback
Main Structure 15’

Patio Covers 5'

Lot Coverage
Max. Coverage 60% (3)

Maximum Building Height (4)

Main Structure 2 Stories - Max. 35’

Patio Covers 15'

Walls, Fences and Hedges
Maximum Height at Interior or Rear Property Line (5) 6’

Maximum Height of Project  Perimeter Walls 6’

Maximum Height of Retaining Walls at Project 
Boundary 

4'

Maximum Height of Retaining Walls Between Lots and 
within Project Boundary

4'

Parking
Min. Number of Parking Spaces Required (6) 2 per unit within a garage plus 2 open spaces per unit 

Footnotes:
(1) Architectural projections and cantilevers may project a maximum of 2 feet into required front and side setback areas and 3 feet into 
required rear setback areas measured from the foundation to the roof plate; however, in no case shall such projection be closer than 
3 feet to any property line. An architectural projection is defined as an element that articulates the building elevation such as eaves, 
window and door pop-out surrounds, media niches, bay windows, pot shelves, chimneys, enhanced window sills, shutter details, window 
trim, balconies and entry gates, and other similar elements.
(2) All setbacks measured from PL unless noted otherwise.
(3) A maximum of 5% deviation over the maximum allowable lot coverage is permitted for up to 8% of the total number of lots subject to 
approval during Development Plan Review.
(4) Architectural projections to include chimneys and antennas may exceed the maximum building height by an additional 5 feet.
(5) Refer to Section 3.10.2 (Fence and Wall Standards).
(6) All enclosed parking spaces within a garage shall be a minimum clear dimension of 20’ x 20’ for two spaces and 10’ x 20’ for single 
spaces. All open parking spaces shall be a minimum dimension of 9’ x 19’. All parallel spaces shall be a minimum dimension of 8'x22'.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 3.5

SECTION 3. DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS

Villa Serena Specific Plan

3.10.1 Landscape and Irrigation 
Standards

a. All landscaping within the Project shall 
comply with the provisions of Section 4, 
“Design Criteria” of this Specific Plan uti-
lizing plant materials specified on the 
“Suggested Plant List” established for the 
Specific Plan. 

b. Landscape streetscape improvements for 
streets within the Project shall conform to the 
landscape treatment described for these streets 
within Section 4 “Design Criteria” of this 
Specific Plan.

c. The design and improvement of all common 
area landscaping, including landscape and ir-
rigation plans, shall be reviewed and approved 
by the City at the time of Development Plan 
Review and shall conform with the require-
ments of Section 4 “Design Criteria” of this 
Specific Plan.

d. Installation of landscaping and automatic irri-
gation within the front yards of all residential 
areas shall be provided by the home builder 
and maintained in a healthy condition at all 
times. At a minimum, the builder shall install 
groundcover and appropriate shrubs and trees 
in the front yards of homes within residential 
areas. A minimum of one 24 inch box shade 
tree shall be installed within each residen-
tial front yard. A variety of landscape designs 
shall be provided by the homebuilder to the 
homeowner. All landscape plans shall be re-
viewed and approved by the City at the time 
of Development Plan Review.

e. No more than 50% of a front or side yard of a 
residential lot shall be dedicated to driveways, 
hardscape and walkways.

f. All manufactured and cut/fill slopes exceeding 
three (3) feet in height shall be planted with 
an effective mixture of ground cover, shrubs, 
and trees installed by the developer. Such 
slopes shall also be irrigated as necessary to 

3.8 Temporary Uses
Temporary uses shall be permitted pursuant to 
Zoning Code Chapter 17.41, “Temporary Use 
Permits and Film Permits.”

3.9 Common Area Open Space 
Development Standards

a.  A central common area open space area shall 
be improved with recreational facilities to 
serve all age groups of residents of the Project. 
The following minimum improvements shall 
be constructed within the central common 
area open space area:

1. Swimming pool.

2. Pool house to include restrooms/changing 
rooms and drinking fountains.

3. Park furniture including benches and 
trellises.

4. Trash receptacles. 

5. Barbecue area(s) provided with picnic 
tables and barbeque grills.

6. Children’s play area.

b. Common area open space improvements 
shall be approved by the City as part of 
Development Plan Review.

3.10 Landscaping, Fencing, 
and Walls

All landscape and irrigation plans for streetscapes 
and common area open space including graphic 
designs with regard to the identity of the Specific 
Plan, neighborhood identity, or entry monu-
ments shall conform to the regulations as set 
forth herein and shall be subject to review and 
approval by the City at the time of Development 
Plan Review. The form and content of land-
scape plans for streets, common area open space, 
and other common areas shall conform to the 
requirements of the City’s Development Plan 
Review application requirements.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



3.6

SECTION 3. DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS

Villa Serena Specific Plan

ished grade. Side and rear walls may exceed 
six feet in height from adjacent finished grade 
if required by the City for sound attenua-
tion pursuant to the recommendations of an 
Acoustical Report and as approved by the 
Director of Development Services. All side 
and rear yard fences and walls shall be con-
structed consistent with the “Wall and Fence 
Details” pursuant to Section 4, “Design 
Criteria,” of the Specific Plan.

d. All perimeter wall and fence materi-
als throughout the Project shall be of uni-
form manufacture with colors specified for 
the overall design theme as provided for in 
Section 4 “Design Criteria,” of this Specific 
Plan.

3.11 Signage
A Master Sign Program shall be submitted by 
the developer of the Project and approved by 
the City subject to approval of Development 
Plan Review pursuant to Zoning Code Section 
17.44.030 (Development Plan Review). The 
Master Sign Program shall address residential 
project entries, residential neighborhood identi-
fication signs, and way finding signs within the 
project. No project signs shall be permitted in 
the public right-of-way.

3.11.1 Master Sign Program Contents
The sign program shall address, at a minimum, 
the following:

a. Permitted signs.

b. Prohibited signs.

c. The hierarchy of signage.

d. Definition of types of signs.

e. Locations and dimensions for monument 
signs and public facilities signs.

f. Locations and dimensions of directional 
signage.

comply with any requirements established by 
the City. 

g. Boundary landscaping shall be required ad-
jacent to the Project Site along the perime-
ter of 15th Street. Landscaping shall general-
ly be placed along the perimeter property line 
adjacent to 15th Street in accordance with 
the landscape design illustrated in Section 4, 
“Design Criteria,” of the Specific Plan.

h. Landscaping and automatic irrigation systems 
within the public rights-of-way and private 
common areas of the Project shall be installed 
by the developer. 

3.10.2 Fence and Wall Standards

a. Freestanding, decorative perimeter walls and 
view open fencing shall be provided within 
and at the perimeter of the Project Site as 
specified in the "Wall and Fence Master Plan” 
pursuant to Section 4, “Design Criteria,” of 
the Specific Plan. Such walls and fences shall 
be constructed concurrently with the con-
struction of improvements required for devel-
opment of the Project.

b. Perimeter walls and fencing shall be con-
structed consistent with the “Wall and Fence 
Details” pursuant to Section 4, “Design 
Criteria,” of the Specific Plan. Perimeter walls 
shall not exceed six feet in height from high-
est finished grade. Retaining walls on the 
15th Street perimeter shall not exceed four 
feet in height. If required for sound attenu-
ation, perimeter walls may exceed six feet in 
height from highest finished grade, subject to 
the recommendations of an acoustical study 
as approved by the Director of Development 
Services. 

c. Individual residential side and rear yard walls 
and fencing shall not exceed six feet in height 
from highest adjacent finished grade. Interior 
retaining walls in public view shall not exceed 
four feet in height from highest adjacent fin-

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 3.7

SECTION 3. DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS

Villa Serena Specific Plan

3.12.4 Common Area Open 
Space Lighting 

a. Lighting within common area open space 
shall be approved by the City as part of the 
City’s Development Plan Review of these 
facilities. 

b. Bollard lighting is recommended along walk-
ways within the common area open space.

c. Light fixtures shall include shielding devices 
for “dark sky” purposes and shall direct or re-
flect light downward.

g. Provisions for size, location, and duration of 
display of temporary signs.

h. Permitted sign types, styles, construction ma-
terials, colors, and lettering styles.

i. Requirements for a sign permit application.

j. Procedures for obtaining approval of a sign 
permit.

k. Procedures for amending the sign program.

3.12 Lighting

3.12.1 General Requirements 
Project Site lighting shall be installed in accor-
dance with the following standards.

a. No light glare incidental to any use shall 
be visible beyond any boundary line of the 
Project Site.

b. Residential fixtures shall be uniform and un-
obtrusive. Shielded fixtures are required to 
prevent up lighting and to shield lighting 
source from adjacent residential areas. 

3.12.2 Public Street Lights 
Public streetlights installed along 15th Street as 
part of the Project shall be LED. Design of fix-
tures shall be approved by the City as part of 
Development Plan Review.

3.12.3 Private Street Lighting Fixtures

a. Private street lighting shall conform to the 
City’s requirements for street lighting.

b. Private street lighting fixtures shall be on sen-
sors for automatic nighttime lighting. Style 
and specifications for all street lights shall be 
approved by the City as part of Development 
Plan Review.

c. Street lighting within the Project Site shall 
comply with City specifications. 

d. Private street lights shall include shielding de-
vices for “dark sky” purposes and shall direct 
or reflect light downward.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 4.1

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Villa Serena Specific Plan

Section 4. Design Criteria

4.1 Purpose and Intent
The Specific Plan Design Criteria establish ar-
chitectural and landscape design principles and 
requirements for the Specific Plan. These design 
criteria provide the foundation for the design 
and construction of an aesthetically unified res-
idential development while also responding to 
the existing surrounding area. 

Design Guideline Objectives:

• To provide the City of Upland with the nec-
essary assurances that the Project Site will be 
developed in accordance with the quality and 
character proposed in this Specific Plan;

• To provide design criteria to developers, 
builders, engineers, architects, landscape ar-
chitects and other professionals to ensure the 
desired design quality is achieved; and

• To provide development criteria to guide de-
velopment of the Project as an attractive and 
distinctive community that responds to the 
character and design fabric of the surrounding 
existing residential community. 

4.2 Landscape Design 
Careful consideration has been given to the 
design of the community landscape for the 
Project Site. The following design criteria are or-
ganized to help define the basic landscape design 
principles for the Project. Conformance with 
these criteria will help to assure a vision and in-
tegrity of design for the Project resulting in a dis-
tinctive community image and sense of place for 
residents. All landscape plans, streetscape plans, 
and graphic designs with regard to community 
identity, neighborhood identity, or entry monu-
mentation shall conform to the criteria set forth 
herein.

The intent of the landscape design criteria for 
the Project is to control the appearance of the 

development with respect to scale, proportion, 
height, materials and colors while still encourag-
ing variety and innovation. The landscape con-
cept for the Project is illustrated on Exhibit 15, 
“Conceptual Landscape Plan.”

4.2.1 Landscape Elements
Landscape design encompasses “hardscape” ele-
ments such as entry monuments, signage, walls, 
fences, gates, paving, recreation and picnic 
equipment, as well as “softscape” elements such 
as trees, shrubs, vines and ground cover. All 
landscape elements should be compatible with 
the scale of the adjacent architecture and the sur-
rounding space. Water conservation and long 
term maintenance should be kept in mind when 
selecting specific plant material. Hydrozoning 
(grouping plants with similar water require-
ments) is encouraged. Table 4.1, “Suggested 
Plant List” provides planting guidelines for both 
common and private areas. Compliance with 
the City’s water efficient landscape ordinance is 
required. The following guidelines address the 
design of specific landscape elements within the 
Project Site.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan4.2

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA
Table 4.1
Suggested Plant List

BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME WATER 
REQUIREMENTS

TREES
Agonis flexuosa Peppermint Tree M
Albizia julibrissin Silk Tree M
Arbutus  marina Strawberry Tree L
Brachychiton populneus Bottle Tree L
Callistemon viminalis Weeping Bottlebrush M
Cedrus deodara Deodar Cedar M
Ceratonia siliqua St. John's Bread, Carob Tree L
Cercis occidentalis Western Redbud L
Cinnamomum camphora Camphor Tree M
Cupaniopsis anacardioides Carrot Wood M
Eriobotrya deflexa Bronze Loquat M
Fraxinus greggii Little Leaf Ash M
Fraxinus O. 'Raywood' Raywood Ash M
Fraxinus velutina Arizona Ash M
Geijera parviflora Australian Willow M
Koelreuteria bipinatta Chinese Flame Tree M
Koelreuteria paniculata Golden Rain Tree L
Lagerstroemia indica Crape Myrtle M
Laurus nobilis 'Saratoga' Sweet Bay L
Liquidambar styraciflua (seedless var.) Sweet Gum M
Melaleuca quinquinervia (M. vir. Rubifolia) Cajeput Tree M
Olea europaea 'Swan Hill' Fruitless Olive L
Pinus eldaeica Pinyon Pine L
Pistacia chinensis Chinese Pistache M
Platanus acerifolia London Plane Tree M
Platanus racemosa California Sycamore M
Podocarpus gracilior (Afrocarpus gracilior) Fern Pine M
Podocarpus henkelii Long Leafed Yellow Wood M
Prunus caroliniana Carolina Laurel Cherry M
Prunus cerasifera Purple Leaf Plumb M
Prunus ilicifolia Hollyleaf Cherry VL
Prunus ilicifolia lyonii Catalina Cherry L
Quercus agrifolia Coast Live Oak L
Quercus ilex Holly Oak L

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  4.3

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA
Table 4.1
Suggested Plant List (cont.)

BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME WATER 
REQUIREMENTS

Rhaphiolepis indica 'Majestic Beauty' Majestic Beauty Hawthorn M
Rhus Iancea African Sumac L
Sdhinus molle California Pepper Tree L
Tristania conferta (Lophostemon conferta) Brisbane Box M
Ulmus parvifolia Chinese Elm M

SHRUBS
Abelia grandiflora Glossy Abelia M
Acanthus mollis Grecian Urn Plant M
Agave american variegatum Century Variegata L
Agave attenuata Foxtail Agave L
Agave tequilana Blue Agave L
Aloe maculata Soap Aloe Hybrid
Artemisia californica California Sagebrush L
Baccharis pilularis Coyote Brush L
Bougainvillea spp. Bougainvillea L
Buddleia marrubiifolia Wolly Butterfly Bush L
Caesalpinia gilliesii Desert Bird of Paradise L
Calliandra californica Baja Fairy Duster L
Calliandra inaequilatera Red/Pink Powder Puff M
Carissa macrocarpa Natal Plum M
Ceanothus spp. California Wild Lilac L
Coprosma petriei Verde Vista L
Dalea bicolor Dalea L
Dianella tasmanica Silver Streak Silver Streak Flax Lily L
Dodonaea viscosa Hopbush M
Echeveria elegans Elegans Hen & Chicks L
Echium fastuosum Pride of Madeira L
Elaeagnus pungens Suilverberry L
Equisetum Hyemale Horsetail Reed M
Escallonia species Escallonia M
Euonymus japonicus spp. Euonymous L
Euryops pectinatus Shrub Daisy L
Feijoa sellowiana (Acca sellowiana) Pineapple Guava M
Gaura lindheimeri Siskiyou Pink Gaura L

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan4.4

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME WATER 
REQUIREMENTS

Hebe 'Veronica Lake' Veronica Lake Hebe M
Heteromeles arbutifolia Toyon L
Heuchera sanguinea Cora Bells M
Iiex cornuta 'Burfordii' Burford Holly M
Lantana montevidensis (gold cultivars) Trailing Lantana L
Lavandula species Lavender L
Mahonia species Oregon Grape M
Melaleuca nesophila Pink Melaleuca L
Myrica californica Pacific Wax Myrtle M
Nandina domestica species Heavenly Bamboo M
Pennisetum orientale Oriental Fountain Grass M
Photinia x fraseri Fraser's Photinia M
Phormium Tom Tumb Phormiun Tom Thumb L
Pittosporum tobira and hybrids Tobira/Japanese Mock Orange M
Plumbago auriculata (campense) Cape Plumbago M
Prunus caroliniana Laurel Cherry M
Pyracantha species Firethorn M
Rhaphiolepis indica Indian Hawthorn M
Rhus integrifolia Lemonade Berry L
Rhus Iaurina Laurel Sumac L
Rhus ovata Sugar Bush L
Ribes aureum Golden Currant L
Ribes sanguineum Red Flowering Currant M
Rosa banksiae Lady Bank's Rose M
Rosa californica California Wild Rose L
Rosmarinus officinalis 'Tuscan Blue' Tuscan Blue Rosemary L
Salvia clevelandii & hybrids Salvia L
Salvia greggii & hybrids Sutum Sage L
Salvia leucantha Mexican Bush Sage L
Salvia leucophylla Purple Sage L
Senecio serpens Blue Chalk Sticks L
Solanum rantonnetii (Lycianthus rant.) Blue Potato Bush M
Westringia longifolia Coast Rosemary L

Table 4.1
Suggested Plant List (cont.)

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  4.5

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME WATER 
REQUIREMENTS

ACCENTS/GRASSES
Agapanthus species Lily of the Nile M
Carex species (non-native) Sedge M
Carex species (native) Sedge M
Dietes bicolor Fortnight Lily M
Dietes iridioides (vegeta) African Iris M
Dudleya Ianceolata Live Forever L
Hemerocallis hybrids Day Lily M
Iris douglasiana Douglas Iris M
Kniphofia uvaria Red Hot Poker L
Liriope gigantea Giant Lilyturf M
Liriope muscari Big Blue Lilyturf M
Muhlenbergia Iindhimeri Muhly Grass M
Muhlenbergia rigens Deer Grass M
Phormium tenax New Zealand Flax M
Sedum species Various Sedum L
Senecio cineraria Dusty Miller L
Tulbaghia violacea Society Garlic M

GROUNDCOVER
Acacia redolens 'Desert Carpet' Trailing Acacia L
Aptenia 'Red Apple' Red Apple L
Arctostaphylos 'Emerald Carpet' Emerald Carpet Manzanita L
Baccharis 'Centennial' Centennial Baccharis L
Ceanothus griseus var. horizontalis Carmel Ceanothus L
Cotoneaster (compact varieties) Cotoneaster M
Dalea greggii Trailing Indigo Bush L
Lonicera japonica 'Halliana' Hall's Japanese Honeysuckle L
Mahonia repens Creeping Mahonia M
Myoporum parvifolium Prostrate Myoporum L
Osteospermum fruticosum Trailing African Daisy L
Rosmarinus officinalis 'Prostratus' Prostrate Rosemary L
Trachelospermum jasminoides Star jasmine M
Verbena species Verbena L

Table 4.1
Suggested Plant List (cont.)

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan4.6

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME WATER 
REQUIREMENTS

VINES
Distictis buccinatoria Blood Red Trumpet Vine M
Ficus pumila Creeping Fig M
Lonicera japonica Japanese Honeysuckle L
Macfadyena unguis-cati Cat's Claw Vine L
Parthenocissus tricuspidata Boston Ivy M
Rosa banksiae Lady Bank's Rose M

Table 4.1
Suggested Plant List (cont.)

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  4.7

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Source: Lantex Landscape Architecture Inc.Exhibit 15
Conceptual Landscape Plan N

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



4.8

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Villa Serena Specific Plan

The Primary Community Entry is illustrated 
on Exhibit 16, “Primary Community Entry” 
and Exhibit 17, "Primary Community Entry 
Elevation View." 

The Secondary Community Entry for the 
Project at 15th Street is illustrated on Exhibit 18, 
"Secondary Community Entry."

4.2.3 Interior Streetscapes 
Streetscape design within the interior of the 
Project Site shall be consistent in character and 
should help to promote pedestrian circulation 
within the community. Streetscapes are designed 
to provide a clear delineation between pedestrian 
and vehicular travel areas. Shrubs, low ground-
covers, and "California Friendly" ornamental 
grasses are used to the greatest extent possible to 
reduce maintenance and conserve resources. The 
planting plan for streets includes informal plant-
ings of trees, shrubs, groundcovers, and grasses. 
Uniformed spacing of trees is avoided in order to 
create an interesting and inviting pedestrian ex-
perience while also offering visual interest to mo-
torists encouraging them to slow driving speeds 
and observe their surroundings. The following 
design criteria apply to streetscape design for the 
Project.

• Landscape treatments of each street shall be 
consistent throughout the length of the street 
in the neighborhood.

• Landscape treatments shall generally utilize 
street trees planted at intervals of 50 feet on 
center as feasible. Street trees shall be placed 
a minimum of eight feet from street light 
standards. 

• Street tree planting as described below shall 
generally utilize one or two primary species 
for each street with a limited number of addi-
tional species to be used as accent planting. 

The streetscape plan for interior streets within 
the Project Site is illustrated on Exhibit 19, 
“Streetscape Key Map,” and Exhibits 20-25, 
“Streetscape Sections.” 

4.2.2 Community Entries 
The Primary Community Entry to the Project 
Site establishes the design theme for the Project 
through a blend of hardscape and planting ele-
ments that form the first impression to visitors 
and residents entering the community. Entry 
lighting shall avoid intensely bright lighting of 
monuments. Entry monuments should be lit to 
provide a soft wash of light across the monument 
signage. Specimen trees should be up-lit with 
several fixtures into the canopy to avoid creat-
ing dark sides of the trees. Paving at the Primary 
Community Entry should provide a softened ap-
pearance while providing a hard surface for vehi-
cle use. The Primary Community Entry shall in-
clude the following:

• Use of large specimen canopy trees to anchor 
each side of the entry drive and enhanced 
paving at the entry drive.

• A 6 foot high tubular steel fence and gate and 
a 6 foot high slump block monument wall 
with a sack finish painted white and brick cap 
with pilasters on each side with architectural 
detailing to match the monument wall.

• Parkway trees within the 15th Street right of 
way adjacent to the Project Site.

• A variety of accent trees and shrub masses 
planted in a series of layers (foreground, mid 
ground, background at the Project Entry, and 
along 15th Street adjacent to the Project Site) 
to help define borders and plant groupings 
while combining interesting foliage textures 
and color.

• Accent lighting for landscape and 
monumentation.

• Varying width landscape buffer areas located 
where residential side property lines abut the 
community entry street. 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  4.9

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Exhibit 16
Primary Community Entry

Source: Lantex Landscape Architecture Inc.
N

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan4.10

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Exhibit 17
Primary Community Entry 
Elevation View

Source: Lantex Landscape Architecture Inc.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  4.11

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Exhibit 18
Secondary Community Entry

Source: Lantex Landscape Architecture Inc.

N

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan4.12

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Source: Bassenian/LagoniExhibit 19
Streetscape Key Map N

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  4.13

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Source: Bassenian/LagoniExhibit 20
Streetscape Sections N

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan4.14

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Source: Bassenian/LagoniExhibit 21
Streetscape Sections N

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  4.15

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Source: Bassenian/LagoniExhibit 22
Streetscape Sections N

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan4.16

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Source: Bassenian/LagoniExhibit 23
Streetscape Sections N

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  4.17

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Source: Bassenian/LagoniExhibit 24
Streetscape Sections N

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan4.18

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Source: Bassenian/LagoniExhibit 25
Streetscape Sections N

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 4.19

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Villa Serena Specific Plan

Exhibit 30, "Park Furnishings," and Exhibits 31 
and 32, "Tot Lot Amenities."

Bicycle and pedestrian accessibility is provid-
ed throughout the Project connecting residenc-
es to the common open space areas and to 15th 
Street. Streets within the Project provide for side-
walks on both sides of all streets connecting to 
the central open space and pocket parks within 
the community. Project streets will accommo-
date on-street bicycle travel through the com-
munity connecting to the common open space 
and to public bicycle routes within 15th Street. 
The bicycle and pedestrian connectivity plan 
for the community is illustrated on Exhibit 33, 
"Connectivity Plan."

4.3 Walls and Fencing 
Walls and fencing are an important component 
of the overall landscape design of a community. 
Walls and fences should be designed to comple-
ment and reinforce landscape design in estab-
lishing the image and theme of the communi-
ty. The type and location of Project walls and 
fences are described on Exhibit 34, “Wall and 
Fence Master Plan,” and further described on 
Exhibit 35, “Wall and Fence Details.”

4.3.1 Community Walls
Community walls constructed as part of 
the Project shall be decorative in nature. 
Community perimeter walls constructed as part 
of the Project, interior community return walls 
and the community entry wall along 15th Street 
shall be constructed of split face block. Use of 
decorative caps and pilasters to help enhance 
the perimeter appeal of the walls is required. All 
perimeter walls shall be constructed within the 
boundaries of the Project Site. 

4.2.4 Common Open Space and 
Connectivity

The Specific plan community will have common 
area open space provided for the active and pas-
sive recreational use of its residents. Walkways 
will lead to the areas designated for common 
area open space. The common area open space 
plan for the Project consists of the following 
elements: 

A centrally located open space area is provided 
which shall include the following improvements:

• Swimming pool and spa. 

• Picnic and barbeque area with an overhead 
shade structure.

• Pool house with restrooms/changing areas and 
drinking fountains.

• Exercise station.

• Children's play area.

• Landscaped walkway connecting the active 
recreational area with residences.

The central open space area will also include the 
central mailbox location for the Project. The cen-
tral open space area will be heavily landscaped 
with canopy trees to provide shade, shrubs, and 
ground cover.

Four pocket parks will be provided for passive 
recreational use. Two pocket parks are planned at 
each end of the Project Site and two are planned 
within interior areas of the Project. The pocket 
parks will be heavily landscaped with canopy 
trees to provide shade, shrubs, and ground cover. 
Benches will be provided under canopy trees 
and each pocket park will provide children's play 
areas.

The central common open space and pocket 
parks for the Project are illustrated on 
Exhibit 26, “Central Open Space Plan,” 
Exhibit 27, "Pocket Park Plans," Exhibits 28 
and 29, "Common Area Open Space Amenities,” 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan4.20

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Source: Bassenian/LagoniExhibit 26
Central Open Space Plan N

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  4.21

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Source: Bassenian/LagoniExhibit 27
Pocket Park Plans

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan4.22

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Source: Bassenian/LagoniExhibit 28
Common Area Open Space Amenities

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  4.23

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Source: Bassenian/LagoniExhibit 29
Common Area Open Space Amenities

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan4.24

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Source: Bassenian/LagoniExhibit 30
Park Furnishings

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  4.25

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Source: Bassenian/LagoniExhibit 31
Tot Lot Amenities

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan4.26

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Source: Bassenian/LagoniExhibit 32
Tot Lot Amenities

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  4.27

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Source: Bassenian/LagoniExhibit 33
Connectivity Plan N

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan4.28

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Source: Bassenian/LagoniExhibit 34
Wall and Fence Master Plan N

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  4.29

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Source: Bassenian/LagoniExhibit 35
Wall and Fence Details

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



4.30

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Villa Serena Specific Plan

4.4.1 Entry Monument Lighting
Avoid intensely bright or “hot” lighting of the 
Primary Community Entry monument; the 
monument should be lit to provide a soft wash 
of light across the monument signage. Specimen 
trees should be up-lit with several fixtures into 
the canopy to avoid creating dark sides of the 
trees.

4.4.2 Common Open Space Areas and 
Walkway Lighting

Lighting of the walkways within the common 
area open space should be considered for safety 
and security. Security lighting fixtures shall be 
vandal resistant, not less than (8) eight feet from 
ground level. Low level pedestrian lighting along 
walkways within the common open space area 
should be provided to create a better sense of 
scale to the pedestrian. Luminaries of not less 
than 42” in height may be utilized to illuminate 
a walkway if adjacent landscaping is of a variety 
that does not mature higher than two feet.

4.5 Signs
All signs within the Project shall conform to a 
sign program submitted by the applicant and ap-
proved by the City. The sign program shall serve 
to reinforce the overall design theme for the 
community and to promote an overall “sense of 
place” through architecturally integrated, visu-
ally coordinated, and aesthetically balanced sign 
design. As part of the sign program the design 
of all sign graphics shall be carefully considered 
in relation to the site architecture and land-
scaping, as well as to the specific content of the 
area. Conformity of design among all signs is 
required. 

4.3.2 Residential Walls and Fences
Rear yard property walls constructed as part of 
the Project shall be decorative split face block 
with accent pilasters at intervals along the wall. 
Vinyl fencing may be used along interior resi-
dential property lines.

4.3.3 Other Fences

• Tubular steel fencing is permitted to secure 
tot lot areas.

• Emergency vehicle access areas and the basin 
access gate shall be secured with tubular steel 
gates. 

4.4 Outdoor Lighting
Lighting of streets, common area open space, 
and select landscaped areas should be consid-
ered for safety and security. Utilization of “dark 
sky friendly” light fixtures on local streets shall 
be required. Maintaining the character of tra-
ditional materials will create a pedestrian scale 
for the neighborhood. Lighting fixtures within 
the Project shall be consistent in style, color, 
and materials in order to maintain uniformity 
throughout the Project. The style for street light-
ing fixtures within the Project is illustrated on 
Exhibit 36, “Typical Street Light Fixture.”

A hierarchy for all lighting within the Project 
shall be established by using a variety of lighting 
fixtures and illumination levels based lighting 
design intent. Lighting styles shall tie into archi-
tectural styles and provide sufficient illumina-
tion for the safety and well being of the commu-
nity. Frosted, louvered, or prismatic lens should 
be considered where decorative lighting fixtures 
are visible and part of the aesthetic lighting pro-
gram. Accent lighting of landscape and monu-
mentation shall be incorporated into the follow-
ing areas:

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  4.31

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Source: Bassenian/LagoniExhibit 36
Typical Street Light Fixture

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



4.32

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Villa Serena Specific Plan

4.6 Architectural Design 
The architecture represented in the Project shall 
be comprised of rich, traditional styles that com-
plement one another and serve to reinforce di-
versity in the community street scene. Three sep-
arate and distinct architectural styles influenced 
by thematic architecture found within California 
have been selected for the Project. Each style is 
presented on the following pages describing the 
characteristics that begin to express the antici-
pated architectural character for the community. 
These styles are influenced and inspired by the 
themes of each style, all represented in historical 
California architecture. Other architectural styles 
may be approved for the Project by the City as 
part of Development Plan Review. Other styles 
should exhibit compatibility to the three styles 
described below.

4.5.1 Sign Program Objectives
Signs within the Project shall address the follow-
ing objectives:

• Provide a project identity through elements 
that convey a distinct community character 
enhancing the collective architectural theme.

• Provide for a hierarchy of signs to address 
Project identity, directions and informa-
tion within the community, and identify 
the common area open space and Project 
amenities.

• Ensure the efficient circulation of vehicle 
traffic within the Project Site.

• Enhance the pedestrian and biking experience 
through attractive and comprehensible way-
finding signage and destination identifiers.

4.5.2 Sign Design Criteria
The following design criteria shall be considered 
for Project signs:

• Signs shall be of uniform design relative to 
each other, sharing similar colors, materials, 
and shapes. 

• Signs shall be color compatible with build-
ing architecture and landscape features on the 
site. 

• Materials shall include the use of real veneer 
materials instead of faux concrete veneers.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  4.33

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA
4.6.1 Spanish Influenced Style 
Spanish style architecture is a style that evolved from the architecture of the early Spanish colonies of 
North and South America, retaining the forms and textures of its cultural origin and updating them to 
fit a more modern context. This regional expression combines the basic forms of traditional Spanish and 
Mexican architecture with local styles prevalent at the time, such as Mission and Arts and Crafts to create 
an architecture with a fine sense of detailing and a rich palette of materials. This style can borrow from 
both the hacienda and bungalow, and can be represented in a variety of interpretations as seen through-
out the Southland. Some distinguishing features of this historic style include plaster walls, chimneys with 
distinctive hoods, low-pitched clay tile roofs and decorative wrought iron. Decorative tile, terra cotta 
pavers, finials and wood decks or balconies are also employed to add color, texture, and accent to this 
Southern California aesthetic.

The following elements define the Spanish architectural style for the Project.

SPANISH ARCHITECTURAL STYLE
ELEMENTS MINIMUM STANDARDS ENCOURAGED ENHANCEMENTS
Form • Asymmetrical, one and two-story volumes • Turrets

• 12” to 18” second-floor cantilevers

Roof • Gable and shed roof forms
• 3:12 to 4:12 pitch
• Barrel ‘S’-shape tile roofs

• Cut rafter tails
• Flush rakes
• Profile eaves

Walls • Smooth to light sand finish stucco • Rounded wall return to windows and 
doors

• Arches or arched portals

Windows • Wood or concrete cast surrounds
• Windows with divided lights
• Recessed windows

• Plank or panel shutters
• Arch-top feature windows

Details • Garage door patterns to complement style
• Recessed articulated entry
• Recessed windows

• Wrought iron pot shelves under windows
• Juliet balconies
• Finials
• Decorative shutters 
• Wood corbels 
• Bartizans
• Gable end details

Colors • Field: Whites, light earth tones
• Trim: Dark contrasting color

The characteristics of the Spanish architectural style are illustrated on Exhibits 37, “Spanish Style” and 
on Exhibit 38, “Spanish Style Details.”

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan4.34

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Source: Bassenian/LagoniExhibit 37
Spanish Style

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  4.35

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Source: Bassenian/LagoniExhibit 38
Spanish Style Details

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan4.36

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA
4.6.2 Italianate Influences 
The Italianate style as interpreted and conceived by Southern California architects of the early 20th cen-
tury adapted the grand formal elegance of the Italian Renaissance estate with a localized approach to de-
tailing and scale. Composed primarily of stacked two-story forms, the front elevations of these homes 
display a distinct organization of windows and doors, with a centrally located, articulated entry. Key 
identifying features of this style include low-pitched hip roofs, decorative eave brackets, horizontal band-
ing, round columns, and arched elements, particularly above rectangular windows. Southern California 
architects also used awnings, decorative shutters, and wrought iron to achieve a regional aesthetic while 
retaining strong connections to the style’s origins.

The following elements define the Italianate architectural style for the Project.

ITALIANATE ARCHITECTURAL STYLE
ELEMENTS MINIMUM STANDARDS ENCOURAGED ENHANCEMENTS
Form • Stacked two story massing • Front courtyard

Roof • Main hip roof
• Low, 4:12 pitch
• Minimum 12” deep overhangs with 

shaped stucco frieze trim and or corbels
• ‘S’-shape tile roofs

• Stucco cornice, closed eaves

Walls • Smooth to light sand finish stucco 
• Concrete cast trim at feature locations

• Concrete or concrete-like stacked quoins 
on corners at the front elevation

• Horizontal banding

Windows • Vertically hung multi-paned windows
• Feature windows 

• Panel shutters with hardware

Details • Garage door patterns to complement style
• Covered entry porch
• Simple round or square stucco columns

• Arched recesses or curved windows above  
rectangular windows

• Deep recessed windows
• Windows ganged together

Colors • Field: Rich, warm palette
• Trim: Darker and contrasting to body color
• Accents: Terracotta color roofs

The characteristics of the Italianate architectural style are illustrated on Exhibits 39, “Italianate Style” and 
on Exhibit 40 “Italianate Style Details.”

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  4.37

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Source: Bassenian/LagoniExhibit 39
Italianate Style

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan4.38

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Source: Bassenian/LagoniExhibit 40
Italianate Style Details

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  4.39

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA
4.6.3 French Country Influences
French Country architecture is derived from a mixture of European influences. After the adoption of 
stone and brick veneer techniques of the 1920’s, the look became extremely popular across the country. 
Although the style is looked upon as a small plan form, it is considered one of the most recognized styles 
in suburban America. The French Country style emphasizes an asymmetrical plan and roof form, and 
details emphasize specific portions of the home such as the entry, gable end components with corbels, 
shutters, and window shelves. Stone veneer or gable end siding are incorporated for texture and color 
accompaniments. This style has a steeper roof slope than other styles which provides for a diverse street 
scene. The following elements define the French Country architectural style for the Project.

FRENCH COUNTRY ARCHITECTURAL STYLE
ELEMENTS MINIMUM STANDARDS ENCOURAGED ENHANCEMENTS
Form • Asymmetrical plan form massing

• Recessed Entry
• Irregular plan form massing with recessed 

2nd floor

Roof • Main hip or gable roof with intersecting 
gable

• 6:12-8:12 primary roof pitch
• 0”-12” overhangs
• Architectural grade composition or 

smooth flat concrete tiles

• 9:12-12:12 secondary roof pitch
• Broken roof pitch on front elevation
• Main roof hip or gable with intersecting 

gable roof

Walls • Stucco • Siding or stone accents

Windows • Vertical multi-divided windows at  front 
elevation

• Multi-divided windows or inserts on side  
and rear elevations in high visibility areas

• Simple window trim surrounds 
proportionate to window size

• Shutters on primary windows

• Curved or round top accent windows
• Bay windows
• Single hung windows at front elevation
• Enhanced sills

Details • Decorative gable end detailing or vents
• Lighting fixtures to complement style
• Garage door patterns to complement style

• Stone veneer chimney
• Wrought iron or wood-like balconies
• Entry accents with real or simulated stone
• Coach light

Colors • Field: Whites or light tones or mid-earth 
tones

• Trim: Whites or light-medium tones to 
complement field color

• Accents: Light or dark shades to  
complement field color

The characteristics of the French Country architectural style are illustrated on Exhibits 41, “French 
Country Style” and on Exhibit 42 “French Country Style Details.”

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan4.40

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Source: Bassenian/LagoniExhibit 41
French Country Style

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  4.41

SECTION 4. DESIGN CRITERIA

Source: Bassenian/LagoniExhibit 42
French Country Style Details

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 5.1

SECTION 5. IMPLEMENTATION AND ADMINISTRATION

Villa Serena Specific Plan

Section 5. Implementation 
and Administration

The Specific Plan serves as the the General Plan 
land use designation of Villa Serena Specific Plan 
(SP) and establishes the zoning for the Project 
Site. The Specific Plan regulates allowable land 
use and establishes required infrastructure im-
provements, development requirements, and 
design criteria, for the Project Site. The methods 
for implementation of development within the 
Project Site and administration of the Specific 
Plan are established in this section. 

5.1 Methods and Applicability
All development proposals within the Specific 
Plan shall be subject to the implementation 
procedures established herein. Development 
within the Project Site shall be implemented 
through the approval by the City of a tentative 
and final tract map and through site plan and 
design review pursuant to Upland Municipal 
Code, Title 17, “Planning and Zoning” (Zoning 
Code). The implementation process described 
herein provides the mechanisms for review and 
approval by the City of the development project 
proposed for the Project Site.

Whenever the provisions and development stan-
dards contained herein conflict with those con-
tained in the Zoning Code, the provisions of the 
Specific Plan shall take precedence. 

5.2 Severability
If any regulation, condition, program, or por-
tion of the Specific Plan is held invalid or unen-
forceable, such portions shall be deemed sepa-
rate, distinct, and independent provisions, and 
the invalidity of such portions or provisions shall 
not affect the validity and enforceability of the 
remaining portions and provisions therein.

5.3 Interpretation
Unless otherwise provided, any ambiguity con-
cerning the content or application of the Specific 
Plan shall be resolved by the City of Upland 
Development Services Director or his/her des-
ignee in a manner consistent with the goals, 
policies, purpose and intent established in this 
Specific Plan.

5.4 Development Review
Implementation of the Project is subject to ad-
ditional City approvals, subsequent to approv-
al of the Specific Plan, including approval of a 
Tentative and Final Tract Map(s) and Site Plan 
and Design Review. The Project shall comply 
with all applicable State and local building 
and fire codes in effect at the time of Project 
implementation. 

5.4.1 Subdivision Maps
Approval of a tentative and final tract map 
shall be required for the Project. The ten-
tative and final tract map shall be reviewed 
and approved pursuant to applicable provi-
sions of the City of Upland Municipal Code, 
Title 16, “Subdivisions,” Zoning Code Section 
17.44.080, (Parcel Maps and Tract Maps), and 
consistent with the applicable provisions of the 
Development Plan, Development Regulations, 
and Design Criteria contained within the 
Specific Plan.

5.4.2 Site Plan and Design Review
All development within the Project Site shall 
be subject to the provisions of site plan and 
design review pursuant to Zoning Code Section 
17.44.030, (Development Plan Review). 
Pursuant to these provisions, the site plan and 
design review process constitutes a review and 
approval of project site plans, architecture, 
and landscape plans. The site plan and design 
review application for any project shall include 
a landscape and irrigation plan describing plant 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



5.2

SECTION 5. IMPLEMENTATION AND ADMINISTRATION

Villa Serena Specific Plan

5.5.2 Specific Plan Amendments 
Amendments to the Specific Plan may be re-
quested by the applicant or initiated by the 
City at any time pursuant to Section 65453(a) 
of the Government Code. Amendments 
shall be processed pursuant to the provisions 
of the Government Code for Specific Plan 
Amendments. In the event the proposed amend-
ment requires supplemental environmental anal-
ysis pursuant to the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA), the applicant shall be re-
sponsible for preparing the necessary CEQA 
documentation.

5.6 Appeals
Appeals from any determination of the 
Development Services Director shall be made 
to the Planning Commission. The applicant(s) 
or any other entity shall have the right to appeal 
the decision of the Planning Commission on 
any determination to the City Council. Appeals 
shall be filed on forms provided by the City of 
Upland. Appeals shall be processed consistent 
with the provisions of Zoning Code Chapter 
17.47 (Referrals, Appeals, and Calls for Review).

5.7 Compliance with Mitigation 
Measures

Development within the Project Site shall 
comply with all approved mitigation measures 
as described in the Mitigation Monitoring and 
Reporting Program (MMRP) adopted by the 
City.

5.8 Project Financing
The financing of construction, operation, and 
maintenance of public improvements and facil-
ities (the “facilities”) and public services for the 
Project may include a combination of financing 
mechanisms. Final determination as to the facil-
ities to be constructed and maintenance respon-
sibilities, whether publicly or privately main-
tained, shall be determined as part of recordation 

materials and their growth habits, plant size and 
spacing, methods of irrigation and landscaping 
maintenance; a comprehensive site plan of devel-
opment including the distribution of land use, 
lot layout, detailed site plan for common area 
open space and residential plot plan, architectur-
al elevations and floor plans, grading plans and 
other requirements as specified by the City.

5.5 Specific Plan Modifications and 
Amendments

5.5.1 Modifications
The following constitute modifications to the 
Specific Plan, not requiring a Specific Plan 
Amendment, and are subject to review and ap-
proval by the Development Services Director. 
The Development Services Director shall have 
the discretion to refer any such request for modi-
fication to the Planning Commission.

a. Change in utility and/or public service 
provider.

b. Minor changes to landscape materials, wall 
materials, wall alignment, entry design, and 
streetscape design which are deemed by the 
Development Services Director to be substan-
tively consistent with the conceptual design 
set forth in the design criteria contained 
within the Specific Plan.

c. Minor changes to the architectural floor plans 
and/or architectural design criteria of the 
Specific Plan provided the change does not 
result in a variation of more than 20% of any 
quantifiable design criteria.

d. Other modifications deemed similar in nature 
by the Development Services Director to 
the above, which the Development Services 
Director determines is in keeping with the 
purpose and intent of the approved Specific 
Plan, and which are in conformance with the 
General Plan, as amended.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 5.3

SECTION 5. IMPLEMENTATION AND ADMINISTRATION

Villa Serena Specific Plan

phases of site development shall be implemented 
as described below.

Phase 1 - Rough grading and installation of im-
provements to on site streets and connections to 
off-site backbone infrastructure, and construc-
tion of on-site infrastructure.

Phase 2 - Construction of sales facility and resi-
dential model home units.

Phase 3 - Construction of residential units, 
common area open space, landscaping and ir-
rigation systems and Project perimeter entries, 
walls, and fences.

5.10 Maintenance
Maintenance of improvements within the 
Project Site shall be the responsibility of public 
and private entities as follows:

a. All curb, gutter, and sidewalk improvements 
within the public right of way constructed for 
15th Street as part of the Project shall be ded-
icated to the City of Upland and maintained 
by the City. Parkway landscaping within the 
15th Street right of way shall be dedicated to 
the City and maintained by the HOA.

b. All streets, landscaping between the 15th 
Street right of way and the Project boundary, 
and drives within the Project Site shall be pri-
vate and maintained by the Project HOA. 

c. Front yard and common area landscape im-
provements within the Project Site shall be 
maintained by the Project HOA. 

d. Recreational areas and common area open 
space within the Project Site shall be main-
tained by the Project HOA.

f. On-site and off-site infrastructure improve-
ments such as water, sewer, and storm drain 
facilities shall be privately constructed and 
dedicated to the appropriate responsible 
entity for maintenance by that entity.

of a final map. City approval is a prerequisite for 
the establishment and implementation of any 
and all special district-financing mechanisms. 
The following financing options can be consid-
ered for implementation. 

5.8.1 Facilities and Services 

a. Private capital investment for the construction 
of facilities.

b. Traditional Assessment Districts pursu-
ant to the 1911 or 1913 enabling legisla-
tion, Community Facilities District (CFD) 
established pursuant to the Mello-Roos 
Community Facilities District Act of 1982, or 
other special district, to provide funding for 
the construction of a variety of public facili-
ties and the provision of public services.

5.8.2 Facilities and Services 

a. By individual private property owner.

b. By Homeowner Association (HOA).

c. By Landscape and Lighting Maintenance 
District (LLMD).

d. By traditional Assessment District, CFD, or 
other special district.

5.9 Project Phasing
Phasing of the Specific Plan will meet the follow-
ing objectives:

a. Orderly build-out of the community based 
upon market and economic conditions.

b. Provision of adequate infrastructure and 
public facilities.

c. Protection of public health, safety and 
welfare.

The phasing of residential development areas 
shall be determined by the developer. The de-
velopment of residential uses shall be imple-
mented through the approval of a tentative and 
final tract map and permits and pursuant to the 
Development Plan Review process. Three main 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



5.4

SECTION 5. IMPLEMENTATION AND ADMINISTRATION

Villa Serena Specific Plan

Table 5-1
Project Maintenance Matrix 

A detailed listing of maintenance responsibil-
ities for the Project is included as Table 5.1, 
“Project Maintenance Matrix.”

IMPROVEMENT HOMEOWNER HOA CITY PUBLIC 
UTILITY

15th Street Sidewalk, Curb, Gutter Adjacent to 
Project X

30’ Landscape Strip between 15th ROW and 
Project Boundary and landscaping within 15th 
Street parkway

X

Storm Drain Easements X

Basin Maintenance Vehicle Access and Gates X

Internal Project Streets X

Internal Project Sidewalks, Parkways, Enhanced 
Paving X

Project Entry Connections to 15th Street X

Community Entry Sign, Walls and Lighting X

Interior Project Walls and Fencing X

Project Boundary Walls  - New X

Project Boundary Walls – Existing X

Retaining Walls – Boundary X

Retaining Walls – Interior X

Common Area Landscaping X

Common Area Open Space and Improvements X

Mailbox Shelter X

Residential Front Yards X

Residential Driveways X

On-Site Water Mains X

On-Site Sewer Mains X

Water Quality Features – On site X

Drainage Improvements – On site X  

g. All water quality management features and 
Project BMPs shall be maintained by the 
Project HOA.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  6.1

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

Section 6. General Plan Consistency
California Government Code (Title 7, Division 1, Chapter 3, Article 8, Section 65450-65457), permits the 
adoption and administration of specific plans as an implementation tool for elements contained in the local 
general plan. Specific plans must demonstrate consistency in regulations, guidelines, and programs with the 
goals and policies set forth in the general plan. The Villa Serena Specific Plan provides regulations, guidelines 
and standards that are consistent with the applicable City of Upland General Plan goals and policies as dis-
cussed in this section.

6.1 Land Use Element

Policies Specific Plan Consistency

Policy LU-1.2 Permitted Densities and 
Intensities. Ensure existing and future 
zoning designations correspond to the per-
mitted density and intensity ranges as listed 
in Table LU-1 of the Land Use Element.

A General Plan Amendment adopted by the City for the 
Project Site changed the General Plan Land Use Map for 
the Project Site from Public- Flood Control/Recharge 
(FC/R) to Villa Serena Specific Plan (SP). The Specific 
Plan establishes the General Plan Land Use desigation 
and zoning for the Project Site and implements the SP 
General Plan land use designation for the Project Site. 
The Specific Plan is a proposal for the development of 65 
single family residential dwelling units on approximately 
9.2 acres of land. The residential density for the proposed 
Project is 7.1 dwelling units per acre consistent with sur-
rounding General Plan land use designations of Single-
Family Medium Residential (SFR-M): 4-10 dwelling 
units per acre , Single Family Low Residential (SF-L) .0-4 
dwelling units per acre, and the Upland Hills Country 
Club Specific Plan.

Policy LU-1.5 Range of Housing Types 
and Densities. Provide high-quality hous-
ing in a range of types, densities, and unit 
sizes that meets the housing needs of resi-
dents of all income levels.

The proposed project is a Specific Plan to allow develop-
ment of 65 single family residential dwellings in a vari-
ety of floor plans and architectural styles at a density of 
7.1 dwelling units per acre designed with unit sizes to ad-
dress the housing needs of first time buyers. The Project 
adds to the City’s housing stock for first time buyers help-
ing in the City’s efforts to address the housing needs of all 
income levels. The Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy LU-2.3 Living Environment. 
Provide healthy, affordable and desirable 
living environments consistent with adopt-
ed code requirements that set forth the ac-
ceptable health and safety standards for the 
occupancy of housing.

Residential units developed as part of the proposed proj-
ect will be constructed in conformance with all adopted 
building, health and safety code requirements. The Project 
is consistent with this policy.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan6.2

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

Policy LU-4.1 Infill Development. 
Encourage mixed-use, infill development 
on brownfields or underutilized parcels, 
particularly near public transit and within 
the historic downtown.

The 9.2 acre Project Site has been determined by the City 
to be a surplus property suitable for development, and 
represents an infill site surrounded by built urban envi-
ronment and served by existing infrastructure and road-
ways. The Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy LU-5.5 Pedestrian Safety. 
Encourage the creation of safe, walkable en-
vironments that include elements such as 
wide, smooth sidewalks, good lighting, safe 
crosswalks, clear signage, curb bulb-outs, 
curb cuts, street furniture, trees and traf-
fic-calming measures which allow people of 
all ages and abilities to exercise and safely 
access public transportation, community 
centers, schools and goods and services.

The Project includes a simple two way street system with 
sidewalks adequately sized and lit to provide a safe walk-
able community offering pedestrian connectivity within 
the community and to 15th Street which allows for con-
tinued connectivity to Sierra Vista Park located approxi-
mately .5 miles southwest of the Project Site and Upland 
Memorial Park located approximately .8 miles south of 
the Project Site and to general commercial centers locat-
ed approximately one mile north of the Project Site. The 
Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy LU-6.1 Quality Development. 
Ensure that development is attractive and 
promotes harmony in the visual relation-
ships and transitions between newer and 
older buildings.

The Specific Plan includes design criteria to guide com-
munity and architectural design of the Project to create 
a distinctive, cohesive community that blends with and 
complements the surrounding built environment. The 
Specific Plan design criteria includes a comprehensive 
community landscape plan and architectural design con-
cepts that work together to create interesting and attrac-
tive streetscenes with visual continuity. The Project is con-
sistent with this policy.

Policy LU-6.2 Compatibility of Uses. 
Control the location, concentration and 
operations of land uses that have poten-
tial impacts on surrounding development 
through effective design principles, ade-
quate buffering, and enforcement of regula-
tory documents.

The Specific Plan is a comprehensive plan controlling the 
pattern and operation of residential and open space land 
uses within the Project Site. The Specific Plan includes 
adequate buffering of new land uses to surrounding ex-
isting land use through project boundary landscaping 
and theme walls. The Project is served by an internal two 
way street system with two points of connection to 15th 
Street. The Specific Plan includes requirements for instal-
lation of infrastructure adequate to serve the Project and 
development standards to regulate building height and 
massing to conform to that of existing surrounding resi-
dential land use. The Project is consistent with this policy.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  6.3

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

6.2 Community Character and Urban Design Element

Policies Specific Plan Consistency

Policy CC-1.1 Small Town Scale. Support 
the maintenance and expansion of Upland’s 
existing character by requiring preservation 
of historic features, buildings, and landscap-
ing while encouraging new development to 
complement the character, scale, and heri-
tage of development in the community.

There are no known historic features or buildings within 
the Project Site. The proposed new development of 65 
residential units at a density of 7.1 dwelling units per acre 
is complementary to the existing scale and character of the 
surrounding built environment and is designed to blend 
with and reflect the small town character of Upland. The 
Project is a single family detached residential community 
consistent with the existing single family residential char-
acter surrounding the Project Site.

The Project incorporates the traditional housing styles of 
Upland, California, while also reflecting the architecture 
of recently built neighborhoods. The architectural styles of 
homes are influenced and inspired by Spanish, Italianate, 
and French Country that echo the classic architecture of 
the Southern Californian regions. The Project integrates 
styles, elements, and a mix of materials from both estab-
lished and newer residential communities located near the 
Project Site.

Homes will not exceed two stories in height and will have 
a variety of floor plans and architectural styles plotted to 
create a varied streetscene. Materials and details on homes 
will be in keeping with the character of each architectural 
style. The Project is consistent with this policy.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan6.4

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

Policy CC-1.2 Community Identity. 
Cultivate a greater sense of community 
identity and recognizable community focal 
points, centers, districts, and gateways.

The proposed project is designed to create a distinctive 
sense of place for residents as a “walkable” communi-
ty with a pedestrian friendly street system and common 
area open space provided for residents creating an atmo-
sphere where neighbors can visit with one another while 
walking or utilizing the recreational amenities within the 
common area open space. Residences are planned to front 
onto streets, enabling residents to have their “eyes on the 
street,” promoting a safe hometown feel and encouraging 
interaction among neighbors. The Specific Plan sets forth 
requirements for a distinctive community design through 
construction of an enhanced primary Community Entry, 
landscaped secondary entry and streetscapes, walls, and 
entry monuments creating a sense of arrival to the com-
munity. Architectural diversity in residential design, land-
scaped walkways, and on site common area open space 
for neighborhood gatherings, combine to create a sense 
of place for residents. The Project is consistent with this 
policy.

Policy CC-1.3 Place Making. Ensure that 
existing and proposed buildings, structures, 
infrastructure, landscaping, lighting, and 
signage contribute to the image of the City 
as a place of high quality and positive value.

Development standards contained in the Specific Plan 
require uniform and high quality design of residential 
dwellings, the installation of infrastructure adequate to 
serve the community, comprehensive and cohesive land-
scaping for the community to include shade trees, shrubs, 
and groundcover, requirements that a master sign pro-
gram be approved by the City, and lighting regulations to 
ensure uniformity of fixture design and placement along 
streets and within common area open space. The Project is 
consistent with this policy.

Policy CC-1.4 Contextual Design 
Themes. Encourage new development to 
incorporate similar design themes to those 
existing within the project area to ensure 
buildings, when seen together, create recog-
nizable districts and corridors.

The Project incorporates a community design creating a 
distinctive sense of place for the community similar in 
scale to the existing single family residential land use sur-
rounding the Project Site. Homes will not exceed two 
stories in height and will have a variety of floor plans and 
architectural styles plotted to create an interesting street-
scene. Materials and details on homes will be in keeping 
with the character of each architectural style. The pro-
posed residential component of the Project is designed 
around a simple two way street system with common 
area open space distributed throughout the Project. The 
Project is consistent with this policy.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  6.5

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

Policy CC-1.5 Human Scale Roadways. 
Maintain narrow streets that provide 
multi-modal circulation mobility without 
dominating the streetscape.

The Project is designed with a simple two way street 
system with sidewalks on both sides of the street provid-
ing pedestrian connectivity within the Community, to 
Sierra Vista Park located southwest of the Project Site and 
to Upland Memorial Park located located south of the 
Project Site, and to general commercial centers located 
north of the Project Site. Streets are designed with a total 
curb to curb width of between 26 to 38 feet to accommo-
date safe vehicular travel as well as on street bicycle travel. 
The Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy CC-1.6 View Protection. Direct 
private development to enhance public view 
corridors of the San Gabriel Mountains, 
where feasible. These views are an integral 
part of the City’s geographic space and pro-
vide a unique sense of place for Upland as a 
foothill community.

Structures within the proposed project are limited to a 
maximum height of two stories or 35 feet. The proposed 
project will not block any public view corridors of the San 
Gabriel Mountains. The Project is consistent with this 
policy.

Policy CC-2.1 Protect Established 
Neighborhoods. Preserve, protect and en-
hance established neighborhoods by pro-
viding sensitive transitions between these 
neighborhoods and adjoining areas, sup-
porting the maintenance and improve-
ment of properties and buildings and infra-
structure, and requiring new development, 
both private and public, to respect and 
respond to those existing physical char-
acteristics – buildings, streetscapes, open 
spaces and urban form – that contribute to 
the overall character and livability of each 
neighborhood.

The proposed project of 65 residential units at a density 
of 7.1 dwelling units per acre is complementary to the ex-
isting scale and character of the surrounding built envi-
ronment and provides a compatible transition between 
existing neighborhoods and the proposed community of 
Villa Serena. Adequate buffering between existing neigh-
borhoods and the proposed project is provided with walls 
and landscaping. The Project is a single family detached 
residential community consistent with the existing single 
family residential character surrounding the Project Site. 
Homes will not exceed two stories in height and will have 
a variety of floor plans and architectural styles plotted to 
create a varied streetscene. The Project is consistent with 
this policy.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan6.6

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

Policy CC-2.2 Complete Neighborhoods. 
Promote the design and development of 
neighborhoods whose physical layout and 
land use mix promote walking, biking and 
transit use; provide housing and access to 
nearby employment, retail and service uses; 
foster community pride; provide access to 
recreational amenities; enhance neighbor-
hood identity; and are safe, family friend-
ly and address the needs of all ages and 
abilities.

The Specific Plan includes the development of a street 
and sidewalk system providing a unifying element for the 
community and pedestrian and bicycle connectivity with 
the community. Pedestrian and bicycle accessibility will be 
provided through Project streets and walkways connecting 
to 15th Street. From 15th Street bicyclists and pedestrians 
can continue on existing streets and sidewalks to Sierra 
Vista Park located approximately .5 miles southwest of the 
Project Site, Upland Memorial Park located approximate-
ly .8 miles south of the Project Site and to general retail 
commercial services located at North Campus Avenue and 
19th Street approximately one mile north of the Project 
Site. The Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy CC-2.5 Neighborhood Amenities. 
Encourage appropriately scaled communi-
ty-supportive facilities and services within 
all neighborhoods to enhance neighbor-
hood identity and provide convenient 
access within walking and biking distance 
of residents.

Approximately one acre of private passive open space is 
provided as part of the Project to include a centrally locat-
ed park improved with a swimming pool, pool house with 
restrooms, picnic tables, barbeque facilities, children’s play 
area, and benches. This park will provide residents with an 
inviting environment for informal gathering and a place 
to meet and greet each other as part of leisurely walks 
through the community. Four individual pocket parks are 
distributed throughout the Project providing for passive 
recreational use by residents of the Project. The pedestrian 
walkway system and two way street system for the Project 
are designed to provide safe and convenient pedestrian 
and bicycle accessibility to Project open space. The Project 
is consistent with this policy.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  6.7

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

Policy CC-2.6 Neighborhood 
Enhancement. Promote infill development, 
redevelopment, rehabilitation, and reuse 
efforts that contribute positively (e.g., site 
layout and architectural design) to existing 
neighborhoods and surrounding uses.

The Project Site is an infill site surrounded by existing 
single family residential use and is proposed for redevel-
opment as a new residential community. The Project Site 
has historically been used as a flood control and detention 
basin. As part of the Project modifications to the flood 
control and detention basin will be completed to create 
the developable Project Site and ensure the continued 
flood control and detention operations of the remaining 
portion of the basin are intact. The proposed project is de-
signed to positively contribute to the quality of the exist-
ing surrounding residential neighborhoods. The proposed 
project is designed around a simple two way street system 
with common area open space distributed throughout the 
Project. Homes will not exceed two stories in height and 
will have a variety of floor plans and architectural styles 
plotted to create a varied streetscene. Materials and details 
on homes will be in keeping with the character of each ar-
chitectural style. The Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy CC-2.7 Neighborhood Branding. 
Support the development of neighborhood 
“branding” or identification so that par-
ticular neighborhoods can be recognized 
through naming, signage, gateways, etc.

The identity for the proposed Villa Serena communi-
ty will be established through the construction of an en-
hanced and distinctive entry to include monument sig-
nage, landscaping, and lighting reflecting the theme of 
Villa Serena. The Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy CC-2.9 Infill Development. 
Require infill development to be compati-
ble with surrounding uses and to equal or 
exceed the quality of adjacent development.

The proposed project is designed to be compatible with 
the existing surrounding residential land use. The pro-
posed project is designed around a simple two way 
street system with common area open space distribut-
ed throughout the Project. Vehicular access to the Project 
will be from two entries on 15th Street. Homes will not 
exceed two stories in height and will have a variety of floor 
plans and architectural styles plotted to create a varied 
streetscene. Materials and details on homes will be in 
keeping with the character of each architectural style. The 
Project will include common area open space through-
out the community within walking and biking distance 
to residential dwellings. The Project is consistent with this 
policy.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan6.8

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

Policy CC-5.1 Site Design Principles. 
Require new development projects to 
adhere to the basic principles of high-qual-
ity site design as set forth below, elsewhere 
in the General Plan, zoning and develop-
ment standards, and any additional design 
guidelines adopted by the City. Basic prin-
ciples include:

a. Buffers. Encourage buffers between uses 
that are incompatible in design and/or 
operations, including, but not limited 
to, areas in the southwest and southeast 
portions of the City where industrial and 
residential land uses intermix.

b. Edges. Ensure that buildings, trees or 
other architectural features provide edges 
and definition to the street to enhance 
the vitality and improve the feeling of 
safety and security in urbanized areas, 
especially in areas with high pedestrian 
traffic.

c. Building Siting. Encourage new devel-
opments to bring buildings closer to the 
street as appropriate to create a more 
intimate and comfortable pedestrian 
environment.

d. Varied Setbacks. Encourage varying set-
backs, according to the existing charac-
ter or context of the neighborhood, to 
provide visual interest, opportunities for 
transitional landscaping, and varying 
shadow patterns.

e. Green Space. Provide adequate green 
space by ensuring new development 
and redevelopment includes appropriate 
green spaces, such as parkways, commu-
nity squares, parks, rooftop gardens, and 
plazas that complement the architecture 
of the development.

The Specific Plan includes adequate buffering of new 
land uses to surrounding existing land use through proj-
ect boundary landscaping and theme walls. The Specific 
Plan sets forth requirements for a distinctive communi-
ty design through construction of an enhanced prima-
ry Community Entry and landscaped secondary entry, 
streetscapes, walls, and entry monuments creating a sense 
of arrival to the community, architectural diversity in resi-
dential design, landscaped walkways, and on site common 
area open space for neighborhood gatherings, all of which 
combined create a sense of place for residents.

Residences are planned to front onto streets, enabling res-
idents to have their “eyes on the street,” promoting a safe 
hometown feel and encouraging interaction among neigh-
bors. Varied floor plans and architectural styles combine 
to provide visual interest in the streetscape. The Project 
will include common area open space throughout the 
community within walking and biking distance to resi-
dential dwellings.

The Specific Plan includes a master wall and fence plan 
designating approved locations for all walls and fences, a 
uniform design for all walls and fences, and the approved 
materials for each type of wall and fence. All walls and 
fences will be constructed of high quality materials that 
complement the architectural styles established for the 
Project. 

The Project is consistent with this policy.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  6.9

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

Policy CC-5.1 (cont.)

f. Landscaping. Promote high-quality land-
scape design and maintenance to soften 
buildings, parking lots, and hardscape 
with specific emphasis on a “California 
friendly” plant palette.

g. Pedestrian Elements. Promote the use of 
elements such as special paving materi-
als, landscaping, pedestrian-scaled light-
ing and seating along pedestrian paths 
and walkways to encourage pedestrian 
use.

h. Walls and Fencing. Walls and fencing 
should be limited to providing priva-
cy in side and rear yards and providing 
screening of non-residential utility areas 
to preserve the sense of a safe and invit-
ing community. Where they are allowed, 
walls and fencing should be built of high 
quality materials that match and com-
plement the architectural style of build-
ings on the property and provide visual 
relief through the use of a mixture of 
materials, landscaping, walkways and 
greenbelts. Additional landscape areas 
between sound walls, garden walls, and 
fencing and rights-of-way should be pro-
vided to mitigate the height and visual 
barrier of walls per the Zoning Code.

h. Building Articulation. Ensure that the 
exterior on all sides of a building are 
varied and articulated to provide visual 
interest to its surroundings.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan6.10

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

Policy CC-5.2 Building Design 
Principles. Require new development proj-
ects to adhere to the basic principles of 
high-quality building design as set forth 
below, elsewhere in the General Plan, and 
in any additional design guidelines adopted 
by the City. Basic principles include:

a. High-Quality Development. Require 
new buildings to be of high architectur-
al design and construction quality, in-
cluding a high degree of articulation for 
visual interest, and attention to detail in 
both design and construction within the 
context of a building’s location.

b. Sustainable Development. Require 
building owners and developers to in-
tegrate green initiatives into their 
buildings, such as recycled materials, 
California friendly landscaping, energy 
efficient devices and water conservation 
technologies.

c. Architectural Style for Non-Historic 
Areas. Require new developments to 
adhere to the predominant architectur-
al style of buildings in the vicinity, where 
one is apparent, while encouraging vari-
ation in design elements; where there 
is not a strong architectural style, new 
styles may be appropriate.

f. Single-Family Residential Compatibility. 
Require that new single-family hous-
ing in established neighborhoods be 
designed to be compatible in scale 
with other homes in the immediate 
neighborhood.

g. Single-Family Residential Additions. 
Require that additions to existing sin-
gle-family housing be developed in the 
same style.

The Project proposes three distinctive residential architec-
tural styles in three different floor plans. Details and ma-
terials of homes will be true to the architectural style des-
ignated for the home. The plotting plan for each style and 
floor plan will be varied in order to provide visual interest 
in the streetscene. 

The Specific Plan includes green and sustainable develop-
ment requirements for the Project including the use of a 
drought tolerant plant palette in landscaped areas, instal-
lation of energy efficient fixtures and appliances in homes, 
design of homes to allow for passive solar energy utiliz-
ing materials such as cool roofs, dual pane windows, and 
increased insulation to minimize heat transfer and ther-
mal bridging, and orientation and design of roofs to allow 
for homeowner installation of solar energy equipment. 
Homes will be designed to offer opportunities for home 
offices and installation of technology to homes providing 
internet access for shopping and working online. 

The proposed project at a density of 7.1 dwelling units 
per acre is complementary to the existing scale and char-
acter of the surrounding built environment and provides 
a compatible transition between existing neighborhoods 
and the proposed community of Villa Serena. The Project 
is a single family detached residential community consis-
tent with the existing single family residential character 
surrounding the Project Site. Homes will not exceed two 
stories in height and will have a variety of floor plans and 
architectural styles plotted to create a varied streetscene. 
Residences are planned to front onto streets, enabling res-
idents to have their “eyes on the street,” promoting a safe 
hometown feel and encouraging interaction among neigh-
bors. Varied floor plans and architectural styles combine 
to provide visual interest in the streetscape. Garage widths 
are limited to two car spaces to minimize the view of ga-
rages from the street. Building design incorporates the 
stepping back of building facades, front elevation articu-
lation, porches and deep front entries, and detail such as 
decorative shutters and pot shelves to break up building 
mass and create visual interest along the street.

The Project is consistent with this policy.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  6.11

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

Policy CC-5.2 (cont.)

h. Building Articulation. Ensure that the 
exterior on all sides of a building are 
varied and articulated to provide visual 
interest to its surroundings 

i. Variety of Size and Scale. Encourage new 
developments to contain a variety of 
lot and dwelling sizes and scales. Some 
lots may be designed to accommodate 
one-story houses, which generally re-
quire greater lot width to avoid front el-
evations of houses that are dominated by 
garages.

j. Upper Story Setbacks. Encourage multi-
ple-story buildings to step the building 
back from the street edge at upper levels 
to allow sunlight into the street and 
create visual interest.

k. Building Entrances. Encourage build-
ing entrances to be oriented toward a 
public street, serve as primary pedestri-
an entrances to a business, and include 
architectural features that give them 
prominence.

l. Garage Design. Ensure garages for new 
single-family houses, duplexes, and 
townhouses are visually subordinate in 
importance to the house itself, especially 
the entry. This can be achieved by locat-
ing garages toward the back of proper-
ties, limiting the width of the garage to 
two car spaces, building garages as sep-
arate structures from the house, requir-
ing garages to be set back from the front 
facade of the house, and encouraging the 
orientation of garage doors at 90 degrees 
to the street.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan6.12

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

Policy CC-7.1 Safety. Encourage the cre-
ation of safe, walkable environments that 
include elements such as wide, smooth side-
walks, good lighting, safe crosswalks, clear 
signage, curb bulb-outs, curb cuts, street 
furniture, trees and traffic-calming mea-
sures, which allow people of all ages and 
abilities to exercise and safely access public 
transportation, community centers, schools, 
and services.

The proposed project includes the development of a street 
and sidewalk system providing a unifying element for the 
community and pedestrian connectivity within the com-
munity and to existing sidewalks in 15th Street. Sidewalks 
will be new and safely lit with street lights and low level 
pedestrian lighting will be provided within the common 
open space area. From 15th Street pedestrians can con-
tinue on existing sidewalks to Sierra Vista Park located 
approximately .5 miles southwest of the Project Site, to 
Upland Memorial Park located approximately .8 miles 
south of the Project Site and to general retail commercial 
services located at North Campus Avenue and 19th Street 
approximately one mile north of the Project Site. The 
Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy CC-7.2 Connectivity. Require new 
development to incorporate sufficient, at-
tractive and well marked pedestrian and ve-
hicle connections that link to the adjacent 
streets and pedestrian network.

The proposed project includes the development of a 
simple two way street system with two points of vehicular 
access at 15th Street. The Project street system includes a 
network of walkways providing pedestrian connectivity to 
15th Street and the existing sidewalks in 15th Street. The 
Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy CC-7.3 Upland Grid Pattern. 
Reinforce and extend the traditional grid 
pattern in new developments that create 
new roadways. Promote short residential 
block lengths, typically no more than 400 
feet, to create a street pattern that allows for 
multiple routes through a neighborhood 
and greater opportunities for pedestrian 
activity.

The proposed project includes the development of a 
simple two way street system with sidewalks on both sides 
of the street providing opportunities for walking through 
the community and to the central recreational facility 
within the Project Site. Due to the linear configuration of 
the Project Site, the project is not suitable for design of 
residential blocks. The Project is partially consistent with 
this policy.

Policy CC-7.4 Gated Communities. 
Discourage the construction of new gated 
communities or walls surrounding individ-
ual projects (i.e. a single developer or build-
er) for infill development.

The proposed project will be gated due to use of the 
Project's roadway for basin maintenance and to main-
tain security of the basin. A decorative community theme 
wall is planned adjacent to the property due to the Project 
Site's adjacency to 15th Street, a flood control and deten-
tion basin, and an existing golf course. The Project is par-
tially consistent with this policy.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  6.13

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

Policy CC-7.6 Street Trees. Encourage 
street trees to be planted in linear planting 
beds rather than tree wells, in order to sup-
port long-living healthy trees, except within 
Downtown Upland where tree wells are 
more conducive to urban environments.

The landscape plan for the Project includes the planting 
of street trees within parkways and residential front yards. 
The Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy CC-8.1 Streetscape Features. 
Enhance the streetscapes along corridors 
with shade trees, street furniture, pedestrian 
lighting and other features that improve the 
pedestrian realm.

The landscape plan for the Project includes the use of 
shade trees along streets and within the common area 
open space. Off street pedestrian walkways will be lit with 
low level pedestrian lighting and park furniture may be 
placed along the walkway through the common area open 
space. The Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy CC-8.2 Streetscape Consistency. 
Ensure consistent streetscapes in specific 
areas of the City to create a sense of place 
within neighborhoods and districts.

The landscape plan for the Project includes a cohesive and 
unified street scape plan utilizing shade trees, shrubs, and 
groundcover planted at consistent intervals and organized 
by size and type of plant. The streetscape plan for the 
Project is integral to the community design of Villa Serena 
and is designed to instill a sense of place for residents. The 
Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy CC-8.3 Street Tree Canopy. 
Maintain street trees in the public right-of-
way as an essential aesthetic and functional 
(i.e., shade) component of the communi-
ty in accordance with the Conservation and 
Open Space Element.

The Project does not propose the removal of any existing 
street trees within the public right of way. The Project is 
consistent with this policy.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan6.14

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

6.3 Economic Sustainability Element

Policies Specific Plan Consistency

Policy ES-4.4 New Development, Zoning, 
and Policy. Consider fiscal and economic 
sustainability as one of a number of city-
wide goals when evaluating new develop-
ment, zoning or public policy.

The Project will be responsible for the construction of 
all infrastructure necessary to serve the Project, and the 
developer will participate in the payment of applicable 
Development Impact Fees for public services. The Project 
is consistent with this policy.

6.4 Circulation Element

Policies Specific Plan Consistency

Policy CIR-1.7 Driveway Access Points. 
Require that driveway access points onto 
arterial roadways be minimized and located 
to ensure the smooth and safe flow of vehi-
cles and bicycles.

The Project proposes two vehicular access points at 15th 
Street to serve the community. Emergency vehicle access 
from 15th Street will be provided at both entry locations. 
The Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy CIR-2.6 Accessible Transit. Provide 
pedestrian access to all transit facilities and 
maintain pedestrian facilities that are safe, 
attractive, and well lit.

The proposed project includes the development of a street 
and sidewalk system providing pedestrian connectivi-
ty within the new community all of which connect to 
15th Street. The project also includes improvements to 
the roadway and construction of a new sidewalk along 
the north side of 15th Street between Fernando Avenue 
and North 13th Street completing the sidewalk system 
along this portion of 15th Street. These improvements 
will provide continuous accessibility to Alta Avenue and 
Grove Avenue, both of which connect directly to the 
Village Grove Shopping Center on Foothill Boulevard 
where several transit stops are located. These stops are 
part of a regional public transportation network that con-
nects Upland residents and workers to the MetroLink 
and regional amenities and services such as the YMCA 
and Foothill Hospital. The Project is consistent with this 
policy.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  6.15

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

Policy CIR-3.1 Connected Roadway 
Network. Require future development or 
redevelopment to implement local street 
networks which allow travel by all modes 
and ensure connectivity with the larger 
City-wide roadway network.

The proposed project includes the development of a 
simple two way street system with two points of vehicular 
access at 15th Street. The Project street system includes a 
network of walkways providing pedestrian connectivity to 
15th Street and the existing sidewalks in 15th Street. The 
Project street system is designed to accommodate on street 
bicycle travel to connect with 15th Street. The Project is 
consistent with this policy.

Policy CIR-3.2 Complete Streets 
Roadway Standards. Require that pedes-
trian, vehicular, and bicycle circulation on 
both public and private property be coor-
dinated and designed to maximize safety, 
comfort and aesthetics while maintain-
ing consistency with applicable Federal, 
State, and San Bernardino legislation and 
requirements.

The pedestrian, vehicular and bicycle circulation plan pro-
posed for the Project has been designed to comply with 
City standards and will comply with applicable Federal, 
State and San Bernardino legislation and requirements. 
The Project is consistent with this policy.

6.5 Open Space and Conservation Element

Policies Specific Plan Consistency

Policy OSC-1.5 New Development. 
Encourage new development to preserve 
on-site natural elements and incorporate 
low impact development techniques

The site is a developed flood control and detention basin, 
and there are no on-site natural elements suitable for pres-
ervation. The Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy OSC-1.7 Dark Sky Protection. 
Promote shielded, dark-sky friendly light-
ing for Upland’s outdoor lighting needs in 
order to reduce light pollution and glare; 
increase energy efficiency; protect wildlife; 
and promote better health.

The Specific Plan requires the use of “dark sky” lighting 
fixtures in streets and common areas. The Project is con-
sistent with this policy.

Policy OSC-2.1 Street Tree Canopy. 
Maintain the City’s tree-lined streets as an 
integral component of the City’s charac-
ter by replacing parkway and median trees 
in conjunction with public and private 
projects.

The Project does not propose the removal of any existing 
median or parkway trees as part of the development of the 
Project. The Project is consistent with this policy.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan6.16

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

Policy OSC-2.2 Streetscapes. Maintain 
the City’s landscaped parkways and medi-
ans as aesthetic buffers that improve the ap-
pearance of the community.

Refer to Consistency statement for Policy OSC-2.1.

Policy OSC-2.3 California-Friendly 
Species. Encourage new and existing public 
and private development to incorporate 
California-friendly and drought-tolerant 
vegetation into landscape plans to reduce 
water demand.

The Specific Plan includes a plant palette for the Project 
which emphasizes California friendly and drought toler-
ant plant materials in all landscaping within the commu-
nity. The Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy OSC-2.4 Invasive Species. Prohibit 
the use of plant species known to be inva-
sive according to the California Invasive 
Plant Inventory. Introduction or spread of 
invasive plant species during construction 
of development projects shall be avoided 
by minimizing surface disturbance; seed-
ing and mulching disturbed areas with cer-
tified weed-free native mixes; and using 
California-friendly, noninvasive species in 
erosion control plantings.

The Specific Plan includes a plant palette that avoids the 
known invasive plant species. The Project is consistent 
with this policy.

Policy OSC-2.5 Shade Trees. Prioritize the 
planting of large street tree species (greater 
to or equal to 50 feet in height) over smaller 
species to facilitate a larger canopy of trees 
that will serve to reduce the heat island 
effect, lower energy costs, sequester carbon 
dioxide in the atmosphere, reduce stormwa-
ter runoff, and increase water retention and 
water quality.

The landscape plan for the Project includes the use of 
shade trees along streets and within the common area 
open space. The Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy OSC-3.5 Quimby Act. Continue to 
require residential subdivisions to provide 
at least 3 acres of parkland per 1,000 resi-
dents or pay an in-lieu fee or some combi-
nation thereof, pursuant to Section 66477 
of the California Government Code (the 
Quimby Act).

The Project will provide approximately one acre (42,266 
square feet) of common area open space within the com-
munity. The Project will meet the City’s Quimby Act re-
quirements through payment of a fee or combination of 
fee payment and contribution of private open space. The 
Project is consistent with this policy.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  6.17

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

Policy OSC-3.15 California Friendly 
Plant Species. When feasible, utilize 
California friendly noninvasive plants for 
landscaping park and recreational facilities.

The Specific Plan includes a plant palette for the Project 
which emphasizes California friendly and drought tol-
erant plant materials in all landscaping area and the 
common area open space within the community. The 
Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy OSC-3.16 Stormwater 
Management. Integrate low impact de-
velopment techniques that retain natu-
ral features for stormwater management 
to the greatest extent possible for all parks 
facilities.

An existing flood control and detention basin will be 
modified to create the development site as well as retain 
the continued flood control and detention operations of 
the modified basin. The basin will be modified as part of 
the Project. The Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy OSC-3.17 Trees. Maintain or plant 
trees where appropriate to provide shade, 
absorb carbon, reduce the heat island 
effect and reduce cooling loads in shaded 
buildings.

The landscape plan for the Project includes the use of 
shade trees along streets, within the common area open 
space, and will be recommended to residents for use 
within residential yards. The Project is consistent with this 
policy.

Policy OSC-3.18 Development Impact 
Fees. Require new development to dedicate 
land or pay in-lieu fees to maintain park 
standards through the Park Acquisition and 
Development Impact Fee.

The Project will provide approximately one acre (42,266 
square feet) of common area open space within the 
community. The Project will either pay the full Park 
Acquisition and Development Impact Fee or provide a 
combination of fee payment and private open space. The 
Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy OSC-4.1 Land Use Patterns. 
Promote land use patterns that reduce the 
number and length of motor vehicle trips.

The Specific Plan proposes a land use pattern served by a 
new roadway system that provides for pedestrian and bi-
cycle mobility within the Project Site and connectivity to 
existing commercial and recreational facilities within the 
vicinity of the Project Site. The proposed plan connects to 
existing circulation and transportation facilities reducing 
the need for construction of additional arterial and major 
roadway extensions or improvements to serve the Project 
Site. The Project street system includes a network of walk-
ways providing pedestrian connectivity to 15th Street and 
the existing sidewalks in 15th Street. The Project street 
system is designed to accommodate on street bicycle travel 
to connect with 15th Street. The proximity of the Project 
Site within walking and biking distance to existing recre-
ational and commercial facilities can help to reduce auto-
mobile trips to and from the Project Site. The Project is 
consistent with this policy.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan6.18

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

Policy OSC-4.11 New Development. 
Review proposed development projects as 
required by CEQA to ensure projects incor-
porate feasible measures that reduce con-
struction and operational emissions for re-
active organic gases, nitrogen oxides, and 
particulate matter (PM10 and PM2.5) 
through project design.

As part of the Project an Initial Study and Mitigated 
Negative Declaration has been prepared pursuant to the 
requirements of CEQA evaluating all environmental im-
pacts of the proposed Project for consideration by the 
City. The Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy OSC-4.13 Best Management 
Practices. Require best management prac-
tices to reduce air pollution associated with 
construction of development projects.

The Project will incorporate SWPP and Erosion 
Control measures to control dust during construction. 
Construction vehicles will be required to use clean burn-
ing diesel fuel. The Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy OSC-4.14 Construction 
Mitigation. Review construction plans as-
sociated with development projects to de-
termine if all feasible mitigation measures 
are included.

Construction plans for the Project will incorporate 
all mitigation measures recommended as part of the 
Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program prepared 
for the Project and adopted by the City. The Project is 
consistent with this policy.

Policy OSC-4.15 Green Building 
Practices. Promote green building practic-
es that support healthy indoor living and 
working environments that are well-venti-
lated and contaminant-free.

The Project will incorporate all green building practices 
required by the California Green Building Code appli-
cable to the Project. The Project is consistent with this 
policy.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  6.19

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

Policy OSC-5.2 Greenhouse Gas 
Reduction in New Development. Reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions from new devel-
opment by promoting water conservation 
and recycling; promoting development that 
is compact, mixed use, pedestrian friendly, 
and transit oriented; promoting energy-ef-
ficient building design and site planning; 
improving the jobs/housing ratio; and other 
methods of reducing emissions.

The project will implement a variety of measures that will 
reduce its GHG emissions. To the extent feasible, and to 
the satisfaction of the City, the following measures will 
be incorporated into the design and construction of the 
project: 

Construction and Building Materials.

a. Use of locally produced and/or manufactured build-
ing materials for at least 10 percent of the construction 
materials used for the project.

b. Recycle/reuse of at least 50 percent of the demolished 
and/or grubbed construction materials (including, 
but not limited to, soil, vegetation, concrete, lumber, 
metal, and cardboard) if feasible.

c. Use of “Green Building Materials,” such as those ma-
terials that are resource-efficient and are recycled and 
manufactured in an environmentally friendly way, for 
at least 10 percent of the project.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan6.20

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

Policy OSC-5.2 Greenhouse Gas 
Reduction in New Development (cont.)

Energy Efficiency Measures.

a. Design of all project buildings to meet or exceed the 
California Building Code’s (CBC) Title 24 energy stan-
dard, including, but not limited to, any combination 
of the following:

b. Increased insulation such that heat transfer and ther-
mal bridging is minimized;

c. Limiting air leakage through the structure or within 
the heating and cooling distribution system to mini-
mize energy consumption; and

d. Incorporating ENERGY STAR or better rated win-
dows, space heating and cooling equipment, light 
fixtures, appliances, or other applicable electrical 
equipment. 

e. Install efficient lighting and lighting control systems. 
Use daylight as an integral part of the lighting systems 
in buildings.

f. Installation of “cool” roofs and cool pavements.

g. Installation of energy-efficient heating and cooling sys-
tems, appliances and equipment, and control systems. 
Install solar lights or light-emitting diodes (LEDs) for 
outdoor lighting or outdoor lighting that meets the 
City Code.

The Project is consistent with this policy. 

Policy OSC-5.4 CEQA Review. Evaluate 
greenhouse gas emission impacts from pro-
posed development projects as required by 
the California Environmental Quality Act.

As part of the Project an Initial Study/Mitigated Negative 
Declaration has been prepared pursuant to the require-
ments of CEQA evaluating all environmental impacts of 
the proposed Project for consideration by the City. The 
Project is consistent with this policy.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  6.21

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

Policy OSC-5.5 Emissions Reductions. 
Require development projects that exceed 
AQMD ROG and NOX operational 
thresholds to incorporate design or opera-
tional features that reduce emissions equal 
to 15 percent from the level that would be 
produced by an unmitigated project.

As part of the Project an Initial Study and Mitigated 
Negative Declaration has been prepared pursuant to the 
requirements of CEQA evaluating all environmental im-
pacts of the proposed Project, including an air quality 
analysis, for consideration by the City. In the event the 
Projects exceeds AQMD ROG and NOX operational 
thresholds, the Mitigated Negative Declaration will iden-
tify any design measures that could be incorporated into 
the Project to reduce emissions The Project is consistent 
with this policy.

Policy OSC-5.11 Minimum Green 
Building Standards. Require new develop-
ment to comply with the California Green 
Building Code (CalGreen) adopted by the 
California Building Standards Commission 
at the time of building permit application.

The proposed Project will incorporate all green building 
practices required by the California Green Building Code 
that are applicable to the Project and will incorporate 
energy efficient design measures as described in the consis-
tency statement for Policy OSC-5.2. The Project is consis-
tent with this policy.

Policy OSC-6.2 New Development. 
Encourage solar-oriented design and passive 
solar heating and cooling in all new residen-
tial, commercial and civic development.

The proposed project will be constructed with passive 
solar energy design and energy efficient materials as de-
scribed in the consistency statement for Policy OSC-5.2. 
The Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy OSC-6.4 Deciduous Trees. Require 
that deciduous trees be planted on the 
south and west facing sides of new build-
ings onsite to reduce energy use in the 
summer and winter months.

The plant palette for the Project includes the use of decid-
uous trees. The precise landscape and irrigation plan sub-
mitted for City approval will assign locations for decidu-
ous trees appropriately. The Project is consistent with this 
policy.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan6.22

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

6.6 Public Services and Facilities Element

Policies Specific Plan Consistency

Policy PFS-1.2 Growth and Level of 
Service. Require new development to pro-
vide adequate facilities or pay its fair share 
of the cost for facilities needed to provide 
services to accommodate growth without 
adversely impacting current service levels.

The Specific Plan requires that adequate infrastructure be 
constructed to serve the Project and that the Project de-
veloper pay applicable adopted Development Impact Fees 
as part of Project implementation. The Project is consis-
tent with this policy.

Policy PFS-1.8 Underground Utilities. 
Encourage undergrounding of all exist-
ing and new publicly owned utility lines, 
encourage undergrounding of all private-
ly owned utility lines in new developments, 
and work with electricity and telecommuni-
cations providers to underground or mini-
mize the visual impacts of existing overhead 
lines.

All new and existing public utility distribution lines of 
34.5 kV or less shall be subsurface throughout the Project. 
The Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy PFS-2.9 Development Review 
Process. Identify and mitigate fire hazards 
through the development review process.

Project construction plans will incorporate all Fire 
Department requirements identified as part of 
Development Plan Review of the Project. The Project is 
consistent with this policy.

Policy PFS-2.10 Fire Prevention. Require 
new development to incorporate adequate 
emergency water flow, fire resistant design 
and materials, early warning systems and 
evacuation routes.

The proposed land use plan for the Project includes desig-
nated emergency vehicle access points to the Project Site. 
The water master plan for the Project identifies adequate 
water facilities for fire protection purposes. Building con-
struction will incorporate fire resistant design and materi-
als consistent with the California Building Code and Fire 
Code requirements. The Project is consistent with this 
policy.

Policy PFS-2.11 Emergency Vehicle 
Access. Require new development to be ac-
cessible to emergency vehicles and to not 
impede the ability of service providers to 
provide adequate emergency response.

The proposed land use plan for the Project includes desig-
nated emergency vehicle access points to the Project Site. 
The Project is consistent with this policy.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  6.23

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

Policy PFS-2.12 Public and Private 
Roadways. Ensure that new public and 
private roadways are adequate in terms of 
width, radius and grade to accommodate 
fire-fighting apparatus, while maintaining 
Upland’s neighborhoods and small-town 
character.

Roadways within the Project will conform to Fire 
Department requirements for access and fire fighting pur-
poses. The Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy PFS-9.1 Best Management 
Practices. Require new development proj-
ects to adopt best management practices for 
water use efficiency and demonstrate specif-
ic water conservation measures.

The Specific Plan includes requirements that builder-in-
stalled indoor appliances, including dishwashers, showers 
and toilets, shall be low-water use in compliance with the 
adopted California Building Code; drought-tolerant and/
or native landscaping materials shall be used in all public 
and common areas to reduce water consumption; Smart 
Controller irrigation systems shall be installed in all public 
and common area landscaping; and landscape areas shall 
be designed on a “hydro zone” basis to group plants ac-
cording to their water and sun requirements. The Project 
is consistent with this policy.

Policy PFS-9.4 Purple Pipe System. 
Review new development projects to de-
termine which are appropriate for recycled 
water piping systems (“purple pipe”) and 
require these projects to incorporate dual 
potable and recycled water facilities into 
their design.

The City has not required that the Project incorporate 
dual potable and recycled water facilities into Project 
design. The Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy PFS-10.2 Connection to 
Wastewater System. Require all new de-
velopment located within the City limits to 
connect to the public wastewater collection 
system.

As part of the Project new sewer mains will be constructed 
to serve the Project designed to connect to existing public 
sewer mains located in 15th Street. The Project is consis-
tent with this policy.

Policy PFS-10.5 New Facilities. Construct 
new wastewater conveyance facilities as 
needed.

Refer to consistency statement for Policy PFS-10.2 The 
Project is consistent with this policy.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan6.24

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

Policy PFS-10.6 New Development. 
Grant conditional approval of new devel-
opment on the availability of sufficient ca-
pacity in the wastewater collection and 
treatment system to serve the project. Hold 
individual development projects responsible 
for their fair share of upgrades.

Refer to consistency statement for Policy PFS-10.2. No 
upgrades to existing public wastewater facilities are re-
quired to accommodate the Project. The Project is consis-
tent with this policy.

Policy PFS-11.2 New Development. 
Require new development to protect the 
quality of water bodies and natural drain-
age systems through site design, source con-
trols, stormwater treatment, runoff reduc-
tion measures, best management practices 
(BMPs), Low Impact Development (LID), 
and hydromodification strategies consistent 
with the City’s NPDES Permit.

As part of the Project, LID BMPs will be implemented 
throughout the site to maintain water quality standards. 
The BMPs will consist of retention and infiltration on-
site. There are no natural drainage systems existing on the 
Project Site that will remain as part of development of the 
Project Site. The Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy PFS-11.3 No Net Increase. Require 
all new development to contribute no net 
increase in stormwater runoff peak flows 
over existing conditions associated with a 
100-year storm event.

The Project will not contribute a net increase in storm-
water runoff peak flows over existing conditions associat-
ed with a 100 year storm event. The Project is consistent 
with this policy.

Policy PFS-11.4 Post-Development 
Runoff. Require controlling the volume, 
frequency, duration, and peak flow rates 
and velocities of runoff from development 
projects to prevent or reduce downstream 
erosion and protect stream habitat.

Runoff from the proposed project can be accommodated 
within existing public storm water collection facilities and 
proposed facilities to be constructed as part of the basin 
modifications to be completed as part of the Project. The 
Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy PFS-13.2 Watershed Drainage 
Plans. Require developers to prepare wa-
tershed drainage plans for proposed de-
velopments that define needed drainage 
improvements per City standards, esti-
mate construction costs for these improve-
ments, and comply with the City’s National 
Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
(NPDES).

A drainage study will be prepared for the Project to de-
termine peak flows. Pursuant to the recommendations 
of the study, appropriate drainage improvements will be 
designed and implemented for the Project according to 
City Standards, and in compliance with the NPDES. The 
Project is consistent with this policy.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan  6.25

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

6.7 Healthy Community Element

Policies Specific Plan Consistency

Policy HC-1.2 Complete Neighborhoods. 
Encourage new development to create com-
plete neighborhoods and districts where res-
idents can live within an easy and safe walk-
ing distance to daily services, recreational 
opportunities, and other community ame-
nities that are part of a healthy lifestyle (cf: 
CC-4).

The Project street system includes a network of walkways 
providing pedestrian connectivity to 15th Street and the 
existing sidewalks in 15th Street. Pedestrians can contin-
ue on existing streets and sidewalks to Sierra Vista Park lo-
cated approximately .5 miles southwest of the Project Site, 
to Upland Memorial Park located approximately .8 miles 
south of the Project Site and to general retail commercial 
services located at North Campus Avenue and 19th Street 
approximately one mile north of the Project Site. The 
Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy HC-1.3 Complete Streets. Enhance 
and improve the safety, convenience, and 
accessibility of roadways with trees, side-
walks, bicycle lanes, and other amenities to 
encourage pedestrian, bike, and transit ac-
tivity for residents of all ages and abilities.
(cf: CIR-3)

The proposed street system for the Project is designed to 
create a distinctive sense of place for residents as a “walk-
able” community with pedestrian friendly streets creating 
an atmosphere where neighbors can visit with one anoth-
er while walking along shaded sidewalks throughout the 
community. A simple two way street system is proposed 
to include a street adjacent sidewalk on both sides of the 
street. A separate walkway will be provided within the 
common area open space extending in an east/west direc-
tion through the Project. The Project is consistent with 
this policy.

Policy HC-2.2 Recreational Facilities. 
Support the availability and accessibility of 
age appropriate recreational facilities, both 
private or publicly owned, to meet the di-
verse recreational needs of Upland resi-
dents. (cf: OSC-2)

The proposed project includes the provision of approxi-
mately one acre (42,266 square feet) of private common 
area open space provided throughout the Project Site. 
Improvements within the common area open space in-
clude a pool, pool house with restrooms, barbeque and 
picnic facilities, and children’s play area. The Project is 
consistent with this policy.

6.8 Safety Element

Policies Specific Plan Consistency

Policy SAF-1.1 Exterior Noise Standards. 
Require noise mitigation for all develop-
ment where the projected exterior noise 
levels exceed those shown in Table SAF-1, 
to the extent feasible. (60 dBA)

As part of the Project an acoustical study will be prepared 
to identify exterior and interior noise levels affecting resi-
dences in the Project and construction design and materi-
als required for the Project to mitigate exterior noise levels 
to 60 dBA for the Project. The Project is consistent with 
this policy.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Villa Serena Specific Plan6.26

SECTION 6. GENERAL PLAN CONSISTENCY

Policy SAF-1.3 Interior Noise Standards. 
Require new development to include noise 
mitigation to assure acceptable interi-
or noise levels appropriate to the land use 
type: 45 dBA Ldn for residential, transient 
lodgings, hospitals, nursing homes, and 
other uses where people normally sleep; and 
45 dBA Ldn (peak hour) for office build-
ings and similar uses.

As part of the Project an acoustical study will be prepared 
to identify exterior and interior noise levels affecting resi-
dences in the Project and construction design and materi-
als required for the Project to mitigate interior noise levels 
to 45 dBA Ldn for the Project. The Project is consistent 
with this policy.

Policy SAF-1.6 Acoustical Study. Require 
an acoustical study for all new residential 
developments that lie within the 65 Ldn 
noise contour on the Future Noise Contour 
Map, to ensure indoor levels will not exceed 
City standards. In addition, the City shall 
continue to enforce the California Building 
Code for indoor noise levels.

As part of the Project an acoustical study will be prepared 
to identify whether the Project falls within the 65 Ldn 
noise contour on the Future Noise Contour Map and to 
ensure that indoor levels will not exceed City standards. 
The Project is consistent with this policy.

Policy SAF-2.7 New Development. 
Require evaluation of potential flood haz-
ards prior to approval of development 
projects.

An evaluation of potential flood hazards to the Project 
is part of the Initial Study and Mitigated Negative 
Declaration prepared for the Project. The Project is con-
sistent with this policy.

Policy SAF-4.3 Development. Continue 
to require all development, new and exist-
ing, to provide necessary service, fire hy-
drants and road improvements consistent 
with the California Fire Code.

Development of the Project will include construction of 
any and all facilities identified by the Fire Department to 
comply with the California Fire Code. The Project is con-
sistent with this policy.

Policy SAF-4.4 Development Review. 
Include the Fire Department in the review 
of development proposals to ensure projects 
adequately address safe design and on-site 
fire protection and comply with applicable 
fire and building codes.

As part of the City’s review of the proposed Project, the 
Fire Department will be consulted for input on the pro-
posed Project plans. The Project is consistent with this 
policy.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

 

Exhibit D – Tentative Tract Map 

 
EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

 

Exhibit E – Site Plans  

 
EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



P-2 P-1 P-3 P-2 P-1 P-3 P-2

P-2

P-3
P-2 P-1

P-3

P-2 P-1

P-3

P-2 P-1 P-3 P-2 P-1 P-3

P-1P-2 P-3 P-2 P-1 P-3 P-2 P-1

P-3

P-3 P-2 P-1 P-3 P-2 P-1 P-3 P-2 P-1

P-
2

P-
1

P-
3

P-2

P-1 P-3 P-2 P-1 P-3 P-2 P-1 P-3 P-2 P-1

P-1

P-3 P-2 P-1 P-3 P-2 P-1

P-2

P-
3

P
-3

P
-3

P-1

N o r t h

Original Scale :
1"= 60'

Site Summary:

Minimum Lot Size : 47' x 71' = 3,337 sq.ft.
Total Homes : 65

 
Site Area : ± 9.15 Acres
Density : ± 7.1 Homes/Acre

Parking Required :
 2 Garage Spaces/Home = 130 Spaces

Parking Provided :

  2 Garage Spaces/Home = 130 Spaces
  2 Driveway Spaces/Home = 130 Spaces
  Uncovered Spaces =   46 Spaces
  Total Spaces = 306 (4.7:1)

E  1 5 t h  S t r e e t

Upland, California

1 1 . 0 5 . 1 9Copyright 2019  Bassenian | Lagoni Architects

Note:
This yield study is for the purpose of estimating the maximum density of a residential
 product type on a site of a given configuration. If specific entitlement requirements differ

 from the criteria shown on the plan (such as setbacks, minimum lot sizes, street standards,
 retention requirements, etc.) then the actual possible density may vary substantially.

2031 Orchard Drive, Suite 100

tel. +1 949 553 9100
fax +1 949 553 0548

Newport Beach, CA USA  92660

0 60 12030

SCALE: 1" = 60'-0"

INFORMATIONAL SITE PLAN

E 15TH STREET

881.18184

N
 1

3
th

 A
v
e
n

u
e

C
a

r
l
o

s
 
W

a
y

D
i
e

g
o

 
W

a
y

A
lt

a
 
A

v
e

n
u

e

M
o

n
te

 V
e
r
d

e
 A

v
e
n

u
e

F
e

r
n

a
n

d
o

 
A

v
e

n
u

e

H
i
m

a
l
a

y
a

s
 
D

r
i
v

e

Easement for
Box Culvert & SD

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18

19

20

21

22

23

24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33

34

36373839404142
43

444546474849505152535455565758596061626364

65

Gated Entry

Proposed Hammerhead
Turnaround

35

Residential Only,
Emergency & Trash

Service Access

Community Mailboxes

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019

AutoCAD SHX Text
1420

AutoCAD SHX Text
1421

AutoCAD SHX Text
1422

AutoCAD SHX Text
1423

AutoCAD SHX Text
1424

AutoCAD SHX Text
1425

AutoCAD SHX Text
1426

AutoCAD SHX Text
1427

AutoCAD SHX Text
1427

AutoCAD SHX Text
1426

AutoCAD SHX Text
1425

AutoCAD SHX Text
1424

AutoCAD SHX Text
1424

AutoCAD SHX Text
1423

AutoCAD SHX Text
1422

AutoCAD SHX Text
1421

AutoCAD SHX Text
1420

AutoCAD SHX Text
1424

AutoCAD SHX Text
1425

AutoCAD SHX Text
1426

AutoCAD SHX Text
1427

AutoCAD SHX Text
1428

AutoCAD SHX Text
1425

AutoCAD SHX Text
1424

AutoCAD SHX Text
1426

AutoCAD SHX Text
1428

AutoCAD SHX Text
1427

AutoCAD SHX Text
1425

AutoCAD SHX Text
1420

AutoCAD SHX Text
1421

AutoCAD SHX Text
1422

AutoCAD SHX Text
1423

AutoCAD SHX Text
1424

AutoCAD SHX Text
1425

AutoCAD SHX Text
1426

AutoCAD SHX Text
1427

AutoCAD SHX Text
1427

AutoCAD SHX Text
1426

AutoCAD SHX Text
1425

AutoCAD SHX Text
1424

AutoCAD SHX Text
1424

AutoCAD SHX Text
1423

AutoCAD SHX Text
1422

AutoCAD SHX Text
1421

AutoCAD SHX Text
1420

AutoCAD SHX Text
1424

AutoCAD SHX Text
1425

AutoCAD SHX Text
1426

AutoCAD SHX Text
1427

AutoCAD SHX Text
1428

AutoCAD SHX Text
1425

AutoCAD SHX Text
1424

AutoCAD SHX Text
1426

AutoCAD SHX Text
1428

AutoCAD SHX Text
1427

AutoCAD SHX Text
1425



 

 

Exhibit F – Architectural Plans  

 
EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



P-2 P-1 P-3 P-2 P-1 P-3 P-2

P-2

P-3
P-2 P-1

P-3

P-2 P-1

P-3

P-2 P-1 P-3 P-2 P-1 P-3

P-1P-2 P-3 P-2 P-1 P-3 P-2 P-1

P-3

P-3 P-2 P-1 P-3 P-2 P-1 P-3 P-2 P-1

P-
2

P-
1

P-
3

P-2

P-1 P-3 P-2 P-1 P-3 P-2 P-1 P-3 P-2 P-1

P-1

P-3 P-2 P-1 P-3 P-2 P-1

P-2

P-
3

P
-3

P
-3

P-1

N o r t h

Original Scale :
1"= 60'

Site Summary:

Minimum Lot Size : 47' x 71' = 3,337 sq.ft.
Total Homes : 65

 
Site Area : ± 9.15 Acres
Density : ± 7.1 Homes/Acre

Parking Required :
 2 Garage Spaces/Home = 130 Spaces

Parking Provided :

  2 Garage Spaces/Home = 130 Spaces
  2 Driveway Spaces/Home = 130 Spaces
  Uncovered Spaces =   50 Spaces
  Total Spaces = 310 (4.8:1)

E  1 5 t h  S t r e e t

Upland, California

1 0 . 1 0 . 1 9Copyright 2019  Bassenian | Lagoni Architects

Note:
This yield study is for the purpose of estimating the maximum density of a residential
 product type on a site of a given configuration. If specific entitlement requirements differ

 from the criteria shown on the plan (such as setbacks, minimum lot sizes, street standards,
 retention requirements, etc.) then the actual possible density may vary substantially.

2031 Orchard Drive, Suite 100

tel. +1 949 553 9100
fax +1 949 553 0548

Newport Beach, CA USA  92660

0 60 12030

SCALE: 1" = 60'-0"

INFORMATIONAL SITE PLAN

E 15TH STREET

881.18184

N
 1

3
th

 A
v
e
n

u
e

C
a

r
l
o

s
 
W

a
y

D
i
e

g
o

 
W

a
y

A
lt

a
 
A

v
e

n
u

e

M
o

n
te

 V
e
r
d

e
 A

v
e
n

u
e

F
e

r
n

a
n

d
o

 
A

v
e

n
u

e

H
i
m

a
l
a

y
a

s
 
D

r
i
v

e

Easement for
Box Culvert & SD

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18

19

20

21

22

23

24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33

34

36373839404142
43

444546474849505152535455565758596061626364

65

Gated Entry

Proposed Hammerhead
Turnaround

35

Residential Only,
Emergency & Trash

Service Access

Community Mailboxes

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019

AutoCAD SHX Text
1420

AutoCAD SHX Text
1421

AutoCAD SHX Text
1422

AutoCAD SHX Text
1423

AutoCAD SHX Text
1424

AutoCAD SHX Text
1425

AutoCAD SHX Text
1426

AutoCAD SHX Text
1427

AutoCAD SHX Text
1427

AutoCAD SHX Text
1426

AutoCAD SHX Text
1425

AutoCAD SHX Text
1424

AutoCAD SHX Text
1424

AutoCAD SHX Text
1424

AutoCAD SHX Text
1423

AutoCAD SHX Text
1422

AutoCAD SHX Text
1421

AutoCAD SHX Text
1420

AutoCAD SHX Text
1424

AutoCAD SHX Text
1425

AutoCAD SHX Text
1426

AutoCAD SHX Text
1427

AutoCAD SHX Text
1428

AutoCAD SHX Text
1425

AutoCAD SHX Text
1424

AutoCAD SHX Text
1426

AutoCAD SHX Text
1428

AutoCAD SHX Text
1427

AutoCAD SHX Text
1425

AutoCAD SHX Text
1420

AutoCAD SHX Text
1421

AutoCAD SHX Text
1422

AutoCAD SHX Text
1423

AutoCAD SHX Text
1424

AutoCAD SHX Text
1425

AutoCAD SHX Text
1426

AutoCAD SHX Text
1427

AutoCAD SHX Text
1427

AutoCAD SHX Text
1426

AutoCAD SHX Text
1425

AutoCAD SHX Text
1424

AutoCAD SHX Text
1424

AutoCAD SHX Text
1424

AutoCAD SHX Text
1423

AutoCAD SHX Text
1422

AutoCAD SHX Text
1421

AutoCAD SHX Text
1420

AutoCAD SHX Text
1424

AutoCAD SHX Text
1425

AutoCAD SHX Text
1426

AutoCAD SHX Text
1427

AutoCAD SHX Text
1428

AutoCAD SHX Text
1425

AutoCAD SHX Text
1424

AutoCAD SHX Text
1426

AutoCAD SHX Text
1428

AutoCAD SHX Text
1427

AutoCAD SHX Text
1425



LOT PLAN LOT PLAN LOT PLAN LOT PLAN 
1 2 21 1 41 2 61 1 

2 1 22 3 42 3 62 2 

3 3 23 2 43 1 63 3 

4 2 24 1 44 2 64 1 

5 1 25 3 45 3 65 2 

6 3 26 2 46 1     

7 2 27 1 47 2     

8 1 28 3 48 3 Plan 1 = 21 lots 

9 3 29 2 49 1 Plan 2 =  22 lots 

10 2 30 1 50 2 Plan 3 =  22 lots  

11 1 31 3 51 3     

12 3 32 2 52 1     

13 2 33 1 53 2     

14 1 34 3 54 3     

15 3 35 3 55 1     

16 2 36 3 56 2     

17 1 37 1 57 3     

18 2 38 2 58 1     

19 3 39 3 59 2     

20 2 40 1 60 3     
 

 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



4 7 . 0 0 '  M I N

7 
1 

. 0
 0

 ' 
 M

 I 
N

5'-0" 37'-0"

10
'-0

"
46

'-0
"

15
'-0

"

F I R S T  F L O O R 

UP
17 R

GARAGE
20 2 20 4X

BEDROOM 3
10 0 11 2X

BA. 3

ENTRY

GREAT
ROOM

16 0 17 0X

KITCHEN

REF. D.O. PANTRY

DINING
11 0 13 6X

PORCH

19
'-0

"

5'-0"

S E C O N D  F L O O R 

D
N

17
 R

LOFT / OPT.
BEDROOM 4

15 8 11 0X

LAU.

W.

D.

BEDROOM 2
11 0 10 4X

BA. 2

MASTER
BATH

MASTER
BEDROOM

14 0 14 0X

WALK-IN
CLOSET

26 L.F.

OPEN
TO

BELOW

STORAGE

NOTE: SQUARE FOOTAGE MAY VARY DUE TO METHOD OF CALCULATION

PORCH 63 SQ. FT.
2 - CAR GARAGE 430 SQ. FT.
TOTAL LIVING 2,159 S.F.
2ND FLOOR 1,134 SQ. FT.
1ST FLOOR 1,025 SQ. FT.

FLOOR AREA TABLE

2 - CAR GARAGE

3 BEDROOMS / 3 BATHS + LOFT / OPT.
BEDROOM 4

PLAN 1

BEDROOM 4
13 5 11 0X

W.

D.

OPT. BEDROOM 4
AT LOFT

U p l a n d   ,   C a l i f o r n i a

1 5 T H   S T R E E T 0 8 . 2 3 . 1 9

J:\GROUP18\88118231\8231FLR1A.DWG

Copyright 2019  Bassenian | Lagoni Architects

2031 Orchard Drive, Suite 100

tel. +1 949 553 9100
fax +1 949 553 0548 8 8 1 . 1 8 2 3 1

Newport Beach, CA USA  92660

0 2 4 8

F l o o r   P l a n s
P L A N  1

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



LEFT - ENHANCED SPANISH RIGHT - ENHANCED SPANISH

LEFT - ENHANCED ITALIANATE RIGHT - ENHANCED ITALIANATE

LEFT - ENHANCED FRENCH COUNTRY RIGHT - ENHANCED FRENCH COUNTRY

U p l a n d   ,   C a l i f o r n i a

1 5 T H   S T R E E T 0 8 . 2 3 . 1 9

J:\GROUP18\88118231\8231ELV1.DWG

Copyright 2019  Bassenian | Lagoni Architects

2031 Orchard Drive, Suite 100

tel. +1 949 553 9100
fax +1 949 553 0548 8 8 1 . 1 8 2 3 1

Newport Beach, CA USA  92660

0 2 4 8

O p t i o n a l   E n h a n c e d   E l e v a t i o n s
P L A N  1

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



4 7 . 0 0 '  M I N

7 
1 

. 0
 0

 ' 
 M

 I 
N

5'-0" 37'-0"

46
'-0

"
15

'-0
"

F I R S T  F L O O R 

UP
17 R

GARAGE
20 2 20 4X

PORCH

BEDROOM 4
10 8 11 0X

BA. 3

ENTRY

KITCHEN

D.W.

REF. D.O.

DINING
11 0 8 0X

GREAT
ROOM

26 0 15 6X

LI
N

EN

PA
N

T
R

Y

5'-0"

19
'-0

"

S E C O N D  F L O O R 

DN
17 R

LOFT / OPT.
BEDROOM 5

16 0 10 2X

BEDROOM 2
10 0 11 0X

BEDROOM 3
9 7 12 2X

BA. 2
LAU.

WALK-IN
CLOSET

32 L.F.

MASTER
BEDROOM

16 0 15 6X
SE

A
T

MASTER
BATH

W.

D.

NOTE: SQUARE FOOTAGE MAY VARY DUE TO METHOD OF CALCULATION

PORCH 48 SQ. FT.
2 - CAR GARAGE 429 SQ. FT.
TOTAL LIVING 2,374 S.F.
2ND FLOOR 1,330 SQ. FT.
1ST FLOOR 1,044 SQ. FT.

FLOOR AREA TABLE

2 - CAR GARAGE

4 BEDROOMS / 3 BATHS + LOFT / OPT.
BEDROOM 5

PLAN 2

BEDROOM 5
13 9 10 4X

OPT. BEDROOM 5
AT LOFT

U p l a n d   ,   C a l i f o r n i a

1 5 T H   S T R E E T 0 8 . 2 3 . 1 9

J:\GROUP18\88118231\8231FLR2A.DWG

Copyright 2019  Bassenian | Lagoni Architects

2031 Orchard Drive, Suite 100

tel. +1 949 553 9100
fax +1 949 553 0548 8 8 1 . 1 8 2 3 1

Newport Beach, CA USA  92660

0 2 4 8

P L A N  2
F l o o r   P l a n s 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



LEFT - ENHANCED SPANISH RIGHT - ENHANCED SPANISH

LEFT - ENHANCED ITALIANATE RIGHT - ENHANCED ITALIANATE

LEFT - ENHANCED FRENCH COUNTRY RIGHT - ENHANCED FRENCH COUNTRY

U p l a n d   ,   C a l i f o r n i a

1 5 T H   S T R E E T 0 8 . 2 3 . 1 9

J:\GROUP18\88118231\8231ELV2.DWG

Copyright 2019  Bassenian | Lagoni Architects

2031 Orchard Drive, Suite 100

tel. +1 949 553 9100
fax +1 949 553 0548 8 8 1 . 1 8 2 3 1

Newport Beach, CA USA  92660

0 2 4 8

O p t i o n a l   E n h a n c e d   E l e v a t i o n s
P L A N  2

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



4 7 . 0 0 '  M I N

7 
1 

. 0
 0

 ' 
 M

 I 
N

5'-0" 37'-0"

10
'-0

"
46

'-0
"

15
'-0

"

F I R S T  F L O O R 

U
P

17
 R

BA. 3

BEDROOM 4
11 0 10 6X

ENTRY

PORCH

GARAGE
20 0 20 4X

KITCHEN

D.W.

D.O. REF.

GREAT
ROOM

26 7 15 6X

PA
N

T
R

Y

5'-0"

19
'-0

"

S E C O N D  F L O O R 

D
N

17
 R

LOFT / OPT.
BEDROOM 5

15 8 16 6X

LAU.

W.

D.

BEDROOM 3
10 6 11 0X

BEDROOM 2
10 6 10 0X

BA. 2

WALK-IN
CLOSET

27 L.F.

MASTER
BEDROOM

16 0 18 6X

MASTER
BATH

SEAT

LINEN

LINEN

NOTE: SQUARE FOOTAGE MAY VARY DUE TO METHOD OF CALCULATION

PORCH 49 SQ. FT.
2 - CAR GARAGE 426 SQ. FT.
TOTAL LIVING 2,591 S.F.
2ND FLOOR 1,548 SQ. FT.
1ST FLOOR 1,043 SQ. FT.

FLOOR AREA TABLE

2 - CAR GARAGE

4 BEDROOMS / 3 BATHS + LOFT / OPT.
BEDROOM 5 / BATH 4

PLAN 3

OPT. BEDROOM 5 / BATH 4
AT LOFT

BEDROOM 5
15 8 11 4X

LAU.

W.

D.

LINEN

BA. 4

U p l a n d   ,   C a l i f o r n i a

1 5 T H   S T R E E T 0 8 . 2 3 . 1 9

J:\GROUP18\88118231\8231FLR3A.DWG

Copyright 2019  Bassenian | Lagoni Architects

2031 Orchard Drive, Suite 100

tel. +1 949 553 9100
fax +1 949 553 0548 8 8 1 . 1 8 2 3 1

Newport Beach, CA USA  92660

0 2 4 8

P L A N  3
F l o o r   P l a n s 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



LEFT - ENHANCED SPANISH RIGHT - ENHANCED SPANISH

LEFT - ENHANCED ITALIANATE RIGHT - ENHANCED ITALIANATE

LEFT - ENHANCED FRENCH COUNTRY RIGHT - ENHANCED FRENCH COUNTRY

U p l a n d   ,   C a l i f o r n i a

1 5 T H   S T R E E T 0 8 . 2 3 . 1 9

J:\GROUP18\88118231\8231ELV3.DWG

Copyright 2019  Bassenian | Lagoni Architects

2031 Orchard Drive, Suite 100

tel. +1 949 553 9100
fax +1 949 553 0548 8 8 1 . 1 8 2 3 1

Newport Beach, CA USA  92660

0 2 4 8

O p t i o n a l   E n h a n c e d   E l e v a t i o n s
P L A N  3 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



ROOF  PLAN
1/4"=1'-0"PITCH: 4.5:12

RAKE:  6"
EAVE:  12"
ROOF MATERIAL: CONCRETE 'S' TILE

BUILDING WALL LINE

ROOF LINE

NOTE: SQUARE FOOTAGE MAY VARY DUE TO METHOD OF CALCULATION

POOL EQUIPMENT 224 SQ. FT.
TOTAL 516 SQ. FT.
ALCOVE 50 SQ. FT.
SHOWERS 46 SQ. FT.
MECH. / WH CLOSET 31 SQ. FT.
RESTROOM 389 SQ. FT.

FLOOR AREA TABLE

516 SQ. FT.
POOL BUILDING

19'-6"

22
'-6

"

K-4301HIGHCRESTC_TOILETSVITREOUS CHINA

K-4972-R
STANWELL

C_URINALS
VITREOUS CHINA

K-4301HIGHCRESTC_TOILETSVITREOUS CHINA

K-4301HIGHCRESTC_TOILETSVITREOUS CHINA

WOMEN'S MEN'S

POOL
EQUIPMENT

UTILITIES /
MECH.

11
'-6

"

2'
-2

"

SHOWER

SHOWER

DRINKING
FOUNTAIN

ALCOVE

FLOOR  PLAN

U p l a n d   ,   C a l i f o r n i a

1 5 T H   S T R E E T 0 8 . 2 3 . 1 9

J:\GROUP18\88118231\8231-POOL BLDG-FLRXA.DWG

Copyright 2019  Bassenian | Lagoni Architects

2031 Orchard Drive, Suite 100

tel. +1 949 553 9100
fax +1 949 553 0548 8 8 1 . 1 8 2 3 1

Newport Beach, CA USA  92660

0 2 4 8

F L O O R   P L A N   &   R O O F   P L A N

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

 

Exhibit G – Open Space Plan  

 
EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



PRIMARY ENTRY

EXERCISE STATIONS

CHILDREN PLAY AREA

BENCHES

BASIN ACCESS ROAD

POCKET PARK 'D'

PASSIVE AREA

POOL HOUSE

POCKET PARK 'A'

TOT AREA AND PICNIC

POCKET PARK 'C'

FITNESS STATION & PICNIC

P

O

O

L

 

E

Q

U

I

P

M

E

N

T

SIDEWALK FENCE

PICNIC AREA

W/ TRELLIS

ENTRY

MAILBOX

GAS BBQ

TRAIL

POOL

SPA

GATED ENTRY

FOR RESIDENTS ONLY

POCKET PARK 'B'

FITNESS STATIONS

BOLLARDS

EXT.

2
6

'
-
3

"

26'

EXT.

2
6

'
-
3

"

26'

LARGE

MEDIUM

SMALL

GROUNDCOVER

15TH STREET

SCALE:

DATE:

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

PLN CK REF:

F.B.

AS SHOWN

SHEET

OF       SHEETS

2014-0282W.O.

DWG. NO.

REVISIONS

APPR DATEMARK

Land Planning & Landscape
Architecture

LANTEX
Landscape Architecture Inc.

28052 Camino Capistrano,

Suite 211

Laguna Niguel, CA 92677

Phone: 949 683.1941

Fax: 949 347.8305

CITY OF UPLAND, COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO,

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

P
L

O
T

 
D

A
T

E
 
O

C
T

O
B

E
R

 
1

5
,
 
2

0
1

9

SECTION AT POOL

N.T.S.

OPEN SPACE PLAN

N.T.S.

1" = 60'

POCKET PARK 'A'

TOT AREA AND PICNIC

N.T.S.

POCKET PARK 'B'

FITNESS STATIONS

N.T.S.

POCKET PARK 'C'

FITNESS STATIONS AND PICNIC

N.T.S.

POCKET PARK 'D'

PASSIVE AREA

N.T.S.

TYPICAL PLANTING PLAN

N.T.S.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019

AutoCAD SHX Text
K-4301

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGHCREST

AutoCAD SHX Text
C_TOILETS

AutoCAD SHX Text
VITREOUS CHINA

AutoCAD SHX Text
K-4972-R

AutoCAD SHX Text
STANWELL

AutoCAD SHX Text
C_URINALS

AutoCAD SHX Text
VITREOUS CHINA

AutoCAD SHX Text
K-4301

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGHCREST

AutoCAD SHX Text
C_TOILETS

AutoCAD SHX Text
VITREOUS CHINA

AutoCAD SHX Text
K-4301

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGHCREST

AutoCAD SHX Text
C_TOILETS

AutoCAD SHX Text
VITREOUS CHINA

AutoCAD SHX Text
K-4301

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGHCREST

AutoCAD SHX Text
C_TOILETS

AutoCAD SHX Text
VITREOUS CHINA

AutoCAD SHX Text
K-4972-R

AutoCAD SHX Text
STANWELL

AutoCAD SHX Text
C_URINALS

AutoCAD SHX Text
VITREOUS CHINA

AutoCAD SHX Text
K-4301

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGHCREST

AutoCAD SHX Text
C_TOILETS

AutoCAD SHX Text
VITREOUS CHINA

AutoCAD SHX Text
K-4301

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGHCREST

AutoCAD SHX Text
C_TOILETS

AutoCAD SHX Text
VITREOUS CHINA

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRANSFER

AutoCAD SHX Text
POINT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACCESSIBLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROUTE OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLIDEWINDER2

AutoCAD SHX Text
124863

AutoCAD SHX Text
119805

AutoCAD SHX Text
SINGLE BEAM LOOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
HORIZONTAL 84"

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
END VERTICAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
111273

AutoCAD SHX Text
LADDER

AutoCAD SHX Text
145624

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERT. ASCENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORKSCREW

AutoCAD SHX Text
148432

AutoCAD SHX Text
111275

AutoCAD SHX Text
HANDLOOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASSEMBLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
120901

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAB BAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
129816

AutoCAD SHX Text
SQUARE PEAK

AutoCAD SHX Text
TILE ROOF W/

AutoCAD SHX Text
STD LOGO

AutoCAD SHX Text
111357

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHINNING BAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HANDHOLD

AutoCAD SHX Text
120902

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEG LIFT

AutoCAD SHX Text
(ABOVE DECK)

AutoCAD SHX Text
116245

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUARDRAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
182503

AutoCAD SHX Text
WELCOME SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
(LSI PROVIDED)

AutoCAD SHX Text
5-12 YEARS

AutoCAD SHX Text
K.P.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRI-K.P.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
K.P.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
K.P.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRI-K.P.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRANSFER

AutoCAD SHX Text
POINT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACCESSIBLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROUTE OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLIDEWINDER2

AutoCAD SHX Text
124863

AutoCAD SHX Text
119805

AutoCAD SHX Text
SINGLE BEAM LOOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
HORIZONTAL 84"

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
END VERTICAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
111273

AutoCAD SHX Text
LADDER

AutoCAD SHX Text
145624

AutoCAD SHX Text
VERT. ASCENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORKSCREW

AutoCAD SHX Text
148432

AutoCAD SHX Text
111275

AutoCAD SHX Text
HANDLOOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASSEMBLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
120901

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAB BAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
129816

AutoCAD SHX Text
SQUARE PEAK

AutoCAD SHX Text
TILE ROOF W/

AutoCAD SHX Text
STD LOGO

AutoCAD SHX Text
111357

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHINNING BAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HANDHOLD

AutoCAD SHX Text
120902

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEG LIFT

AutoCAD SHX Text
(ABOVE DECK)

AutoCAD SHX Text
116245

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUARDRAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
182503

AutoCAD SHX Text
WELCOME SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
(LSI PROVIDED)

AutoCAD SHX Text
5-12 YEARS

AutoCAD SHX Text
K.P.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRI-K.P.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
K.P.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
K.P.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRI-K.P.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXPIRES 11-30-2020

AutoCAD SHX Text
Signature

AutoCAD SHX Text
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
o

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
K

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-15-19

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:  1" = 60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'



SCALE:

DATE:

DESIGNED:

CHECKED:

PLN CK REF:

F.B.

AS SHOWN

SHEET

OF       SHEETS

2014-0282W.O.

DWG. NO.

REVISIONS

APPR DATEMARK

Land Planning & Landscape
Architecture

LANTEX
Landscape Architecture Inc.

28052 Camino Capistrano,

Suite 211

Laguna Niguel, CA 92677

Phone: 949 683.1941

Fax: 949 347.8305

CITY OF UPLAND, COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO,

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

P
L

O
T

 
D

A
T

E
 
O

C
T

O
B

E
R

 
1

5
,
 
2

0
1

9

AMENITIES

MAILBOX AVAILABLE FROM CUSTOM

HOME ACCESSORIES

HC DRINKING FOUNTAIN BY

MOST DEPENDABLE FOUNTAINS

MODEL #440 SM & SMSS W/ PET FOUNTAIN

BIKE RACK BY DUMOR

MODEL 125-20

KIDS PLAY SCULPTURE BY DURA

ART STONE TOAD MODEL #105.

TURTLE MODEL #106

KIDS PLAY AMENITY BY

LANDSCAPE STRUCTURES

MODEL #965

KIDS PLAY AMENITY BY

LANDSCAPE STRUCTURES

MODEL #966

KIDS PLAY AMENITY BY

LANDSCAPE STRUCTURES

MODEL #3700

CURVA SPINNER

MODEL #6226

DIGI RIDER BEAR

MODEL #6092

BLENDER / GYRO

MODEL #3023

CHILL SPINNER

MODEL #6224

STAND-UP SPINNER

MODEL #1052

TOPSY TURNY SPINNER

MODEL #6159

BLENDER / SOL

MODEL #3892

AB CRUNCH / LEG LIFT

MODEL #192451

BALANCE STEPS

MODEL #192454

PULL UP / DIP

MODEL #192460

ASSISTED ROW / PUSH-UP

MODEL #192452

CARDIO STEPPER

MODEL #192455

STRETCH

MODEL #192462

PARALLEL BARS

MODEL #192453

CHEST / BACK PRESS

MODEL #192456

RECEPTACLE WITH ASH URN BY DUMOR

MODEL #102-22

TABLE SET BY DUMOR

MODEL #443-62

BENCH BY DUMOR

MODEL #58-60

TABLE BY DUMOR

MODEL #448-43

BOLLARD BY DUMOR

MODEL #400-36

COLOR OF AMENITIES

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXPIRES 11-30-2020

AutoCAD SHX Text
Signature

AutoCAD SHX Text
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
o

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
K

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
10-15-19



 

 

Exhibit H – Storm Drain Plans  

 
EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

 

Exhibit I – Initial Study 

Mitigated Negative Declaration 

 
EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

Due to the size of the Initial Study/ Mitigated 
Negative Declaration, Exhibit I can be found at the 
link here: 
 
https://www.uplandca.gov/environmental-review 
 
Please Click on the Link for the Villa Serena 
Specific Plan. 

 

In addition, a hard copy is available for review at 
the Public Counter. 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019

https://www.uplandca.gov/environmental-review


 

 

Exhibit C – Response to Comments  

 



January 2020 

 

R E S P O N S E S  T O  P U B L I C  C O M M E N T S  

INITIAL STUDY/MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

VILLA SERENA SPECIFIC  PLAN 

CITY OF UPLAND 

SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY,  CALIFORNIA 



R E S P O N S E S  T O  P U B L I C  C O M M E N T S  
I N I T I A L  S T U D Y / M I T I G A T E D  N E G A T I V E  D E C L A R A T I O N  
J A N U A R Y  2 0 2 0 

V I L L A  S E R E N A  S P E C I F I C  P L A N  
U P L A N D ,  C A L I F O R N I A   

 

R:\FTR1801 Colonies 57 CEQA\IS-MND\Final\RTC 01 2020 cw.docx (01/14/20) 1 

INTRODUCTION 

The primary objective and purpose of the Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration (IS/MND) 
public review process is to obtain comments on the adequacy of the analysis of environmental 
impacts, the mitigation measures presented, and other analyses contained in the Initial Study 
prepared by the City of Upland (City). The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) requires that 
the City decision-makers consider the comments received during the public review of the IS/MND 
prior to carrying out or approving the project (CEQA Guidelines Section 15074[b]). Comments that do 
not directly relate to the analysis in this document (i.e., are outside the scope of this document) are 
not given specific responses; however, all comments are included in this section so that the decision-
makers may know the opinions of the commenter. 

The Villa Serena Specific Plan (Project) IS/MND was circulated to the public and public agencies for a 
20-day public review period from November 13 to December 2, 2019. Fifteen comments, all from 
individual residents, were received: 

• Shawn Geohring (Letter A) 

• Bill Rodstom (Letter B) 

• Philip Ferree (Letter C) 

• Dante Zappia (Letter D) 

• Elvis Martinez (Letter E) 

• Sandra Ramos (Letter F) 

• Peter Shupe (Letter G) 

• Sandra Sidders (Letter H) 

• Robyn and Nathan Tan (Letter I) 

• Caryn Zappia (Letter J) 

• Catina Simons (Letter K) 

• Roger Flores (Letter L) 

• Brenda Robles (Letter M) 

• Teena Romero (Letter N) 

• Cynthia Pye (Letter O) 

The comment letters are included in this appendix. Neither the comments nor responses to comments 
to the collected comments constitute “significant new information” (CEQA Guidelines Section 
15073.5) that would require recirculation of the Mitigated Negative Declaration or the preparation of 
an Environmental Impact Report (EIR). 



Joshua Winter, Associate Planner 

City of Upland 

Development Services Department/Planning Division 

460 North Euclid Avenue 

Upland, CA 91786 

Hello Joshua, 

11/19/19 

Shawn Goehring 

1451 Juanita Court 

Upland, CA 91786 

Thank you for the notice of availability and notice of intent to adopt a mitigated negative 

declaration letter that was sent to my home address. I am glad to receive some 

information for it has been very difficult to locate information on this potential project, 

Villa Serena Specific Plan. 

In the letter it states that the project site is East of Campus Avenue and West of Grove 

Avenue; however, the project location on the map shows West of Campus Avenue. The 

map that was provided does not match the project location description. Could you 

please clarify exactly where the project site will be located? 

Furthermore, could you please provide more information on what roads will open up into 

the proposed project location. When the 65 single-family detached residential units are 

complete will there be multiple locations for those families to enter the housing 

community, and if so what are those exact locations? I could not locate on the map or 

online what exact roads will lead into this community. 

Thank you again for the letter. I look forward to hearing from you. Please feel free to 

email, call, or respond via mail. My email is swg_ 12@yahoo.com and my phone is 

724.456.0858 (cell). 

Thank you, 

J--� 
Shawn Goehring 

Letter A

LHayes
Line

LHayes
Typewritten Text
A-1

LHayes
Line

LHayes
Typewritten Text
A-2



CITY OF UPLAND 

NOTICE OF A VAILABil.,ITY (NOA)/ NOTICE OF INTENT (NOi) TO ADOPT 

A MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION (MND) 

Vll.,LA SERENA SPECIFIC-PLAN 

In accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and the CEQA Guidelines, the City of Upland, 
acting as the Lead Agency is releasing for review and comment to all agencies, organizations and interested persons, a Draft Initial Study and 
Proposed Mitigated Negative Declaration (ISIMND) for the Villa Serena Specific Plan (Project). 

Project Title: Villa Serena Specific Plan 

Project No.: SPECIFIC PLAN NO. SPR-18-02, GENERAL PLAN AMENDMENT NO. GPA-18-04, ZONE CHANGE NO. ZC-18-04, 
TENTATIVE TRACT NO. 20245 (TT-18-03), SITE PLAN NO. SP-18-10, DESIGN REVIEW NO. DR-18-14, AND ENVIRONMENTAL 
ASSESSMENT REVIEW NO. EAR-0070 

Project Location: The Project Site constitutes a 9.2-acre portion of a the existing 15th Street flood control detention basin located North of 
E. 15th Street, South of the Upland Hills Golf Course, East of Campus Avenue and West of Grove Avenue. The project site is further
described as Assessor's Parcel Numbers 1045-121-04 and
1045-151-35.

Project Description: The project involves the establishment 
of a Residential Specific Plan for the development a gated 
residential community that consists of 65 single-family 
detached residential units at a density of 7.1 dwelling units 
per acre and on-site active and passive recreational amenities 
to be provided within the common area open space on an 
existing 9.2-acre portion of the 15th street flood control 
detention basin. The Project includes modifications 
(including relocation of existing basin infrastructure) to the 
existing basin to accommodate the residential Site and 
maintain a fully operational flood control and retention 
facility on the remaining I I.I acres of the basin area. 

Public Meeting Dates: A public hearing date for the 
Upland Planning Commission to review and consider the 
Project has been tentatively scheduled for December 11, 
2019. 

Public Review Period: The Draft IS/MND is being circulated for a 20-day review period beginning November 13, 2019, pursuant Section 
15105(b) of the CEQA Guidelines. Persons responding are urged to submit their comments in writing. Comments should be mailed or 
delivered to the City, at the address below no later than 6:00 PM on December 2, 2019. Submittal of written comments via e-mail is also 
acceptable. 

Address: Joshua Winter, Associate Planner 
City of Upland 
Development Services Department/Planning Division 
460 North Euclid Avenue 
Upland, CA 91786 

E-Mafl:
jwinter@ci.upland.ca.us 

Environmental Review: The Draft Initial Stu?Y and Mitigated Negative Declaration have been prepared for this Project pursuant to the 
provision of the CEQA Guidelines. The Draft Initial Study prepared for this Project demonstrates that the Project will not have any 
significant or unmitigatable effects on the environment. As a result of the apoption of the adoption of this document and the implementation 
of the proposed mitigation measures, the Project will not have any significant or unmitigatable effects on the environment. 

The Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration and all related analysis are available to the General Public at Development Services 
Department/Planning Division, located at Upland City Hall, 460 North Euclid Avenue, Upland, CA 91786, Monday through Thursday from 
8:00 Am to 6:00 PM., excluding holidays. Copies of the IS/MND are also available for review on the City's website at 
https:/ /www.uplandca.gov/planning 

Letter A



R E S P O N S E S  T O  P U B L I C  C O M M E N T S  
I N I T I A L  S T U D Y / M I T I G A T E D  N E G A T I V E  D E C L A R A T I O N  
J A N U A R Y  2 0 2 0 

V I L L A  S E R E N A  S P E C I F I C  P L A N  
U P L A N D ,  C A L I F O R N I A   

 

R:\FTR1801 Colonies 57 CEQA\IS-MND\Final\RTC 01 2020 cw.docx (01/14/20) 2 

COMMENT LETTER A: SHAWN GOEHRING 

Response to Comment A-1: The referenced text is correct in both the Notice of Intent and IS/MND. 
While the site location figure provided in the Notice of Intent and Figure 1 of the IS/MND correctly 
identifies the project site, the “N. Campus Ave” callout is inaccurate. As the project description and 
project limits are correctly referenced, this mislabeling does not alter the environmental analysis in 
the IS/MND. 

No new impact or increase in severity of an identified impact has been identified. Figure 1 of the 
IS/MND will be revised to properly label the street in question. This revision does not constitute new 
information necessitating recirculation of the IS/MND. 

Response to Comment A-2: As stated in Section 2.3.6 of the IS/MND, vehicular access to the site is 
provided from 15th Street at two locations. A primary gated community entry for the project is located 
at the eastern project boundary adjacent to existing residential uses. A second gated entry is provided 
from 15th Street at the western boundary of the project. As identified by the City when determining 
the scope of the project’s Traffic Impact Analysis, it is reasonable to conclude project traffic would 
access 15th Street and the new development via Alta, Monte Verde, and/or Grove Avenues. 

This comment does not identify a new impact or increase in severity of an identified impact; therefore, 
no revision to the IS/MND is required and recirculation of the document is not warranted. 



Nov. 27, 2019 

To: Joshua Winter, Associate Planner jwinter@ci.upland.ca.us 
City of Upland 
Development Services Department/Planning Division 
460 North Euclid Avenue 
Upland, CA 91786  

From: Bill Rodstrom, former U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service biologist 
P.O. Box 4684 
Arcata, CA 95518  Bill.rodstrom@gmail.com 

Re: Comments about the CEQA Mitigated Negative Declaration of the proposed Villa Serena Specific Plan 
Project Initial Study, a 65 single-family home development on 15th St., in Upland, CA. 

Flood Control Capacity 
Since approximately 2001 I have visited the proposed development site (a flood control basin) about 3-4 times 
a year, visiting an elderly relative who lives at the nearby Red Hill Country Club. It is the only nearby wildland.  
I have observed many wild species of native plants, birds, reptiles, and many insects like native butterflies, 
bees, and dragonflies.  I have also seen high rainfall events such as Feb. 14, 2019 when the flood control basin 
was able to store stormwater runoff as it was designed, to protect neighboring suburban homes from being 
flooded. See attached photos.  

The proposed development would fill about half of the existing flood control basin, so my question is: will the 
remaining half to the east be expected to collect all of the stormwater runoff during high rainfall events? The 
hypothetical Flood Routing Analysis in the appendix is unclear to me on this issue. My Feb. 14, 2019 photos 
show the basin filling between 3-4 feet of stormwater at the west end of the proposed project. This storm 
generated approximately 2.1 inches of rain measured at the nearby Ontario Airport, according the U.S. 
Weather Service. A more severe or prolonged storm, or a much smaller basin would presumably fill the basin 
even higher.  

Wetlands 
In the Specific Plan Project Initial Study report, the geotechnical report stated that there was no surface water 
on the proposed development.  
On September 5, 2019 and October 26, 2019, I observed a four-foot-wide stream of water pouring through 
roughly 8 ft. diameter culverts on the west end of the proposed development. What is the source of this 
water? Is this what is left of the creek coming downstream from Frankish Canyon? Where will it be diverted 
to? 
Also, for well over a decade there have been three small wetland ponds from year-round runoff the Upland 
Hills Country Club golf course on the north boundary of the proposed development, with wetland species like 
Willows (Salix), cattails (Typha), watercress (Nasturtium), etc., and associated breeding dragonflies, mallards 
and other wetland-dependent species. I did not see these noted in the geotechnical report. Approximately 
80% of bird species are associated with wetland habitat.  

Letter B

mailto:jwinter@ci.upland.ca.us
mailto:Bill.rodstrom@gmail.com
LHayes
Line

LHayes
Typewritten Text
B-1

LHayes
Line

LHayes
Typewritten Text
B-2



Threatened Species 
On page 3-18, under Biological Resources, it states “No special-status plant or wildlife species were observed 
during the survey.”  
The existing Sage Scrub habitat of the proposed project includes habitat for the resident Coastal California 
Gnatcatcher, which is listed as a Threatened Species under the Endangered Species Act. I have seen and/or 
heard this species virtually every time I have visited there. Parts of southern San Bernardino County are listed 
as critical habitat for this species, so the removal of this habitat will only exacerbate the shrinking habitat for 
this threatened species.  
 
Mitigation issues 
Because this project will remove over nine acres of Sage Scrub native habitat, I would urge that all tree, shrub, 
and perennial plant landscaping be composed of California native plants. Native insects and the birds and 
other wildlife that eat them or feed them to their young are not adapted to eating non-native plants, so the 
area becomes a biological desert for native animals when native habitat is replaced with nonnatives. For more 
on this subject I recommend that you read Bringing Nature Home: How You Can Sustain Wildlife with Native 
Plants, by Douglas Tallamy, or view his PowerPoint presentation at least. Here’s a link for that: YouTube Video 
link: Restoring Nature’s Relationships  https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=yo4ZJ-ryTaE  
You can find more about using native plants for landscaping at the Calscape website: https://calscape.org/  
 
This Initial Study is a very large document, and I made an effort to review as much of the salient issues as I 
could, but I have not had time to read every page of the 1,713-page document.  
 
Feel free to call me or email me with your responses. 
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
Bill Rodstrom 
707 498-4762 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=yo4ZJ-ryTaE
https://calscape.org/
LHayes
Line

LHayes
Typewritten Text
B-3

LHayes
Line

LHayes
Typewritten Text
B-4







R E S P O N S E S  T O  P U B L I C  C O M M E N T S  
I N I T I A L  S T U D Y / M I T I G A T E D  N E G A T I V E  D E C L A R A T I O N  
J A N U A R Y  2 0 2 0 

V I L L A  S E R E N A  S P E C I F I C  P L A N  
U P L A N D ,  C A L I F O R N I A   

 

R:\FTR1801 Colonies 57 CEQA\IS-MND\Final\RTC 01 2020 cw.docx (01/14/20) 3 

COMMENT LETTER B: BILL RODSTROM 

General Response: The comment was made by Bill Rodstrom, who identifies himself as former U.S. 
Fish & Wildlife Service (USFWS) biologist. According to his public profile, Mr. Rodstrom last worked 
for USFWS 35 years ago (1984) and is currently retired: https://www.linkedin.com/in/bill-rodstrom-
27387014. This would mean Mr. Rodstrom’s observations and comments were likely NOT made in a 
professional capacity nor as a licensed or certified biologist relative to California gnatcatcher. It should 
also be noted Mr. Rodstrom’s career since the late 1980’s has been based in inner northern California 
per his public profile. This species is found mainly in the coastal plains of southern California. 

As Mr. Rodstorm alluded to, the California gnatchatcher has been listed as a threatened Species under 
the Federal Endangered Species Act since 1993. The State and federal authorities recognized that 
highly specialized skillsets and formal certification were required in order to investigate, observe, and 
make professional recommendations on this threatened species. Randall Arnold, Parker Smith and 
Blake Curran are the three principals that conducted on-site field observations and prepared the 
report. Mr. Arnold is licensed and certified by USFWS to evaluate the California gnatcatcher. 

A biological investigation was conducted by RCA Associates, Inc. a professional environmental and 
biological consulting firm that has worked on over 50 projects, including projects where RCA 
represented local and federal agencies as clients. A majority of RCA’s experience has been in California 
with a majority of their work in the Inland Empire. RCA’s methodologies included field sites, surveys 
and data collection. 

Response to Comment B-1: As addressed in Section 2.3.8 of the IS/MND, the project includes 
modifications (including relocation of existing basin infrastructure) to the existing basin to 
accommodate the residential Site and maintain a fully operational flood control and retention facility. 
Basin modifications include the extension of basin inlet and outlet, and installation of an emergency 
spillway/box weir outlet system. The modified basin will be graded to create a new basin footprint. A 
new berm will be created between the basin and development site. From the top of the berm, a new 
slope will be graded to the bottom of the modified basin (approximately 1,410 feet above mean sea 
level). Modifications to the bottom of the remaining basin will be made from the toe of the new slope 
to a point approximately 900 linear feet to the east, by grading the bottom of the basin in this area to 
an elevation of approximately 1,410 feet from an existing elevation of 1,414 to 1,415 feet (essential 
lowering the bottom of the basin to fully accommodate anticipated flows.) 

The proposed basin modifications have been reviewed by the City and will be designed and installed 
per applicable City and San Bernardino County criteria (see IS/MND Appendices G1-G5). As detailed 
in IS/MND Section 3.3.10, the increased depth will provide 0.5 feet of freeboard between the 
emergency spillway crest and the 100-year water surface elevation. The emergency spillway will be 
constructed for the 1,000-year event (1.35 × 100-year flow rate) in accordance with San Bernardino 
County Detention Basin Design Criteria, with the required freeboard to the top of the dam 
embankment to be above the 1,000-year water surface elevation. Using a 9-foot wide by 1.5-foot high 
opening, the maximum water surface elevation is projected to be 1,426.1 feet with a peak discharge 
of 246.7 cubic feet per second. This meets the peak discharge and maximum 100-year water surface 
elevation goals. The box weir outlet system would be designed to pass through the 200- to 500-year 

https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/bG9KCW6RnOc7w9I6KGww?domain=linkedin.com
https://protect-us.mimecast.com/s/bG9KCW6RnOc7w9I6KGww?domain=linkedin.com


R E S P O N S E S  T O  P U B L I C  C O M M E N T S  
I N I T I A L  S T U D Y / M I T I G A T E D  N E G A T I V E  D E C L A R A T I O N  
J A N U A R Y  2 0 2 0 

V I L L A  S E R E N A  S P E C I F I C  P L A N  
U P L A N D ,  C A L I F O R N I A   

 

R:\FTR1801 Colonies 57 CEQA\IS-MND\Final\RTC 01 2020 cw.docx (01/14/20) 4 

storm, with the emergency spillway providing discharge capacity for larger events. As the box weir 
outlet system can accommodate flows well in excess of the 100-year storm event, it is unlikely flows 
over the emergency spillway would occur during foreseeable storm events. 

The commenter’s observations are noted and will be considered fully prior to and during any public 
hearing related to the project. No new impact or increase in severity of an identified impact has been 
identified. No revision to the IS/MND is required and recirculation of the document is not warranted. 

Response to Comment B-2: The existing basin collects storms flows areas upstream of the site. Storm 
water runoff conveyed through the current drainage systems flows downstream to Cucamonga Creek 
and discharges to Reach 3 of the Santa Ana River, through the Prado Basin Management Zone, and 
ultimately into the Pacific Ocean. Once conveyed to the modified basin, no change in the direction or 
ultimate destination of these storm flows would occur. 

Pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15125, the environmental setting will normally constitute the 
baseline physical conditions by which a lead agency determines whether an impact is significant. 
Generally, the environmental setting describes the conditions at the time environmental analysis 
commences. The description of site condition is based upon field observation conducted in July 2018 
(see IS/MND, Appendix B). While water was observed within the basin, as detailed in IS/MND Section 
3.3.4, no riparian vegetation, wetland, habitat or other sensitive habitats were observed. No federal 
or State-listed sensitive plant or wildlife species were identified during the July 2018 biological field 
survey, nor are there documented observations of these species on site or in the immediate project 
vicinity. 

The commenter’s observations are noted and will be fully considered prior to and during any public 
hearing related to the project. 

Response to Comment B-3: The project site constitutes a portion of a the existing 15th Street flood 
control detention basin, which is bounded by residential uses and the Upland Hills Country Club on 
the north, and single-family residential uses on the east, west, and south. No undisturbed native 
habitat or natural area is located within 1.5 miles of the site. The site is not located within the critical 
habitat for any threatened or endangered species. No endangered, threatened, or sensitive species, 
including the California gnatcatcher, were identified during the July 2018 biological field survey. 

While plant species identified on site include some species common in fan sage scrub, the isolated 
nature of site, absence of connectivity, and absence of sensitive species results in a “negligible”’ 
impact. As stated in IS/MND Section 3.3.4, to address potential impacts to biological resources, a pre-
construction burrowing owl and nesting bird survey is required prior to ground disturbance 
operations. As required, avoidance buffers would be established around any identified nesting 
activity. The buffers would be maintained until nesting activity has been completed. Adherence to the 
mitigation identified in the IS/MND would reduce potential biological resource impacts to a less than 
significant level. 

No new impact or increase in severity of an identified impact has been identified. No revision to the 
IS/MND is required and recirculation of the document is not warranted. 



R E S P O N S E S  T O  P U B L I C  C O M M E N T S  
I N I T I A L  S T U D Y / M I T I G A T E D  N E G A T I V E  D E C L A R A T I O N  
J A N U A R Y  2 0 2 0 

V I L L A  S E R E N A  S P E C I F I C  P L A N  
U P L A N D ,  C A L I F O R N I A   

 

R:\FTR1801 Colonies 57 CEQA\IS-MND\Final\RTC 01 2020 cw.docx (01/14/20) 5 

Response to Comment B-4: The project landscape scheme (see Villa Serena Specific Plan, Section 
4.2.3) states, “Shrubs, low groundcovers, and ‘California Friendly’ ornamental grasses are used to the 
greatest extent possible to reduce maintenance and conserve resources.” The Specific Plan (Table 4-
1) suggests landscaping materials, many of which are California native species that have low- or 
moderate water requirements. The project’s final landscape plan will be reviewed and approved by 
City to ensure an appropriate variety of material and species to meet the City’s landscape standards. 

The commenter’s landscape material preference will be fully considered prior to and during any public 
hearing related to the project. No new impact or increase in severity of an identified impact has been 
identified. No revision to the IS/MND is required and recirculation of the document is not warranted. 



Philip A. Ferree 
1377 E. 15th St. 
Upland CA 91786 
909 996 6901 
pncferree@yahoo.com 

December 1, 2019 

Joshua Winter, Associate Planner 
City of Upland 
Development Services Department/Planning Division 
460 North Euclid Ave. 
Upland, CA 91786 

Comments on the Villa Serena Specific Plan IS/MND 

Dear Mr. Winter, 

I’m writing to offer my comments on the Villa Serena Specific Plan IS/MND and state my concerns about how 

the project will affect my neighborhood.  I will be specific, referring to the IS/MND sections as well as the 

Upland General Plan. I am providing these comments through the lens of a 39 years’ experience in grading, 

excavation, and residential construction. 

IS/MND Section 2.3.2 states that “The site will attempt to balance cut/fills for the site”. I take that to mean 

there will be no export or import of fill dirt.  This section goes on to say they will need 41,000 cubic yards of 

fill to complete the grading. That is not a balanced site. Import of 41,000 cubic yards of fill would necessitate 

3000 truckloads of dirt and 6000 truck trips on East 15th St over the 20 day period of grading, referenced in 

the construction schedule.  East 15th Street is a residential street that is in questionable condition and has 

never been resurfaced in the 32 years that I have lived here. I have done some rough calculations and by 

lowering the elevations on the site 3 feet, on average, over the 9.15 acres you could eliminate the need for 

any import, thus saving wear and tear on 15th Street and reducing noise and truck traffic on my street. 

Section 3.3.1 Aesthetics, states “therefore, views from the south side of the site would not be significantly 

altered from what exists”.  The person who wrote this obviously did not look at the view from my yard, or 

chose not to.   Elevations of the new homes will significantly block the view of the 7 existing residents on the 

north side of East 15th Street.   In my case, with the 9 foot increase of elevation of the new houses, plus the 

28 foot height of the homes, would add up to over 37 feet above my house pad elevation.   These changes 

will certainly have significant impact on the quality of the view from my property.  See Back Yard View and 

Height Illustration.  

Section 3.3.13 Noise, Off Site refers to City of Upland General Plan Final Environmental Impact Report, Table 

5.4-4 which states the ADT volume for 15th Street is 14,100 vehicles.  I believe this is a flawed representation 

of the ADT on my portion of East 15th Street, between Grove Ave. and Fernando Ave.  East 15th Street is not a 

thru street and would likely have no more than 300 ADT and I feel that’s being generous.  The 623 ADT’s for 

LHayes
Line

LHayes
Typewritten Text
C-1

LHayes
Line

LHayes
Typewritten Text
C-2

LHayes
Line

LHayes
Typewritten Text
C-3

LHayes
Typewritten Text
Letter C



this project would represent an over 200% increase in traffic volume, this contradicts the Study’s estimation 

of less than significant impact warranting no mitigation.    

Upland General Plan 

Policy CC-7.3, Upland Grid Pattern, states “Reinforce and extend the traditional grid pattern in new 

developments that create new roadways.”  Location to entry and exits from the projects should align with 

the existing 13th and Fernando Avenues.  The proposed plan shows the main entry way to the project 

adjacent to Mr. Hudson’s house at 1335 East 15th St.  This would put the bulk of the projected 623 daily new 

resident trips with in feet of Mr. Hudson’s home.  I feel that is unacceptable.  

General Plan Policy CC-7.4 states “Discourage the construction of new gated communities…..”  In my opinion, 

this new project infill should be connected with my 15th Street neighborhood. 

In summation, with the one plus year of construction noise, dust and traffic, the loss of our mountain views 

and the tremendous increase of street traffic on 15th Street after the project is completed, and with other 

concerns my hope is that the Planning Commission will not recommend the Project for approval as presented 

but refer it back to Frontier Communities to address the concerns of existing Upland residents.  

Sincerely, 

Philip A. Ferree 

Letter C

LHayes
Line

LHayes
Typewritten Text
C-3

LHayes
Line

LHayes
Typewritten Text
C-4

LHayes
Line

LHayes
Typewritten Text
C-5

LHayes
Line

LHayes
Typewritten Text
C-6



Backyard View 

Height Illustration 

Letter C



R E S P O N S E S  T O  P U B L I C  C O M M E N T S  
I N I T I A L  S T U D Y / M I T I G A T E D  N E G A T I V E  D E C L A R A T I O N  
J A N U A R Y  2 0 2 0 

V I L L A  S E R E N A  S P E C I F I C  P L A N  
U P L A N D ,  C A L I F O R N I A   

 

R:\FTR1801 Colonies 57 CEQA\IS-MND\Final\RTC 01 2020 cw.docx (01/14/20) 6 

COMMENT LETTER C: PHILIP A. FERREE 

Response to Comment C-1: The commenter’s opinion regarding the adequacy of 15th Street to 
accommodate material import activities is noted. The past and current condition and/or maintenance 
of 15th Street are not environmental issues related to the project. As necessary and deemed 
appropriate by the City, the project developer, and/or construction contractor would implement 
standard pavement protection measures to offset any temporary or permanent defect caused by 
project-related import operation. 

No new impact or increase in severity of an identified impact has been identified by the commenter; 
therefore, no revision to the IS/MND is required and recirculation of the document is not warranted. 

Response to Comment C-2: Per the City’s General Plan Final Environmental Impact Report (FEIR) (Page 
5-6, Aesthetics): 

…the northern portion of the City is comprised of hilly terrain, providing scenic views of the 
City and surrounding region. The southern portion of the City is situated at a lower elevation 
and is relatively flat. The City becomes more urbanized from north to south. 

Views of these natural visual resources from the southern portion of the City are limited and 
partially obstructed due to their distance from the mountain range, lower topography, and 
built out nature of the southern area, as well as the density and orientation of the existing 
buildings and structures. There are no General Plan designated scenic views or vistas within 
the City. 

The evaluation of potential impacts to scenic views is limited to those that are experienced from 
publicly accessible vantage point(s). Views from residential backyards are typically not accessible to 
the general public; therefore, these views are not considered significant under CEQA. While the 
commenter claims the change to backyard views would diminish property values, the potential 
economic and social impacts resulting from a project are not treated as significant effects on the 
environment under CEQA unless that economic/social impact causes a physical impact (e.g., 
abandonment and blight) (CEQA Guidelines, Section 15131). 

While the commenter’s opinion is noted, because impacts related to backyard views are not 
considered significant under CEQA, no new impact or increase in severity of an identified impact has 
been identified. No revision to the IS/MND is required and recirculation of the document is not 
warranted. 

Response to Comment C-3: To predict the future on-site noise environment the project-specific noise 
report utilized the future long-range worst-case 14,100 average daily trips (ADT) identified in the City 
of Upland General Plan Final Environmental Impact Report (Table 5.4-4) for 15th Street. Additionally, 
the noise modeling effort estimated a peak hour volume of 1,410 trips.  The Project’s estimated to 
generate 623 daily trips (ADT) and 65 peak hour trips.  The Project traffic volumes are included and 
are well within the values included in the project-specific noise modeling.  While the 14,100 ADT 
grossly overestimates the current vehicle usage of 15th Street, it represents a cumulative, worst case 
condition that easily accommodates the ADT and peak hour trips anticipated from the proposed 
project. 



R E S P O N S E S  T O  P U B L I C  C O M M E N T S  
I N I T I A L  S T U D Y / M I T I G A T E D  N E G A T I V E  D E C L A R A T I O N  
J A N U A R Y  2 0 2 0 

V I L L A  S E R E N A  S P E C I F I C  P L A N  
U P L A N D ,  C A L I F O R N I A   

 

R:\FTR1801 Colonies 57 CEQA\IS-MND\Final\RTC 01 2020 cw.docx (01/14/20) 7 

 
Using the 14,100 ADT condition for 15th Street, the noise modeling effort showed that the future 
unmitigated exterior noise levels along 15th Street would range from 57.0 to 66.4 dBA CNEL at the 
nearest on-site uses. As noise would be generated from the centerline of 15th Street, it is anticipated 
that a corresponding noise level would occur at off-site residential uses located south of 15th Street. 
It must be noted that because the noise model used the 14,100 ADT volume, the unmitigated CNEL 
noise levels, and therefore, potential noise levels at modeled receptors is grossly overestimated. 
Along the south side of 15th Street, existing block walls or fencing would provide some attenuation 
of traffic noise levels.  
 
The traffic noise analysis describes the future worst-case unmitigated noise conditions without 
accounting for the presence of block walls or fencing on the south side of 15th Street.  In addition, the 
Project is unlikely to generate a barely perceptible noise level increase of 3 dBA (the result of doubling 
of the existing traffic volumes on the roadway segments conveying Project traffic).  Therefore, the 
potential off-site Project related traffic noise level increases are considered less than significant and 
no additional noise mitigation is required.    
 
In the absence of any substantial evidence, no new impact or increase in severity of an identified 
impact has been identified by the commenter; therefore, no revision to the IS/MND is required and 
recirculation of the document is not warranted. 
  
 
Response to Comment C-4: The location and design of the project entry points has been reviewed 
and approved by the City. The commenter’s interpretation of General Plan Policy CC-7.3 and preferred 
alignment is noted and will be considered prior to and during the public hearings for the project. The 
opinion expressed does not identify a new impact or increase in severity of an identified impact; 
therefore, no revision to the IS/MND is required and recirculation of the document is not warranted. 

Response to Comment C-5: The commenter’s interpretation of General Plan Policy CC-7.4 is noted 
and will be considered prior to and during the public hearings for the project. The opinion expressed 
does not identify a new impact or increase in severity of an identified impact; therefore, no revision 
to the IS/MND is required and recirculation of the document is not warranted. 

Response to Comment C-6: The IS/MND analysis is based on evidence included in project-specific 
technical studies. Where potential environmental impacts resulting from the construction and 
operation of the project have been identified, appropriate mitigation measures and standard 
conditions have been included in the IS/MND to reduce impacts to a less than significant level. The 
commenter’s “hope” regarding future Planning Commission action is noted and will be fully 
considered prior to and during any public hearing on the project. 



From: LordZ35 Starwarsian
To: Joshua Winter
Subject: Villa Serena
Date: Monday, December 02, 2019 5:59:57 PM

WARNING: External email. Please verify sender before opening attachments
or clicking on links.

Dear Mr. Winter,

I am Dante Zappia, a 7th grade student at Foothill Knolls.I am VERY concerned about the
entrance/exit at 15th street. It WILL cause a whole lot of traffic on our street (Fernando AVE).
I have a 3rd grade brother and we like to play games with our friends in front of our house.
With all this extra traffic it will be extremely dangerous to play our games. By putting an
entrance/exit on 15th street you are taking away my safety and my freedom to play/exercise.
When these people have parties there will be nowhere to park except on our street, causing
OUR street to be EXTREMELY crowded. It WILL also be very noisy and this street WON'T
have the quiet peace we all DESERVE. The numbers don't lie, 65 houses = 2 cars per family
and 2 trips per day. THAT'S 260 CARS PASSING US EVERY DAY. With all that in mind,
please have a happy holiday season knowing you have the ability to keep us safe by not
putting an entrance/exit at 15th street.

Letter D

mailto:zappia.dante@gmail.com
mailto:/O=UPLAND-CA/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=Joshua Winter401
LHayes
Line

LHayes
Typewritten Text
D-1



R E S P O N S E S  T O  P U B L I C  C O M M E N T S  
I N I T I A L  S T U D Y / M I T I G A T E D  N E G A T I V E  D E C L A R A T I O N  
J A N U A R Y  2 0 2 0 

V I L L A  S E R E N A  S P E C I F I C  P L A N  
U P L A N D ,  C A L I F O R N I A   

 

R:\FTR1801 Colonies 57 CEQA\IS-MND\Final\RTC 01 2020 cw.docx (01/14/20) 8 

COMMENT LETTER D: DANTE ZAPPIA 

Response to Comment D-1: Under CEQA, the determination of a project’s potential environmental 
effect is determined by “substantial evidence” (CEQA Guidelines, Section 15064). CEQA Guidelines 
(Section 15384) defines “substantial evidence” as enough relevant information and reasonable 
inferences from this information that a fair argument can be made to support a conclusion, even 
though other conclusions might also be reached. Whether a fair argument can be made that the 
project may have a significant effect on the environment is to be determined by examining the whole 
record before the lead agency. 

Substantial evidence shall include facts, reasonable assumptions predicated upon facts, and expert 
opinion supported by facts. Argument, speculation, unsubstantiated opinion or narrative, evidence 
which is clearly erroneous or inaccurate, or evidence of social or economic impacts that do not 
contribute to or are not caused by physical impacts on the environment do not constitute substantial 
evidence. 

Vehicular access to the site is provided from 15th Street at two locations. A primary gated community 
entry for the project is located at the eastern project boundary adjacent to existing residential uses. 
A second gated entry is provided from 15th Street at the western boundary of the project. Fernando 
Avenue does not provide a direct access to the site. As identified by the City, it is reasonable to 
conclude project traffic would utilize roadways (Alta, Monte Verde, and Grove Avenues) with a more 
direct route to the site. 

CEQA Guidelines Section 15064(d)(3) states an indirect physical change is to be considered only if that 
change is a reasonably foreseeable impact that may be caused by the project. As there is no certainty 
if or when project traffic will travel on Fernando Avenue, the opinion that the project would “take 
away” the safety and freedom of the commenter is speculative. 

Each proposed residential unit is provided a two-car garage and two open spaces per unit. On-street 
parking is permitted on designated segments of the project’s internal street. The opinion that project 
activities will cause an “extremely crowded” condition on adjacent streets is speculative and 
unsupported by fact. 

A project-specific noise study (IS/MND, Appendix H) was conducted to determine potential traffic-
related noise impacts. Based on this analysis, no significant traffic noise impact was determined to 
exceed established City standards. The commenter’s opinion that the conditions will be “very noisy” 
is vague and unsupported by evidence. 

In the absence of any substantial evidence, no new impact or increase in severity of an identified 
impact has been identified by the commenter; therefore, no revision to the IS/MND is required and 
recirculation of the document is not warranted. 



From: Valeria Fisogni
To: Joshua Winter
Subject: Villa Serena specific plan project
Date: Monday, December 02, 2019 5:49:23 PM

WARNING: External email. Please verify sender before opening attachments or clicking on links.
________________________________

Good Evening Mr. Winter,
We are concerned with the proposed project plan of Villa Serena; we live on the corner of Fernando Ave at 1445.
And have witnessed first hand the illegal activity that happens on 15th St. already. And believe that with the plans of
putting 65 more homes, will only increase the traffic that comes down our otherwise quiet street. What are the city’s
plans regarding opening 15th street? We are afraid of the increase of traffic that will come through, by the building
plans.
Would you all consider making our street a cul-de-sac?

Thank you for your time,
Elvis Martinez
Ph: 323.353.5255

Letter E

mailto:bamkogo@hotmail.com
mailto:/O=UPLAND-CA/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=Joshua Winter401
LHayes
Line

LHayes
Typewritten Text
E-1



R E S P O N S E S  T O  P U B L I C  C O M M E N T S  
I N I T I A L  S T U D Y / M I T I G A T E D  N E G A T I V E  D E C L A R A T I O N  
J A N U A R Y  2 0 2 0 

V I L L A  S E R E N A  S P E C I F I C  P L A N  
U P L A N D ,  C A L I F O R N I A   

 

R:\FTR1801 Colonies 57 CEQA\IS-MND\Final\RTC 01 2020 cw.docx (01/14/20) 9 

COMMENT LETTER E: ELVIS MARTINEZ 

Response to Comment E-1: The commenter does not specify the illegal activity witnessed “on 15th 
Street,” nor how the project will contribute to this condition; therefore, this comment does not 
warrant a response. The commenter directly questions the City’s plans for “opening 15th Street” and 
requests making Fernando Avenue a cul-de-sac. These comments do not identify a specific 
environmental issue; therefore, they do not warrant a response. 

Vehicular access to the site is provided from 15th Street at two locations. A primary gated community 
entry for the project is located at the eastern project boundary adjacent to existing residential uses. 
A second gated entry is provided from 15th Street at the western boundary of the project. Fernando 
Avenue does not provide a direct access to the site. As identified by the City, it is reasonable to 
conclude project traffic would utilize roadways (Alta, Monte Verde, or Grove Avenues) with a more 
direct route to the site. 

In the absence of any substantial evidence, no new impact or increase in severity of an identified 
impact has been identified by the commenter; therefore, no revision to the IS/MND is required and 
recirculation of the document is not warranted. 



From: Sandra Ramos
To: Joshua Winter
Subject: Villa Serena Specific Plan
Date: Monday, December 02, 2019 5:10:28 PM

WARNING: External email. Please verify sender before opening attachments or clicking on links.
________________________________

As a resident of Upland and nearby the Villa Serena Building plan that is being planned I oppose to the building of
the new homes to be built in close proximity to each other. I also oppose to the entrance/exit  of 15th Avenue and
Fernando Avenue. This will cause major traffic in an already dangerous road.

Sandra Ramos

Letter F

mailto:yogini74@aim.com
mailto:/O=UPLAND-CA/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=Joshua Winter401
LHayes
Line

LHayes
Typewritten Text
F-1



R E S P O N S E S  T O  P U B L I C  C O M M E N T S  
I N I T I A L  S T U D Y / M I T I G A T E D  N E G A T I V E  D E C L A R A T I O N  
J A N U A R Y  2 0 2 0 

V I L L A  S E R E N A  S P E C I F I C  P L A N  
U P L A N D ,  C A L I F O R N I A   

 

R:\FTR1801 Colonies 57 CEQA\IS-MND\Final\RTC 01 2020 cw.docx (01/14/20) 10 

COMMENT LETTER F: SANDRA RAMOS 

Response to Comment F-1: The commenter’s opposition to the project is noted. This comment does 
not identify a specific environmental impact and does not warrant further comment. The 
commenter’s opposition to the planned project entrance is similarly noted. Development of the 
Specific Plan included a review by City Planning and Public Works staff. The placement and 
configuration of the project’s access points have been developed to accommodate the requirements 
and standards established by the City. 

The project’s impact on local traffic operations was addressed through the preparation of a project-
specific Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) (IS/MND, Appendix I.) The project is anticipated to generate a net 
total of 623 trip-ends per day with 50 a.m. peak hour trips and 65 p.m. peak hour trips. Based on the 
TIA, no significant Level of Service (LOS) impact was identified at any studied intersection under 
existing, Opening Year (2020), or Future Year (2040) conditions. The TIA was reviewed and approved 
by City staff prior to incorporation in the project’s IS/MND. 

The commenter does not provide any specificity related to the “major traffic in an already dangerous 
road.” In the absence of any substantial evidence, no new impact or increase in severity of an 
identified impact has been identified by the commenter; therefore, no revision to the IS/MND is 
required and recirculation of the document is not warranted. 



From: PETE S
To: Joshua Winter
Subject: Villa Serena Specific Plan
Date: Monday, December 02, 2019 5:15:41 PM
Attachments: Video.MOV

WARNING: External email. Please verify sender before opening attachments
or clicking on links.

Dear Joshua Winter and Upland Council, 
As a homeowner of Fernando Avenue just south of this planned project, I oppose the general plan
amendment  to build 65 homes. I would approve half the amount of homes on that property.  I also
oppose having an entry and exit at Fernando / 15th Street. This would increase the amount of traffic
on my street which contains several turns. This poses a danger to children and pedestrians as we
already have a problem with vehicles speeding on our street.  Attached is a video of a car racing
down our street a couple months ago and crashing into my neighbors trash cans.  Please consider our
requests to limit the amount of homes to be built and the entry / exit driveway near Fernando.
Thank you,
Peter Shupe
951-235-0904

mailto:lastars1@msn.com
mailto:/O=UPLAND-CA/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=Joshua Winter401

LHayes
Line

LHayes
Typewritten Text
G-1

LHayes
Typewritten Text
Letter G



R E S P O N S E S  T O  P U B L I C  C O M M E N T S  
I N I T I A L  S T U D Y / M I T I G A T E D  N E G A T I V E  D E C L A R A T I O N  
J A N U A R Y  2 0 2 0 

V I L L A  S E R E N A  S P E C I F I C  P L A N  
U P L A N D ,  C A L I F O R N I A   

 

R:\FTR1801 Colonies 57 CEQA\IS-MND\Final\RTC 01 2020 cw.docx (01/14/20) 11 

COMMENT LETTER G: PETER SHUPE 

Response to Comment G-1: The commenter’s opposition to the project and a preferred development 
density is noted. These comments do not identify a specific environmental impact and do not warrant 
further comment. The commenter’s opposition to the secondary access point is similarly noted. The 
development of the Specific Plan included a review by City Planning and Public Works staff. The 
placement and configuration of the project’s access points have been developed to accommodate the 
requirements and standards established by the City. It is reasonable to conclude that vehicles 
entering/exiting the project would abide by posted and customary traffic controls; therefore, it is 
speculative to assume the project would pose an additional “danger to children or pedestrians.” It 
should be noted the project includes improvements to 15th Street. The developer will construct an 
additional eight feet of travel area, a new five-foot wide sidewalk, and an eight-foot wide landscaped 
parkway within the existing right-of-way adjacent to the site, which would improve pedestrian safety 
in the project area. 

In the absence of any substantial evidence, no new impact or increase in severity of an identified 
impact has been identified by the commenter; therefore, no revision to the IS/MND is required and 
recirculation of the document is not warranted. 



From: Sandy Sidders
To: Joshua Winter
Subject: Villa Serena Specific Plan Concerns
Date: Monday, December 02, 2019 5:54:27 PM

WARNING: External email. Please verify sender before opening attachments
or clicking on links.

To: Joshua Winters
I am writing with concerns regarding the proposed amendment to the General Plan to support
the construction of 65 homes known as Villa Serena.  I received a letter and I am opposed to
this amendment due to the density of the housing.  The General Plan for the City of Upland
does not currently allow for this.  I live on Diego Way, directly south of the proposed
development and this will adversely increase traffic, noise and pollution with all the cars that
must pass through our neighborhood to get to this proposed gated community.  I believe the
general plan would only allow for approximately 1/3 the number of homes or about 25 based
on the available acreage for the proposed development.  Also, I've seen one map that shows
the gate near Fernando would be an entrance and exit and another map shows it only being
an exit.  This is deceiving.  Accurate, clear and concise drawings should be provided to all area
residents. As I stated, I am opposed to the proposed amendment to the general plan to cram
7.1 dwelling units per acre.  

Sincerely, 
Sandra D. Sidders
1454 Diego Way, Upland CA  91786

Letter H

mailto:gonfishinlsm@msn.com
mailto:/O=UPLAND-CA/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=Joshua Winter401
LHayes
Line

LHayes
Typewritten Text
H-1

LHayes
Line

LHayes
Typewritten Text
H-2



R E S P O N S E S  T O  P U B L I C  C O M M E N T S  
I N I T I A L  S T U D Y / M I T I G A T E D  N E G A T I V E  D E C L A R A T I O N  
J A N U A R Y  2 0 2 0 

V I L L A  S E R E N A  S P E C I F I C  P L A N  
U P L A N D ,  C A L I F O R N I A   

 

R:\FTR1801 Colonies 57 CEQA\IS-MND\Final\RTC 01 2020 cw.docx (01/14/20) 12 

COMMENT LETTER H: SANDRA SIDDERS 

Response to Comment H-1: The commenter is correct in stating the current General Plan does not 
designate the site for residential uses. The proposed project includes a General Plan Amendment 
(GPA) from Public Utilities-Flood Control/Recharge (PU-FC/R) to Villa Serena Specific Plan (SP). 
California Government Code (Title 7, Division 1, Chapter 3, Article 8, Section 65450-65457) permits 
the adoption and administration of Specific Plans as an implementation tool for elements contained 
in the local General Plan. Specific Plans must demonstrate consistency in regulations, guidelines, and 
programs with the goals and policies set forth in the General Plan. The Villa Serena Specific Plan as 
reviewed by the City and as incorporated into the IS/MND, provides regulations, guidelines, and 
standards that are consistent with the applicable City of Upland General Plan goals and policies. 

The IS/MND included a detailed discussion of potential air quality, noise, and traffic impacts that could 
result from the construction and occupation of project. The environmental analysis was supported by 
project-specific air quality, noise, and traffic impact analyses (IS/MND Appendices, A, H and I, 
respectively). Through the analysis, it was determined that traffic issues did not exceed established 
City significance thresholds. With the implementation of mitigation and imposition of standard City 
conditions, project-related air quality and noise impacts were reduced to less than significant levels 
(below established thresholds). While the commenter’s opposition to the GPA is noted; no specific 
issue environmental issue has been raised, nor has evidence been cited to counter the findings in the 
technical studies and/or the IS/MND. 

It is not clear what map the commenter is referring to. As stated in the IS/MND (pages 3-41 and 3-76), 
access to the project site is proposed along 15th Street via a primary ingress/egress gate and a secondary 
access is proposed along the western end of the site. Both will provide residential entry/exit and facilitate 
entry/exit for emergency and public vehicles (e.g., trash service). 

In the absence of any substantial evidence, no new impact or increase in severity of an identified 
impact has been identified by the commenter; therefore, no revision to the IS/MND is required and 
recirculation of the document is not warranted. 



From: Robyn Nathan Tan
To: Joshua Winter; ICE Robyn Michler Tan
Subject: Villa Serena Comments
Date: Monday, December 02, 2019 3:56:06 PM

WARNING: External email. Please verify sender before opening attachments
or clicking on links.

Joshua, 

Per the NOA/NOI instructions, we are submitting our concerns, outlined below,
regarding the Villa Serena development plans.  

Traffic and Safety:   Alta and 15th were never intended to handle the
traffic and safety risks associated with 120-300+ additional cars driving
through the neighborhood.  

Alta was never meant to be a through-way. There have already
been multiple incidents with people running the stop sign and
crashing into our property at the juncture of Alta and 15th. Even
with the current levels of traffic, cars are driving too quickly
down both streets making entrance and egress difficult for
existing residents. 
Based on the experience of long time residents who were
promised 14th would not be opened to Campus and saw that
promise reneged on, we are also concerned that 15th will
eventually be opened to general traffic which would have a
substantial negative impact on 15th street and Grove residents
since it would be used as a shortcut to the south east side of
Upland.     

Quality of life: Preexisting residents had a reasonable expectation that
they would not have buildings behind their properties.  Additionally, the
pads for the houses are currently planned at an altitude of 1424 feet
putting them at the same level or above existing residents which means
everyone along 15th will lose their view of the mountain range
diminishing their property values.
Health: Further, the construction (dirt, dust, noise) required to fill in this
area will be horrendous and can have health consequences for those in
the community already struggling with poor air quality in the Inland
Empire.  
Wildlife impact - this space has long been a corridor for migrating birds,
bobcats, frogs etc.

To address the concerns outlined above, we would request the following
adjustments to the proposed plan. 

The entrance to a complex of this size should be coming off a major road
like Baseline. Why not seek an easement through the SCE property or
backside of the golf course?
In fairness to the community, construction should be scaled back to end

 

Letter I

mailto:michler.tan@gmail.com
mailto:/O=UPLAND-CA/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=Joshua Winter401
mailto:michler.tan@gmail.com
LHayes
Line

LHayes
Typewritten Text
I-1

LHayes
Line

LHayes
Line

LHayes
Line

LHayes
Line

LHayes
Typewritten Text
I-2

LHayes
Typewritten Text
I-3

LHayes
Typewritten Text
I-4

LHayes
Typewritten Text
I-5



at the natural delineation line of the existing houses.  
The top of the proposed development should be aligned to the current
berm. 

As residents of the Upland/Claremont/Rancho community for over 30 years, we
recognize that change and new development are inevitable and can be positive for
the communities - contingent upon thoughtful implementation. We hope you will
help implement these requests to make this project a win for the entire
community. 

Regards, 
Robyn and Nathan Tan

LHayes
Line

LHayes
Typewritten Text
I-5

LHayes
Typewritten Text
Letter I



R E S P O N S E S  T O  P U B L I C  C O M M E N T S  
I N I T I A L  S T U D Y / M I T I G A T E D  N E G A T I V E  D E C L A R A T I O N  
J A N U A R Y  2 0 2 0 

V I L L A  S E R E N A  S P E C I F I C  P L A N  
U P L A N D ,  C A L I F O R N I A   

 

R:\FTR1801 Colonies 57 CEQA\IS-MND\Final\RTC 01 2020 cw.docx (01/14/20) 13 

COMMENT LETTER I: ROBYN AND NATHAN TAN 

Response to Comment I-1: The commenter raises questions on past City action and designation of 
related to Alta Avenue and 15th Street. The discretionary land use entitlements associated with the 
project include Site Plan (SP) No. 18-10, Design Review (DR) No. 18-14, General Plan Amendment 
(GPA) No. 18-04, Zone Change (ZC) No. 18-04, Tentative Tract (TT) 18-03, Specific Plan (SPR) 18-02, 
and Environmental Assessment Review (EAR No. 0700) for an Initial Study/Mitigated Negative 
Declaration for approval, and adoption by the City of Upland. The purpose and intent of the IS/MND 
for the project is to identify the potential environmental impacts associated with these actions. The 
IS/MND is not the appropriate venue to consider the intended or actual results of past City actions. 

As stated in Section 3.3.17 of the IS/MND, the project’s impact on local traffic operations was 
addressed through the preparation of a project-specific Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) (IS/MND, 
Appendix I.) The project is anticipated to generate a net total of 623 trip-ends per day with 50 a.m. 
peak hour trips and 65 p.m. peak hour trips. Based on the TIA, no significant Level of Service (LOS) 
impact was identified at any studied intersection under existing, Opening Year (2020), or Future Year 
(2040) conditions. The TIA was reviewed and approved by City staff prior to incorporation in the 
project’s IS/MND. 

While the commenter’s concerns are noted; no specific issue environmental issue has been raised, 
nor has evidence been cited to counter the findings in the technical studies and/or the IS/MND. In the 
absence of any substantial evidence, no new impact or increase in severity of an identified impact has 
been identified by the commenter; therefore, no revision to the IS/MND is required and recirculation 
of the document is not warranted. 

The commenter’s comments regarding this issue are noted and will be fully considered as the project 
is reviewed prior to and during subsequent public hearings. 

Response to Comment I-2: Per the City’s General Plan Final Environmental Impact Report (FEIR) (Page 
5-6, Aesthetics): 

…the northern portion of the City is comprised of hilly terrain, providing scenic views of the 
City and surrounding region. The southern portion of the City is situated at a lower elevation 
and is relatively flat. The City becomes more urbanized from north to south. 

Views of these natural visual resources from the southern portion of the City are limited and 
partially obstructed due to their distance from the mountain range, lower topography, and 
built out nature of the southern area, as well as the density and orientation of the existing 
buildings and structures. There are no General Plan designated scenic views or vistas within 
the City. 

The evaluation of potential impacts to scenic views is limited to those that are experienced from 
publicly accessible vantage point(s). Views from residential backyards are typically not accessible to 
the general public; therefore, these views are not considered significant under CEQA. While the 
commenter claims the change to backyard views would diminish property values, the potential 
economic and social impacts resulting from a project are not treated as significant effects on the 



R E S P O N S E S  T O  P U B L I C  C O M M E N T S  
I N I T I A L  S T U D Y / M I T I G A T E D  N E G A T I V E  D E C L A R A T I O N  
J A N U A R Y  2 0 2 0 

V I L L A  S E R E N A  S P E C I F I C  P L A N  
U P L A N D ,  C A L I F O R N I A   

 

R:\FTR1801 Colonies 57 CEQA\IS-MND\Final\RTC 01 2020 cw.docx (01/14/20) 14 

environment under CEQA unless that economic/social impact causes a physical impact (e.g., 
abandonment and blight) (CEQA Guidelines, Section 15131). 

While the commenter’s opinion is noted, because impacts related to backyard views are not 
considered significant under CEQA, no new impact or increase in severity of an identified impact has 
been identified. No revision to the IS/MND is required and recirculation of the document is not 
warranted. 

Response to Comment I-3: The IS/MND included a detailed discussion of potential air quality and 
noise impacts that could result from the construction and occupation of project. The environmental 
analysis was supported by project-specific air quality and noise studies (IS/MND Appendices, A and H, 
respectively). With the implementation of mitigation and imposition of standard City conditions, 
project-related air quality and noise impacts were reduced to less than significant levels (below 
established thresholds (see IS/MND Sections 3.3.3 and 3.3.13 for air quality and noise discussions, 
respectively). 

The commenter does not raise a specific environmental issue, nor has evidence been cited to counter 
the findings in the technical studies and/or the IS/MND. In the absence of any substantial evidence, 
no new impact or increase in severity of an identified impact has been identified by the commenter; 
therefore, no revision to the IS/MND is required and recirculation of the document is not warranted. 

Response to Comment I-4: A biological resources field assessment of the site was conducted to asses 
potential impacts to on-site biological resources (see IS/MND Appendix B). No sensitive biological 
resources (e.g., sensitive species and critical habitats) have been documented in the immediate area. 
No special-status plant or wildlife species were observed during the field assessment. As stated in 
IS/MND Section 3.3.4, to address potential impacts to biological resources, a pre-construction 
burrowing owl and nesting bird survey is required prior to ground disturbance operations. As required, 
avoidance buffers would be established around any identified nesting activity. The buffers would be 
maintained until nesting activity has been completed. Adherence to the mitigation identified in the 
IS/MND would reduce potential biological resource impacts to a less than significant level. 

The project site constitutes a portion of a the existing 15th Street flood control detention basin, which 
is bounded by residential uses and the Upland Hills Country Club on the north, and single-family 
residential uses on the east, west, and south. Due to the developed nature of the properties 
surrounding the site, there is no connectivity with natural habitats in the immediate project vicinity. 
As such, little or no local wildlife movement is expected to occur through the site. 

The commenter does not raise a specific environmental issue, nor has evidence been cited to counter 
the findings in the technical studies and/or the IS/MND. In the absence of any substantial evidence, 
no new impact or increase in severity of an identified impact has been identified by the commenter; 
therefore, no revision to the IS/MND is required and recirculation of the document is not warranted. 

Response to Comment I-5: The commenter identifies preferred alternative actions related to 
development of the site. CEQA does not require responses to argument, speculation, or 
unsubstantiated opinion or narrative. The commenter’s opinions and preferences are noted and will 
be fully considered as the project is reviewed prior to and during subsequent public hearings. 



From: Caryn Zappia [mailto:caryn.zappia@yahoo.com] 
Sent: Monday, December 2, 2019 6:00 PM
To: Joshua Winter <jwinter@ci.upland.ca.us>
Subject: Housing Development Concerns

WARNING: External email. Please verify sender before opening attachments 
or clicking on links.

Good evening,

My name is Caryn Zappia. I am a resident of 1488 Fernando Avenue in Upland. I have lived in Upland for
36 years. I attended Sycamore, Upland Junior High, and Upland High School. My children currently
attend Foothill Knolls. I am writing to express my strong opposition to the Villa Serena housing
development as it is proposed.
The gated community as planned will be the FIRST in the city that has entrances and exits that do not 
open to a major street. 15th Street in this portion of Upland cannot be characterized as a major street as 
it only has one major cross street. This is problematic due to the sheer number of homes (and their 
residents' vehicles) planned to be built in this area. Imagine 65 cars driving through the neighborhood 
streets each morning to get to school and work. This scenario imagines only one car per family. In all 
other gated communities in Upland, there are multiple exits onto major city streets. The number of cars 
passing through the neighborhood will greatly impact the pollution to our area and the quality of life. My 
children ride their bikes in the street and play in the front yard. They walk across the street to visit the 
neighbors. I have little to worry about because our neighborhood is so calm and peaceful. If this 
extensive number of homes are built, I will not feel confident about my children's safety as they play in 
our neighborhood. Additionally, the added number of cars will increase the amount of pollution in our 
area. We purposefully selected this neighborhood because it is away from busy streets. With fewer 
homes built in this development, the streets would be less busy and I would not worry about the impact 
to our quality of life. Our neighborhood would not be a pleasant place to live, thus nullifying our city's 
motto.

I understand that development is inevitable, and progress must be made. I understand we have a 
housing shortage in California. I do not oppose development on this property. My deep opposition is to 
the excessively high number of home that are being built on that property. I do not think our school has 
enough facilities to support so many more children at our school, though new enrollment is welcomed. 
Has the School District been consulted on how this will impact Foothill Knolls?

I thank you for your attention to my concerns. I look forward to your response to my concerns and to 
those of my neighbors.

Caryn Zappia
909-292-6268

Letter J

LHayes
Line

LHayes
Line

LHayes
Line

LHayes
Typewritten Text
J-1

LHayes
Typewritten Text
J-3

LHayes
Typewritten Text
J-2



R E S P O N S E S  T O  P U B L I C  C O M M E N T S  
I N I T I A L  S T U D Y / M I T I G A T E D  N E G A T I V E  D E C L A R A T I O N  
J A N U A R Y  2 0 2 0 

V I L L A  S E R E N A  S P E C I F I C  P L A N  
U P L A N D ,  C A L I F O R N I A   

 

R:\FTR1801 Colonies 57 CEQA\IS-MND\Final\RTC 01 2020 cw.docx (01/14/20) 15 

COMMENT LETTER J: CARYN ZAPPIA 

Response to Comment J-1:. The commenter identifies her opposition to the project. CEQA does not 
require responses to argument, speculation, or unsubstantiated opinion or narrative. The 
commenter’s opinions and preferences are noted and will be fully considered as the project is 
reviewed prior to and during subsequent public hearings. 

Response to Comment J-2:. The project is anticipated to generate a net total of 623 trips per day with 
50 a.m. peak hour trips and 65 p.m. peak hour trips. Based on the TIA, no significant Level of Service 
(LOS) impact was identified at any studied intersection under existing, Opening Year (2020), or Future 
Year (2040) conditions. The TIA has been reviewed and approved by City staff prior to incorporation 
in the project’s IS/MND. 

Vehicular access to the site is provided from 15th Street at two locations. A primary gated community 
entry for the project is located at the eastern project boundary adjacent to existing residential uses. 
A second gated entry is provided from 15th Street at the western boundary of the project. Fernando 
Avenue does not provide a direct access to the site. As identified by the City, it is reasonable to 
conclude project traffic would utilize roadways (Alta, Monte Verde, and Grove Avenues) with a more 
direct route to the site. Like Fernando Avenue, these streets provide sidewalks on either side of the 
street, which if used, would provide appropriate pedestrian safety. While the commenter’s concerns 
are noted, it is speculative to assume any increase in vehicle traffic would correspondingly decrease 
pedestrian safety. 

The IS/MND included a detailed discussion of potential air quality impacts that could result from the 
construction and occupation of project. The environmental analysis was supported by project-specific 
air quality impact analysis (IS/MND Appendix A). With the implementation of mitigation and 
imposition of standard City conditions, project-related air quality impacts were reduced to less than 
significant levels (below established South Coast Air Quality Management District daily thresholds). 
While the commenter’s opposition to the GPA is noted; no specific issue environmental issue has been 
raised, nor has evidence been cited to counter the findings in the technical studies and/or the IS/MND. 

Response to Comment J-3: Per California Government Code, “The payment or satisfaction of a fee, 
charge, or other requirement levied or imposed … are hereby deemed to be full and complete 
mitigation of the impacts … on the provision of adequate school facilities.” The project will be required 
to pay these development fees in accordance with Government Code 65995 and Education Code 
17620. Through payment of development fees in accordance with Government Code 65995 and 
Education Code 17620, impacts associated with the provision of new or physically altered school 
facilities would be less than significant. 

No new impact or increase in severity of an identified impact has been identified by the commenter; 
therefore, no revision to the IS/MND is required and recirculation of the document is not warranted. 



From: Catina Simons
To: Joshua Winter
Subject: villa Serena housing on 15 st
Date: Monday, December 02, 2019 5:11:25 PM

WARNING: External email. Please verify sender before opening attachments
or clicking on links.

To the Planning of new Housing,

I'm a very concern resident on Fernando Ave.  I live south of 15th st in a very quiet and non 
busy street which I would truly llke to keep this way.  Your building new houses which is going 
to impact my street with lots of traffic and people driving up and down our street.  At this time 
we don't have lots of traffic or problems with parking and I truly want to keep it this way due 
to kids on our street play and run around without worrying about strangers in our area and 
being hit by traffic on our street.  Our crime in our neighborhood will go up greatly and will 
become unsafe for all due to all the traffic coming and going in this area.  I strongly oppose a 
general plan amendment for this project and an enty and exit for the complex that is 
proposed for 15th st and Fernando Ave.

This will cause much more traffic on our street where the entrance and exits ae and it will also 
impact the pollution from the cars and trash from people who will be parking on our street. 
Each single family homes have at least 2 or 3 cars per home and they will not have room to 
park and all their guest who come will also need places to park and we do not want it on our 
street.  You are wanting to build to many houses in this one area which there are city codes 
and we do know that you are not abiding by that code.  I have no problems with new things it 
was just that bringing in more homes on top of each other and trying to get more in to make 
money is not fair to the residents who purchased their homes in this area knowing that it is a 
quiet area without lots of traffic going through our street.  I feel very safe with how our kids 
can play and not worry about how many cars they will have to dodge to be able to play safely.

The City of Upland needs the builder of these homes to conform to the general plan which has 
been tried and trued since the general plan was written in the beginning.  I know the money 
will help Upland but, don't let the city be greedy and roll over to allow these builders to do 
what they want.  You have residents that have been here for a long time and I don't want 
problems occuring from this new development.   I feel 60 homes is too many and the original 
plan was only 30 homes.  I feel you need to keep to the 30 homes and not allow the builders 
to throw their money at you to be able to break the rule that has been estabilshed for a long 
time.  Please listen to our concerns and make your residents proud of the counsil  that they 
voted in or has supported.  We truly pray that you make the right decision.

Truly,

CLF
Sent from Outlook

Letter K

mailto:Xchangmom@hotmail.com
mailto:/O=UPLAND-CA/OU=EXCHANGE ADMINISTRATIVE GROUP (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=Joshua Winter401
LHayes
Line

LHayes
Line

LHayes
Line

LHayes
Typewritten Text
K-1

LHayes
Typewritten Text
K-2

LHayes
Typewritten Text
K-3



R E S P O N S E S  T O  P U B L I C  C O M M E N T S  
I N I T I A L  S T U D Y / M I T I G A T E D  N E G A T I V E  D E C L A R A T I O N  
J A N U A R Y  2 0 2 0 

V I L L A  S E R E N A  S P E C I F I C  P L A N  
U P L A N D ,  C A L I F O R N I A   

 

R:\FTR1801 Colonies 57 CEQA\IS-MND\Final\RTC 01 2020 cw.docx (01/14/20) 16 

Comment Letter K: CATINA SIMONS 

Response to Comment K-1: As stated in Section 3.3.17 of the IS/MND, the project’s impact on local 
traffic operations was addressed through the preparation of a project-specific Traffic Impact Analysis 
(TIA) (IS/MND, Appendix I.) The project is anticipated to generate a net total of 623 trip-ends per day 
with 50 a.m. peak hour trips and 65 p.m. peak hour trips. Based on the TIA, no significant Level of 
Service (LOS) impact was identified at any studied intersection under existing, Opening Year (2020), 
or Future Year (2040) conditions. The TIA was reviewed and approved by City staff prior to 
incorporation in the project’s IS/MND. 

The commenter’s claim that the project will impact pedestrian safety and increase crime in the 
neighborhood is speculative and unsupported by fact; therefore, no response can be provided. The 
commenter’s opinions are noted and will be fully considered as the project is reviewed prior to and 
during subsequent public hearings. 

Response to Comment K-2: Each proposed residential units is provided a two-car garage and two 
open spaces per unit. On-street parking is permitted on designated segments of the project’s internal 
street. The opinion that project activities will cause an “extremely crowded” condition on adjacent 
streets is speculative and unsupported by fact. 

Vehicular access to the site is provided from 15th Street at two locations. A primary gated community 
entry for the project is located at the eastern project boundary adjacent to existing residential uses. 
A second gated entry is provided from 15th Street at the western boundary of the project. Fernando 
Avenue does not provide a direct access to the site. As identified by the City, it is reasonable to 
conclude project traffic would utilize roadways (Alta, Monte Verde, and Grove Avenues) with a more 
direct route to the site. Like Fernando Avenue, these streets provide sidewalks on either side of the 
street, which if used, would provide appropriate pedestrian safety. While the commenter’s concerns 
are noted, it is speculative to assume any increase in vehicle traffic would correspondingly decrease 
pedestrian safety. 

The IS/MND included a detailed discussion of potential air quality impacts that could result from the 
construction and occupation of project. The environmental analysis was supported by project-specific 
air quality impact analysis (IS/MND Appendix A). With the implementation of mitigation and 
imposition of standard City conditions, project-related air quality impacts were reduced to less than 
significant levels (below established South Coast Air Quality Management District daily thresholds). 

Response to Comment K-3: The proposed project includes a General Plan Amendment (GPA) from 
Public Utilities-Flood Control/Recharge (PU-FC/R) to Villa Serena Specific Plan (SP). California 
Government Code (Title 7, Division 1, Chapter 3, Article 8, Section 65450-65457), permits the adoption 
and administration of Specific Plans as an implementation tool for elements contained in the local 
General Plan. Specific Plans must demonstrate consistency in regulations, guidelines, and programs 
with the goals and policies set forth in the General Plan. The Villa Serena Specific Plan as reviewed by 
the City and as incorporated into the IS/MND, provides regulations, guidelines, and standards that are 
consistent with the applicable City of Upland General Plan goals and policies. 



R E S P O N S E S  T O  P U B L I C  C O M M E N T S  
I N I T I A L  S T U D Y / M I T I G A T E D  N E G A T I V E  D E C L A R A T I O N  
J A N U A R Y  2 0 2 0 

V I L L A  S E R E N A  S P E C I F I C  P L A N  
U P L A N D ,  C A L I F O R N I A   

 

R:\FTR1801 Colonies 57 CEQA\IS-MND\Final\RTC 01 2020 cw.docx (01/14/20) 17 

While the commenter’s opinion that “60 homes is too many” is noted, no specific issue environmental 
issue has been raised, nor has evidence been cited to counter the findings in the technical studies 
and/or the IS/MND. The commenter’s opinion will be fully considered prior to and during subsequent 
public hearings related to the project. 

 



From: Roger Flores
To: Joshua Winter
Subject: Villa serena specific plan
Date: Monday, December 09, 2019 8:57:31 AM

WARNING: External email. Please verify sender before opening attachments
or clicking on links.

I'm a resident on Fernando ave south of 15th st and I strongly oppose a general plan
amendment for this project and an entry and exit for the complex that is proposed at 15th st
and Fernando Ave.  This will produce more traffic on the streets where the entrance/exits are
and it will also Impact the pollution from these vehicles especially long term as the single
family household vehicle goes from 2 to 4 vehicle per household. The city of Upland needs
the builder of these homes to conform to the general plan which has been tried and trued since
the general plan was written. This project will also make the neighborhood look out of
conformity if the general plan is amended. Also, since it will be a private community, it will
cause more street parking outside of the community and onto nearby streets. 

mailto:rpflores1@gmail.com
mailto:jwinter@ci.upland.ca.us


R E S P O N S E S  T O  P U B L I C  C O M M E N T S  
I N I T I A L  S T U D Y / M I T I G A T E D  N E G A T I V E  D E C L A R A T I O N  
J A N U A R Y  2 0 2 0 

V I L L A  S E R E N A  S P E C I F I C  P L A N  
U P L A N D ,  C A L I F O R N I A   

 

R:\FTR1801 Colonies 57 CEQA\IS-MND\Final\RTC 01 2020 cw.docx (01/14/20) 18 

COMMENT LETTER L: ROGER FLORES 

Response to Comment L-1: As stated in Section 3.3.17 of the IS/MND, the project’s impact on local 
traffic operations was addressed through the preparation of a project-specific Traffic Impact Analysis 
(TIA) (IS/MND, Appendix I.) The project is anticipated to generate a net total of 623 trip-ends per day 
with 50 a.m. peak hour trips and 65 p.m. peak hour trips. Based on the TIA, no significant Level of 
Service (LOS) impact was identified at any studied intersection under existing, Opening Year (2020), 
or Future Year (2040) conditions. The TIA was reviewed and approved by City staff prior to 
incorporation in the project’s IS/MND. 

The IS/MND included a detailed discussion of potential air quality impacts that could result from the 
construction and occupation of project. The environmental analysis was supported by project-specific 
air quality impact analysis (IS/MND Appendix A). With the implementation of mitigation and 
imposition of standard City conditions, project-related air quality impacts were reduced to less than 
significant levels (below established South Coast Air Quality Management District daily thresholds). 

The proposed project includes a General Plan Amendment (GPA) from Public Utilities-Flood 
Control/Recharge (PU-FC/R) to Villa Serena Specific Plan (SP). California Government Code (Title 7, 
Division 1, Chapter 3, Article 8, Section 65450-65457) permits the adoption and administration of 
Specific Plans as an implementation tool for elements contained in the local General Plan. Specific 
Plans must demonstrate consistency in regulations, guidelines, and programs with the goals and 
policies set forth in the General Plan. The Villa Serena Specific Plan as reviewed by the City and as 
incorporated into the IS/MND, provides regulations, guidelines, and standards that are consistent 
with the applicable City of Upland General Plan goals and policies. 

Each proposed residential units is provided a two-car garage and two open spaces per unit. On-street 
parking is permitted on designated segments of the project’s internal street. The opinion that project 
activities will cause an “extremely crowded” condition on adjacent streets is speculative and 
unsupported by fact. 

The commenter’s opinions will be fully considered prior to and during subsequent public hearings 
related to the project. No new impact or increase in severity of an identified impact has been 
identified by the commenter; therefore, no revision to the IS/MND is required and recirculation of the 
document is not warranted. 



From: Brenda Robles
To: Joshua Winter
Subject: Housing on 15th
Date: Monday, December 09, 2019 8:57:27 AM

WARNING: External email. Please verify sender before opening attachments
or clicking on links.

Mr. Winter,
We would like to address our concerns about the number of units going up on 15th Street. We
want to express that we bought our house in this quiet neighborhood away from crime and
busy streets. I would like to oppose the idea of 60 homes being built versus the thirty homes
originally stated.

I would also like to oppose the opening up of the nearby streets to Campus and Fernando
Avenue.

Thank you for your consideration,
Brenda Robles

mailto:bmrobles04@gmail.com
mailto:jwinter@ci.upland.ca.us


R E S P O N S E S  T O  P U B L I C  C O M M E N T S  
I N I T I A L  S T U D Y / M I T I G A T E D  N E G A T I V E  D E C L A R A T I O N  
J A N U A R Y  2 0 2 0 

V I L L A  S E R E N A  S P E C I F I C  P L A N  
U P L A N D ,  C A L I F O R N I A   

 

R:\FTR1801 Colonies 57 CEQA\IS-MND\Final\RTC 01 2020 cw.docx (01/14/20) 19 

COMMENT LETTER M: BRENDA ROBLES 

Response to Comment M-1: The commenter’s opinions are noted and will be fully considered prior 
to and during subsequent public hearings related to the project. No specific environmental issue has 
been raised, nor has evidence been cited to counter the findings in the technical studies and/or the 
IS/MND. No new impact or increase in severity of an identified impact has been identified by the 
commenter; therefore, no revision to the IS/MND is required and recirculation of the document is not 
warranted. 



From: Teena Romero
To: Joshua Winter
Subject: File No.:Tract 20245 Proposed Development of 65 single Family Homes
Date: Monday, December 09, 2019 8:56:36 AM

WARNING: External email. Please verify sender before opening attachments
or clicking on links.

Dear Joshua,

My husband and I live on the corner of 15th and Fernando Street within walking distance of
your proposed project. We have some concerns with your project impacting our
neighborhoods way of life for example this is a very quiet neighborhood with hardly no cars
parked on sidewalks. With your project it will increase the traffic flow and safety of our
children playing outside. As of now we have not experienced that with our quiet
neighborhood. We would like to know what safety measures your company is willing to make
in behalf of our neighborhood? And also we are concerned on the two way entrance on the
map it shows that one entrance will be in front of our neighborhood, it goes back to the threat
and safety of our neighborhood. Having a higher volume of traffic and cars possibly speeding.
Our last concern with your proposed project houses are being built so close together. Which
will not leave parking spaces in that community which will reflect cars being parked in our
neighborhood and threatens again our children’s safety. We will be attending the council
meeting along with other neighbors.

Thank you,

Teena And Jaime Romero 

mailto:tmromero23@gmail.com
mailto:jwinter@ci.upland.ca.us


R E S P O N S E S  T O  P U B L I C  C O M M E N T S  
I N I T I A L  S T U D Y / M I T I G A T E D  N E G A T I V E  D E C L A R A T I O N  
J A N U A R Y  2 0 2 0 

V I L L A  S E R E N A  S P E C I F I C  P L A N  
U P L A N D ,  C A L I F O R N I A   

 

R:\FTR1801 Colonies 57 CEQA\IS-MND\Final\RTC 01 2020 cw.docx (01/14/20) 21 

COMMENT LETTER N: TEENA ROMERO 

Response to Comment N-1: Each proposed residential units is provided a two-car garage and two 
open spaces per unit. On-street parking is permitted on designated segments of the project’s internal 
street. Vehicular access to the site is provided from 15th Street at two locations. A primary gated 
community entry for the project is located at the eastern project boundary adjacent to existing 
residential uses. A second gated entry is provided from 15th Street at the western boundary of the 
project. Fernando Avenue does not provide a direct access to the site. It is reasonable to conclude 
project traffic would utilize roadways (Alta, Monte Verde, and Grove Avenues) with a more direct 
route to the site. Like Fernando Avenue, these streets provide sidewalks on either side of the street, 
which if used, would provide appropriate pedestrian safety. While the commenter’s concerns are 
noted, it is speculative to assume any increase in vehicle traffic would correspondingly decrease 
pedestrian safety. 

The commenter’s opinions will be fully considered prior to and during subsequent public hearings 
related to the project. No new impact or increase in severity of an identified impact has been 
identified by the commenter; therefore, no revision to the IS/MND is required and recirculation of the 
document is not warranted. 

  





R E S P O N S E S  T O  P U B L I C  C O M M E N T S  
I N I T I A L  S T U D Y / M I T I G A T E D  N E G A T I V E  D E C L A R A T I O N  
J A N U A R Y  2 0 2 0 

V I L L A  S E R E N A  S P E C I F I C  P L A N  
U P L A N D ,  C A L I F O R N I A   

 

R:\FTR1801 Colonies 57 CEQA\IS-MND\Final\RTC 01 2020 cw.docx (01/14/20) 22 

COMMENT LETTER O: PETER JACKSON 

Response to Comment O-1: The modified basin will be graded to create a new basin footprint. A new 
berm will be created between the basin and development site. From the top of the berm, a new slope 
will be graded to the bottom of the modified basin (approximately 1,410 feet above mean sea level). 
Modifications to the bottom of the remaining basin will be made from the toe of the new slope to a 
point approximately 900 linear feet to the east, by grading the bottom of the basin in this area to an 
elevation of approximately 1,410 feet from an existing elevation of 1,414 to 1,415 feet (essential 
lowering the bottom of the basin to fully accommodate anticipated flows.) 

The proposed basin modifications have been reviewed by the City and will be designed and installed 
per applicable City and San Bernardino County criteria (see IS/MND Appendices G1-G5). As detailed 
in IS/MND Section 3.3.10, the increased depth will provide 0.5 feet of freeboard between the 
emergency spillway crest and the 100-year water surface elevation. The emergency spillway will be 
constructed for the 1,000-year event (1.35 × 100-year flow rate) in accordance with San Bernardino 
County Detention Basin Design Criteria, with the required freeboard to the top of the dam 
embankment to be above the 1,000-year water surface elevation. Using a 9-foot wide by 1.5-foot high 
opening, the maximum water surface elevation is projected to be 1,426.1 feet with a peak discharge 
of 246.7 cubic feet per second. This meets the peak discharge and maximum 100-year water surface 
elevation goals. The box weir outlet system would be designed to pass through the 200- to 500-year 
storm, with the emergency spillway providing discharge capacity for larger events. As the box weir 
outlet system can accommodate flows well in excess of the 100-year storm event, it is unlikely flows 
over the emergency spillway would occur during foreseeable storm events. 

The commenter’s observations are noted and will be considered fully prior to and during any public 
hearing related to the project. No new impact or increase in severity of an identified impact has been 
identified. No revision to the IS/MND is required and recirculation of the document is not warranted. 

 

 

 



 

 

Exhibit D – Villa Serena                                             

Public Notice for 1/22/2020 

 



CITY OF UPLAND 

City of Upland Planning Commission 
Notice of Continued Public Hearing 

 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN pursuant to Section 54955 of the Government Code that on December 11, 
2019, the Planning Commission of the City of Upland held a Public Hearing at the Upland City Hall, located 
at 460 North Euclid Avenue, Upland, CA 91786. The Planning Commission of the City of Upland continued 
the public hearing to Wednesday, January 22, 2020 at 6:30 p.m., or as soon thereafter as the case may be 
heard, in the Council Chambers of the Upland City Hall, 460 North Euclid Avenue, Upland, CA 91786, to 
consider a request for approval of: 

 
Project Title:   The Villa Serena Specific Plan  
 
Project No.:  SPECIFIC PLAN NO. SPR-18-02, GENERAL PLAN AMENDMENT NO. GPA-18-04, ZONE CHANGE NO. ZC-18-04, 
TENTATIVE TRACT NO. 20245 (TT-18-03), SITE PLAN NO.  SP-18-10, DESIGN REVIEW NO. DR-18-14, AND ENVIRONMENTAL 
ASSESSMENT REVIEW NO. EAR-0070. 

 
Project Location:  The Project Site constitutes a 9.2-acre portion of a the existing 15th Street flood control detention basin located North of 
E. 15th Street, South of the Upland Hills Golf Course, East of Campus Avenue and West of Grove Avenue. The project site is  
Further described as Assessor’s Parcel Numbers 1045-121-04 and 1045-151-35.  
 
Project Description: The project involves the 
establishment of a Residential Specific Plan for the 
development a gated residential community that consists 
of 65 single-family detached residential units at a density 
of 7.1 dwelling units per acre and on-site active and 
passive recreational amenities to be provided within the 
common area open space on an existing 9.2-acre portion 
of the 15th street flood control detention basin. The 
Project includes modifications (including relocation of 
existing basin infrastructure) to the existing basin to 
accommodate the residential site and maintain a fully 
operational flood control and retention facility on the 
remaining 11.1 acres of the basin area.       
 
Applicant: FH II, LLC, c/o Tim Nguyen, 2151 E. 
Convention Center Way #100, Ontario, CA 91764.  
 
Environmental Assessment: The Initial Study has been 
undertaken to determine if the proposed project may have 
a significant effect on the environment. The Initial Study 
was prepared and completed in accordance with the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines. On the basis of the Initial Study, the City of Upland has concluded that the project 
would have a significant impact, unless mitigated, therefore a Draft Mitigated Negative Declaration (MND) was prepared. The MND reflects 
the independent judgment of the City as a lead agency per CEQA Guidelines. The project site is not on a list compiled pursuant to Government 
Code section 65962.5 and is not considered a project of statewide, regional or area-wide significance and would not affect highways or other 
facilities under the jurisdiction of the State of California Department of Transportation. 

Notice and conduct of public hearing will be in accordance with all pertinent provisions of Chapter 2.7 (Planning and Zoning) of the Government 
Code of the State of California and Upland Municipal Code Title 17 (Planning and Zoning). All plans, environmental information, and other 
data pertinent to the proposed project are filed in the City of Upland’s Development Services Department and will be available for inspection 
prior to the public hearing.  All interested persons are invited to attend this public hearing and express their opinions for or against the proposal. 

If you challenge this project, or the related environmental determination in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues you or someone 
else raised at the public hearing described in this notice, or in written correspondence delivered to the City of Upland, at or prior to, the public 
hearing. 

If you have any questions, please contact Joshua Winter, Associate Planner, at jwinter@ci.upland.ca.us or by phone at (909) 931-4143. 
 

Robert D. Dalquest, Secretary 
Upland Planning Commission  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION REPORT 

 
ITEM NO. 2 

 
 
DATE: JANUARY 22, 2020  
  
TO: PLANNING COMMISSION 
  
FROM: ROBERT D. DALQUEST, DEVELOPMENT SERVICES DIRECTOR 
  
PREPARED BY: JOSHUA WINTER, ASSOCIATE PLANNER  
 
SUBJECT: CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 19-05, TENTATIVE PARCEL 

MAP NO. 19435 (TPM-19-01), SITE PLAN NO. 19-02, DESIGN 
REVIEW-NO. 19-02 AND ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT 
REVIEW NO. EAR-0079 TO SUBDIVIDE AN EXISTING 3.8 
ACRE PARCEL INTO 2 PARCELS, ONE BEING 2.5 ACRES AND 
ONE BEING 1.3 ACRES. THE REQUEST INCLUDES THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF 60 TOWNHOUSE APARTMENTS WITHIN 
ELEVEN BUILDINGS AT A DENSITY OF 24 UNITS PER ACRE 
INCLUDING ASSOCIATED IMPROVEMENTS ON THE 2.5 ACRE 
PARCEL LOCATED AT 790 MESA COURT (APN: 1046-102-13). 

 
 

 
PROJECT BACKGROUND 
 
The Planning Commission held a Public Hearing regarding this project on December 
11, 2019 (See Exhibit B – Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019).  
During the Public Hearing, multiple residents spoke about the project, specifically 
concerned with traffic and safety along Campus Avenue.  Concerns included an unsafe 
pedestrian crosswalk at the intersection of Mesa Court and Campus Avenue and 
vehicle parking on the east side of Campus Avenue which blocks visibility for 
motorists at the intersection of Campus Avenue and the alley located approximately 
200 feet north of 11th Street.    
 
Citing these concerns, the Planning Commission moved to continue the item so that 
Public Works staff could review the issues along Campus Avenue, and identify 
improvements that could be made along Campus Avenue prior to taking action on 



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Mesa Court Apartments 

January 22, 2020 
Page 2 of 3 

 
 

the Project.  As such, the Public Works Director, made a visit the area to identify 
possible improvements.  
 
As existing, Campus Avenue, between Mesa Court and 11th Street does not allow 
parking on the west side of Campus Avenue, but does allow parking on the east side.  
On the east side of Campus Avenue, one area, 175 feet south of the Mesa Court 
intersection with Campus Avenue, does not allow for parking (See Exhibit C – Campus 
Avenue Existing Condition).  The Public Works Director has identified three (3) areas 
of improvement, to create a safer environment along Campus Avenue, which include: 
 

1. No parking on Campus Avenue, within 175 feet south of the Campus Avenue 
and the alley intersection.   
 

2. No parking on Campus Avenue, within 45 feet north of the Campus Avenue 
and the alley intersection.   
 

3. Potential additional striping provisions at the Mesa Court intersection with 
Campus Avenue and in the current no parking area 175 feet south of Mesa 
Court.  Additional evaluation is needed to determine the appropriateness of 
additional striping provisions.    
 

These improvements will improve visibility for motorist along Campus Avenue, and 
motorists entering Campus Avenue from the alley, as well as improving the safety of 
pedestrians using the crosswalk at Mesa Court and Campus Avenue. The Public Works 
Director has provided an Exhibit to show the parking plan, and the standards for sight 
distance at and uncontrolled intersection used by Public Works to determine 
appropriate distances for no parking areas (See Exhibit D – Public Work Plan and 
Standards).  In addition, the Public Works Director has already instructed staff to 
move forward with the improvements.   

Finally, the Public Works Director did look at the potential to completely eliminate 
parking on the east side of Campus Avenue between Mesa Court and 11th Street, but 
does not support that idea because, not only would that dramatically reduce needed 
parallel parking, but the parked cars act as a traffic calming measure, needed along 
Campus Avenue.  With the road completely open, motorists would likely speed up, 
creating additional safety concerns.    

RECOMMENDATION  
 
The Planning Division recommends that the Planning Commission adopt a Resolution 
entitled: 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF UPLAND 
APPROVING CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 19-05, TENTATIVE PARCEL MAP NO. 
19435 (TPM-19-01), SITE PLAN NO. 19-02, DESIGN REVIEW-NO. 19-02 AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT REVIEW NO. EAR-0079 TO SUBDIVIDE AN EXISTING 
3.8 ACRE PARCEL INTO 2 PARCELS, ONE BEING 2.5 ACRES AND ONE BEING 1.3 



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Mesa Court Apartments 

January 22, 2020 
Page 3 of 3 

 
 

ACRES AND THE APPROVAL FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF 60 TOWNHOUSE 
APARTMENTS WITHIN ELEVEN BUILDINGS AT A DENSITY OF 24 UNITS PER ACRE 
INCLUDING ASSOCIATED IMPROVEMENTS ON THE 2.5 ACRE PARCEL LOCATED AT 
790 MESA COURT (APN: 1046-102-13). 
 
MOTION 
 

• Find that the project is Categorically Exempt from environmental proceedings 
pursuant to Article 19, Section 15332, In-Fill Development Projects, Class 32 
(a-e), of the California Environmental Quality Act; and 

 
• Move to adopt a Resolution Approving Conditional Use Permit No. CUP-19-05, 

Tentative Parcel Map No. TPM-19-01, Site Plan No. SP-19-02, Design Review 
No. DR-19-02. 

 
EXHIBITS 
 
Exhibit A: Revised Draft Resolution  
Exhibit B: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019  
Exhibit C: Campus Avenue Existing Condition 
Exhibit D: Public Work Plan and Standards 
 
 
 



 

 

Exhibit A – Revised Draft Resolution 

 



EXHIBIT A 
RESOLUTION NO. 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE 
CITY OF UPLAND APPROVING CONDITIONAL USE 
PERMIT NO. 19-05, TENTATIVE PARCEL MAP NO. 19435 
(TPM-19-01), SITE PLAN NO. 19-02, AND DESIGN 
REVIEW-NO. 19-02 TO SUBDIVIDE AN EXISTING 3.8 
ACRE PARCEL INTO 2 PARCELS, ONE BEING 2.5 ACRES 
AND ONE BEING 1.3 ACRES AND THE APPROVAL FOR THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF 60 TOWNHOUSE APARTMENTS 
WITHIN ELEVEN BUILDINGS AT A DENSITY OF 24 UNITS 
PER ACRE INCLUDING ASSOCIATED IMPROVEMENTS ON 
THE 2.5 ACRE PARCEL LOCATED AT 790 MESA COURT 
(APN: 1046-102-13). 

 
Intent of the Parties and Findings 
 

WHEREAS, Soroush Rahbari. (Applicant) has filed applications requesting 
approval of the Project; 

 
WHEREAS, California Government Code Section 65402 requires the City to 

determine that the location, purpose and extent of the proposed street vacation is in 
conformance with the General Plan.  The Planning Commission is the review authority 
tasked with making the General Plan Conformity Determination; 
 

WHEREAS, Upland Municipal Code Section 17.43.050 E.  Requires that if one 
or more permit application is submitted concurrently for a single proposed project, 
each application shall be acted upon concurrently by the highest review authority.  In 
this case, the highest review authority is the City Council, therefore the Planning 
Commission shall make a recommendation to the City Council;  
 

WHEREAS, Upland Municipal Code Section 17.44 provides that the Planning 
Commission may attach conditions to the approval of the project as needed to ensure 
compliance with the Zoning Ordinance, other City Ordinances, the General Plan, and 
any other applicable community or specific plan, previously approved subdivisions 
and parcel maps  and easements;  

 
WHEREAS, the project is considered a project as defined by the California 

Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), Public Resources Code Section 21000 et seq.;  
 
WHEREAS, The Development Services Director has determined that the project 

qualifies for a Categorical Exemption from the provisions of CEQA per Section 15332, 
Class 32, In-Fill Development Projects, of the CEQA Guidelines;  

 
WHEREAS, The City of Upland Planning Division on November 27, 2019, posted 

two (2) true and correct copies of the legal notice at the Upland City Hall Bulletin 
Board and at the Upland Public Library in accordance with the Upland Municipal Code 
Section 17.46.020;  

 
WHEREAS, The City of Upland Planning Division on November 27, 2019, mailed 

the public hearing notice to each property owner within a 300-foot radius of the 



Page 2 of 26  

 
project site indicating the date and time of the public hearing in compliance with state 
law concerning the Project; 

 
WHEREAS, The City of Upland Planning Division on November 29, 2019, 

published a legal notice in the Inland Valley Daily Bulletin, a local paper of general 
circulation, indicating the date and time of the public hearing in compliance with state 
law concerning the Project; and 

 
WHEREAS, The City of Upland Planning Commission conducted a duly noticed 

public hearing on December 11, 2019 and January 22, 2020, at which time it received 
public testimony concerning the Project, and considered the CEQA Exemption for the 
proposed project and the project itself. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Planning Commission hereby finds, determines and 
resolves as follows:  
 

Section 1. Actions the Planning Commission has taken: 
 
A. Found that the project is Categorically Exempt from environmental 

proceedings pursuant to Article 19, Section 15332, In-Fill Development 
Projects, Class 32 (a-e), of the California Environmental Quality Act, since the 
proposed project is consistent with applicable general plan designations and 
policies as well as applicable zoning designation and regulations; occurs within 
city limits on a property that is no more than five acres substantially 
surrounded by urban uses; has no value as habitat for endangered, rare or 
threatened species; approval of the project would not result in any significant 
effects relating to traffic, noise, air quality, or water quality; and the site can 
be adequately served by all required utilities and public services. 

 
B. Approve Conditional Use Permit No. CUP-19-05, Tentative Parcel Map No. 

19435 (TPM-19-01), Site Plan No. SP-19-02, Design Review No. DR-19-02 to 
subdivide an existing 3.8 acre parcel into 2 parcels, one being 2.5 acres and 
one being 1.3 acres. The approval includes the development of 60 townhouse 
apartments within eleven buildings at a density of 24 units per acre including 
associated improvements on the 2.5 acre parcel. 

 
Section 2. FINDINGS.  The Planning Commission hereby makes the following 

findings and determinations in connection with the approval of the Project:   
 

A. The above Recitals are true and correct. 
 

B. The project is consistent with the following General Plan Policies:  
 

1. Policy LU-1.2 Permitted Densities and Intensities. Ensure existing and 
future zoning designations correspond to the permitted density and 
intensity ranges as listed in Table LU-1 of the Land Use Element. 
Fact: The project density is 24 dwelling units/acre, which is allowed 
within the General Plan Land Use Designation and Zone. 
 



Page 3 of 26  

 
2. Policy LU-1.5 Range of Housing Types and Densities. Provide high-

quality housing in a range of types, densities, and unit sizes that meets 
the housing needs of residents of all income levels. 
 
Fact the project provides townhome style apartment units that will meet 
the needs of housing seekers at the Market-rate level.  The Project adds 
to the City’s housing stock for renters in the City’s efforts to address the 
housing needs of all income levels. 
 

3. Policy LU-4.1 Infill Development. Encourage mixed-use, infill 
development on brownfields or underutilized parcels, particularly near 
public transit and within the historic downtown.  
 
Fact: The project will fill a currently underutilized parcel.  The site is site 
surrounded by built urban environment and is served by existing 
infrastructure and roadways.  
 

4. Policy CC-2.5 Neighborhood Amenities. Encourage appropriately scaled 
community-supportive facilities and services within all neighborhoods to 
enhance neighborhood identity and provide convenient access within 
walking and biking distance of residents. 
 
Fact: The project will provide multiple recreation facilities for its 
residents, including a central park with tot lot and exercise area, as well 
as two Barbecue areas.  Further, the project is within walking distance 
to multiple Commercial uses, including the Upland Country Village 
shopping center.     

 
C. Per Section 17.44.040 F. the Planning Commission may approve an application 

for a Conditional Use Permit only if the proposed project complies with 
applicable standards in the Zoning Ordinance, other City ordinances, the 
General Plan, and any other applicable community or specific plans, and as 
supported by all of the following findings: 
 

1. Finding - The location, size, design, and operating characteristics of the 
proposed use will be compatible with the existing and future land uses 
near the subject property.  
 
Evidence – The location, size, design, and operating characteristics of 
the proposed use will be compatible with the existing and future land 
uses near the subject property in that the use is surrounded primarily 
by residential land uses. The development meets all applicable 
development standards and the operation of the use will not result in 
any significant impacts to the environment or surrounding uses. 

    
2. Finding - The site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, 

shape, size, operating characteristics, and the provision of public and 
emergency vehicle (e.g. fire and medical) access and public services and 
utilities. 



Page 4 of 26  

 
Evidence – The site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, 
shape, size, operating characteristics, and the provision of public and 
emergency (e.g. fire and medical) access and public services and 
utilities because the proposed use meets or exceeds all applicable 
development standards for the zone.  The site provides for adequate fire 
lanes and access for emergency and/or public service vehicles.  

 
3. Finding - The proposed use will not be detrimental to the public health, 

safety, and welfare of the persons residing or working in the 
neighborhood of the proposed use. 
 
Evidence – No evidence exists to suggest that the proposed use will be 
detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, or general welfare. 
The project will result in the elimination of a large vacant property.  The 
project will not result in any significant impacts to the environment or 
surrounding uses. 
 

D. Upland Municipal Code Section 17.44.080(F) provides that the Planning 
Commission, before it may approve a Tentative Tract Map shall make the 
following findings: 
 

1. Finding: No Lots shall be created without frontage on a public street, 
except lots created in conjunction with approved private access 
easements. 

Evidence: The 2.5-acre Parcel will be landlocked as a result of the 
subdivision, therefore the applicant will dedicate an easement for public 
use along the existing drive isle at the east boundary of the site, from 
Mesa Court to the southern boundary of the project site.  The dedication 
will result in a minimum 26-foot drive isle with curb gutter, and a 5 foot 
sidewalk provided for pedestrian access to the site. 

2. Finding: The side lines of the lots shall run at right angles or radially to 
the street upon which the lot fronts, except where impractical by reason 
of unusual topography.  

Evidence: The side lines of all lots run at right angles or radially to the 
street upon which the lot fronts. 

3. Finding: Lots shall be equal or larger in measure than the prevalent size 
of existing lots in the surrounding area except where a deliberate change 
in the character of the area has been initiated by the adoption of a 
specific plan, a change in zone or general plan designation. 

Evidence: The project will result in 2 parcels, one being 2.5 acres and 
one being 1.3 acres. Surrounding parcels range from .25 acres to 2.8 
acres, therefore the new lots are consistent with the lots in the 
surrounding the Project.  



Page 5 of 26  

 
4. Finding: The site is physically suitable for the proposed type and density 

of development. 

Evidence: The site is physically suitable for the proposed type and 
density of development in that, the proposed density is within the 
limitations for the zone, the site contains adequate common open space 
amenities and parking for the project, the site meets all applicable 
development standards, and the site maintains adequate space for 
needed infrastructure improvements. 
 

5. Finding: The design of the subdivision or the proposed improvements is 
not likely to cause substantial environmental damage or substantially 
and avoidably injure fish or wildlife or their habitat.   

Evidence:  The project site has no value as a habitat for endangered, 
rare or threatened species and approval of the project would not result 
in any significant effects relating to traffic, noise, air quality, or water 
quality, therefore, the design of the subdivision or the proposed 
improvements is not likely to cause substantial environmental damage 
or substantially and avoidably injure fish or wildlife or their habitat.  

6. Finding: The design of the subdivision or type of improvements is not 
likely to cause problems to the public health, safety, or welfare. 

Evidence: The design of the subdivision provides for access 
improvements that provide for adequate emergency vehicle access, 
vehicle and pedestrian circulation.  The type of improvements meet the 
requirements of the Upland Zoning Code.  The project was reviewed an 
appropriately conditioned by Police and Fire services. Therefore, the 
design of the subdivision or type of improvements is not anticipated to 
cause problems to the public health, safety, or welfare of the 
community.  

7. Finding: The design of the subdivision and the type of improvements 
will not conflict with easements, acquired by the public at large, for 
access through or use of, property within the proposed subdivision. In 
this connection, the review authority may approve a map if it finds that 
alternative easements, for access or for use, will be provided, and that 
these will be substantially equivalent to ones previously acquired by the 
public. 

Evidence: The Public Works Department has reviewed the proposed 
design of the subdivision and has determined there are no conflicts with 
existing easements.   

8. Finding: The design of the subdivision provides to the extent feasible, 
for future passive or natural heating or cooling opportunities in the 
subdivision. 



Page 6 of 26  

 
Evidence: The project provides adequate space between buildings to 
allow for natural airflow.  The subdivision provides adequate space for 
trees in the project which will provide some natural shading.  Buildings 
will include eaves that provide additional shade on building walls and all 
roofs will be solar ready as required by the California Building Code.  
Buildings are also required to comply with Title 24 energy requirements.   

E. Upland Municipal Code Section 17.44.030(H) provides that the approval body, 
before it may approve a Development Plan (Site Plan and Design Review), shall 
make a determination to allow the activity based upon the following findings: 

1. Finding: The design and layout of the proposed project will not interfere 
with the use and enjoyment of existing and future neighboring 
properties and structures. 

 
Evidence: The design and layout of the project includes the construction 
of a private drive isle and circulation improvements.  The project meets 
or exceeds required development standards including open space and 
parking requirements.  A traffic analysis was prepared for the project 
and found that the project would not result in any significant impacts to 
the surrounding neighborhood.  Therefore, the proposed project will not 
interfere with the use and enjoyment of existing and future neighboring 
properties and structures.   

 
2. Finding: The proposed architectural design makes use of appropriate 

materials, texture, and color, and will remain aesthetically appealing 
and appropriately maintained. 

 
Evidence: The proposed architectural design makes use of gable pop-
outs, varied setbacks and recessed porches, masonry materials and 
stucco walls in multiple colors that create aesthetically appealing 
buildings. Conditions of approval are included to ensure the buildings 
will remain aesthetically appealing and appropriately maintained.      

 
3. Finding: The proposed landscaping design, including color, location, 

size, texture, type, and coverage of plant materials, as well as provisions 
for irrigation, maintenance, and protection of landscaping elements, will 
complement structures and provide an attractive environment. 

 
Evidence: The preliminary landscape plan proposes the use of plant 
material that provide varied color and texture.  The plans shows 
landscaping that includes a variety of plants materials, distinct in color 
and size, as well a large number of new trees all of which will be 
maintained by the property owner.  Conditions of approval are included 
requiring the submittal of Final Landscape and Irrigation plans for review 
and approval.  Therefore, the proposed landscaping design is sufficient 
in terms of color, location, size, texture, type, and coverage of plant 
materials, as well as provisions for irrigation, maintenance, and 
protection of landscaping elements, will complement structures and 
provide an attractive environment.   



Page 7 of 26  

 
4. Finding: The proposed design will not be materially detrimental to the 

public health, safety, or welfare, or be injurious to the property or 
improvements in the vicinity of the proposed project. 

 
Evidence: The proposed design includes adequate Emergency Vehicle 
Access.  The project has been conditioned by the Upland Police 
Department with multiple safety requirements, and will include 
complete plan check reviews by the Upland Building Division and San 
Bernardino County Fire Department thereby protecting safety and 
welfare. Improvements in the vicinity of the project include improved 
circulation around the project site, beneficial to the properties in the 
vicinity of the proposed project.  Therefore, the proposed design will not 
be materially detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare, or be 
injurious to the property or improvements in the vicinity of the proposed 
project.  

Section 3. DETERMINATION.  In light of the evidence presented at the hearing 
on this application, and based on the findings set forth above, the Planning 
Commission hereby finds that the requirements necessary for the approval of the 
Project, subject to all applicable provisions of the Upland Municipal Code, and the 
following conditions of approval: 
 
10.0 General Conditions 
 

10.1 All Ordinances, Policy Resolutions, and Standards of the City in effect at 
the time this project is approved shall be complied with as a condition 
of this approval. 
 

10.2 The project shall comply with development standards and guidelines 
prescribed within the Upland Municipal Code. 

 
10.3 Prior to issuance of future permits, all tract maps and development plans 

shall be subject to plan check with the Planning Division, Building 
Division, Engineering Division, Public Works Department and Fire 
Department. 
 

10.4 No construction or grading shall commenced until the applicable final 
maps, final grading and improvement plans have been approved.   

 
10.5 No building permits shall be issued until rough grading has been certified 

by the Engineer of Record, and a building permit has been issued by the 
Building Division. 

 
10.6 All landscaped areas shall be maintained in a healthy and thriving 

condition, free from weeds, trash, and debris at all times.  Dead, 
damaged, and/or missing landscaping shall be replaced/replanted, 
subject to the satisfaction of the Planning Division. 

 
10.7 To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Applicant shall indemnify, 

defend and hold the City, its elected officials, officers, contractors 



Page 8 of 26  

 
serving as City officers, agents, and employees (“Indemnitees”) free 
and harmless from: (i) any and all claims, liabilities and losses 
whatsoever occurring or resulting to any and all persons, firms, entities, 
or corporations furnishing or supplying work, services, materials, or 
supplies in connection with, or related to, the performance of work or 
the exercise of rights authorized by approval of the project; and (ii) any 
and all claims, lawsuits, liabilities, and/or actions arising out of, or 
related to the approval of Conditional Use Permit No. CUP-19-05, 
Tentative Parcel Map No. TPM-19-01, Site Plan No. SP-19-02, Design 
Review No. DR-19-02 (Project) and/or the granting or exercise of the 
rights authorized by said approval; and (iii) from any and all claims, 
liabilities and losses occurring or resulting to any person, firm, entity, 
corporation for property damage, personal injury, or death, arising out 
of or related to the approval of, or exercise of rights granted by, this 
Project. Applicant's obligation to indemnify, defend, and hold the 
Indemnitees free and harmless as required hereinabove shall include, 
but is not limited to, paying all fees and costs incurred by legal counsel 
of the Indemnitees’ choice in representing the Indemnitees in 
connection with any such claims, losses, lawsuits, or actions, and any 
award of damages, judgments, verdicts, court costs or attorneys' fees 
in any such lawsuit or action. 
 

10.8 The applicant and recorded property owner of the property shall submit 
to the Development Services Department written evidence of agreement 
with all conditions of this approval before the approval becomes 
effective. 

 
10.9 Expansion of project beyond the scope and nature of the project, which 

would increase the projected scale of the project, shall not be permitted 
except upon application for and approval of modification to this 
approval. 
   

10.10 The developer shall not engage in any construction activities other than 
between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. on weekdays, except in 
case of urgent necessity in the interest of public health and safety or as 
otherwise approved by the Development Services Director. 

 
10.11 Termination of approval if either: (1) development has not been 

diligently commenced and actively pursued to completion thereafter 
within a two (2) year period from the date of approval (i.e. December 
11, 2021); or, (2) if the use approved hereunder is discontinued for a 
period of one hundred and eighty days or longer; or, (3) non-compliance 
with any provision of the Upland Municipal (UMC) not specifically waived 
in compliance with City procedures. 

 
20.0 Planning Division Conditions  
 

20.1 The applicant shall submit Final Map exhibits to the Public Works 
Department for review and approval prior to recordation. 



Page 9 of 26  

 
20.2 Prior to final approval of the last building permit for the project, all 

existing chain-link fence on the project site shall be removed and 
replaced with decorative masonry walls.  Walls may include decorative 
wrought iron screening elements.  In addition, any fences/walls 
proposed for the project shall be of decorative masonry materials, and 
may include decorative wrought iron screening elements (e.g. 6-foot tall 
split face block columns with 3 foot block walls topped with decorative 
wrought iron/tubular steel).     

 
20.3 Prior to the issuance of building permits, the applicant is required to 

submit a final landscape and irrigation plan for review and approval by 
the Planning Division.  Landscape plans will include all open space areas, 
common landscaped area and right-of-way landscaping. 

 
20.4 Prior to the issuance of permits, the applicant shall include, on the plans 

submitted for plan check, bicycle parking as required by Upland 
Municipal Code section 17.11.060.  Bicycle parking shall be installed 
prior to Final Inspection of the last building. 

 
20.5 During construction, the applicant shall comply with the following Best 

Management Practices for noise management during construction. 
 

a. Re-route truck traffic away from residential streets, if possible. Select 
streets with fewest homes, if no alternatives are available.  

 
b. Locate equipment on the construction lot as far away from noise 

sensitive receivers as possible.  
 
c. Combine noisy operations to occur in the same time period. The total 

noise will not increase significantly and the duration of the noise 
impact will be less.  

 
d. It is unlawful for any person to engage in or permit the erection 

(including excavation), demolition, alteration or repair of any 
building other than between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. 
on weekdays, except in case of urgent necessity in the interest of 
public health and safety, and then only with a permit from the 
building inspector, which permit may be granted for a period not to 
exceed three days or less while the emergency continues, and which 
permit may be renewed for periods of three days or less while the 
emergency continues. If the building inspector should determine that 
the public health and safety will not be impaired by the erection, 
demolition, alteration or repair of any building or the excavation of 
streets and highways within the hours of 6:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m., 
and if he or she shall further determine that loss or inconvenience 
would result to any party in interest, he or she may grant permission 
for such work to be done within the hours of 6:00 p.m. and 7:00 
a.m., upon application being made at the time the permit for the 
work is awarded or during the progress of the work. 



Page 10 of 26  

 
e. Use specially quieted equipment when possible, such as quieted and 

enclosed air compressors, residential or critical grade mufflers on all 
engines.  

 
f. Stationary equipment will be located as far away from sensitive 

receptors as possible. Loud, disrupting construction activities in noise 
sensitive areas will be conducted during hours that are least 
disturbing to adjacent and nearby residents.  

 
g. If noise above the stated regulation will be generated for long periods 

of time, construct barriers to block the line of sight to noise sensitive 
receivers.  

 
20.6 During construction, the applicant shall comply with the following Best 

Management Practices for air quality management during construction. 
Prior to issuance of any Grading Permit, the Development Services 
Director and the Engineering/Land Development Division shall confirm 
that the Grading Plan, Building Plans, and specifications stipulate that, 
in compliance with SCAQMD Rule 403, excessive fugitive dust emissions 
shall be controlled by regular watering or other dust prevention 
measures, as specified in the SCAQMD’s Rule and Regulations. In 
addition, SCAQMD Rule 402 requires implementation of dust 
suppression techniques to prevent fugitive dust from creating a nuisance 
offsite. Implementation of the following measures would reduce short-
term fugitive dust impacts on nearby sensitive receptors: 
 
a. All active portions of the construction site shall be watered twice daily 

to prevent excessive amounts of dust; 

b. Non-toxic soil stabilizers shall be applied to all inactive construction 
areas (previously graded areas inactive for 20 days or more, 
assuming no rain), according to manufacturers’ specifications; 

c. All excavating and grading operations shall be suspended when wind 
gusts (as instantaneous gust) exceed 25 miles per hour; 

d. On-site vehicle speed shall be limited to 15 miles per hour; on-site 
roads shall be paved as soon as feasible, watered twice daily, or 
chemically stabilized; 

e. Visible dust shall not cross the property line; 

f. All material transported off-site shall be either sufficiently watered 
or securely covered to prevent excessive amounts of dust prior to 
departing the job site; 

g. Track-out devices shall be used at all construction site access points; 



Page 11 of 26  

 
h. All delivery truck tires shall be watered down and/or scraped down 

prior to departing the job site; 

i. A construction relations officer shall be appointed to act as a 
community liaison concerning on-site construction activity including 
resolution of issues related to fugitive dust generation; 

j. Streets shall be swept at the end of the day if visible soil material is 
carried onto adjacent paved public roads and use of SCAQMD Rule 
1186 and 1186.1 certified street sweepers or roadway; and 

k. Replace ground cover in disturbed areas as quickly as possible. 

30.0 Public Works Conditions  
 

I  SUBDIVISION MAPS (EASEMENTS-MONUMENTS-BONDS) 
 

Map/Lot Merger 
 

30.1 The approval of this project is subject to, and contingent upon, the 
recordation of a Final Map/Lot merger.  Said Final Map/ Lot Merger shall 
have adequate reservations of public and/or private utility easements 
and abandonment of existing utility easements to the satisfaction of the 
Public Works Director. Required easement outside of the project 
boundaries currently owned by this project’s developer shall be 
dedicated to the public thru separate instruments.  

 
30.2 The submittal, approval, and recordation of the final map/lot merger 

shall be in accordance with the provisions of the State Subdivision Map 
Act, state and federal laws, and Upland Municipal Code.   

 
30.3 The developer shall provide for reciprocal access between the two 

parcels and residents of the two properties. 
 
30.4 Existing easement running on the project site shall be 

abandoned/vacated by the City upon recordation of the map/merger. 
 
30.5 Final Tract Map/ Lot Merger shall be submitted for City approval. 

 
Right-of-Way Dedication and Easements 
  
30.6 The project shall reserve and record easements for ingress and egress 

for the adjacent parcel/lots. 
 
30.7 Minimum twenty-six-foot-wide easement shall be dedicated for ingress 

and ingress and as utility easement as required for the proposed onsite 
improvement. 

 
 



Page 12 of 26  

 
Monuments 
 
30.8 The Owner/Developer shall comply with Assembly Bill 1414, which was 

enacted into law and effective January 1, 1995.  This bill amended 
Section 8771 of the Business and Professions Code (of the Land 
Surveyors Act).  The County Surveyor requires that two corner records 
be filed; they are when: 

 
a. Monuments exist that controls the location of subdivisions or tracts, 

streets or highways; or provides survey control.  The monuments are 
located and referenced by a licensed Land Surveyor before any 
streets or highways are reconstructed or relocated.  The corner 
record(s) of the references are filed with the County Surveyor. 

 
b. Monuments are reset in the surface of the new construction and a 

corner record is filed with the County Surveyor before recording of a 
Certificate (Notice) of Completion for the project. 

 
30.9 Permanent survey monuments shall be set at the intersection of street 

centerlines, beginning, and end of curves in centerlines, and at other 
locations designated by the Director of Public Works/City Engineer.  All 
other centerline monuments shall be in accordance with standard survey 
practice.  A complete set of all street centerline ties (a minimum of three 
per monument) shall be submitted prior to final project acceptance. 

 
Bonds 
 
30.10 Before the recordation of the Map/Merger or the issuance of a permit, a 

security bond shall be posted in a form acceptable to the City.  Also 
accompanying the surety shall be an agreement executed to the 
satisfaction of the Public Works Director and the City Attorney, 
guaranteeing completion of all public improvements. 

 
II  STREET IMPROVEMENTS 
 
30.11 All deficient public improvements shall be upgraded to current City 

Standards and to the satisfaction of the Public Works Director.  
 
30.12 Main access to the project site is from Mesa Court through an existing 

easement to the project site. Developer shall dedicate additional width 
to make a total of 32-foot wide easement from Mesa Court to the site. 
Additional easement shall be dedicated to include portion of the existing 
driveway from the east and additional easement towards the south 
connecting to the existing alley as shown on the developer’s tentative 
exhibit. These entry ways and easement shall be improved with asphalt 
pavement, concrete sidewalk and curb and gutter as shown on the 
developer’s exhibit.     

 



Page 13 of 26  

 
30.13 Asphalt paving and similar other features damaged during construction 

shall be replaced to the City’s satisfaction. 
 

30.14 Improvement of entry ways from project site to Mesa Court shall include 
removal and replacement of damaged or deficient sidewalk, curb and 
gutter and asphalt slurry seal the street at a minimum. Additional width 
shall be constructed with full depth asphalt as determined thru 
calculations by the engineer. Truncated dome shall be placed at both 
ADA ramps at the Mesa Court/entry intersection. ADA compliant ramps 
shall be constructed at entrance/exit of the project. Landscaping and 
irrigation plans shall be submitted for City review and approval. Drought 
tolerant and water efficient irrigation system shall be required. Parkway 
landscaping shall be maintained by the Owner/Developer. Landscaping 
shall comply with the latest State Landscaping Code. 

 
30.15 In accordance with California Building Code, Title 24 and the 

requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), handicap 
facilities shall be constructed and existing facilities shall be 
reconstructed within the project limits, as necessary, in locations 
specified by the Director of Public Works/City Engineer and the Director 
of Community Development. 

 
III  UTILITY (WATER – SEWER – ENVIRONMENTAL) 
 
Utility General 
 
30.16 All utility companies shall be contacted to establish appropriate 

easements to provide services to each lot/structure. 
 
30.17 All lots/structures shall be served by utilities, allowing each lot/structure 

to function separately and independent from one another. 
 
30.18 The Owner/Developer is responsible for research on private utility lines 

(Gas, Edison, Telephone, Cable, Irrigation, etc.) to ensure there are no 
conflicts with the site. 

 
30.19 All existing on-site utility lines, if any, that conflict with this project shall 

be relocated and removed to the satisfaction of the Public Works 
Director. 

 
30.20 Composite Utility Plans shall be submitted before the issuance of a 

Grading Permit.  Any easements will be dedicated to the appropriate 
Utility Company as required to accommodate the location and 
maintenance of each facility. 

 
Undergrounding 
 
30.21 All lots/structures within this project shall be served by underground 

utilities.  All utility plans (Edison, Telephone, and Cable TV, among 



Page 14 of 26  

 
others) shall be submitted to the Public Works Department for review 
and approval prior to the issuance of any permits for utility work within 
public right-of-way or public easements. 

 
30.22 The existing overhead utilities (including telephone, cable and SCE 

distribution lines) on the project site and frontage shall be underground 
in accordance with Upland Municipal Code. 

 
30.23 Undergrounding of existing utilities shall be completed before issuance 

of the first occupancy. 
 
Environmental 
 
30.24 This project is subject to the General Construction Permit for Storm 

Water Discharges.  The Owner/Developer is required to file a Notice of 
Intent (NOI) with the State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB) for 
construction activities.  A Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan 
(SWPPP) shall be prepared and be available at the job site at all times.  
A copy of the Waste Discharger’s Identification Number (WDID) from 
the SWRCB shall be provided to the City before the issuance of grading 
or building permits. 

 
30.25 This project is required to submit a Site Specific Water Quality 

Management Plan (WQMP) (reference City Of Upland “Construction 
Stormwater Guidelines” and the County of San Bernardino “Guidelines 
for New Development and Redevelopment”) for review and approval by 
the City Of Upland, Public Works Department, Environmental Division.  
The WQMP shall include a description and map of the project along with 
an outline of structural and non-structural Best Management Practices 
(BMPs), which apply to the project pursuant to the “New Development 
and Redevelopment Guidelines.”  The subject WQMP shall be approved 
prior to the issuance of grading permit. 

 
30.26 Prior to issuance of any permit, the developer shall have completed the 

Site Specific Water Quality Management Plan (WQMP) and executed the 
WQMP Maintenance Agreement with the City. 

 
Sewer 
 
30.27 Sanitary sewer system(s) shall be constructed pursuant to the City’s 

Master Plan and subsequent studies applicable to the project site, to the 
satisfaction of the Public Works Director. 

 
30.28 Proposed on-site sewer line shall be private to be maintained by the 

owner. Drainage facilities shall also be maintained by the owner. Water 
mains shall be a private system maintained by the owner/developer. 

 
30.29 City staff will inspect all newly installed sewer mains with the TV camera 

before acceptance of the line for public improvements. 



Page 15 of 26  

 
30.30 Extend any sanitary sewer and water line facilities as necessary to serve 

the entire development, including the payment of any sewer and water 
connection fees as determined by the Public Works Director. 

 
30.31 The Owner/Developer shall provide the necessary Sewer Service 

Backflow Prevention Device as required by the City. 
 
Water 
 
30.32 A separate water meter shall be provided for each lot/building (including 

any necessary easements to provide such services) prior to the 
recordation of the final map. 

 
30.33 All new and upgraded developments shall meet the requirements of 

Chapter 7 “Municipal Water System,” Article VII, of the Upland Municipal 
Code.  This Code pertains to water system connection fees, water 
additive fees, and the transfer of water stock to the City of Upland. 

 

30.34 Appropriate water utility easements for water facility locations shall be 
shown on water plans.  Underground utilities shall maintain a minimum 
seven-foot setback from the face of the curb and shall not encroach into 
the water utility easement, excepting as may be authorized by the Public 
Works Director subject to special construction methods.  As-built plans 
of all underground utilities, including water facilities, shall be submitted 
prior to final approval of the development. 

 

30.35 The provision of fire protection water systems, hydrants, and 
appropriate easements shall be in conformance with the San Bernardino 
County Fire and Public Works Department Standards. 

 

30.36 Public on-site protection hydrant(s) and water systems shall be installed 
in accordance with the San Bernardino County Fire and Public Works 
Department Standards. 

 

30.37 All landscape meter(s) and approved Backflow Device(s) shall be 
installed and inspected, in accordance with the Public Works Department 
Standards. 

 

30.38 All water facilities shall be installed outside any driveways and drive 
approaches, and shall be in accordance with the Public Works 
Department Standards. 

 
IV  GRADING - STORM DRAIN - EROSION CONTROL 
 
30.39 Storm drain system(s) shall be constructed in accordance with the City's 

Master Plan applicable to the project site and to the satisfaction of the 
Public Works Director. 



Page 16 of 26  

 
30.40 A hydrology/hydraulics analysis is required to the satisfaction of the 

Public Works Director.  Any offsite drainage, which may impact this 
development, or additional drainage created by this development, shall 
be addressed in accordance with the mitigation measures required in 
the hydrology report before issuance of any permits. 

 
30.41 Each parcel/lot shall drain to the street or other approved drainage 

facility.  Cross lot drainage is not allowed. Approval from City of Upland 
is required prior to tie-in to existing storm drain. 

 
30.42 All drainage shall be directed on-site at the points so indicated upon the 

subject map/plan (any deviation will require resubmittal to the Technical 
Review Committee for approval). 

 
30.43 Location, direction, and devices for conveying site drainage directed to 

a street shall be subject to review and approval by the Public Works 
Director. 

 
30.44 Temporary drainage controls may be required during construction 

phases as directed by the Public Works Director. 
 
30.45 All catch basins and Storm Drain Inlet Facilities shall be stenciled with 

the appropriate “No Dumping” message.  
 
30.46 A notarized off-site grading letter(s) from the adjacent property 

owner(s) shall be required before issuance of grading permits. Said 
requirement shall be noted on the grading plans. 

 
30.47 Grading plan shall be prepared and shall conform to the requirements 

of California Building Code (CBC), latest edition. Said grading plan shall 
propose all recommendations contained in the project’s geotechnical 
report.  

 
30.48 An erosion control plan shall be required as directed by the Public Works 

Director. 
 

30.49 No permanent building construction shall commence until the final 
grading and improvement plans have been approved, rough grading 
certified and a building permit issued by the Building Division. 

 
30.50 Owner/Developer shall submit design and calculations and obtain permit 

and inspection for all development perimeter and retaining walls from 
the Building Division. Construction of any masonry/retaining wall shown 
on the plans or reference thereto shall require separate permit from 
Building Division. 

 
30.51 Dust Control operations shall be performed by the Contractor at the 

time, location and in the amount required and as often as necessary to 
prevent the excavation or fill work, demolition operation, or other 



Page 17 of 26  

 
activities from producing dust in amounts harmful to people or causing 
a nuisance to persons living nearby or occupying buildings in the vicinity 
of the work.  The Contractor is responsible for compliance with Fugitive 
Dust Regulations issued by the Air Quality Management District (AQMD). 

 
30.52 Control of dust shall be by sprinkling of water, use of approved dust 

preventatives, modifications of operations or any other means 
acceptable to the Engineer, City of Upland, the Regional Water Quality 
Control Board (RWQCB), the AQMD, and any Health or Environmental 
Control Agency having jurisdiction over the facility.  The Engineer shall 
have the authority to suspend all construction operations if, in their 
opinion, the Contractor fails to adequately provide for dust control. 

 
30.53 In compliance to water conservation mandate of the State of California, 

before or at submission of grading plans, Owner/Developer shall 
submit/develop Water Conservation Plan. Among others, said plan 
encourages the use of reclaimed water and use of any/all water 
conservation measures during construction.  

 
V  LANDSCAPING 
 
30.54 All landscaping works proposed for this development shall comply with 

the latest State Landscaping Code. 
 
30.55 Any landscaping proposed within a City utility easement is subject to 

approval by the Public Works Director and Community Development 
Director. 

 
30.56 All landscape and irrigation systems, located in the public parkways, 

shall be connected to a water supply system that is metered to the 
property owner. 

 
30.57 All developments require a tree-planting scheme.  Residential 

developments require one tree per forty feet of residential street 
frontage with a minimum on one tree per lot.   

 
a. If planting in an area without sidewalk, plant the trees four feet to 

six feet from the existing or planned curb or street. 
 
b. Plant trees a minimum of five feet from other utilities, a minimum of 

ten feet from driveways, water meters, water lines, sewer lines, 
traffic and directional signs, and fire hydrants, a minimum of fifteen 
feet from street lights, and a minimum of thirty feet from street 
corners. 

 
30.58 The Owner/Developer shall provide for maintenance of all landscape 

areas located on the project including parkways and alleys. 
 



Page 18 of 26  

 
VI  OTHER AGENCY 
 
30.59 Approval and/or permits may be required from the following agencies 

among others: 
 

a. San Bernardino County; 
b. Inland Empire Utilities Agency; 
c. San Antonio Water Company; and 
d. California Regional Water Quality Control Board, Santa Ana Region 

for an NPDES Permit or Clearance Letter. 
 
VIII  GENERAL ENGINEERING 
 
30.60 Owner/Developer is required to arrange for a PRE-CONSTRUCTION 

MEETING with the Public Works Department 72 hours in advance before 
any permitted work can commence. 

 
30.61 All improvement plans and grading plans shall be submitted for plan 

check to the Public Works Department as a complete package.  A 
complete package includes street; sewer, water, site specific WQMP, 
grading, EROSION CONTROL drainage, landscape and any appropriate 
reports and back up documents.  Incomplete submittals shall be 
rejected. 

 
30.62 All plans (including Landscaping Plans) depicting any work to be plan 

checked by Public Works shall be prepared on 24”x36” on City Standard 
title block.  This includes street, sewer, water grading, storm drain, 
grading, erosion control, private street design, and landscape plans. 
“Cut and paste,” “sticky-backs,” “zip-a-tone,” “Kroy lettering,” or other 
tape will not be permitted on mylars. 

 
30.63 As-built plans (including street, sewer, water, and storm drain and 

grading plans) shall be submitted. Electronic drawing files on compact 
disc (CD’s) shall be submitted to the City for file in the format acceptable 
by the City. 

 
30.64 All Ordinances, Policy Resolutions, and Standards of the City in effect at 

the time this project is approved shall be complied with as a condition 
of this approval. 

 
30.65 No certificate of occupancy, or any other final clearance needed prior to 

occupancy, shall be given until all other conditions are met. 
 
IX  MISCELLANEOUS CONDITIONS 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 19 of 26  

 
Phases 

 
30.66 In the event that developer/owner performs the works in phases, a 

phasing plan shall be submitted for City’s approval prior to 
implementation. 

  
30.67 Each phase must be fully independent and functional from each phase 

of the development especially considering onsite utility connections such 
as sewer, water, electric power, gas, drainage, handicap access ramps 
and communications utilities, among others.  

 
30.68 Each phase shall have at least two points of access and construction 

traffic shall not be mixed with residents’ traffic. 
 
30.69 All phases shall comply with the conditions set forth for the mapmerger. 
 
30.70 Adequate drainage/erosion control shall be provided at all times during 

each phase of the development (including model/sales trailer sites).  
Submit appropriate erosion control plans to the Public Works Director 
for approval. 

 
30.71 The location of the temporary access road each phase shall be approved 

by the Public Works Director and it shall be paved to the satisfaction of 
the Public Works Director and Fire Chief. 

 
30.72 Prior to occupancy in each phase, Owner/Developer shall complete the 

following minimum improvements: 
 
a. Complete finish grading of all parcel/lots including submittal of 

grading certification to the Public Works Department. 
b. Complete all underground utilities and their service lines for each 

unit. 
c. Complete curb and gutter, sidewalk, street lighting, and street 

paving. 
d. Provide “as-built” plans. 

 
40.0    Police Department 

40.1 The approved conditions shall be retained on the premises at all times 
and produced immediately upon request of the Upland Police 
Department, and City Planning. 

40.2 A 6-month review/inspection shall be conducted to ensure permittee's 
compliance with all operating conditions. 

 
40.3 Prior to the issuance of building permits, the project must be enclosed 

with a 6-FT. high chain link fencing to prevent access to construction 
areas by the public and to minimize theft of building materials and 
equipment. All fencing and gates shall meet the approval of the Fire 
Department and Police Department. 

 



Page 20 of 26  

 
40.4 Graffiti abatement by the property owner shall be immediate and 

ongoing on the licensed premises, but in no event shall graffiti be 
allowed unabated on the premises for more than 48 hours. Abatement 
shall take the form of removal or shall be covered/painted over with a 
color reasonably matching the color of the existing building, structure, 
or other surface being abated. Additionally, the business owner/licensee 
shall notify the City within 24 hours of any graffiti elsewhere on the 
property not under the business owner/licensee's control so that it may 
be abated by the property owner. 

 
40.5 The Developer, builder, contractors, sub-contractors, and any other 

persons associated with this project shall adhere to the Upland Municipal 
Code (UMC) dealing with unnecessary noises under section 9.40.100. 
Furthermore, prior to the beginning of construction, a sign shall be 
posted at the entrance of the property educating everyone entering as 
to the authorized construction times and failure to comply with such 
requirements will result in an immediate citation for violating the 
aforementioned UMC section. 

 
40.6 Units with front and rear drive access shall affix or paint address 

numbering/lettering in a conspicuous location, free from plant 
obstruction, and readily visible to emergency services personnel on both 
front and rear accesses. 

 
40.7 Prior to occupancy all private streets, parking areas, parking lots, and 

driveways shall be dedicated for off-road traffic, fire lane, soliciting, 
handicap, and loitering enforcement. The applicant must submit a 
written request to the City Clerk asking that a resolution from the City 
Council allow Police Enforcement of the above violations on the property. 
Once the resolution has been obtained, a sign shall be erected/posted 
at all access points stating the above listed locations and violations have 
been dedicated for enforcement by the Upland Police Department. 

 
40.8 Prior to occupancy, the Police Department will conduct an on-site 

inspection of the property, checking proper lighting has been installed 
throughout the property, proper locks on exterior doors and doors 
leading to the interior are in place and functioning properly. In addition, 
the Police Department will check that proper addressing/lettering has 
been installed. 

 
40.9 The applicant shall submit for review by the Police Department the 

design and specifications for all proposed lighting fixtures proposed for 
the buildings, drive aisles, parkways, parking areas, pathways, and 
surrounding areas within the development. The fixtures shall be 
reviewed for quality, aesthetics, illumination values, sustainability 
values such as LED and shall be decoratively and architecturally 
consistent with the building design. The number, location, height, style 
and design shall be reviewed and approved by the Police Department 
prior to issuance of building permits. 



Page 21 of 26  

 
40.10 Submit a Photometric Study providing a minimum of two foot candle all 

around the structure and surveillance cameras all around the perimeter, 
common areas, and throughout the parking area, with the ability or 
resolution to make license plates discernable. 

 
40.11 All exterior lighting lower than 12 feet from the ground level shall be 

enclosed in vandal-resistant covers. 
 
40.12 Lighting shall be required in all area of public access. 
 
40.13 Public parking areas and access thereto shall be provided with a 

maintained minimum of 2 foot candle power of light on the parking 
surface, from dusk to dawn, or as modified by the Chief of Police, based 
on documented proof that meeting the 2 foot candle power standard is 
impractical. Lighting shall be provided through the use of photo cells; 
use of low pressure sodium fixtures and bulbs is prohibited.  

 
40.14 At a minimum, internally illuminated address signs/numbers are 

required for each building, to the satisfaction of the Deputy Fire Marshal 
and the Chief of Police. 

 
40.15 A digital video surveillance system is required at the premise. It is 

recommended to have a surveillance video/visual media that shall be 
maintained for a minimum of sixty (60) days and upon request, shall be 
accessible to law enforcement personnel for viewing, copying and 
collection purposes during regular business hours. The system shall be 
able to make license plates discernable. The video system shall cover all 
ingress and egress points of public access areas such as guest parking 
lots, community clubhouse, pool area, and recreation areas. 

 
40.16 Provide UPD with contact information of person responsible for 

maintaining video equipment/system and who has access to retrieve 
and copy surveillance video. The surveillance video/visual media shall 
be remotely accessible to the Upland Police Department. 

 
40.17 The applicant shall be responsible for maintaining the area adjacent to 

the premises over which they have control free of litter. 
 
40.18 All landscaping must adhere to the 2' 6' rule (all ground cover 

landscaping must be maintained no higher than 2' from ground level 
and all lower tree canopy must be maintained no lower than 6' in height 
from the ground level). 

 
40.19 Any vehicles not parked legally may be cited and/or towed if it is in 

violation of the California Vehicle Code and/or Upland Municipal Code. 
 
50.0 Building and Safety  
 

50.1 Full Design to be in compliance with City of Upland Construction Codes. 



Page 22 of 26  

 
50.2 Soils report is required at the time of plan check submittal. 

 
50.3 Provide full compliance ADA parking, Site Accessibility, and Parking. 

 
50.4 A Demolition permit of existing building will only be issued after new 

building plan submittal. 
 

50.5 To the satisfaction of the Building Official, abatement reports required 
prior to building demolition.  

 
60.0 San Bernardino County Fire Protection District (SBCo FD) 
 

60.1 Hydrant shall be within 300-feet of the proposed structure. SBCoFd 
2016 Standard W-2 

 
60.2 Permit Expiration Construction permits, including Fire Condition Letters, 

shall automatically expire and become invalid unless the work 
authorized by such permit is commenced within 180 days after its 
issuance, or if the work authorized by such permit is suspended or 
abandoned for a period of 180 days after the time the work is 
commenced. Suspension or abandonment shall mean that no inspection 
by the Department has occurred with 180 days of any previous 
inspection. After a construction permit or Fire Condition Letter, becomes 
invalid and before such previously approved work recommences, a new 
permit shall be first obtained and the fee to recommence work shall be 
one-half the fee for the new permit for such work, provided no changes 
have been made or will be made in the original construction documents 
for such work, and provided further that such suspension or 
abandonment has not exceeded one year. A request to extend the Fire 
Condition Letter or Permit may be made in writing PRIOR TO the 
expiration date justifying the reason that the Fire Condition Letter 
should be extended. 

 
60.3 Additional Requirements In addition to the Fire requirements stated 

herein, other onsite and offsite improvements may be required which 
cannot be determined from tentative plans at this time and would have 
to be reviewed after more complete improvement plans and profiles 
have been submitted to this office. 

 
60.4 Inspection by the Fire Department Permission to occupy or use the 

building ( certificate of Occupancy or shell release) will not be granted 
until the Fire Department inspects, approves and signs off on the 
Building and Safety job card for "fire final". 

 
60.5 Building Plans. EZOP Online submittal submitted to the Fire Department 

for review and approval.  
 
 
 



Page 23 of 26  

 
CONDITIONS THAT MUST BE MET PRIOR TO ISSUANCE OF BUILDING PERMITS 
 
60.6 Fire Flow Test: Your submittal did not include a flow test report to 

establish whether the public water supply is capable of meeting your 
project fire flow demand. You will be required to produce a current flow 
test report from your water purveyor demonstrating that the fire flow 
demand is satisfied. This requirement shall be completed prior to 
combination inspection by Building and Safety. 1500 GPM at 20 PSI. 

 
60.7 Access: The development shall have a minimum of two points of 

vehicular access. These are for fire/emergency equipment access and 
for evacuation routes. 

 
a. Single Story Road Access Width. All buildings shall have access 

provided by approved roads, alleys and private drives with a 
minimum twenty-six (26) foot unobstructed width and vertically to 
fourteen (14) feet six (6) inches in height. Other recognized 
standards may be more restrictive by requiring wider access 
provisions. 

 
b. Multi-Story Road Access Width. Buildings three (3) stories in height 

or more shall have a minimum access of thirty (30) feet unobstructed 
width and vertically to fourteen (14) feet six (6) inches in height. 

 
60.8 Street Sign: This project is required to have an approved street sign 

(temporary or permanent). The street sign shall be installed on the 
nearest street corner to the project. Installation of the temporary sign 
shall be prior any combustible material being placed on the construction 
site. Prior to final inspection and occupancy of the first structure, the 
permanent street sign shall be installed.  

 
THE FOLLOWING PRIOR TO OCCUPANCY: 
 
60.9 Fire Sprinkler Nf PA 13R: An automatic fire sprinkler system complying 

with NFPA Pamphlet #13R and the Fire Department standards for light 
Hazard Occupancies under 5,000 sq.ft and Multi-Residential 
Occupancies. The applicant shall hire a Fire Department approved fire 
sprinkler contractor. The fire sprinkler contractor shall submit plans with 
hydraulic calculations and manufacture's specification sheets to the Fire 
Department for approval. The required fees shall be paid at the time of 
plan submittal. Minimum water supply shall be a two (2) inch water 
meter for Commercial and one and one half (1½) inch for Residential 

 
60.10 Fire Alarm: An automatic fire sprinkler monitoring fire alarm system 

complying with the California Fire Code, NFPA and all applicable codes 
is required. The applicant shall hire a Fire Department approved fire 
alarm contractor. The fire alarm contractor shall submit detailed plans 
to the Fire Department for review and approval. The required fees shall 
be paid at the time of plan submittal. 



Page 24 of 26  

 
60.11 Commercial Addressing: Commercial and industrial developments of 

100,000-sq. ft. or less shall have the street address installed on the 
building with numbers that are a minimum six (6) inches in height and 
with a three quarter (3/4) inch stroke. The street address shall be visible 
from the street. During the hours of darkness, the numbers shall be 
electrically illuminated (internal or external). Where the building is two 
hundred (200) feet or more from the roadway, additional non-
illuminated contrasting six (6) inch numbers shall be displayed at the 
property access entrances. 

 
60.12 Fire Extinguishers: Hand portable fire extinguishers are required. The 

location, type, and cabinet design shall be approved by the Fire 
Department. 

 
60.13 Fire Lanes: The applicant shall submit a fire lane plan to the Fire 

Department for review and approval. Fire lane curbs shall be painted 
red. The "No Parking, Fire Lane" signs shall be 

 
70.0  Trash Services  

 
70.1 Prior to issuance of grading permits, the developer or their contractor 

shall contact Burrtec to coordinate the preparation and implementation 
of a Construction Waste Management Plan. 
 

70.2 The project will require trash and mixed recyclables collection services 
and may require more than one pick up per week. Each enclosure shall 
have one bin each for trash and mixed recyclables with each enclosure 
capable of accommodating two 4-cubic yard bins. 

 
80.0   Review/Compliance 
 

80.1 The Planning Commission may review the use 90 days, 180 days, and 
on an annual basis following the date of final inspection, or as needed 
at the discretion of the Development Services Director, to determine 
whether the applicant and operators are operating the use in a manner 
that is compatible with the community.  The Planning Commission may 
establish additional conditions of approval that are necessary to 
eliminate any issues that arise from the operation of the use that 
adversely impact the public health, welfare, and safety, or may direct 
staff to initiate revocation proceedings.  The conditional use permit may 
be revoked if the permittee, his agents or assigns, or employee(s) of 
the establishment, or any other person connected or associated with the 
permittee or his business establishment, or any person who is exercising 
managerial authority of the business establishment has: 

 
a. Violated any rule, regulation, or condition of approval adopted by the 

Planning Commission relating to the conditional use permit or 
contained in the Upland Municipal Code, or state or federal 
regulations. Violation of any provision of the Upland Municipal Code 
(UMC) or the conditions of approval set forth in this resolution, shall 



Page 25 of 26  

 
be deemed to constitute an infraction of the Upland Municipal Code, 
and shall be subject to the applicable fines and penalties, including 
the possibility of revocation of this permit.  

 
b. Conducted the operation permitted hereunder in a manner contrary 

to the peace, health, safety, and general welfare of the public, or in 
a manner which either generates or contributes to noise and/or 
health/sanitation nuisances, or which results in undesirable activities 
that negatively affects adjacent properties or creates an increased 
demand for public services. 

 
Section 4. CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT (CEQA). The project 

is Categorically Exempt from environmental proceedings pursuant to Article 19, 
Section 15332, In-Fill Development Projects, Class 32 (a-e), of the California 
Environmental Quality Act, since the proposed project is consistent with applicable 
general plan designations and policies as well as applicable zoning designation and 
regulations; occurs within city limits on a property that is no more than five acres 
substantially surrounded by urban uses; has no value as habitat for endangered, rare 
or threatened species; approval of the project would not result in any significant 
effects relating to traffic, noise, air quality, or water quality; and the site can be 
adequately served by all required utilities and public services. 
 

Section 5.  APPEAL.  Pursuant to Upland Municipal Code Section 17.47.040, 
the decision of the Planning Commission may be appealed to the City Council provided 
that written notice of the appeal is filed with the City Clerk within ten (10) days 
following the date the decision was rendered, unless a longer appeal period is 
specified as part of the project approval.  Failure to file a timely appeal shall constitute 
a waiver of the right of appeal, and the decision of the Planning Commission shall be 
final. 
 

Section 6.  INCONSISTENCY.  If any section, division, sentence, clause, phrase 
or portion of this resolution or the document in the record in support of this resolution 
is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, unenforceable, 
unconstitutional or otherwise void, that determination shall not affect the validity of 
the remaining sections, divisions, sentences, clauses, phrases of this resolution.  
 

Section 7.  CERTIFICATION.  The Secretary of the Planning Commission shall 
certify to the passage, approval, and adoption of this Resolution, and shall cause this 
Resolution and his certification to be entered in the Book of Resolutions of the 
Planning Commission of the City. 
 
 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 22nd day of January, 2020. 
 
      
        

_________________________________ 
Robin Aspinall, CHAIR 

 



Page 26 of 26  

 
        
 
 
ATTEST: 
 

 

____________________________ 

Robert D. Dalquest, SECRETARY 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution was duly and regularly passed and 
adopted by the Planning Commission of the City of Upland at a regular adjourned 
meeting thereof held on the 22nd day of January, 2020, by the following vote: 

AYES:     

NAYS:   

ABSENT:    

ABSTAIN:    

____________________________ 
Robert D. Dalquest, SECRETARY 

 
 
 
 



 

 

Exhibit B – Planning Commission Packet              

from December 11, 2019 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION REPORT 

ITEM NO. 4 

DATE: DECEMBER 11, 2019  

TO: PLANNING COMMISSION 

FROM: ROBERT D. DALQUEST, DEVELOPMENT SERVICES DIRECTOR 

PREPARED BY: JOSHUA WINTER, ASSOCIATE PLANNER 

SUBJECT: CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 19-05, TENTATIVE PARCEL 
MAP NO. 19435 (TPM-19-01), SITE PLAN NO. 19-02, DESIGN 
REVIEW-NO. 19-02 AND ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT 
REVIEW NO. EAR-0079 TO SUBDIVIDE AN EXISTING 3.8 
ACRE PARCEL INTO 2 PARCELS, ONE BEING 2.5 ACRES AND 
ONE BEING 1.3 ACRES. THE REQUEST INCLUDES THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF 60 TOWNHOUSE APARTMENTS WITHIN 
ELEVEN BUILDINGS AT A DENSITY OF 24 UNITS PER ACRE 
INCLUDING ASSOCIATED IMPROVEMENTS ON THE 2.5 ACRE 
PARCEL LOCATED AT 790 MESA COURT (APN: 1046-102-13). 

REQUEST 

The applicant requests the approval of a 60 unit townhouse style apartment project 
at a density of 24 du/ac with related site improvements (See Exhibit A – Draft 
Resolution). The request includes the following applications: 

Tentative Parcel No. 19435 (TT-18-03) to subdivide one (1) 3.8 acre parcel into two 
(2) parcels, one being 2.5 acres and one being 1.3 acres.

Conditional Use Permit (CUP-19-05) to permit and condition the proposed land use. 

Site Plan (SP-18-10) to establish the site layout of the project. 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Mesa Court Apartments 

December 11, 2019  
Page 2 of 10 

 
 

Design Review (DR-18-14) to establish the architectural design of the proposed 
residential units, landscaping design, open space design and amenities, and  
 
Environmental Assessment Review (EAR-0079) to evaluate project impacts to the 
environment to ensure project compliance with the California Environmental Quality 
Act (CEQA) Guidelines. 
 
SYNOPSIS  
 
Applicant: Soroush Rahbari 
Representative: N/A 
Property Owner: Greg Powers 
Property Location: The project site is located at 790 Mesa Court, north of 

11th Street, south of Mesa Court, east of Campus 
Avenue and west of 9th Avenue further described as 
Assessor’s Parcel Number (1046-102-13). 

Existing General Plan 
Land Use Designation: Multi-Family Residential Medium (20-30 du/ac, MFR-M) 

Existing Zoning 
Classification: Multi-Family Residential (RM-30) 

Site Size:  3.8 Acres 
Building/Suite Size: Multi-Family Residential  
Access: Provided from Mesa Court and surrounding alleys. 
Existing Conditions: Vacant land and 5 buildings consisting of 23 

apartments (6 to be demolished as a part of the 
project). 

Surrounding Land Uses:  

  
See Exhibit B – Vicinity Map  

Direction  Land Use  General 
Plan  

Zone  

North  Upland Country 
Village Shopping 
Center  

C/R-MU  C/R-
MU  

East  Vacant Land/ 
Senior Care  

MFR-M RM-30  

South  Multi-family 
Residential/Medical 
Office  

MFR-M RM-30 

West  Multi-family 
Residential 

MFR-M RM-30 

Previous 
Applications/Entitlement: N/A 

 
 
 
 
 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Mesa Court Apartments 

December 11, 2019  
Page 3 of 10 

 
 

AUTHORIZATION/GUIDELINES 
 
Upland Municipal Code Section 17.43.050 E. requires that if one or more permit 
application is submitted concurrently for a single proposed project, each application 
shall be acted upon concurrently by the highest review authority.  In this case, the 
highest review authority is the Planning Commission, therefore the Planning 
Commission will take action on the project.  
 
PUBLIC NOTICE 
 
This project included multiple modes of notifying the public, in accordance with 
Upland Municipal Code (UMC) Section 17.46.020.   
 

1. Notice of Filing signs (3) were posted at the project site in November of 2019, 
and staff posted the Notice of Public Hearing on the signs on November 27, 
2019. 
 

2. On November 27, 2019, a Notice of Public Hearing was mailed to all property 
owners within 300 feet of the project site.  This resulted in a total of 45 
property owners being noticed   
 

3. The Public Hearing Notice was also published in the Inland Valley Daily Bulletin 
on November 29, 2019 and posted in 2 physical locations (Upland City Hall and 
Upland Library) on November 27, 2019. 

 
PROJECT BACKGROUND 
 
According to building permit records, the existing apartments on the site were built 
between 1961 and 1963.  Currently, the site contains a total of 23 units, with 17 
units being located in the buildings at the north end of the site, and 6 units located 
in a building on the south end of the site.  The 6 unit building will be demolished as 
a part of the project.  The remaining 17 units will not change.      
 
ANALYSIS 
 
General Plan  
 
The Project is located within the General Plan Designation of Multi-Family Residential 
- Medium (20-30 du/ac, MFR-M). The project is consistent with the General Plan Goals 
and Policies as listed in Table 1 below: 
 
Table 1 
Policy  Consistency 
Policy LU-1.2 Permitted Densities and 
Intensities. Ensure existing and future 
zoning designations correspond to the 
permitted density and intensity ranges 

The project density is 24 dwelling 
units/acre, which is allowed within the 
General Plan Land Use Designation and  
Zone 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Mesa Court Apartments 

December 11, 2019  
Page 4 of 10 

 
 

as listed in Table LU-1 of the Land Use 
Element. 
Policy LU-1.5 Range of Housing Types 
and Densities. Provide high-quality 
housing in a range of types, densities, 
and unit sizes that meets the housing 
needs of residents of all income levels. 

The project provides townhome style 
apartment units that will meet the needs 
of housing seekers at the Market-Rate 
level.  The Project adds to the City’s 
housing stock for renters in the City’s 
efforts to address the housing needs of 
all income levels. 

Policy LU-4.1 Infill Development. 
Encourage mixed-use, infill 
development on brownfields or 
underutilized parcels, particularly near 
public transit and within the historic 
downtown. 

The project will fill a currently 
underutilized parcel.  The site is 
surrounded by a built urban environment 
and is served by existing infrastructure 
and roadways. 

Policy CC-2.5 Neighborhood Amenities. 
Encourage appropriately scaled 
community-supportive facilities and 
services within all neighborhoods to 
enhance neighborhood identity and 
provide convenient access within 
walking and biking distance of 
residents. 

The project will provide multiple 
recreation facilities for its residents, 
including a central park with tot lot and 
exercise area, as well as two Barbecue 
areas.  Further, the project is within 
walking distance to multiple Commercial 
uses, including the Upland Country 
Village shopping center.     

 
Zoning   
 
The project is within the Multi-family residential (RM-30) Zoning District.  The RM-30 
residential multi-family medium zone is intended to provide areas for a variety of 
medium-density multi-family residential developments at densities up to 30 units per 
net acre exclusive of City and state density bonuses. Housing types include three- to 
four-story multi-family housing projects, duplexes and triplexes. These lots are 
typically characterized by shared open spaces with lush landscaping; medium front, 
side, and rear yards; and shared driveways and parking. The RM-30 zone implements 
the Multi-family Residential Medium (MFR-M) land use designation in the General 
Plan. (See Exhibit C – General Plan and Zoning Designation)  
 
Development Plan  
 
The project complies with all required development standards as shown in Table 2 
below. 
 
Table 2 
Development Standard  Code Requirement  Provided  

Front Yard Setback (East) 20 feet 20 feet (See Note 1) 

Rear Yard Setback (West) 15 feet 15 feet  

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Mesa Court Apartments 

December 11, 2019  
Page 5 of 10 

 
 

Side Yard Setback (North) 5 feet 5 feet  

Side Yard Setback (South) 5 feet 10 feet  

Height  40 feet 32 feet 6 inches 

Residential Density  Min 15 du/ac – Max 30 
du/ac 

24 du/ac 

Parking Requirement 2 for each unit in garage – 
120 Parking Spaces  
Guest parking: 51-100 
units: 1 space per 5 units 
– 12 Parking Spaces 
 
Total required – 132 
Parking Spaces 

120 in a garage.  

16 guest parking spaces. 

 

 

Total Provided  - 136 
Parking Spaces 

Unit Size  600 square feet min. 1,302 square feet min. 

Site Landscaping  5% (5,445 square feet) 20% (22,151 square feet) 

Private Open Space  100 square foot per unit  104 square foot per unit 
(Plus 60 square foot 
balcony) 

Common Open Space 250 square foot per unit 
(15,000 square feet) 
including 1 major 
recreation facility and 1 
minor facility  

16,000 square feet of 
common open space with 
1 major recreation 
facilities and 2 minor 
recreation facilities  

 
Notes 

1. The project does not have a true front yard as the new parcel is land locked.  Therefore 
the applicant has provided a 20 foot setback at the front entry side of the project.   
 

Tentative Parcel Map 

The proposed Tentative Parcel Map will result in one (1) 3.8 acre parcel being divided 
into two (2) parcels, one being 2.5 acres and one being 1.3 acres.  The 1.3 acre 
parcel will contain the existing 17 units currently on the site, and the 2.5 acre parcel 
will contain the existing 6 unit building, which will be demolished to make way for 
the proposed 60 units at a density of 24 du/ac.  The existing parcel will be divided 
east to west, with each parcel being approximately 289 feet wide, exceeding the 
minimum width of 100 feet.   
 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Mesa Court Apartments 

December 11, 2019  
Page 6 of 10 

 
 

The 2.5 acre Parcel will be landlocked as a result of the subdivision, therefore the 
applicant will dedicate an easement for public use along the existing drive isle at the 
east boundary of the site, and onto the neighboring parcel to the east (also owned 
by the property owner).  The dedication will run from Mesa Court to the southern 
boundary of the project site.  The dedication will result in a minimum 26 foot drive 
isle with curb, gutter, and a 5 foot sidewalk provided for pedestrian access to the 
site.  (See Exhibit D – Tentative Parcel Map)  
 
Site Plan 
 
The project’s layout consists of 11 Buildings, inclusive of 6, 6-unit buildings on the 
east side of the project site and 6, 5-unit buildings on the west side of the project 
site.  Garages will face existing alleys all the way around the boundary of the project 
site, with interior unit’s garages facing onto the private drive isle that has access 
points at the eastern boundary of the site and southern boundary of the site. As 
discussed in the Development Table (Table 2), the project meets all required 
development standards.  The project site will also include 3 trash enclosures, 
appropriately placed for resident access and access by Burrtec.  The project site will 
also include  one central mail box area at the south-east intersection of the east-west 
drive isle and north-south drive isle. (See Exhibit E – Site Plans) 
 
The site will not have any street frontage, and will be surrounded on four sides by 
existing development.  Surrounding development consists of 1 and 2 story multi-
family residential developments, a senior care facility and a 2 story medical office 
building.  The surrounding land uses will buffer the 3 story building massing from 
public view. 
 
Architecture 
 
The proposed project features three-story townhouse style apartment buildings. 
Building massing is varied by employing a variety of techniques, such as recessed 
porches, gable pop-outs, and varying setbacks between units.  The building roof form 
includes gable and hip forms to break up roof lines. The design utilizes stucco walls, 
with color blocking, using greens, and white. The design also utilizes stacked-stone 
masonry materials to break up the façade at the ground level. The design techniques 
utilized create visual interest, and give a degree of individuality to each unit. (See 
Exhibit – F Colored Elevations).      
 
The floor plans will consist of the garage and open space on the first floor (handicap 
accessible units will have a bathroom and living space on the first floor as required 
by the California Building Code) the second floor containing living space (i.e. kitchen, 
living room, etc.) and the third floor containing bedroom space.  The project will have 
2 different floor plans detailed below in Table 2: 
 
Table 2 

Plan # Plan Size (SF) Number of Bedrooms Number of Bathrooms 
1 1302 SF 2 bedrooms 3 
2 1477 SF 2 Bedrooms 4 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Mesa Court Apartments 

December 11, 2019  
Page 7 of 10 

 
 

A majority of floor plans will be built as Plan 1.  The Plan 2 floor plan design is larger 
because it includes 1st floor living space and bathroom space required for handicap 
accessibility. (See Exhibit G - Floor Plans)   
 
Landscaping 
 
The project includes new landscaping totaling 20% of the site, exceeding the 5% 
requirement. The preliminary planting plan provided utilizes a variety of trees, shrubs 
and ground covers to compliment the residential buildings. The plants have been 
selected for drought tolerance and to create a variety of colors textures and depth to 
the project site. The landscape design and materials incorporated will provide an 
attractive environment for the future residents of this project as well as benefit the 
surrounding existing residents by greatly beautifying the currently underdeveloped 
site. Conditions of Approval are included for requiring landscaping be maintained to 
ensure the site does not fall into poor condition.  Conditions of approval are also 
included requiring a final landscape and irrigation plan be submitted for plan check 
prior to the issuance of permits.   
 
Open Space 
 
Private open space will consist of ground floor patios of 104 square feet which meet 
the minimum requirement of 100 square feet per unit.  In addition, units will include 
2nd level balconies at 60 square feet each. 
   
The Project provides approximately 16,000 of common open space, exceeding the 
minimum requirement of 15,000 square feet.  The common open space includes 1 
major recreation facility, which consists of an 11,100 square foot central park 
inclusive of an outdoor exercise area and children’s play area.  The project also 
provides for 2 minor recreation facilities which consist of barbecue/picnic areas.  
Access to the common open space amenities are provided via pedestrian pathway’s 
throughout the site. (See Exhibit H – Preliminary Landscape Plan and Open Space 
Plan)  
 
Parking and Circulation 
 
Access to the Project Site is provided primarily from Mesa Court, as well as the 
existing alley system surrounding the project.  The entrance off of Mesa Court is 
currently existing, but will be widened to 26’ to meet fire access requirements, and 
to allow for 2-way traffic in an out of the project area.  The driveway will also include 
the provisions of curb, gutter and sidewalk from Mesa Court to the project site.  27 
of the proposed units will have access to garages directly off of the existing alley 
system.  The remaining 33 units will have garage access directly onto the proposed 
private internal drive isle.  The internal drive isle is a minimum of 30 feet in width, 
measured from building to building to meet fire access requirements.  Additionally, 
the alley width around the project will be a total of 30 feet to meet fire access 
requirements.  The alley, owned and maintained by the City and will remain at 20 
feet in width, but, the project will expand onto the width of the alley by 10 feet to 
meet the required 30 foot access around the proposed buildings.  

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Mesa Court Apartments 

December 11, 2019  
Page 8 of 10 

 
 

Pedestrian circulation will be provided through internal pathways.  The front door of 
each unit will face onto courtyard walking paths that ultimately leading to the widened 
drive isle off of Mesa Court and then to the Public Right-of-Way.  
 
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT 
 
The Planning Department staff has determined that the project is categorically 
exempt from the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
Guidelines and the City’s CEQA Guidelines. The project qualifies as a Class 32 
exemption under State CEQA Guidelines Section 15332-In-Fill Development Projects 
for the following reasons: (1) the project is consistent with the applicable General 
Plan designations and all applicable General Plan policies as well as with the applicable 
zoning designation and regulations, (2) the proposed development occurs within the 
City limits on a project site of no more than five acres substantially surrounded by 
urban uses, (3) the project site has no value as a habitat for endangered, rare or 
threatened species, (4) approval of the project would not result in any significant 
effects relating to traffic, noise, air quality, or water quality, and (5) the site can be 
adequately served by all required utilities and public services.  
 
Each of the environmental factors required to be reviewed under the In-Fill 
Development (15332) exemption are outlined below: 
 
a) Traffic: A Trip Generation Analysis was prepared for the project which determined 
that the number of trips generated by the project would not create a significant 
impact. Trip rates were calculated based on the Multi-family Housing Low-Rise (220) 
trip rates from the Institute of Transportation Engineers Trip Generation Manual (10th 
Addition (ITE, 2017). It was determined that the project would generate 439 total 
daily trips and 19 peak hour trips, which is below the 50 peak hours trips that would 
necessitate a Traffic Impact Analysis.  Please note that based on common traffic 
engineering practices, the traffic generated by the existing land use may be 
considered to represent a “trip credit” for the project site, against which the impact 
of the proposed Project might be compared. Comparison of the trips generated by 
the existing land use to the trips generated by the proposed Project shows that the 
proposed Project will generate 395 greater daily trips, 25 greater AM peak hour trips 
and 31 greater PM peak hour trips. However, in order to provide a conservative 
analysis, the existing “trip credit” was not applied in our analysis. As such, it should 
be noted that the forecast project trips (i.e. 439 daily trips, 28 AM peak hour trips 
and 34 PM peak hour trips) were used to evaluate the project’s potential traffic 
impacts to provide a “worse-case” analysis. Even though the trip generation is below 
the threshold that would require a Traffic Impact Analysis, Staff required the applicant 
to provide a Level of Service (LOS) Analysis for the intersection of Campus Avenue 
and 11th Street.  The LOS Analysis found that, with the new project, the intersection 
will continue to operate at an LOS B during both a.m. and p.m. peak hours over the 
General Plan Goal of maintaining an LOS D (General Plan Policy CIR-1.1), Therefore 
the project will not result in a significant impact related to traffic. (See Exhibit I – 
Traffic Impact Analysis) 
 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Mesa Court Apartments 

December 11, 2019  
Page 9 of 10 

 
 

b) Noise: A Noise Impact Analysis was prepared for the project. The analysis 
determined that the project would comply with the construction and operational noise 
within the Upland Municipal Code and that the project would not result in a less than 
significant impact. Conditions of Approval have been added to the Resolution outlining 
the required Best Management Practices to reduce the construction noise and 
vibration impacts to ensure compliance with noise level limitations. (See Exhibit J – 
Noise Analysis) 
 
c) Air Quality: An Air Quality and Green House Gas Analysis were prepared for the 
project. The analysis determined that emissions associated with construction and 
operation of the project would be below South Coast Air Quality Maintenance District 
(SCAQMD) thresholds for both Air Quality and Green House Gases, therefore the 
project will have a less than significant impact on Air Quality. Conditions of Approval 
have been added to the Resolution outlining the required Best Management Practices 
to reduce the Air Quality impacts to ensure compliance. (See Exhibit K – Air Quality 
Analysis) 
 
d) Water Quality: A Water Quality Management Plan was prepared for the project. It 
was also determined through the review of the project’s preliminary water quality 
plan that the project would not result in a significant impact related to the water 
quality of the site.  
 
e) Biological: A Biological Resource Assessment was prepared for the project site. 
The BRA concludes that sensitive plant or wildlife species, do not exist on the project 
site are not expected to occur within the area given the condition of the site and 
developed nature of the surrounding land uses. The proposed project, therefore, 
would not affect any sensitive species that would require further investigation or 
mitigation (See Exhibit L – Biological Resources Assessment) 
 
REQUIRED FINDINGS 
 
In order to approve the project, the Planning Commission is required to make certain 
findings.  Section 2 of the draft resolution contains recommended findings for the 
Planning Commission’s consideration. 
 
TECHNICAL REVIEW COMMITTEE 
 
The Technical Review Committee reviewed the project, and recommended approval, 
subject to conditions of approval that have been incorporated into the draft 
resolution.  The conditions of approval will ensure that the development meets all 
development standards within the Upland Municipal Code and will ensure that the 
proposed use is compatible with the surrounding land uses. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
The Planning Division recommends that the Planning Commission adopt a Resolution 
entitled: 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Planning Commission Staff Report 
Mesa Court Apartments 

December 11, 2019  
Page 10 of 10 

 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF UPLAND 
APPROVING CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 19-05, TENTATIVE PARCEL MAP NO. 
19435 (TPM-19-01), SITE PLAN NO. 19-02, DESIGN REVIEW-NO. 19-02 AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT REVIEW NO. EAR-0079 TO SUBDIVIDE AN EXISTING 
3.8 ACRE PARCEL INTO 2 PARCELS, ONE BEING 2.5 ACRES AND ONE BEING 1.3 
ACRES AND THE APPROVAL FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF 60 TOWNHOUSE 
APARTMENTS WITHIN ELEVEN BUILDINGS AT A DENSITY OF 24 UNITS PER ACRE 
INCLUDING ASSOCIATED IMPROVEMENTS ON THE 2.5 ACRE PARCEL LOCATED AT 
790 MESA COURT (APN: 1046-102-13). 
 
MOTION 
 

• Find that the project is Categorically Exempt from environmental proceedings 
pursuant to Article 19, Section 15332, In-Fill Development Projects, Class 32 
(a-e), of the California Environmental Quality Act, since the proposed project 
is consistent with applicable general plan designations and policies as well as 
applicable zoning designation and regulations; occurs within city limits on a 
property that is no more than five acres substantially surrounded by urban 
uses; has no value as habitat for endangered, rare or threatened species; 
approval of the project would not result in any significant effects relating to 
traffic, noise, air quality, or water quality; and the site can be adequately 
served by all required utilities and public services. 

 
• Move to adopt a Resolution Approving Conditional Use Permit No. CUP-19-05, 

Tentative Parcel Map No. TPM-19-01, Site Plan No. SP-19-02, Design Review 
No. DR-19-02 to subdivide an existing 3.8 acre parcel into 2 parcels and to 
approve the development of 60 townhouse apartments within eleven buildings 
at a density of 24 units per acre including associated improvements on the 2.5 
acre parcel. 

 
EXHIBITS 
 
Exhibit A: Draft Resolution  
Exhibit B: Vicinity Map 
Exhibit C: General Plan and Zoning Map  
Exhibit D: Tentative Parcel Map 
Exhibit E: Site Plan 
Exhibit F: Colored Elevations 
Exhibit G: Floor Plans 
Exhibit H: Preliminary Landscape Plan and Open Space Plan 
Exhibit I: Traffic Impact Analysis 
Exhibit J: Noise Analysis 
Exhibit K: Air Quality Analysis 
Exhibit L: Biological Resources Assessment  
 
 
 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

 

Exhibit A – Draft Resolution 

 
EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXHIBIT A 
      RESOLUTION NO.  

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF 
THE CITY OF UPLAND APPROVING CONDITIONAL 
USE PERMIT NO. 19-05, TENTATIVE PARCEL MAP NO. 
19435 (TPM-19-01), SITE PLAN NO. 19-02, DESIGN 
REVIEW-NO. 19-02 AND ENVIRONMENTAL 
ASSESSMENT REVIEW NO. EAR-0079 TO SUBDIVIDE 
AN EXISTING 3.8 ACRE PARCEL INTO 2 PARCELS, 
ONE BEING 2.5 ACRES AND ONE BEING 1.3 ACRES 
AND THE APPROVAL FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF 60 
TOWNHOUSE APARTMENTS WITHIN ELEVEN 
BUILDINGS AT A DENSITY OF 24 UNITS PER ACRE 
INCLUDING ASSOCIATED IMPROVEMENTS ON THE 
2.5 ACRE PARCEL LOCATED AT 790 MESA COURT 
(APN: 1046-102-13). 

 
Intent of the Parties and Findings 
 

WHEREAS, Soroush Rahbari. (Applicant) has filed applications requesting 
approval of the Project; 

 
WHEREAS, California Government Code Section 65402 requires the City to 

determine that the location, purpose and extent of the proposed street vacation is in 
conformance with the General Plan.  The Planning Commission is the review authority 
tasked with making the General Plan Conformity Determination; 
 

WHEREAS, Upland Municipal Code Section 17.43.050 E.  Requires that if one 
or more permit application is submitted concurrently for a single proposed project, 
each application shall be acted upon concurrently by the highest review authority.  In 
this case, the highest review authority is the City Council, therefore the Planning 
Commission shall make a recommendation to the City Council;  
 

WHEREAS, Upland Municipal Code Section 17.44 provides that the Planning 
Commission may attach conditions to the approval of the project as needed to ensure 
compliance with the Zoning Ordinance, other City Ordinances, the General Plan, and 
any other applicable community or specific plan, previously approved subdivisions 
and parcel maps  and easements;  

 
WHEREAS, the project is considered a project as defined by the California 

Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), Public Resources Code Section 21000 et seq.;  
 
WHEREAS, The Development Services Director has determined that the project 

qualifies for a Categorical Exemption from the provisions of CEQA per Section 15332, 
Class 32, In-Fill Development Projects, of the CEQA Guidelines;  

 
WHEREAS, The City of Upland Planning Division on November 27, 2019, posted 

two (2) true and correct copies of the legal notice at the Upland City Hall Bulletin 
Board and at the Upland Public Library in accordance with the Upland Municipal Code 
Section 17.46.020;  

 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 2 of 27  

 
WHEREAS, The City of Upland Planning Division on November 27, 2019, mailed 

the public hearing notice to each property owner within a 300-foot radius of the 
project site indicating the date and time of the public hearing in compliance with state 
law concerning the Project; 

 
WHEREAS, The City of Upland Planning Division on November 29, 2019, 

published a legal notice in the Inland Valley Daily Bulletin, a local paper of general 
circulation, indicating the date and time of the public hearing in compliance with state 
law concerning the Project; and 

 
WHEREAS, The City of Upland Planning Commission conducted a duly noticed 

public hearing on December 11, 2019, at which time it received public testimony 
concerning the Project, and considered the CEQA Exemption for the proposed project 
and the project itself. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Planning Commission hereby finds, determines and 
resolves as follows:  
 

Section 1. Actions the Planning Commission has taken: 
 
A. Found that the project is Categorically Exempt from environmental 

proceedings pursuant to Article 19, Section 15332, In-Fill Development 
Projects, Class 32 (a-e), of the California Environmental Quality Act, since the 
proposed project is consistent with applicable general plan designations and 
policies as well as applicable zoning designation and regulations; occurs within 
city limits on a property that is no more than five acres substantially 
surrounded by urban uses; has no value as habitat for endangered, rare or 
threatened species; approval of the project would not result in any significant 
effects relating to traffic, noise, air quality, or water quality; and the site can 
be adequately served by all required utilities and public services. 

 
B. Approve Conditional Use Permit No. CUP-19-05, Tentative Parcel Map No. 

19435 (TPM-19-01), Site Plan No. SP-19-02, Design Review No. DR-19-02 to 
subdivide an existing 3.8 acre parcel into 2 parcels, one being 2.5 acres and 
one being 1.3 acres. The approval includes the development of 60 townhouse 
apartments within eleven buildings at a density of 24 units per acre including 
associated improvements on the 2.5 acre parcel. 

 
Section 2. FINDINGS.  The Planning Commission hereby makes the following 

findings and determinations in connection with the approval of the Project:   
 

A. The above Recitals are true and correct. 
 

B. The project is consistent with the following General Plan Policies:  
 

1. Policy LU-1.2 Permitted Densities and Intensities. Ensure existing and 
future zoning designations correspond to the permitted density and 
intensity ranges as listed in Table LU-1 of the Land Use Element. 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 3 of 27  

 
Fact: The project density is 24 dwelling units/acre, which is allowed 
within the General Plan Land Use Designation and Zone. 
 

2. Policy LU-1.5 Range of Housing Types and Densities. Provide high-
quality housing in a range of types, densities, and unit sizes that meets 
the housing needs of residents of all income levels. 
 
Fact the project provides townhome style apartment units that will meet 
the needs of housing seekers at the Market-rate level.  The Project adds 
to the City’s housing stock for renters in the City’s efforts to address the 
housing needs of all income levels. 
 

3. Policy LU-4.1 Infill Development. Encourage mixed-use, infill 
development on brownfields or underutilized parcels, particularly near 
public transit and within the historic downtown.  
 
Fact: The project will fill a currently underutilized parcel.  The site is site 
surrounded by built urban environment and is served by existing 
infrastructure and roadways.  
 

4. Policy CC-2.5 Neighborhood Amenities. Encourage appropriately scaled 
community-supportive facilities and services within all neighborhoods to 
enhance neighborhood identity and provide convenient access within 
walking and biking distance of residents. 
 
Fact: The project will provide multiple recreation facilities for its 
residents, including a central park with tot lot and exercise area, as well 
as two Barbecue areas.  Further, the project is within walking distance 
to multiple Commercial uses, including the Upland Country Village 
shopping center.     

 
C. Per Section 17.44.040 F. the Planning Commission may approve an application 

for a Conditional Use Permit only if the proposed project complies with 
applicable standards in the Zoning Ordinance, other City ordinances, the 
General Plan, and any other applicable community or specific plans, and as 
supported by all of the following findings: 
 

1. Finding - The location, size, design, and operating characteristics of the 
proposed use will be compatible with the existing and future land uses 
near the subject property.  
 
Evidence – The location, size, design, and operating characteristics of 
the proposed use will be compatible with the existing and future land 
uses near the subject property in that the use is surrounded primarily 
by residential land uses. The development meets all applicable 
development standards and the operation of the use will not result in 
any significant impacts to the environment or surrounding uses. 
    

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 4 of 27  

 
2. Finding - The site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, 

shape, size, operating characteristics, and the provision of public and 
emergency vehicle (e.g. fire and medical) access and public services and 
utilities. 
 
Evidence – The site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, 
shape, size, operating characteristics, and the provision of public and 
emergency (e.g. fire and medical) access and public services and 
utilities because the proposed use meets or exceeds all applicable 
development standards for the zone.  The site provides for adequate fire 
lanes and access for emergency and/or public service vehicles.  

 
3. Finding - The proposed use will not be detrimental to the public health, 

safety, and welfare of the persons residing or working in the 
neighborhood of the proposed use. 
 
Evidence – No evidence exists to suggest that the proposed use will be 
detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, or general welfare. 
The project will result in the elimination of a large vacant property.  The 
project will not result in any significant impacts to the environment or 
surrounding uses. 
 

D. Upland Municipal Code Section 17.44.080(F) provides that the Planning 
Commission, before it may approve a Tentative Tract Map shall make the 
following findings: 
 

1. Finding: No Lots shall be created without frontage on a public street, 
except lots created in conjunction with approved private access 
easements. 

Evidence: The 2.5-acre Parcel will be landlocked as a result of the 
subdivision, therefore the applicant will dedicate an easement for public 
use along the existing drive isle at the east boundary of the site, from 
Mesa Court to the southern boundary of the project site.  The dedication 
will result in a minimum 26-foot drive isle with curb gutter, and a 5 foot 
sidewalk provided for pedestrian access to the site. 

2. Finding: The side lines of the lots shall run at right angles or radially to 
the street upon which the lot fronts, except where impractical by reason 
of unusual topography.  

Evidence: The side lines of all lots run at right angles or radially to the 
street upon which the lot fronts. 

3. Finding: Lots shall be equal or larger in measure than the prevalent size 
of existing lots in the surrounding area except where a deliberate change 
in the character of the area has been initiated by the adoption of a 
specific plan, a change in zone or general plan designation. 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 5 of 27  

 
Evidence: The project will result in 2 parcels, one being 2.5 acres and 
one being 1.3 acres. Surrounding parcels range from .25 acres to 2.8 
acres, therefore the new lots are consistent with the lots in the 
surrounding the Project.  

4. Finding: The site is physically suitable for the proposed type and density 
of development. 

Evidence: The site is physically suitable for the proposed type and 
density of development in that, the proposed density is within the 
limitations for the zone, the site contains adequate common open space 
amenities and parking for the project, the site meets all applicable 
development standards, and the site maintains adequate space for 
needed infrastructure improvements. 
 

5. Finding: The design of the subdivision or the proposed improvements is 
not likely to cause substantial environmental damage or substantially 
and avoidably injure fish or wildlife or their habitat.   

Evidence:  The project site has no value as a habitat for endangered, 
rare or threatened species and approval of the project would not result 
in any significant effects relating to traffic, noise, air quality, or water 
quality, therefore, the design of the subdivision or the proposed 
improvements is not likely to cause substantial environmental damage 
or substantially and avoidably injure fish or wildlife or their habitat.  

6. Finding: The design of the subdivision or type of improvements is not 
likely to cause problems to the public health, safety, or welfare. 

Evidence: The design of the subdivision provides for access 
improvements that provide for adequate emergency vehicle access, 
vehicle and pedestrian circulation.  The type of improvements meet the 
requirements of the Upland Zoning Code.  The project was reviewed an 
appropriately conditioned by Police and Fire services. Therefore, the 
design of the subdivision or type of improvements is not anticipated to 
cause problems to the public health, safety, or welfare of the 
community.  

7. Finding: The design of the subdivision and the type of improvements 
will not conflict with easements, acquired by the public at large, for 
access through or use of, property within the proposed subdivision. In 
this connection, the review authority may approve a map if it finds that 
alternative easements, for access or for use, will be provided, and that 
these will be substantially equivalent to ones previously acquired by the 
public. 

Evidence: The Public Works Department has reviewed the proposed 
design of the subdivision and has determined there are no conflicts with 
existing easements.   

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 6 of 27  

 
8. Finding: The design of the subdivision provides to the extent feasible, 

for future passive or natural heating or cooling opportunities in the 
subdivision. 

Evidence: The project provides adequate space between buildings to 
allow for natural airflow.  The subdivision provides adequate space for 
trees in the project which will provide some natural shading.  Buildings 
will include eaves that provide additional shade on building walls and all 
roofs will be solar ready as required by the California Building Code.  
Buildings are also required to comply with Title 24 energy requirements.   

E. Upland Municipal Code Section 17.44.030(H) provides that the approval body, 
before it may approve a Development Plan (Site Plan and Design Review), shall 
make a determination to allow the activity based upon the following findings: 

1. Finding: The design and layout of the proposed project will not interfere 
with the use and enjoyment of existing and future neighboring 
properties and structures. 

 
Evidence: The design and layout of the project includes the construction 
of a private drive isle and circulation improvements.  The project meets 
or exceeds required development standards including open space and 
parking requirements.  A traffic analysis was prepared for the project 
and found that the project would not result in any significant impacts to 
the surrounding neighborhood.  Therefore, the proposed project will not 
interfere with the use and enjoyment of existing and future neighboring 
properties and structures.   

 
2. Finding: The proposed architectural design makes use of appropriate 

materials, texture, and color, and will remain aesthetically appealing 
and appropriately maintained. 

 
Evidence: The proposed architectural design makes use of gable pop-
outs, varied setbacks and recessed porches, masonry materials and 
stucco walls in multiple colors that create aesthetically appealing 
buildings. Conditions of approval are included to ensure the buildings 
will remain aesthetically appealing and appropriately maintained.      

 
3. Finding: The proposed landscaping design, including color, location, 

size, texture, type, and coverage of plant materials, as well as provisions 
for irrigation, maintenance, and protection of landscaping elements, will 
complement structures and provide an attractive environment. 

 
Evidence: The preliminary landscape plan proposes the use of plant 
material that provide varied color and texture.  The plans shows 
landscaping that includes a variety of plants materials, distinct in color 
and size, as well a large number of new trees all of which will be 
maintained by the property owner.  Conditions of approval are included 
requiring the submittal of Final Landscape and Irrigation plans for review 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 7 of 27  

 
and approval.  Therefore, the proposed landscaping design is sufficient 
in terms of color, location, size, texture, type, and coverage of plant 
materials, as well as provisions for irrigation, maintenance, and 
protection of landscaping elements, will complement structures and 
provide an attractive environment.   

 
4. Finding: The proposed design will not be materially detrimental to the 

public health, safety, or welfare, or be injurious to the property or 
improvements in the vicinity of the proposed project. 

 
Evidence: The proposed design includes adequate Emergency Vehicle 
Access.  The project has been conditioned by the Upland Police 
Department with multiple safety requirements, and will include 
complete plan check reviews by the Upland Building Division and San 
Bernardino County Fire Department thereby protecting safety and 
welfare. Improvements in the vicinity of the project include improved 
circulation around the project site, beneficial to the properties in the 
vicinity of the proposed project.  Therefore, the proposed design will not 
be materially detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare, or be 
injurious to the property or improvements in the vicinity of the proposed 
project.  

Section 3. DETERMINATION.  In light of the evidence presented at the hearing 
on this application, and based on the findings set forth above, the Planning 
Commission hereby finds that the requirements necessary for the approval of the 
Project, subject to all applicable provisions of the Upland Municipal Code, and the 
following conditions of approval: 
 
10.0 General Conditions 
 

10.1 All Ordinances, Policy Resolutions, and Standards of the City in effect at 
the time this project is approved shall be complied with as a condition 
of this approval. 
 

10.2 The project shall comply with development standards and guidelines 
prescribed within the Upland Municipal Code. 

 
10.3 Prior to issuance of future permits, all tract maps and development plans 

shall be subject to plan check with the Planning Division, Building 
Division, Engineering Division, Public Works Department and Fire 
Department. 
 

10.4 No construction or grading shall commenced until the applicable final 
maps, final grading and improvement plans have been approved.   

 
10.5 No building permits shall be issued until rough grading has been certified 

by the Engineer of Record, and a building permit has been issued by the 
Building Division. 

 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 8 of 27  

 
10.6 All landscaped areas shall be maintained in a healthy and thriving 

condition, free from weeds, trash, and debris at all times.  Dead, 
damaged, and/or missing landscaping shall be replaced/replanted, 
subject to the satisfaction of the Planning Division. 

 
10.7 To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Applicant shall indemnify, 

defend and hold the City, its elected officials, officers, contractors 
serving as City officers, agents, and employees (“Indemnitees”) free 
and harmless from: (i) any and all claims, liabilities and losses 
whatsoever occurring or resulting to any and all persons, firms, entities, 
or corporations furnishing or supplying work, services, materials, or 
supplies in connection with, or related to, the performance of work or 
the exercise of rights authorized by approval of the project; and (ii) any 
and all claims, lawsuits, liabilities, and/or actions arising out of, or 
related to the approval of Conditional Use Permit No. CUP-19-05, 
Tentative Parcel Map No. TPM-19-01, Site Plan No. SP-19-02, Design 
Review No. DR-19-02 (Project) and/or the granting or exercise of the 
rights authorized by said approval; and (iii) from any and all claims, 
liabilities and losses occurring or resulting to any person, firm, entity, 
corporation for property damage, personal injury, or death, arising out 
of or related to the approval of, or exercise of rights granted by, this 
Project. Applicant's obligation to indemnify, defend, and hold the 
Indemnitees free and harmless as required hereinabove shall include, 
but is not limited to, paying all fees and costs incurred by legal counsel 
of the Indemnitees’ choice in representing the Indemnitees in 
connection with any such claims, losses, lawsuits, or actions, and any 
award of damages, judgments, verdicts, court costs or attorneys' fees 
in any such lawsuit or action. 
 

10.8 The applicant and recorded property owner of the property shall submit 
to the Development Services Department written evidence of agreement 
with all conditions of this approval before the approval becomes 
effective. 

 
10.9 Expansion of project beyond the scope and nature of the project, which 

would increase the projected scale of the project, shall not be permitted 
except upon application for and approval of modification to this 
approval. 
   

10.10 The developer shall not engage in any construction activities other than 
between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. on weekdays, except in 
case of urgent necessity in the interest of public health and safety or as 
otherwise approved by the Development Services Director. 

 
10.11 Termination of approval if either: (1) development has not been 

diligently commenced and actively pursued to completion thereafter 
within a two (2) year period from the date of approval (i.e. December 
11, 2021); or, (2) if the use approved hereunder is discontinued for a 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 9 of 27  

 
period of one hundred and eighty days or longer; or, (3) non-compliance 
with any provision of the Upland Municipal (UMC) not specifically waived 
in compliance with City procedures. 

 
20.0 Planning Division Conditions  
 

20.1 The applicant shall submit Final Map exhibits to the Public Works 
Department for review and approval prior to recordation. 
 

20.2 Prior to final approval of the last building permit for the project, all 
existing chain-link fence on the project site shall be removed and 
replaced with decorative masonry walls.  Walls may include decorative 
wrought iron screening elements.  In addition, any fences/walls 
proposed for the project shall be of decorative masonry materials, and 
may include decorative wrought iron screening elements (e.g. 6-foot tall 
split face block columns with 3 foot block walls topped with decorative 
wrought iron/tubular steel).     

 
20.3 Prior to the issuance of building permits, the applicant is required to 

submit a final landscape and irrigation plan for review and approval by 
the Planning Division.  Landscape plans will include all open space areas, 
common landscaped area and right-of-way landscaping. 

 
20.4 Prior to the issuance of permits, the applicant shall include, on the plans 

submitted for plan check, bicycle parking as required by Upland 
Municipal Code section 17.11.060.  Bicycle parking shall be installed 
prior to Final Inspection of the last building. 

 
20.5 During construction, the applicant shall comply with the following Best 

Management Practices for noise management during construction. 
 

a. Re-route truck traffic away from residential streets, if possible. Select 
streets with fewest homes, if no alternatives are available.  

 
b. Locate equipment on the construction lot as far away from noise 

sensitive receivers as possible.  
 
c. Combine noisy operations to occur in the same time period. The total 

noise will not increase significantly and the duration of the noise 
impact will be less.  

 
d. It is unlawful for any person to engage in or permit the erection 

(including excavation), demolition, alteration or repair of any 
building other than between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. 
on weekdays, except in case of urgent necessity in the interest of 
public health and safety, and then only with a permit from the 
building inspector, which permit may be granted for a period not to 
exceed three days or less while the emergency continues, and which 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 10 of 27  

 
permit may be renewed for periods of three days or less while the 
emergency continues. If the building inspector should determine that 
the public health and safety will not be impaired by the erection, 
demolition, alteration or repair of any building or the excavation of 
streets and highways within the hours of 6:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m., 
and if he or she shall further determine that loss or inconvenience 
would result to any party in interest, he or she may grant permission 
for such work to be done within the hours of 6:00 p.m. and 7:00 
a.m., upon application being made at the time the permit for the 
work is awarded or during the progress of the work. 

 
e. Use specially quieted equipment when possible, such as quieted and 

enclosed air compressors, residential or critical grade mufflers on all 
engines.  

 
f. Stationary equipment will be located as far away from sensitive 

receptors as possible. Loud, disrupting construction activities in noise 
sensitive areas will be conducted during hours that are least 
disturbing to adjacent and nearby residents.  

 
g. If noise above the stated regulation will be generated for long periods 

of time, construct barriers to block the line of sight to noise sensitive 
receivers.  

 
20.6 During construction, the applicant shall comply with the following Best 

Management Practices for air quality management during construction. 
Prior to issuance of any Grading Permit, the Development Services 
Director and the Engineering/Land Development Division shall confirm 
that the Grading Plan, Building Plans, and specifications stipulate that, 
in compliance with SCAQMD Rule 403, excessive fugitive dust emissions 
shall be controlled by regular watering or other dust prevention 
measures, as specified in the SCAQMD’s Rule and Regulations. In 
addition, SCAQMD Rule 402 requires implementation of dust 
suppression techniques to prevent fugitive dust from creating a nuisance 
offsite. Implementation of the following measures would reduce short-
term fugitive dust impacts on nearby sensitive receptors: 
 
a. All active portions of the construction site shall be watered twice daily 

to prevent excessive amounts of dust; 

b. Non-toxic soil stabilizers shall be applied to all inactive construction 
areas (previously graded areas inactive for 20 days or more, 
assuming no rain), according to manufacturers’ specifications; 

c. All excavating and grading operations shall be suspended when wind 
gusts (as instantaneous gust) exceed 25 miles per hour; 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 11 of 27  

 
d. On-site vehicle speed shall be limited to 15 miles per hour; on-site 

roads shall be paved as soon as feasible, watered twice daily, or 
chemically stabilized; 

e. Visible dust shall not cross the property line; 

f. All material transported off-site shall be either sufficiently watered 
or securely covered to prevent excessive amounts of dust prior to 
departing the job site; 

g. Track-out devices shall be used at all construction site access points; 

h. All delivery truck tires shall be watered down and/or scraped down 
prior to departing the job site; 

i. A construction relations officer shall be appointed to act as a 
community liaison concerning on-site construction activity including 
resolution of issues related to fugitive dust generation; 

j. Streets shall be swept at the end of the day if visible soil material is 
carried onto adjacent paved public roads and use of SCAQMD Rule 
1186 and 1186.1 certified street sweepers or roadway; and 

k. Replace ground cover in disturbed areas as quickly as possible. 

30.0 Public Works Conditions  
 

I  SUBDIVISION MAPS (EASEMENTS-MONUMENTS-BONDS) 
 

Map/Lot Merger 
 

30.1 The approval of this project is subject to, and contingent upon, the 
recordation of a Final Map/Lot merger.  Said Final Map/ Lot Merger shall 
have adequate reservations of public and/or private utility easements 
and abandonment of existing utility easements to the satisfaction of the 
Public Works Director. Required easement outside of the project 
boundaries currently owned by this project’s developer shall be 
dedicated to the public thru separate instruments.  

 
30.2 The submittal, approval, and recordation of the final map/lot merger 

shall be in accordance with the provisions of the State Subdivision Map 
Act, state and federal laws, and Upland Municipal Code.   

 
30.3 The developer shall provide for reciprocal access between the two 

parcels and residents of the two properties. 
 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 12 of 27  

 
30.4 Existing easement running on the project site shall be 

abandoned/vacated by the City upon recordation of the map/merger. 
 
30.5 Final Tract Map/ Lot Merger shall be submitted for City approval. 
 
Right-of-Way Dedication and Easements 
  
30.6 The project shall reserve and record easements for ingress and egress 

for the adjacent parcel/lots. 
 
30.7 Minimum twenty-six-foot-wide easement shall be dedicated for ingress 

and ingress and as utility easement as required for the proposed onsite 
improvement. 

 
Monuments 
 
30.8 The Owner/Developer shall comply with Assembly Bill 1414, which was 

enacted into law and effective January 1, 1995.  This bill amended 
Section 8771 of the Business and Professions Code (of the Land 
Surveyors Act).  The County Surveyor requires that two corner records 
be filed; they are when: 

 
a. Monuments exist that controls the location of subdivisions or tracts, 

streets or highways; or provides survey control.  The monuments are 
located and referenced by a licensed Land Surveyor before any 
streets or highways are reconstructed or relocated.  The corner 
record(s) of the references are filed with the County Surveyor. 

 
b. Monuments are reset in the surface of the new construction and a 

corner record is filed with the County Surveyor before recording of a 
Certificate (Notice) of Completion for the project. 

 
30.9 Permanent survey monuments shall be set at the intersection of street 

centerlines, beginning, and end of curves in centerlines, and at other 
locations designated by the Director of Public Works/City Engineer.  All 
other centerline monuments shall be in accordance with standard survey 
practice.  A complete set of all street centerline ties (a minimum of three 
per monument) shall be submitted prior to final project acceptance. 

 
Bonds 
 
30.10 Before the recordation of the Map/Merger or the issuance of a permit, a 

security bond shall be posted in a form acceptable to the City.  Also 
accompanying the surety shall be an agreement executed to the 
satisfaction of the Public Works Director and the City Attorney, 
guaranteeing completion of all public improvements. 

 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 13 of 27  

 
II  STREET IMPROVEMENTS 
 
30.11 All deficient public improvements shall be upgraded to current City 

Standards and to the satisfaction of the Public Works Director.  
 
30.12 Main access to the project site is from Mesa Court through an existing 

easement to the project site. Developer shall dedicate additional width 
to make a total of 32-foot wide easement from Mesa Court to the site. 
Additional easement shall be dedicated to include portion of the existing 
driveway from the east and additional easement towards the south 
connecting to the existing alley as shown on the developer’s tentative 
exhibit. These entry ways and easement shall be improved with asphalt 
pavement, concrete sidewalk and curb and gutter as shown on the 
developer’s exhibit.     

 
30.13 Asphalt paving and similar other features damaged during construction 

shall be replaced to the City’s satisfaction. 
 

30.14 Improvement of entry ways from project site to Mesa Court shall include 
removal and replacement of damaged or deficient sidewalk, curb and 
gutter and asphalt slurry seal the street at a minimum. Additional width 
shall be constructed with full depth asphalt as determined thru 
calculations by the engineer. Truncated dome shall be placed at both 
ADA ramps at the Mesa Court/entry intersection. ADA compliant ramps 
shall be constructed at entrance/exit of the project. Landscaping and 
irrigation plans shall be submitted for City review and approval. Drought 
tolerant and water efficient irrigation system shall be required. Parkway 
landscaping shall be maintained by the Owner/Developer. Landscaping 
shall comply with the latest State Landscaping Code. 

 
30.15 In accordance with California Building Code, Title 24 and the 

requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), handicap 
facilities shall be constructed and existing facilities shall be 
reconstructed within the project limits, as necessary, in locations 
specified by the Director of Public Works/City Engineer and the Director 
of Community Development. 

 
III  UTILITY (WATER – SEWER – ENVIRONMENTAL) 
 
Utility General 
 
30.16 All utility companies shall be contacted to establish appropriate 

easements to provide services to each lot/structure. 
 
30.17 All lots/structures shall be served by utilities, allowing each lot/structure 

to function separately and independent from one another. 
 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 14 of 27  

 
30.18 The Owner/Developer is responsible for research on private utility lines 

(Gas, Edison, Telephone, Cable, Irrigation, etc.) to ensure there are no 
conflicts with the site. 

 
30.19 All existing on-site utility lines, if any, that conflict with this project shall 

be relocated and removed to the satisfaction of the Public Works 
Director. 

 
30.20 Composite Utility Plans shall be submitted before the issuance of a 

Grading Permit.  Any easements will be dedicated to the appropriate 
Utility Company as required to accommodate the location and 
maintenance of each facility. 

 
Undergrounding 
 
30.21 All lots/structures within this project shall be served by underground 

utilities.  All utility plans (Edison, Telephone, and Cable TV, among 
others) shall be submitted to the Public Works Department for review 
and approval prior to the issuance of any permits for utility work within 
public right-of-way or public easements. 

 
30.22 The existing overhead utilities (including telephone, cable and SCE 

distribution lines) on the project site and frontage shall be underground 
in accordance with Upland Municipal Code. 

 
30.23 Undergrounding of existing utilities shall be completed before issuance 

of the first occupancy. 
 
Environmental 
 
30.24 This project is subject to the General Construction Permit for Storm 

Water Discharges.  The Owner/Developer is required to file a Notice of 
Intent (NOI) with the State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB) for 
construction activities.  A Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan 
(SWPPP) shall be prepared and be available at the job site at all times.  
A copy of the Waste Discharger’s Identification Number (WDID) from 
the SWRCB shall be provided to the City before the issuance of grading 
or building permits. 

 
30.25 This project is required to submit a Site Specific Water Quality 

Management Plan (WQMP) (reference City Of Upland “Construction 
Stormwater Guidelines” and the County of San Bernardino “Guidelines 
for New Development and Redevelopment”) for review and approval by 
the City Of Upland, Public Works Department, Environmental Division.  
The WQMP shall include a description and map of the project along with 
an outline of structural and non-structural Best Management Practices 
(BMPs), which apply to the project pursuant to the “New Development 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 15 of 27  

 
and Redevelopment Guidelines.”  The subject WQMP shall be approved 
prior to the issuance of grading permit. 

 
30.26 Prior to issuance of any permit, the developer shall have completed the 

Site Specific Water Quality Management Plan (WQMP) and executed the 
WQMP Maintenance Agreement with the City. 

 
Sewer 
 
30.27 Sanitary sewer system(s) shall be constructed pursuant to the City’s 

Master Plan and subsequent studies applicable to the project site, to the 
satisfaction of the Public Works Director. 

 
30.28 Proposed on-site sewer line shall be private to be maintained by the 

owner. Drainage facilities shall also be maintained by the owner. Water 
mains shall be a private system maintained by the owner/developer. 

 
30.29 City staff will inspect all newly installed sewer mains with the TV camera 

before acceptance of the line for public improvements. 
 
30.30 Extend any sanitary sewer and water line facilities as necessary to serve 

the entire development, including the payment of any sewer and water 
connection fees as determined by the Public Works Director. 

 
30.31 The Owner/Developer shall provide the necessary Sewer Service 

Backflow Prevention Device as required by the City. 
 
Water 
 
30.32 A separate water meter shall be provided for each lot/building (including 

any necessary easements to provide such services) prior to the 
recordation of the final map. 

 
30.33 All new and upgraded developments shall meet the requirements of 

Chapter 7 “Municipal Water System,” Article VII, of the Upland Municipal 
Code.  This Code pertains to water system connection fees, water 
additive fees, and the transfer of water stock to the City of Upland. 

 
30.34 Appropriate water utility easements for water facility locations shall be 

shown on water plans.  Underground utilities shall maintain a minimum 
seven-foot setback from the face of the curb and shall not encroach into 
the water utility easement, excepting as may be authorized by the Public 
Works Director subject to special construction methods.  As-built plans 
of all underground utilities, including water facilities, shall be submitted 
prior to final approval of the development. 

 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 16 of 27  

 
30.35 The provision of fire protection water systems, hydrants, and 

appropriate easements shall be in conformance with the San Bernardino 
County Fire and Public Works Department Standards. 

 

30.36 Public on-site protection hydrant(s) and water systems shall be installed 
in accordance with the San Bernardino County Fire and Public Works 
Department Standards. 

 

30.37 All landscape meter(s) and approved Backflow Device(s) shall be 
installed and inspected, in accordance with the Public Works Department 
Standards. 

 

30.38 All water facilities shall be installed outside any driveways and drive 
approaches, and shall be in accordance with the Public Works 
Department Standards. 

 
IV  GRADING - STORM DRAIN - EROSION CONTROL 
 
30.39 Storm drain system(s) shall be constructed in accordance with the City's 

Master Plan applicable to the project site and to the satisfaction of the 
Public Works Director. 

 
30.40 A hydrology/hydraulics analysis is required to the satisfaction of the 

Public Works Director.  Any offsite drainage, which may impact this 
development, or additional drainage created by this development, shall 
be addressed in accordance with the mitigation measures required in 
the hydrology report before issuance of any permits. 

 
30.41 Each parcel/lot shall drain to the street or other approved drainage 

facility.  Cross lot drainage is not allowed. Approval from City of Upland 
is required prior to tie-in to existing storm drain. 

 
30.42 All drainage shall be directed on-site at the points so indicated upon the 

subject map/plan (any deviation will require resubmittal to the Technical 
Review Committee for approval). 

 
30.43 Location, direction, and devices for conveying site drainage directed to 

a street shall be subject to review and approval by the Public Works 
Director. 

 
30.44 Temporary drainage controls may be required during construction 

phases as directed by the Public Works Director. 
 
30.45 All catch basins and Storm Drain Inlet Facilities shall be stenciled with 

the appropriate “No Dumping” message.  
 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 17 of 27  

 
30.46 A notarized off-site grading letter(s) from the adjacent property 

owner(s) shall be required before issuance of grading permits. Said 
requirement shall be noted on the grading plans. 

 
30.47 Grading plan shall be prepared and shall conform to the requirements 

of California Building Code (CBC), latest edition. Said grading plan shall 
propose all recommendations contained in the project’s geotechnical 
report.  

 
30.48 An erosion control plan shall be required as directed by the Public Works 

Director. 
 
30.49 No permanent building construction shall commence until the final 

grading and improvement plans have been approved, rough grading 
certified and a building permit issued by the Building Division. 

 
30.50 Owner/Developer shall submit design and calculations and obtain permit 

and inspection for all development perimeter and retaining walls from 
the Building Division. Construction of any masonry/retaining wall shown 
on the plans or reference thereto shall require separate permit from 
Building Division. 

 
30.51 Dust Control operations shall be performed by the Contractor at the 

time, location and in the amount required and as often as necessary to 
prevent the excavation or fill work, demolition operation, or other 
activities from producing dust in amounts harmful to people or causing 
a nuisance to persons living nearby or occupying buildings in the vicinity 
of the work.  The Contractor is responsible for compliance with Fugitive 
Dust Regulations issued by the Air Quality Management District (AQMD). 

 
30.52 Control of dust shall be by sprinkling of water, use of approved dust 

preventatives, modifications of operations or any other means 
acceptable to the Engineer, City of Upland, the Regional Water Quality 
Control Board (RWQCB), the AQMD, and any Health or Environmental 
Control Agency having jurisdiction over the facility.  The Engineer shall 
have the authority to suspend all construction operations if, in their 
opinion, the Contractor fails to adequately provide for dust control. 

 
30.53 In compliance to water conservation mandate of the State of California, 

before or at submission of grading plans, Owner/Developer shall 
submit/develop Water Conservation Plan. Among others, said plan 
encourages the use of reclaimed water and use of any/all water 
conservation measures during construction.  

 
V  LANDSCAPING 
 
30.54 All landscaping works proposed for this development shall comply with 

the latest State Landscaping Code. 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 18 of 27  

 
30.55 Any landscaping proposed within a City utility easement is subject to 

approval by the Public Works Director and Community Development 
Director. 

 
30.56 All landscape and irrigation systems, located in the public parkways, 

shall be connected to a water supply system that is metered to the 
property owner. 

 
30.57 All developments require a tree-planting scheme.  Residential 

developments require one tree per forty feet of residential street 
frontage with a minimum on one tree per lot.   

 
a. If planting in an area without sidewalk, plant the trees four feet to 

six feet from the existing or planned curb or street. 
 
b. Plant trees a minimum of five feet from other utilities, a minimum of 

ten feet from driveways, water meters, water lines, sewer lines, 
traffic and directional signs, and fire hydrants, a minimum of fifteen 
feet from street lights, and a minimum of thirty feet from street 
corners. 

 
30.58 The Owner/Developer shall provide for maintenance of all landscape 

areas located on the project including parkways and alleys. 
 
VI  OTHER AGENCY 
 
30.59 Approval and/or permits may be required from the following agencies 

among others: 
 

a. San Bernardino County; 
b. Inland Empire Utilities Agency; 
c. San Antonio Water Company; and 
d. California Regional Water Quality Control Board, Santa Ana Region 

for an NPDES Permit or Clearance Letter. 
 
VIII  GENERAL ENGINEERING 
 
30.60 Owner/Developer is required to arrange for a PRE-CONSTRUCTION 

MEETING with the Public Works Department 72 hours in advance before 
any permitted work can commence. 

 
30.61 All improvement plans and grading plans shall be submitted for plan 

check to the Public Works Department as a complete package.  A 
complete package includes street; sewer, water, site specific WQMP, 
grading, EROSION CONTROL drainage, landscape and any appropriate 
reports and back up documents.  Incomplete submittals shall be 
rejected. 

 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 19 of 27  

 
30.62 All plans (including Landscaping Plans) depicting any work to be plan 

checked by Public Works shall be prepared on 24”x36” on City Standard 
title block.  This includes street, sewer, water grading, storm drain, 
grading, erosion control, private street design, and landscape plans. 
“Cut and paste,” “sticky-backs,” “zip-a-tone,” “Kroy lettering,” or other 
tape will not be permitted on mylars. 

 
30.63 As-built plans (including street, sewer, water, and storm drain and 

grading plans) shall be submitted. Electronic drawing files on compact 
disc (CD’s) shall be submitted to the City for file in the format acceptable 
by the City. 

 
30.64 All Ordinances, Policy Resolutions, and Standards of the City in effect at 

the time this project is approved shall be complied with as a condition 
of this approval. 

 
30.65 No certificate of occupancy, or any other final clearance needed prior to 

occupancy, shall be given until all other conditions are met. 
 
IX  MISCELLANEOUS CONDITIONS 
 
Phases 
 
30.66 In the event that developer/owner performs the works in phases, a 

phasing plan shall be submitted for City’s approval prior to 
implementation.  
 

30.67 Each phase must be fully independent and functional from each phase 
of the development especially considering onsite utility connections such 
as sewer, water, electric power, gas, drainage, handicap access ramps 
and communications utilities, among others.  

 
30.68 Each phase shall have at least two points of access and construction 

traffic shall not be mixed with residents’ traffic. 
 
30.69 All phases shall comply with the conditions set forth for the mapmerger. 
 
30.70 Adequate drainage/erosion control shall be provided at all times during 

each phase of the development (including model/sales trailer sites).  
Submit appropriate erosion control plans to the Public Works Director 
for approval. 

 
30.71 The location of the temporary access road each phase shall be approved 

by the Public Works Director and it shall be paved to the satisfaction of 
the Public Works Director and Fire Chief. 

 
30.72 Prior to occupancy in each phase, Owner/Developer shall complete the 

following minimum improvements: 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 20 of 27  

 
a. Complete finish grading of all parcel/lots including submittal of 

grading certification to the Public Works Department. 
b. Complete all underground utilities and their service lines for each 

unit. 
c. Complete curb and gutter, sidewalk, street lighting, and street 

paving. 
d. Provide “as-built” plans. 

 
40.0    Police Department 

40.1 The approved conditions shall be retained on the premises at all times 
and produced immediately upon request of the Upland Police 
Department, and City Planning. 

 
40.2 A 6-month review/inspection shall be conducted to ensure permittee's 

compliance with all operating conditions. 
 
40.3 Prior to the issuance of building permits, the project must be enclosed 

with a 6-FT. high chain link fencing to prevent access to construction 
areas by the public and to minimize theft of building materials and 
equipment. All fencing and gates shall meet the approval of the Fire 
Department and Police Department. 

 
40.4 Graffiti abatement by the property owner shall be immediate and 

ongoing on the licensed premises, but in no event shall graffiti be 
allowed unabated on the premises for more than 48 hours. Abatement 
shall take the form of removal or shall be covered/painted over with a 
color reasonably matching the color of the existing building, structure, 
or other surface being abated. Additionally, the business owner/licensee 
shall notify the City within 24 hours of any graffiti elsewhere on the 
property not under the business owner/licensee's control so that it may 
be abated by the property owner. 

 
40.5 The Developer, builder, contractors, sub-contractors, and any other 

persons associated with this project shall adhere to the Upland Municipal 
Code (UMC) dealing with unnecessary noises under section 9.40.100. 
Furthermore, prior to the beginning of construction, a sign shall be 
posted at the entrance of the property educating everyone entering as 
to the authorized construction times and failure to comply with such 
requirements will result in an immediate citation for violating the 
aforementioned UMC section. 

 
40.6 Units with front and rear drive access shall affix or paint address 

numbering/lettering in a conspicuous location, free from plant 
obstruction, and readily visible to emergency services personnel on both 
front and rear accesses. 

 
40.7 Prior to occupancy all private streets, parking areas, parking lots, and 

driveways shall be dedicated for off-road traffic, fire lane, soliciting, 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 21 of 27  

 
handicap, and loitering enforcement. The applicant must submit a 
written request to the City Clerk asking that a resolution from the City 
Council allow Police Enforcement of the above violations on the property. 
Once the resolution has been obtained, a sign shall be erected/posted 
at all access points stating the above listed locations and violations have 
been dedicated for enforcement by the Upland Police Department. 

 
40.8 Prior to occupancy, the Police Department will conduct an on-site 

inspection of the property, checking proper lighting has been installed 
throughout the property, proper locks on exterior doors and doors 
leading to the interior are in place and functioning properly. In addition, 
the Police Department will check that proper addressing/lettering has 
been installed. 

 
40.9 The applicant shall submit for review by the Police Department the 

design and specifications for all proposed lighting fixtures proposed for 
the buildings, drive aisles, parkways, parking areas, pathways, and 
surrounding areas within the development. The fixtures shall be 
reviewed for quality, aesthetics, illumination values, sustainability 
values such as LED and shall be decoratively and architecturally 
consistent with the building design. The number, location, height, style 
and design shall be reviewed and approved by the Police Department 
prior to issuance of building permits. 

 
40.10 Submit a Photometric Study providing a minimum of two foot candle all 

around the structure and surveillance cameras all around the perimeter, 
common areas, and throughout the parking area, with the ability or 
resolution to make license plates discernable. 

 
40.11 All exterior lighting lower than 12 feet from the ground level shall be 

enclosed in vandal-resistant covers. 
 
40.12 Lighting shall be required in all area of public access. 
 
40.13 Public parking areas and access thereto shall be provided with a 

maintained minimum of 2 foot candle power of light on the parking 
surface, from dusk to dawn, or as modified by the Chief of Police, based 
on documented proof that meeting the 2 foot candle power standard is 
impractical. Lighting shall be provided through the use of photo cells; 
use of low pressure sodium fixtures and bulbs is prohibited.  

 
40.14 At a minimum, internally illuminated address signs/numbers are 

required for each building, to the satisfaction of the Deputy Fire Marshal 
and the Chief of Police. 

 
40.15 A digital video surveillance system is required at the premise. It is 

recommended to have a surveillance video/visual media that shall be 
maintained for a minimum of sixty (60) days and upon request, shall be 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 22 of 27  

 
accessible to law enforcement personnel for viewing, copying and 
collection purposes during regular business hours. The system shall be 
able to make license plates discernable. The video system shall cover all 
ingress and egress points of public access areas such as guest parking 
lots, community clubhouse, pool area, and recreation areas. 

 
40.16 Provide UPD with contact information of person responsible for 

maintaining video equipment/system and who has access to retrieve 
and copy surveillance video. The surveillance video/visual media shall 
be remotely accessible to the Upland Police Department. 

 
40.17 The applicant shall be responsible for maintaining the area adjacent to 

the premises over which they have control free of litter. 
 
40.18 All landscaping must adhere to the 2' 6' rule (all ground cover 

landscaping must be maintained no higher than 2' from ground level 
and all lower tree canopy must be maintained no lower than 6' in height 
from the ground level). 

 
40.19 Any vehicles not parked legally may be cited and/or towed if it is in 

violation of the California Vehicle Code and/or Upland Municipal Code. 
 
50.0 Building and Safety  
 

50.1 Full Design to be in compliance with City of Upland Construction Codes. 
 

50.2 Soils report is required at the time of plan check submittal. 
 

50.3 Provide full compliance ADA parking, Site Accessibility, and Parking. 
 

50.4 A Demolition permit of existing building will only be issued after new 
building plan submittal. 

 
50.5 To the satisfaction of the Building Official, abatement reports required 

prior to building demolition.  
 
60.0 San Bernardino County Fire Protection District (SBCo FD) 
 

60.1 Hydrant shall be within 300-feet of the proposed structure. SBCoFd 
2016 Standard W-2 

 
60.2 Permit Expiration Construction permits, including Fire Condition Letters, 

shall automatically expire and become invalid unless the work 
authorized by such permit is commenced within 180 days after its 
issuance, or if the work authorized by such permit is suspended or 
abandoned for a period of 180 days after the time the work is 
commenced. Suspension or abandonment shall mean that no inspection 
by the Department has occurred with 180 days of any previous 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 23 of 27  

 
inspection. After a construction permit or Fire Condition Letter, becomes 
invalid and before such previously approved work recommences, a new 
permit shall be first obtained and the fee to recommence work shall be 
one-half the fee for the new permit for such work, provided no changes 
have been made or will be made in the original construction documents 
for such work, and provided further that such suspension or 
abandonment has not exceeded one year. A request to extend the Fire 
Condition Letter or Permit may be made in writing PRIOR TO the 
expiration date justifying the reason that the Fire Condition Letter 
should be extended. 

 
60.3 Additional Requirements In addition to the Fire requirements stated 

herein, other onsite and offsite improvements may be required which 
cannot be determined from tentative plans at this time and would have 
to be reviewed after more complete improvement plans and profiles 
have been submitted to this office. 

 
60.4 Inspection by the Fire Department Permission to occupy or use the 

building ( certificate of Occupancy or shell release) will not be granted 
until the Fire Department inspects, approves and signs off on the 
Building and Safety job card for "fire final". 

 
60.5 Building Plans. EZOP Online submittal submitted to the Fire Department 

for review and approval.  
 
CONDITIONS THAT MUST BE MET PRIOR TO ISSUANCE OF BUILDING PERMITS 
 
60.6 Fire Flow Test: Your submittal did not include a flow test report to 

establish whether the public water supply is capable of meeting your 
project fire flow demand. You will be required to produce a current flow 
test report from your water purveyor demonstrating that the fire flow 
demand is satisfied. This requirement shall be completed prior to 
combination inspection by Building and Safety. 1500 GPM at 20 PSI. 

 
60.7 Access: The development shall have a minimum of two points of 

vehicular access. These are for fire/emergency equipment access and 
for evacuation routes. 

 
a. Single Story Road Access Width. All buildings shall have access 

provided by approved roads, alleys and private drives with a 
minimum twenty-six (26) foot unobstructed width and vertically to 
fourteen (14) feet six (6) inches in height. Other recognized 
standards may be more restrictive by requiring wider access 
provisions. 

 
b. Multi-Story Road Access Width. Buildings three (3) stories in height 

or more shall have a minimum access of thirty (30) feet unobstructed 
width and vertically to fourteen (14) feet six (6) inches in height. 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 24 of 27  

 
60.8 Street Sign: This project is required to have an approved street sign 

(temporary or permanent). The street sign shall be installed on the 
nearest street corner to the project. Installation of the temporary sign 
shall be prior any combustible material being placed on the construction 
site. Prior to final inspection and occupancy of the first structure, the 
permanent street sign shall be installed.  

 
THE FOLLOWING PRIOR TO OCCUPANCY: 
 
60.9 Fire Sprinkler Nf PA 13R: An automatic fire sprinkler system complying 

with NFPA Pamphlet #13R and the Fire Department standards for light 
Hazard Occupancies under 5,000 sq.ft and Multi-Residential 
Occupancies. The applicant shall hire a Fire Department approved fire 
sprinkler contractor. The fire sprinkler contractor shall submit plans with 
hydraulic calculations and manufacture's specification sheets to the Fire 
Department for approval. The required fees shall be paid at the time of 
plan submittal. Minimum water supply shall be a two (2) inch water 
meter for Commercial and one and one half (1½) inch for Residential 

 
60.10 Fire Alarm: An automatic fire sprinkler monitoring fire alarm system 

complying with the California Fire Code, NFPA and all applicable codes 
is required. The applicant shall hire a Fire Department approved fire 
alarm contractor. The fire alarm contractor shall submit detailed plans 
to the Fire Department for review and approval. The required fees shall 
be paid at the time of plan submittal. 

 
60.11 Commercial Addressing: Commercial and industrial developments of 

100,000-sq. ft. or less shall have the street address installed on the 
building with numbers that are a minimum six (6) inches in height and 
with a three quarter (3/4) inch stroke. The street address shall be visible 
from the street. During the hours of darkness, the numbers shall be 
electrically illuminated (internal or external). Where the building is two 
hundred (200) feet or more from the roadway, additional non-
illuminated contrasting six (6) inch numbers shall be displayed at the 
property access entrances. 

 
60.12 Fire Extinguishers: Hand portable fire extinguishers are required. The 

location, type, and cabinet design shall be approved by the Fire 
Department. 

 
60.13 Fire Lanes: The applicant shall submit a fire lane plan to the Fire 

Department for review and approval. Fire lane curbs shall be painted 
red. The "No Parking, Fire Lane" signs shall be 

 
 
 
 
 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 25 of 27  

 
70.0  Trash Services  

 
70.1 Prior to issuance of grading permits, the developer or their contractor 

shall contact Burrtec to coordinate the preparation and implementation 
of a Construction Waste Management Plan. 
 

70.2 The project will require trash and mixed recyclables collection services 
and may require more than one pick up per week. Each enclosure shall 
have one bin each for trash and mixed recyclables with each enclosure 
capable of accommodating two 4-cubic yard bins. 

 
80.0   Review/Compliance 
 

80.1 The Planning Commission may review the use 90 days, 180 days, and 
on an annual basis following the date of final inspection, or as needed 
at the discretion of the Development Services Director, to determine 
whether the applicant and operators are operating the use in a manner 
that is compatible with the community.  The Planning Commission may 
establish additional conditions of approval that are necessary to 
eliminate any issues that arise from the operation of the use that 
adversely impact the public health, welfare, and safety, or may direct 
staff to initiate revocation proceedings.  The conditional use permit may 
be revoked if the permittee, his agents or assigns, or employee(s) of 
the establishment, or any other person connected or associated with the 
permittee or his business establishment, or any person who is exercising 
managerial authority of the business establishment has: 

 
a. Violated any rule, regulation, or condition of approval adopted by the 

Planning Commission relating to the conditional use permit or 
contained in the Upland Municipal Code, or state or federal 
regulations. Violation of any provision of the Upland Municipal Code 
(UMC) or the conditions of approval set forth in this resolution, shall 
be deemed to constitute an infraction of the Upland Municipal Code, 
and shall be subject to the applicable fines and penalties, including 
the possibility of revocation of this permit.  

 
b. Conducted the operation permitted hereunder in a manner contrary 

to the peace, health, safety, and general welfare of the public, or in 
a manner which either generates or contributes to noise and/or 
health/sanitation nuisances, or which results in undesirable activities 
that negatively affects adjacent properties or creates an increased 
demand for public services. 

 
Section 4. CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT (CEQA). The project 

is Categorically Exempt from environmental proceedings pursuant to Article 19, 
Section 15332, In-Fill Development Projects, Class 32 (a-e), of the California 
Environmental Quality Act, since the proposed project is consistent with applicable 
general plan designations and policies as well as applicable zoning designation and 
regulations; occurs within city limits on a property that is no more than five acres 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 26 of 27  

 
substantially surrounded by urban uses; has no value as habitat for endangered, rare 
or threatened species; approval of the project would not result in any significant 
effects relating to traffic, noise, air quality, or water quality; and the site can be 
adequately served by all required utilities and public services. 
 

Section 5.  APPEAL.  Pursuant to Upland Municipal Code Section 17.47.040, 
the decision of the Planning Commission may be appealed to the City Council provided 
that written notice of the appeal is filed with the City Clerk within ten (10) days 
following the date the decision was rendered, unless a longer appeal period is 
specified as part of the project approval.  Failure to file a timely appeal shall constitute 
a waiver of the right of appeal, and the decision of the Planning Commission shall be 
final. 
 

Section 6.  INCONSISTENCY.  If any section, division, sentence, clause, phrase 
or portion of this resolution or the document in the record in support of this resolution 
is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, unenforceable, 
unconstitutional or otherwise void, that determination shall not affect the validity of 
the remaining sections, divisions, sentences, clauses, phrases of this resolution.  
 
Section 7.  CERTIFICATION.  The Secretary of the Planning Commission shall certify 
to the passage, approval, and adoption of this Resolution, and shall cause this 
Resolution and his certification to be entered in the Book of Resolutions of the 
Planning Commission of the City. 
 

PASSED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this 11th day of December, 2019. 
       
        

_________________________________ 
Robin Aspinall, CHAIR 

 
        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CUP-19-05, TPM-19-01, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, EAR-0079 
Page 27 of 27  

 
 
ATTEST: 
 

 

____________________________ 

Robert D. Dalquest, SECRETARY 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution was duly and regularly passed and 
adopted by the Planning Commission of the City of Upland at a regular adjourned 
meeting thereof held on the 11th day of December, 2019, by the following vote: 

 

AYES:     

NAYS:   

ABSENT:    

ABSTAIN:    

 

____________________________ 
Robert D. Dalquest, SECRETARY 

 
 
 
 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

 

Exhibit B – Vicinity Map 

 
EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Exhibit B - Vicinity Map 
 

 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

 

Exhibit C – General Plan and  Zoning Map 

 
EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Exhibit C - General Plan and Zoning Map 
 
General Plan Land Use Map 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Exhibit C - General Plan and Zoning Map 
 
 

Zoning Map  

 

 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

 

Exhibit D – Tentative Parcel Map 

 
EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



XXX

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



XXX

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

 

Exhibit E – Site Plan 

 
EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



SHEET

JOB NO.

SCALE

PLOT DATE

PROJECT TITLE:

REVISIONS BY

OF SHEET

AS SHOWN

MESA COURT

SHEET TITLE:

DATE

05/06/19

6/3/2019

PHASING PLAN

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



M

PP

PP PP PP

PP

EX. 2 STORY

APARTMENT BLDG

788 -798 MESA CT.

EX. 2 STORY 
APARTMENT 

FACILITY 
863 E. 

ELEVENTH ST.

1 3 4 5

9

2

8 7

2

6

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

SHEET

JOB NO.

SCALE

PLOT DATE

PROJECT TITLE:

REVISIONS BY

OF SHEET

AS SHOWN

MESA COURT

SHEET TITLE:

DATE

09/23/19

9/23/2019

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



M

M

F

PP

PP PP PP

PP

SHEET

JOB NO.

SCALE

PLOT DATE

PROJECT TITLE:

REVISIONS BY

OF SHEET

AS SHOWN

MESA COURT

SHEET TITLE:

DATE

09/23/19

9/23/2019

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

 

Exhibit F – Colored Elevations 

 
EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

 

Exhibit G – Floor Plans 

 
EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



SHEET

JOB NO.

SCALE

PLOT DATE

PROJECT TITLE:

REVISIONS BY

OF SHEET

AS SHOWN

MESA COURT

SHEET TITLE:

DATE

09/23/19

9/23/2019

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



SHEET

JOB NO.

SCALE

PLOT DATE

PROJECT TITLE:

REVISIONS BY

OF SHEET

AS SHOWN

MESA COURT

SHEET TITLE:

DATE

09/23/19

9/23/2019

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



SHEET

JOB NO.

SCALE

PLOT DATE

PROJECT TITLE:

REVISIONS BY

OF SHEET

AS SHOWN

MESA COURT

SHEET TITLE:

DATE

05/06/19

6/3/2019

2
ROOF PLANS

 TYPES

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



SHEET

JOB NO.

SCALE

PLOT DATE

PROJECT TITLE:

REVISIONS BY

OF SHEET

AS SHOWN

MESA COURT

SHEET TITLE:

DATE

09/23/19

9/23/2019

12'X5'

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

 

Exhibit H – Preliminary Landscape  Plan                

and Open Space Plan 

 
EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EX
IS

TI
NG

 1
-S

TO
RY

 A
PA

RT
M

EN
TS

A L L E Y

9

PROPERTY LINE 378.00'

14
.1'

12

MAIL
BOXES

REC. #2

A 
L 

L 
E 

Y

PP PP PP

REC. #3

REC. #1

13 16

LOT COVERAGE SUMMARY:

TOTAL LANDSCAPED AREA: 22,151 SF.

  4,069 SF. OF WST WATER USE ON TURF (18.4%)

     815 SF. OF MEDIUM WATER USE PLANTS (3.7%)

17,028 SF. OF LOW WATER USE PLANTS (76.9%)

     239 SF. OF NO WATER USE ON SAND PIT (1%)

THE LANDSCAPE PLAN WILL COMPLY WITH THE WATER

EFFICIENT LANDSCAPE ORDINANCE.

BBQ

BBQ

TOT LOT OUTDOOR
FITNIESS

DRIVEWAY

DRIVEWAY

DRIVEWAY DRIVEWAY

SAND PIT

EX. OPEN SPACE

DRIVEWAY

841

DATE REVISIONS

SCALE

DATE

PROJECT NO.

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

SHEET NO.

OF   1   SHEETS

T
W

O
  
 T

R
E
E
S

D
E
S

IG
N

, 
IN

C
.

62
6-

27
8-

27
66

E-
m

ai
l: 

p
r
u

n
u

s
@

g
m

a
i
l
.
c
o

m

w
w

w
.
h
o
u
z
z
.
c
o
m

/
p
r
o
/
2
t
r
e
e
s
d
e
s
i
g
n

M
E
S
A
 
C
O

U
R
T
 
A
P
A
R
T
M

E
N

T
S

7
9
0
 
M

E
S
A
 
C
O

U
R
T
,

U
P
L
A
N

D
,
 
C
A
.
 
9
1
7
8
6

C
O

N
C
E
P
T
U

A
L
 
L
A
N

D
S
C
A
P
E
 
P
L
A
N

7-31-2019

L-1

L
A
N

D
S

C
A
P
E
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
U

R
A
L
 D

E
S

IG
N

 S
E
R

V
IC

E
S

C
A
L
IF

O
R

N
IA

 R
L
A
#

5
8
4
0

1
8
3
2
 S

A
N

 D
IE

G
O

 S
T
. 
 W

E
S

T
 C

O
V
IN

A
, 
C

A
. 
9
1
7
9
0

AS SHOWN

P1916

CP

6
0
-
U

N
I
T
 
A
P
A
R
T
M

E
N

T
 
C
O

M
P
L
E
X

L
I

C

E

N

S

E

D

L

A

N

D

S
C

A

P

E

A

R

C

H

I

T

E

C

T

S

T

A

T

E

O

F

C

A

L

I

F

O

R

N

I

A

C

H

I

A

C

H

E

N

G

P

E
RN

G

N

O

.

5

8

4

0

12-31-2020

7-31-2019

FRUITLESS OLIVE TREE

PALO VERDE TREE

MARINA STRAWBERRY TREE WESTERN REDBUD

ITALIAN CYPRESS HIDCOTE BLUE LAVENDER

DWARF MYRTLE

RED AUTUMN SAGE

MEXICAN FEATHER GRASS

DWARF BOTTLEBRUSH

GROUNDCOVER ROSEMARY

CAT MINT ROSENKA BOUGAINVILLEA

YELLOW LANTANA

DWARF BLUE CHALKSTICKS STAR JASMINE

GREVILLEA LOW HORIZON WESTRINGIA

SMOOTH AGAVE

DWARF OLIVE

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019

AutoCAD SHX Text
43

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
46

AutoCAD SHX Text
47

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
51

AutoCAD SHX Text
49

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
52

AutoCAD SHX Text
58

AutoCAD SHX Text
55

AutoCAD SHX Text
56

AutoCAD SHX Text
57

AutoCAD SHX Text
37

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
27

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
31

AutoCAD SHX Text
29

AutoCAD SHX Text
28

AutoCAD SHX Text
42

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
41

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
39

AutoCAD SHX Text
38

AutoCAD SHX Text
53

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
54

AutoCAD SHX Text
59

AutoCAD SHX Text
P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
96

AutoCAD SHX Text
94

AutoCAD SHX Text
92

AutoCAD SHX Text
88

AutoCAD SHX Text
90

AutoCAD SHX Text
98

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRASH

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLDG. 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLDG. 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLDG. 10

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLDG. 9

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLDG. 11

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLDG. 7

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLDG. 5

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLDG. 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLDG. 8

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLDG. 6

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLDG. 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
06

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARINA STRAWBERRY TREE (M)(T)

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARBUTUS MARINA

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
WESTERN REDBUD (L)(T)

AutoCAD SHX Text
CERCIS OCCIDENTALIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
36" BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text
09

AutoCAD SHX Text
36" BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text
36" BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text
OLIVE TREE (L)(T)

AutoCAD SHX Text
OLEA EUROPAEA 'MAJESTIC BEAUTY'

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLANTING LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
TREES

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. TREES TO BE REMOVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
06

AutoCAD SHX Text
PALO VERDE (L)(T)

AutoCAD SHX Text
CERCIDIUM 'DESERT MUSEUM'

AutoCAD SHX Text
36" BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHRUBS

AutoCAD SHX Text
207

AutoCAD SHX Text
52

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 GAL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CALLISTEMON 'LITTLE JOHN'

AutoCAD SHX Text
DWARF BOTTLEBRUSH (L)(S)

AutoCAD SHX Text
15 GAL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIDCOTE BLUE LAVENDER (L)(S)

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAVENDULA ANGUSTIFOLIA 'HIDCOTE BLUE'

AutoCAD SHX Text
169

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 GAL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
196

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEXICAN FEATHER GRASS (L)(G)

AutoCAD SHX Text
STIPA TENUISSIMA

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 GAL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
73

AutoCAD SHX Text
EVE CASE COFFEEBERRY (L)(S)

AutoCAD SHX Text
RHAMNUS CALIFORNICA 'EVE CASE'

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 GAL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 GAL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NARROW-LEAF CHALKSTICKS (L)(Gc)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SENECIO VITALIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
171

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
15 GAL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SMOOTH AGAVE (L)(S)

AutoCAD SHX Text
AGAVE DESMETTIANA 'VARIEGATA'

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
47

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 GAL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROSTRATE GREVILLEA (L)(S)

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREVILLEA LANIGERA 'PROSTRATA'

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
184

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 GAL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STAR JASMINE (M)(Gc)

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACHELOSPERMUM JASMINOIDES

AutoCAD SHX Text
171

AutoCAD SHX Text
RED AUTUMN SAGE (L)(S)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SALVIA GREGGII 'FURMAN'S RED'

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 GAL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLUE WONDER CATMINT (L)(Gc)

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEPETA X FAASSENII 'BLUE WONDER'

AutoCAD SHX Text
GROUNDCOVERS

AutoCAD SHX Text
1685 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 GAL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TURF (WST)

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST. AUGUSTINE GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
4069 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HUNTINGTON CARPET ROSEMARY (L)(Gc) - AT 48" O.C.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROSEMARINUS OFFICINALIS 'HUNTINGTON CARPET'

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 GAL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOW HORIZON WESTRINGIA (L)(Gc) - AT 24" O.C.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WESTRINGIA FRUTICOSA 'WES06'

AutoCAD SHX Text
W.U.C.O.L.S REGION 4 PLANT FACTOR: (L)-LOW, (M)- MODERATE, (H)- HIGH, (T)- TREE, (S)- SHRUB, (Gc)- GROUND COVER, (V)- VINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
70

AutoCAD SHX Text
TINY TOWER ITALIAN CYPRESS (L)(T) - AT 36" O.C.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CUPRESSUS SEMPERVIRENS 'MONSHEL'

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACCENT FLOWER TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOCK-ABSORBING EWF FOR PLAYGROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOW EDGE, TYP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUSH BOUGAINVILLEA (L)(G)

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOUGAINVILLEA 'ROSENKA'

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 GAL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
466 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 GAL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
YELLOW SPREADING LANTANA (L)(Gc) - AT 24" O.C.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANTANA SPREADING HYBRID 'YELLOW'

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
107

AutoCAD SHX Text
MTRTUS COMMUNIS 'COMPACTA'

AutoCAD SHX Text
DWARF MYRTLE (L)(S)

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
15 GAL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
139

AutoCAD SHX Text
OLEA EUROPAEA 'LITTLE OLLIE'

AutoCAD SHX Text
DWARF OLIVE (L)(S)

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
TURF

AutoCAD SHX Text
TURF

AutoCAD SHX Text
TURF

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRUITLESS OLIVE TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
36"-48"H. GREEN HEDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. WALKWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
24" BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTDOOR FITNESS AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
TURF

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
6" CONC. CURB, TYP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. WALKWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
6" CONC. CURB, TYP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTDOOR SEATING

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERLOCK PAVERS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAST IRON BENCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOW EDGE, TYP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTDOOR CAST IRON BENCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
10" PINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
12" ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text
36" ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text
24" ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text
20" TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
12" SAUCER MAGNOLIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
8" JUNIPIER

AutoCAD SHX Text
30" PINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
14" JUNIPIER

AutoCAD SHX Text
12" ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text
12" GUM TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
18" GUM TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
14" MEXICAN FAN PALM

AutoCAD SHX Text
14" MEXICAN FAN PALM

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. PALM TREES TO BE REMOVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
36"H. FOUNDATION HEDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOW GROWING PLANTS NEXT TO WALKWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC. WALKWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
6" CONC.CURB, TYP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDENSERS & METERS, TYP.  BY OTHER

AutoCAD SHX Text
2955

AutoCAD SHX Text
2955

AutoCAD SHX Text
2955

AutoCAD SHX Text
2955

AutoCAD SHX Text
2955

AutoCAD SHX Text
2955

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 GAL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
1867 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
29

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
CYPRESS TREES TO SCREEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
/

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sg

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/16"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
c 2019 TWO TREES DESIGN, Inc. reserves its common law copyright and other property rights in these plans. These plans are not to be reproduced, altered or copied in any form or manner whatsoever, nor are they to be assigned to any third party without first obtaining the express written permission and consent of TWO TREES DESIGN, Inc.



 

 

Exhibit I – Traffic Impact Analysis 

 
EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

 

August 9, 2019 

 

 

Mr. Greg Powers  

Powers Design and Construction 

4790 Irvine Boulevard, #105-276 

Irvine, CA 92620 

LLG Reference:  2.19.4139.1 

 

Subject: Focused Traffic Impact Assessment for the Proposed  

 Mesa Court Apartments 

 Upland, California 

 

Dear Mr. Powers: 

Linscott, Law & Greenspan, Engineers (LLG) is pleased to present the findings of this 

Focused Traffic Impact Assessment for the proposed Mesa Court Apartments project 

(herein after referred to as “Project”) located at 790 Mesa Court in the City of 

Upland, California.  The Project site is 2.69 acres in size and is primarily vacant, except 

for the 6 existing apartment units located on the southeast corner of the site that will be 

demolished as part of the proposed Project. 

The proposed Project will consist of 60 apartment units.  The proposed Project will 

be developed in three phases (i.e. 20-units per phase) and is anticipated to be fully 

completed in the Year 2023.  Access to the project site will be provided via the 

existing alley that connects to Mesa Court and via the existing alley that is located 

immediately south of the site (i.e. two proposed driveways).  

The Focused Traffic Impact Assessment for the proposed Project will satisfy the 

traffic impact requirements of the City of Upland and will focus to the key study 

intersection of N. Campus Avenue at E. 11th Street, as requested by City of Upland 

staff in their comment letter dated July 2, 2019.  Included in this traffic assessment 

are: 

1) Existing traffic counts, 

2) Estimated Project traffic generation/distribution/assignment, 

3) Estimated cumulative project traffic generation/distribution/assignment, 

4) AM and PM peak hour analyses for existing traffic conditions, 

5) AM and PM peak hour analyses for existing plus project traffic conditions,  

6) AM and PM peak hour analyses for Year 2023 cumulative without and with 

project traffic conditions, and 

7) Recommended Improvements, if any. 

    

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Mr. Greg Powers 

August 9, 2019 

Page 2 

N:\4100\2194139 - Mesa Court Apartments, Upland\Report\4139 - Mesa Court Apartments Focused Traffic Impact Analysis 08-09-19.docx 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

The proposed Project site is located at 790 Mesa Court in the City of Upland, 

California.  The Project site is 2.69 acres in size and is primarily vacant, except for the 6 

existing apartment units located on the southeast corner of the site that will be 

demolished as part of the proposed Project.  Figure 1 presents a vicinity map which 

illustrates the general location of the Project and depicts the surrounding street 

system.  Figure 2 presents an aerial image of the existing site. 

The proposed Project will consist of 60 apartment units.  The proposed Project will be 

developed in three phases (i.e. 20-units per phase) and is anticipated to be fully 

completed in the Year 2023.  Access to the project site will be provided via the 

existing alley that connects to Mesa Court and via the existing alley that is located 

immediately south of the site (i.e. two proposed driveways).  Figure 3 presents the 

proposed site plan for the proposed Project, prepared by Designer Projects. 

EXISTING CONDITIONS 

Existing Roadway Conditions 

Figure 4 presents an inventory of the existing roadway conditions for the key study 

intersection of N. Campus Avenue at E. 11th Street.  This figure identifies the number 

of travel lanes and controls for the key study intersection.   

Existing Traffic Volumes 

AM peak hour and PM peak hour traffic counts were collected by Transportation 

Studies Inc. (TSI) on July 18, 2019 at the intersection of N. Campus Avenue at E. 11th 

Street in order to develop the baseline peak hour traffic volume data for the 

intersection analysis. 

Figure 5 illustrates the existing AM and PM peak hour traffic volumes at the 

intersection of N. Campus Avenue at E. 11th Street. 

Appendix A contains the detailed peak hour traffic count sheets for the intersection of 

N. Campus Avenue at E. 11th Street. 

Intersection Peak Hour Level of Service Methodology 

AM and PM peak hour operating conditions for the key study intersection were 

evaluated using the methodology outlined in Chapter 19 of the Highway Capacity 

Manual 6 (HCM 6) for signalized intersections.  

HCM 6 Method of Analysis (Signalized Intersections) 

Based on the HCM operations method of analysis, level of service for signalized 

intersections and approaches is defined in terms of control delay, which is a measure 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Mr. Greg Powers 

August 9, 2019 

Page 3 

N:\4100\2194139 - Mesa Court Apartments, Upland\Report\4139 - Mesa Court Apartments Focused Traffic Impact Analysis 08-09-19.docx 

of the increase in travel time due to traffic signal control, driver discomfort and fuel 

consumption.  Control delay includes the delay associated with vehicles slowing in 

advance of an intersection, the time spent stopped on an intersection approach, the 

time spent as vehicles move up in the queue and the time needed for vehicles to 

accelerate to their desired speed. LOS criteria for traffic signals are stated in terms of 

the control delay in seconds per vehicle. The LOS thresholds established for the 

automobile mode at a signalized intersection are shown in Table 1. 

 

Level of Service Criteria 

According to City of Upland General Plan Policy CIR-1.1c, dated March 2015, 

“Strive to maintain LOS D at all intersections outside of the Downtown Specific Plan 

area and the Transit Priority Roadways except where such improvements are 

physically infeasible or would negatively impact bicyclists, pedestrians, or transit 

patrons.”  Based on the above, LOS D is the requirement for the intersection of N. 

Campus Avenue at E. 11th Street. 

TRAFFIC FORECASTING METHOD OF ANALYSIS 

In order to estimate the traffic impact characteristics of the proposed Project, a 

multi-step process has been utilized. The first step is traffic generation, which 

estimates the total arriving and departing traffic on a peak hour and daily basis. The 

traffic generation potential is forecast by applying the appropriate vehicle trip 

generation equations or rates to the Project development tabulation. 

The second step of the forecasting process is traffic distribution, which identifies the 

origins and destinations of inbound and outbound project traffic. These origins and 

destinations are typically based on demographics and existing/expected future travel 

patterns in the study area. 

The third step is traffic assignment, which involves the allocation of Project traffic to 

study area streets and intersections. Traffic assignment is typically based on 

minimization of travel time, which may or may not involve the shortest route, 

depending on prevailing operating conditions and travel speeds. Traffic distribution 

patterns are indicated by general percentage orientation, while traffic assignment 

allocates specific volume forecasts to individual roadway links and intersection 

turning movements throughout the study area.  

With the forecasting process complete and Project traffic assignments developed, the 

impact of the Project is isolated by comparing operational (LOS) conditions at 

selected key intersections and road segment using expected future traffic volumes 

with and without forecast Project traffic.  The need for site-specific and/or cumulative 

local area traffic improvements can then be evaluated. 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Mr. Greg Powers 

August 9, 2019 

Page 4 

N:\4100\2194139 - Mesa Court Apartments, Upland\Report\4139 - Mesa Court Apartments Focused Traffic Impact Analysis 08-09-19.docx 

PROJECT TRAFFIC CHARACTERISTICS 

Project Trip Generation 

Traffic generation is expressed in vehicle trip ends, defined as one-way vehicular 

movements, either entering or exiting the generating land use.  Generation rates used 

in this analysis are based on information found in the 10th Edition of Trip Generation, 

published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) [Washington, D.C., 

2017]. 

Table 2 summarizes the trip generation rates and associated forecast for the existing 

land use and the proposed Project for a typical weekday.  As shown in the upper 

portion of Table 1, the trip generation potential of the existing land use and the 

proposed Project was estimated based on ITE Land Use Code 220: Multifamily 

Housing Low-Rise trip rates.  

 

As shown in the middle portion of Table 2, the proposed Project is forecast to generate 

439 daily trips, with 28 trips (6 inbound, 22 outbound) produced in the AM peak hour 

and 34 trips (21 inbound, 13 outbound) produced in the PM peak hour.  The existing 

land use is forecast to generate 44 daily trips, with 3 trips (1 inbound, 2 outbound) 

produced in the AM peak hour and 3 trips (2 inbound, 1 outbound) produced in the 

PM peak hour. 

Please note that based on common traffic engineering practices, the traffic generated 

by the existing land use may be considered to represent a “trip credit” for the project 

site, against which the impact of the proposed Project might be compared. 

Comparison of the trips generated by the existing land use to the trips generated by the 

proposed Project shows that the proposed Project will generate 395 greater daily trips, 

25 greater AM peak hour trips and 31 greater PM peak hour trips.  However, in order to 

provide a conservative analysis, the existing “trip credit” was not applied in our 

analysis.  As such, it should be noted that the forecast project trips (i.e. 439 daily 

trips, 28 AM peak hour trips and 34 PM peak hour trips) were used to evaluate the 

project’s potential traffic impacts to provide a “worse-case” analysis.   

 

Project Trip Distribution and Assignment 

The directional traffic distribution pattern for the proposed Project is presented in 

Figure 6.  Project traffic volumes both entering and exiting the site have been 

distributed and assigned to the adjacent street system based on the following 

considerations: 

 the site's proximity to major traffic carriers and regional access routes, 

 expected localized traffic flow patterns based on adjacent street channelization, 

and presence of traffic signals, 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Mr. Greg Powers 

August 9, 2019 

Page 5 

N:\4100\2194139 - Mesa Court Apartments, Upland\Report\4139 - Mesa Court Apartments Focused Traffic Impact Analysis 08-09-19.docx 

 existing traffic volumes, and  

 ingress/egress availability at the Project site. 

The anticipated AM and PM peak hour traffic volumes associated with the proposed 

Project at the key study intersection of N. Campus Avenue at E. 11th Street are 

presented in Figure 7.  The traffic volume assignments presented in Figure 7 reflect 

the traffic distribution characteristics shown in Figure 6 and the traffic generation 

forecast presented in Table 2 (i.e. 439 daily trips, 28 AM peak hour trips and 34 PM 

peak hour trips). 

FUTURE TRAFFIC CONDITIONS  

Existing Plus Project Traffic Volumes 

The Existing plus Project traffic conditions have been generated based upon existing 

conditions and the estimated Project traffic. These forecast traffic conditions have 

been prepared pursuant to the City’s requirement, which requires that the potential 

impacts of a Project be evaluated upon the circulation system, as it currently exists. 

This traffic volume scenario and the related analysis will identify the roadway 

improvements necessary to mitigate the direct traffic impacts of the Project, if any. 

Figure 8 presents the projected AM and PM peak hour traffic volumes at the key 

study intersection with the addition of the trips generated by the proposed Project to 

existing peak hour traffic volumes. 

Year 2023 Plus Project Traffic Volumes 

Horizon year, background traffic growth estimates have been calculated using an 

ambient growth factor.  The ambient traffic growth factor is intended to include 

unknown and future cumulative projects in the study area, as well as account for 

regular growth in traffic volumes due to the development of projects outside the study 

area.  The future growth in traffic volumes has been calculated at two percent (2.0%) 

per year.  Applied to existing Year 2019 traffic volumes results in an eight percent 

(8.0%) growth in existing volumes to horizon year 2023. 

In order to make a realistic estimate of future on-street conditions prior to 

implementation of the proposed Project, the status of other known development 

projects (cumulative projects) in the vicinity of the proposed Project has been 

researched at the Cities of Upland, Rancho Cucamonga, and Ontario.  With this 

information, the potential impact of the proposed Project can be evaluated within the 

context of the cumulative impact of all ongoing development.  Based on our research, 

there are nine (9) cumulative projects in the City of Upland, four (4) cumulative 

projects in the City of Rancho Cucamonga, and one (1) cumulative projects in the 

City of Ontario within the vicinity of the Project site that have either been built, but not 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Mr. Greg Powers 

August 9, 2019 

Page 6 

N:\4100\2194139 - Mesa Court Apartments, Upland\Report\4139 - Mesa Court Apartments Focused Traffic Impact Analysis 08-09-19.docx 

yet fully occupied, or are being processed for approval.  These fourteen (14) cumulative 

projects have been included as part of the cumulative background setting in addition 

to the inclusion of an ambient traffic growth factor, which provides a conservative 

forecast. The locations of the fourteen (14) cumulative projects are presented in 

Figure 9. 

  

Table 3 provides the location and a brief description for each of the fourteen (14) 

cumulative projects.  Table 4 summarizes the trip generation potential for all fourteen 

(14) cumulative projects on a daily and peak hour basis for a typical weekday.  As 

shown, the cumulative projects are expected to generate 9,703 daily trips, with 736 

trips (333 inbound, 403 outbound) anticipated during the AM peak hour and 868 trips 

(429 inbound, 439 outbound) produced during the PM peak hour. 

The AM and PM peak hour traffic volumes associated with the fourteen (14) 

cumulative projects in the Year 2023 are presented in Figure 10.  Figure 11 presents 

the Year 2023 AM and PM peak hour cumulative traffic volumes at the key study 

intersection.  Figure 12 illustrates the Year 2023 forecast AM and PM peak hour 

traffic volumes with the inclusion of the trips generated by the proposed Project 

EXISTING PLUS PROJECT CAPACITY ANALYSIS 

Table 5 summarizes the peak hour level of service results at the intersection of N. 

Campus Avenue at E. 11th Street for Existing plus Project traffic conditions.  Review 

of column (1) of Table 5 indicates that the intersection of N. Campus Avenue at E. 

11th Street currently operates at acceptable LOS B during the AM and PM peak hours.  

Review of columns (2) and (3) of Table 5 indicates that traffic associated with the 

proposed Project will not significantly impact the key study intersection when 

compared to the LOS standards and significant impact criteria specified in this letter 

report.  The intersection is forecast to continue to operate at acceptable LOS B during 

the AM and PM peak hours.   

Appendix B contains the existing and existing plus project AM peak hour and PM 

peak hour HCM/LOS calculation worksheets for the key study intersection.   

YEAR 2023 PLUS PROJECT CAPACITY ANALYSIS 

Table 6 summarizes the peak hour level of service results at the intersection of N. 

Campus Avenue at E. 11th Street for Year 2023 Cumulative plus Project traffic 

conditions.  Review of column (2) of Table 6 indicates that the addition of ambient 

traffic growth and cumulative project traffic will not adversely impact the intersection 

of N. Campus Avenue at E. 11th Street.  The key study intersection is forecast to 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Mr. Greg Powers 

August 9, 2019 

Page 7 

N:\4100\2194139 - Mesa Court Apartments, Upland\Report\4139 - Mesa Court Apartments Focused Traffic Impact Analysis 08-09-19.docx 

continue to operate at acceptable LOS B during the AM and PM peak hours with the 

addition of ambient traffic growth and cumulative project traffic.  

Review of columns (3) and (4) of Table 6 indicates that traffic associated with the 

proposed Project will not significantly impact the key study intersection when 

compared to the LOS standards and significant impact criteria specified in this letter 

report.  The intersection is forecast to continue to operate in the Year 2023 at 

acceptable LOS B during the AM and PM peak hours.   

Appendix C contains the Year 2023 AM peak hour and PM peak hour HCM/LOS 

calculation worksheets for the key study intersection.  

RECOMMENDED IMPROVEMENTS 

The results of the “Existing Plus Project” and “Year 2023 Cumulative Plus Project” 

intersection capacity analyses presented previously in Tables 5 and 6, respectively, 

indicates that the proposed Project will not significantly impact the key study 

intersection of N. Campus Avenue at E. 11th Street.  Given that there are no 

significant project impacts, no improvements are required under Existing Plus Project 

and Year 2023 Cumulative Plus Project traffic conditions.  

CONCLUSIONS 

 The proposed Project site is located at 790 Mesa Court in the City of Upland, 

California.  The Project site is 2.69 acres in size and is primarily vacant, except for 

the 6 existing apartment units located on the southeast corner of the site that will be 

demolished as part of the proposed Project.  The proposed Project will consist of 60 

apartment units.  The proposed Project will be developed in three phases (i.e. 20-

units per phase) and is anticipated to be fully completed in the Year 2023.  Access 

to the project site will be provided via the existing alley that connects to Mesa 

Court and via the existing alley that is located immediately south of the site (i.e. 

two proposed driveways). 

 The proposed Project is forecast to generate 439 daily trips, with 28 trips (6 

inbound, 22 outbound) produced in the AM peak hour and 34 trips (21 inbound, 

13 outbound) produced in the PM peak hour.  The existing land use is forecast to 

generate 44 daily trips, with 3 trips (1 inbound, 2 outbound) produced in the AM 

peak hour and 3 trips (2 inbound, 1 outbound) produced in the PM peak hour. 

Comparison of the trips generated by the existing land use to the trips generated by 

the proposed Project shows that the proposed Project will generate 395 greater daily 

trips, 25 greater AM peak hour trips and 31 greater PM peak hour trips.  However, 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

 

TABLE 1 

LEVEL OF SERVICE CRITERIA FOR SIGNALIZED INTERSECTIONS (HCM 6 METHODOLOGY)1 

MESA COURT APARTMENTS, UPLAND 

Level of Service  

(LOS) 

Control Delay Per Vehicle  

(seconds/vehicle) Level of Service Description 

A < 10.0 

This level of service occurs when progression is 

extremely favorable and most vehicles arrive during the 

green phase. Most vehicles do not stop at all. Short cycle 

lengths may also contribute to low delay. 

B > 10.0 and < 20.0 

This level generally occurs with good progression, short 

cycle lengths, or both. More vehicles stop than with LOS 

A, causing higher levels of average delay. 

C > 20.0 and < 35.0 

Average traffic delays. These higher delays may result 

from fair progression, longer cycle lengths, or both. 

Individual cycle failures may begin to appear at this level. 

The number of vehicles stopping is significant at this 

level, though many still pass through the intersection 

without stopping. 

D > 35.0 and < 55.0 

Long traffic delays At level D, the influence of 

congestion becomes more noticeable. Longer delays may 

result from some combination of unfavorable progression, 

long cycle lengths, or high v/c ratios. Many vehicles stop 

and the proportion of vehicles not stopping declines. 

Individual cycle failures are noticeable. 

E > 55.0 and < 80.0 

Very long traffic delays This level is considered by many 

agencies to be the limit of acceptable delay. These high 

delay values generally indicate poor progression, long 

cycle lengths and high v/c ratios. Individual cycle failures 

are frequent occurrences. 

F  80.0 

Severe congestion This level, considered to be 

unacceptable to most drivers, often occurs with over 

saturation, that is, when arrival flow rates exceed the 

capacity of the intersection. It may also occur at high v/c 

ratios below 1.0 with many individual cycle failures. Poor 

progression and long cycle lengths may also be major 

contributing factors to such delay levels. 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
1 Source: Highway Capacity Manual 6, Chapter 19: Signalized Intersections. 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

 

TABLE 2 

PROJECT TRAFFIC GENERATION FORECAST2
F  

MESA COURT APARTMENTS, UPLAND 

ITE Land Use Code /   AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour 

Project Description Daily Enter  Exit Total Enter  Exit Total 

Trip Generation Factors:        

 220: Multifamily Housing Low-Rise (TE/DU) 7.32 23% 77% 0.46 63% 37% 0.56 

Proposed Project Trip Generation Forecast:         

Mesa Court Apartments (60 DU) 439 6 22 28 21 13 34 

Existing Land Use Trip Generation Forecast:         

 Existing Apartments (6 DU) 44 1 2 3 2 1 3 

Trip Generation Comparison 

(Proposed Project versus Existing Land Use) 
+395 +5 +20 +25 +19 +12 +31 

    
 Notes: 

 TE/DU = Trip end per dwelling unit 

                                                 
2 Source: Trip Generation, 10th Edition, Institute of Transportation Engineers, (ITE) [Washington, D.C. (2017)]. 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

 

TABLE 3 

LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION OF CUMULATIVE PROJECTS3 

MESA COURT APARTMENTS, UPLAND 

No. Cumulative Project Address Description/Size 

City of Upland 

1. Euclid Ave/8th St Apartments 
Northeast corner of N. Euclid Avenue and E. 8th 

Street 
61 DU Apartments 

2. 4th Ave/A St Apartments Northeast corner of N. 4th Avenue and A Street 111 DU Apartments 

3. Campus Ave/15th St SFDU 
Northeast corner of N. Campus Avenue and 15th 

Street 
65 DU Single-Family 

4. 16th St/Upland Hills Dr SFDU 
Northeast corner of E. 16th Street and Upland 

Hills Drive 
66 DU Single-Family 

5. Campus Ave/19th St Apartments 
Northeast corner of N. Campus Avenue and 19th 

Street 
203 DU Apartments 

6. 
Campus Ave/Colonies Pkwy 

Townhomes 

Northeast corner of N. Campus Avenue and 

Colonies Parkway 
48 DU Townhomes 

7. Campus Ave/20th St Dealership 
Northeast corner of N. Campus Avenue and 20th 

Street 
22,000 SF Car Dealership 

8. 
Bodenhamer St/9th St 

Townhomes 

Southeast corner of Bodenhamer Street and E. 

9th Street 
52 DU Townhomes 

9. 11th St Apartments 278 N. 11th Street 6 DU Apartments 

City of Rancho Cucamonga 

10. DRC2012-00672 
North of Foothill Boulevard, between Red Hill 

Country Club Drive and Pacific Electric Trail 
175 DU Condominiums 

11. DRC2018-00097 
Northwest corner of Vineyard Avenue and San 

Bernardino Road 
21,200 SF Public Safety Facility 

12. DRC2018-00912 8768 9th Street 95,188 SF General Light Industrial 

13. DRC2019-00315 
Southwest corner of Vineyard Avenue and 9th 

Street 
1,053,570 SF Industrial Warehouse  

City of Ontario 

14. PDEV18-006 1402 North Virginia Avenue 88 DU Apartments 

 

                                                 
3 Source: City of Upland, City of Rancho Cucamonga and City of Ontario Planning Departments. 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

 

TABLE 4 

CUMULATIVE PROJECTS TRIP GENERATION FORECAST4 

MESA COURT APARTMENTS, UPLAND 

Cumulative Project Description 

Daily  

2-Way 

AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour 

Enter Exit Total Enter Exit Total 

1. Euclid Ave/8th St Apartments 447 6 22 28 21 13 34 

2. 4th Ave/A St Apartments 813 12 39 51 39 23 62 

3. Campus Ave/15th St SFDU 614 12 36 48 40 24 64 

4. 16th St/Upland Hills Dr SFDU 623 12 37 49 41 24 65 

5. Campus Ave/19th St Apartments 1,486 21 72 93 72 42 114 

6. Campus Ave/Colonies Pkwy Townhomes 351 5 17 22 17 10 27 

7. Campus Ave/20th St Dealership 612 30 11 41 21 32 53 

8. Bodenhamer St/9th St Townhomes 381 6 18 24 18 11 29 

9. 11th St Apartments 44 1 2 3 2 1 3 

10. DRC2012-00672 1,281 19 62 81 62 36 98 

11. DRC2018-00097 102 3 7 10 3 7 10 

12. DRC2018-00912 472 59 8 67 8 52 60 

13. DRC2019-00315 1,833 138 41 179 54 146 200 

14. PDEV18-006 644 9 31 40 31 18 49 

Cumulative Projects Trip Generation Potential 9,703 333 403 736 429 439 868 

                                                 
4 Unless otherwise noted; Source: Trip Generation, 10th Edition, Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE), Washington, D.C. (2017).   

Where applicable, pass-by adjustment factors were utilized and are reflected in the cumulative projects trip generation potential. 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

 

TABLE 5 

EXISTING PLUS PROJECT PEAK HOUR INTERSECTION CAPACITY ANALYSIS 

MESA COURT APARTMENTS, UPLAND 

Key Intersection 

Minimum 

Acceptable 

LOS 

 

Time 

Period 

(1) 

 

Existing 

Traffic Conditions 

(2) 

Existing 

Plus Project 

Traffic Conditions 

(3) 

Project  

Significant 

Impact 

(4) 

Existing 

Plus Project 

With Improvements  

HCM LOS HCM LOS Yes/No HCM LOS 

1. 
N. Campus Avenue at  

D 
AM 13.4 s/v B 13.4 s/v B No -- -- 

E. 11th Street PM 16.7 s/v B 16.7 s/v B No -- -- 

     Note: 

 s/v = seconds per vehicle 

 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

 

TABLE 6 

YEAR 2023 CUMULATIVE PLUS PROJECT PEAK HOUR INTERSECTION CAPACITY ANALYSIS  

MESA COURT APARTMENTS, UPLAND 

Key Intersection 

Minimum 

Acceptable 

LOS 

 

Time 

Period 

(1) 

 

 

Existing 

Traffic Conditions 

(2) 

 

Year 2023 

Cumulative 

Traffic Conditions 

(3) 

Year 2023 

Cumulative 

Plus Project 

Traffic Conditions 

(4) 

 

Project  

Significant 

Impact 

(5) 

Year 2020 

Cumulative 

Plus Project 

With Improvements  

HCM LOS HCM LOS HCM LOS Yes/No HCM LOS 

1. 
N. Campus Avenue at  

D 
AM 13.4 s/v B 14.0 s/v B 14.0 s/v B No -- -- 

E. 11th Street PM 16.7 s/v B 16.8 s/v B 16.9 s/v B No -- -- 

   Note: 

 s/v = seconds per vehicle 

 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4139-1 
Mesa Court Apartments, Upland 

N:\4100\2194139 - Mesa Court Apartments, Upland\Report\4139 Dividers.doc 

APPENDIX A 

EXISTING TRAFFIC COUNT DATA 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



File Name : H1907022
Site Code : 00005054
Start Date : 7/18/2019
Page No : 1

City:  UPLAND
N-S Direction:  CAMPUS AVENUE
E-W Direction:  11TH STREET

Groups Printed- Turning Movements
CAMPUS AVENUE

Southbound
11TH STREET

Westbound
CAMPUS AVENUE

Northbound
11TH STREET

Eastbound
Start Time Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Right Thru Left Int. Total

07:00 5 39 13 9 10 5 5 41 2 7 14 6 156
07:15 2 30 8 5 8 3 4 41 6 1 12 2 122
07:30 6 49 9 15 8 8 3 62 7 4 12 9 192
07:45 8 53 17 12 13 2 5 55 13 8 22 6 214
Total 21 171 47 41 39 18 17 199 28 20 60 23 684

08:00 10 55 11 6 9 3 2 45 9 13 12 5 180
08:15 4 57 14 4 12 2 8 59 0 2 11 13 186
08:30 10 57 13 7 6 3 3 69 5 3 15 7 198
08:45 6 61 13 5 10 4 6 61 4 3 14 9 196
Total 30 230 51 22 37 12 19 234 18 21 52 34 760

16:00 10 83 4 12 17 5 9 93 2 9 29 18 291
16:15 11 68 4 8 18 7 6 96 3 6 33 23 283
16:30 5 76 8 20 19 4 5 83 7 3 33 25 288
16:45 14 84 11 16 16 1 9 93 5 2 24 14 289
Total 40 311 27 56 70 17 29 365 17 20 119 80 1151

17:00 14 77 5 17 27 5 6 114 11 7 40 20 343
17:15 11 77 4 12 19 4 14 107 9 8 36 23 324
17:30 11 83 7 8 22 7 6 99 9 8 26 19 305
17:45 18 70 3 6 19 3 5 123 6 8 25 15 301
Total 54 307 19 43 87 19 31 443 35 31 127 77 1273

Grand Total 145 1019 144 162 233 66 96 1241 98 92 358 214 3868
Apprch % 11.1 77.9 11 35.1 50.5 14.3 6.7 86.5 6.8 13.9 53.9 32.2  

Total % 3.7 26.3 3.7 4.2 6 1.7 2.5 32.1 2.5 2.4 9.3 5.5

Transportation Studies, Inc.
2640 Walnut Avenue, Suite L

Tustin, CA. 92780

A-1

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



File Name : H1907022
Site Code : 00005054
Start Date : 7/18/2019
Page No : 2

City:  UPLAND
N-S Direction:  CAMPUS AVENUE
E-W Direction:  11TH STREET

CAMPUS AVENUE
Southbound

11TH STREET
Westbound

CAMPUS AVENUE
Northbound

11TH STREET
Eastbound

Start Time Right Thru Left App. Total Right Thru Left App. Total Right Thru Left App. Total Right Thru Left App. Total Int. Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 07:00 to 08:45 - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 07:45

07:45 8 53 17 78 12 13 2 27 5 55 13 73 8 22 6 36 214
08:00 10 55 11 76 6 9 3 18 2 45 9 56 13 12 5 30 180
08:15 4 57 14 75 4 12 2 18 8 59 0 67 2 11 13 26 186
08:30 10 57 13 80 7 6 3 16 3 69 5 77 3 15 7 25 198

Total Volume 32 222 55 309 29 40 10 79 18 228 27 273 26 60 31 117 778
% App. Total 10.4 71.8 17.8  36.7 50.6 12.7  6.6 83.5 9.9  22.2 51.3 26.5   

PHF .800 .974 .809 .966 .604 .769 .833 .731 .563 .826 .519 .886 .500 .682 .596 .813 .909

 CAMPUS AVENUE 

 1
1T

H
 S

TR
E

E
T 

 11TH
 S

TR
E

E
T 

 CAMPUS AVENUE 

Right
32 

Thru
222 

Left
55 

InOut Total
288 309 597 

R
ight29 

Thru40 
Left10 

O
ut

Total
In

133 
79 

212 

Left
27 

Thru
228 

Right
18 

Out TotalIn
258 273 531 

Le
ft31

 
Th

ru60
 

R
ig

ht26
 

To
ta

l
O

ut
In

99
 

11
7 

21
6 

Peak Hour Begins at 07:45
 
Turning Movements

Peak Hour Data

North

Transportation Studies, Inc.
2640 Walnut Avenue, Suite L

Tustin, CA. 92780

A-2

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



File Name : H1907022
Site Code : 00005054
Start Date : 7/18/2019
Page No : 3

City:  UPLAND
N-S Direction:  CAMPUS AVENUE
E-W Direction:  11TH STREET

CAMPUS AVENUE
Southbound

11TH STREET
Westbound

CAMPUS AVENUE
Northbound

11TH STREET
Eastbound

Start Time Right Thru Left App. Total Right Thru Left App. Total Right Thru Left App. Total Right Thru Left App. Total Int. Total
Peak Hour Analysis From 16:00 to 17:45 - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 17:00

17:00 14 77 5 96 17 27 5 49 6 114 11 131 7 40 20 67 343
17:15 11 77 4 92 12 19 4 35 14 107 9 130 8 36 23 67 324
17:30 11 83 7 101 8 22 7 37 6 99 9 114 8 26 19 53 305
17:45 18 70 3 91 6 19 3 28 5 123 6 134 8 25 15 48 301

Total Volume 54 307 19 380 43 87 19 149 31 443 35 509 31 127 77 235 1273
% App. Total 14.2 80.8 5  28.9 58.4 12.8  6.1 87 6.9  13.2 54 32.8   

PHF .750 .925 .679 .941 .632 .806 .679 .760 .554 .900 .795 .950 .969 .794 .837 .877 .928

 CAMPUS AVENUE 

 1
1T

H
 S

TR
E

E
T 

 11TH
 S

TR
E

E
T 

 CAMPUS AVENUE 

Right
54 

Thru
307 

Left
19 

InOut Total
563 380 943 

R
ight43 

Thru87 
Left19 

O
ut

Total
In

177 
149 

326 

Left
35 

Thru
443 

Right
31 

Out TotalIn
357 509 866 

Le
ft77

 
Th

ru12
7 

R
ig

ht31
 

To
ta

l
O

ut
In

17
6 

23
5 

41
1 

Peak Hour Begins at 17:00
 
Turning Movements

Peak Hour Data

North

Transportation Studies, Inc.
2640 Walnut Avenue, Suite L

Tustin, CA. 92780

A-3

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4139-1 
Mesa Court Apartments, Upland 

N:\4100\2194139 - Mesa Court Apartments, Upland\Report\4139 Dividers.doc 

APPENDIX B 

EXISTING PLUS PROJECT INTERSECTION                   

LEVEL OF SERVICE CALCULATION WORKSHEETS 

 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-16-3695-1 
Kendall-Palm Commercial, San Bernardino 

N:\4100\2194139 - Mesa Court Apartments, Upland\Report\4139 Sub-Dividers.doc 

APPENDIX B-I 

EXISTING TRAFFIC CONDITIONS 

B-1

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0.272Volume to Capacity (v/c):

BLevel Of Service:

13.4Delay (sec / veh):

15 minutesAnalysis Period:

HCM 6th EditionAnalysis Method:

SignalizedControl Type:

Intersection 1: N. Campus Avenue at E. 11th Street

Intersection Level Of Service Report

YesYesYesYesCrosswalk

NoNoNoNoCurb Present

0.000.000.000.00Grade [%]

30.0030.0030.0030.00Speed [mph]

100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.0060.00100.00100.0060.00Pocket Length [ft]

000000001001No. of Lanes in Pocket

12.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.00Lane Width [ft]

RightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftTurning Movement

Lane Configuration

WestboundEastboundSouthboundNorthboundApproach

E. 11th StreetE. 11th StreetN. Campus AvenueN. Campus AvenueName

Intersection Setup

0000Bicycle Volume [bicycles/h]

0000v_ab, Corner Pedestrian Volume [ped/h]

0000v_ci, Inbound Pedestrian Volume crossing mi

0000v_co, Outbound Pedestrian Volume crossing 

0000v_di, Inbound Pedestrian Volume crossing m

0000v_do, Outbound Pedestrian Volume crossing 

000000000000Local Bus Stopping Rate [/h]

000000000000On-Street Parking Maneuver Rate [/h]

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoPresence of On-Street Parking

32441129663435244612025130Total Analysis Volume [veh/h]

81137179961155637Total 15-Minute Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Other Adjustment Factor

0.90900.90900.90900.90900.90900.90900.90900.90900.90900.90900.90900.9090Peak Hour Factor

29401026603132222551822827Total Hourly Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Right-Turn on Red Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Other Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Existing Site Adjustment Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Pass-by Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Diverted Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Site-Generated Trips [veh/h]

000000000000In-Process Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Growth Factor

2.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.00Heavy Vehicles Percentage [%]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Base Volume Adjustment Factor

29401026603132222551822827Base Volume Input [veh/h]

E. 11th StreetE. 11th StreetN. Campus AvenueN. Campus AvenueName

Volumes

Scenario 1: 1 AM Existing

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

B-2

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0Pedestrian Clearance [s]

0Pedestrian Walk [s]

0Pedestrian Signal Group

Exclusive Pedestrian Phase

1.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.00I, Upstream Filtering Factor

0.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.0Detector Length [ft]

0.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.0Detector Location [ft]

NoNoNoNoNoNoPedestrian Recall

NoNoNoNoNoNoMaximum Recall

NoNoNoNoNoNoMinimum Recall

0.02.00.00.02.00.00.02.02.00.02.02.0l2, Clearance Lost Time [s]

0.02.00.00.02.00.00.02.02.00.02.02.0l1, Start-Up Lost Time [s]

NoNoNoNoRest In Walk

0120012001300130Pedestrian Clearance [s]

070070070070Walk [s]

0.03.00.00.03.00.00.03.03.00.03.03.0Vehicle Extension [s]

056005600241002410Split [s]

0.01.00.00.01.00.00.01.01.00.01.01.0All red [s]

0.03.00.00.03.00.00.03.03.00.03.03.0Amber [s]

030003000303003030Maximum Green [s]

060060066066Minimum Green [s]

--------Lead--LeadLead / Lag

Auxiliary Signal Groups

040080025061Signal Group

PermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissProtPerPermissPermissProtPerControl Type

Phasing & Timing

12.00Lost time [s]

SingleBandPermissive Mode

LeadGreenOffset Reference

0.0Offset [s]

Fully actuatedActuation Type

Time of Day Pattern CoordinatedCoordination Type

90Cycle Length [s]

-Signal Coordination Group

YesLocated in CBD

Intersection Settings

Scenario 1: 1 AM Existing

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

B-3

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



84.86131.1961.595.9665.752.4995th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

3.395.252.460.242.630.1095th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

47.1472.8834.213.3136.531.3850th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

1.892.921.370.131.460.0650th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

NoYesNoYesYesNoCritical Lane Group

DDAAAALane Group LOS

40.1042.524.131.664.611.57d, Delay for Lane Group [s/veh]

0.420.600.210.040.210.02X, volume / capacity

Lane Group Results

1.001.001.001.001.001.00PF, progression factor

1.001.001.001.001.001.00Rp, platoon ratio

0.000.000.000.000.000.00d3, Initial Queue Delay [s]

1.332.720.360.060.370.01d2, Incremental Delay [s]

1.001.001.001.001.001.00I, Upstream Filtering Factor

0.110.110.500.500.500.11k, delay calibration

38.7739.803.761.604.241.57d1, Uniform Delay [s]

2082141322140312911405c, Capacity [veh/h]

170017001800170018001700s, saturation flow rate [veh/h]

0.050.080.160.040.150.02(v / s)_i Volume / Saturation Flow Rate

0.100.100.740.820.720.82g / C, Green / Cycle

9966736573g_i, Effective Green Time [s]

2.002.002.000.002.000.00l2, Clearance Lost Time [s]

2.002.000.000.000.000.00l1_p, Permitted Start-Up Lost Time [s]

4.004.004.004.004.004.00L, Total Lost Time per Cycle [s]

909090909090C, Cycle Length [s]

CCCLCLLane Group

Lane Group Calculations

Scenario 1: 1 AM Existing

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

B-4

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Movement, Approach, & Intersection Results

d_M, Delay for Movement [s/veh] 1.57 4.61 4.61 1.66 4.13 4.13 42.52 42.52 42.52 40.10 40.10 40.10

Movement LOS A A A A A A D D D D D D

d_A, Approach Delay [s/veh] 4.30 3.69 42.52 40.10

Approach LOS A A D D

d_I, Intersection Delay [s/veh] 13.44

Intersection LOS B

Intersection V/C 0.272

Other Modes

g_Walk,mi, Effective Walk Time [s] 11.0 11.0 11.0 11.0

M_corner, Corner Circulation Area [ft²/ped] 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

M_CW, Crosswalk Circulation Area [ft²/ped] 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

d_p, Pedestrian Delay [s] 34.67 34.67 34.67 34.67

I_p,int, Pedestrian LOS Score for Intersection 2.145 2.202 1.863 1.893

Crosswalk LOS B B A A

s_b, Saturation Flow Rate of the bicycle lane 2000 2000 2000 2000

c_b, Capacity of the bicycle lane [bicycles/h] 444 444 1156 1156

d_b, Bicycle Delay [s] 27.22 27.22 8.02 8.02

I_b,int, Bicycle LOS Score for Intersection 2.056 2.121 1.772 1.703

Bicycle LOS B B A A

----------------Ring 4

----------------Ring 3

------------8-65Ring 2

------------4-21Ring 1

Sequence

Scenario 1: 1 AM Existing

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

B-5

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0.503Volume to Capacity (v/c):

BLevel Of Service:

16.7Delay (sec / veh):

15 minutesAnalysis Period:

HCM 6th EditionAnalysis Method:

SignalizedControl Type:

Intersection 1: N. Campus Avenue at E. 11th Street

Intersection Level Of Service Report

YesYesYesYesCrosswalk

NoNoNoNoCurb Present

0.000.000.000.00Grade [%]

30.0030.0030.0030.00Speed [mph]

100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.0060.00100.00100.0060.00Pocket Length [ft]

000000001001No. of Lanes in Pocket

12.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.00Lane Width [ft]

RightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftTurning Movement

Lane Configuration

WestboundEastboundSouthboundNorthboundApproach

E. 11th StreetE. 11th StreetN. Campus AvenueN. Campus AvenueName

Intersection Setup

0000Bicycle Volume [bicycles/h]

0000v_ab, Corner Pedestrian Volume [ped/h]

0000v_ci, Inbound Pedestrian Volume crossing mi

0000v_co, Outbound Pedestrian Volume crossing 

0000v_di, Inbound Pedestrian Volume crossing m

0000v_do, Outbound Pedestrian Volume crossing 

000000000000Local Bus Stopping Rate [/h]

000000000000On-Street Parking Maneuver Rate [/h]

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoPresence of On-Street Parking

469420331378358331203347738Total Analysis Volume [veh/h]

12235834211583581199Total 15-Minute Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Other Adjustment Factor

0.92800.92800.92800.92800.92800.92800.92800.92800.92800.92800.92800.9280Peak Hour Factor

438719311277754307193144335Total Hourly Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Right-Turn on Red Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Other Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Existing Site Adjustment Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Pass-by Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Diverted Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Site-Generated Trips [veh/h]

000000000000In-Process Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Growth Factor

2.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.00Heavy Vehicles Percentage [%]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Base Volume Adjustment Factor

438719311277754307193144335Base Volume Input [veh/h]

E. 11th StreetE. 11th StreetN. Campus AvenueN. Campus AvenueName

Volumes

Scenario 2: 2 PM Existing

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

B-6

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0Pedestrian Clearance [s]

0Pedestrian Walk [s]

0Pedestrian Signal Group

Exclusive Pedestrian Phase

1.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.00I, Upstream Filtering Factor

0.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.0Detector Length [ft]

0.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.0Detector Location [ft]

NoNoNoNoNoNoPedestrian Recall

NoNoNoNoNoNoMaximum Recall

NoNoNoNoNoNoMinimum Recall

0.02.00.00.02.00.00.02.02.00.02.02.0l2, Clearance Lost Time [s]

0.02.00.00.02.00.00.02.02.00.02.02.0l1, Start-Up Lost Time [s]

NoNoNoNoRest In Walk

0120012001300130Pedestrian Clearance [s]

070070070070Walk [s]

0.03.00.00.03.00.00.03.03.00.03.03.0Vehicle Extension [s]

056005600241002410Split [s]

0.01.00.00.01.00.00.01.01.00.01.01.0All red [s]

0.03.00.00.03.00.00.03.03.00.03.03.0Amber [s]

030003000303003030Maximum Green [s]

060060066066Minimum Green [s]

--------Lead--LeadLead / Lag

Auxiliary Signal Groups

040080025061Signal Group

PermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissProtPerPermissPermissProtPerControl Type

Phasing & Timing

12.00Lost time [s]

SingleBandPermissive Mode

LeadGreenOffset Reference

0.0Offset [s]

Fully actuatedActuation Type

Time of Day Pattern CoordinatedCoordination Type

90Cycle Length [s]

-Signal Coordination Group

YesLocated in CBD

Intersection Settings

Scenario 2: 2 PM Existing

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

B-7

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



145.85236.24140.723.73190.346.5595th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

5.839.455.630.157.610.2695th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

81.03139.4278.182.07105.943.6450th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

3.245.583.130.084.240.1550th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

NoYesNoYesYesNoCritical Lane Group

DDAAAALane Group LOS

35.0339.147.723.158.093.16d, Delay for Lane Group [s/veh]

0.470.730.330.020.430.03X, volume / capacity

Lane Group Results

1.001.001.001.001.001.00PF, progression factor

1.001.001.001.001.001.00Rp, platoon ratio

0.000.000.000.000.000.00d3, Initial Queue Delay [s]

1.022.950.760.031.110.01d2, Incremental Delay [s]

1.001.001.001.001.001.00I, Upstream Filtering Factor

0.110.110.500.500.500.11k, delay calibration

34.0136.196.963.126.993.15d1, Uniform Delay [s]

3393471173113212001196c, Capacity [veh/h]

170017001800170018001700s, saturation flow rate [veh/h]

0.090.150.220.010.280.02(v / s)_i Volume / Saturation Flow Rate

0.170.170.650.740.670.74g / C, Green / Cycle

161659666066g_i, Effective Green Time [s]

2.002.002.000.002.000.00l2, Clearance Lost Time [s]

2.002.000.000.000.000.00l1_p, Permitted Start-Up Lost Time [s]

4.004.004.004.004.004.00L, Total Lost Time per Cycle [s]

909090909090C, Cycle Length [s]

CCCLCLLane Group

Lane Group Calculations

Scenario 2: 2 PM Existing

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

B-8

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Movement, Approach, & Intersection Results

d_M, Delay for Movement [s/veh] 3.16 8.09 8.09 3.15 7.72 7.72 39.14 39.14 39.14 35.03 35.03 35.03

Movement LOS A A A A A A D D D D D D

d_A, Approach Delay [s/veh] 7.75 7.50 39.14 35.03

Approach LOS A A D D

d_I, Intersection Delay [s/veh] 16.66

Intersection LOS B

Intersection V/C 0.503

Other Modes

g_Walk,mi, Effective Walk Time [s] 11.0 11.0 11.0 11.0

M_corner, Corner Circulation Area [ft²/ped] 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

M_CW, Crosswalk Circulation Area [ft²/ped] 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

d_p, Pedestrian Delay [s] 34.67 34.67 34.67 34.67

I_p,int, Pedestrian LOS Score for Intersection 2.271 2.388 1.967 1.905

Crosswalk LOS B B A A

s_b, Saturation Flow Rate of the bicycle lane 2000 2000 2000 2000

c_b, Capacity of the bicycle lane [bicycles/h] 444 444 1156 1156

d_b, Bicycle Delay [s] 27.22 27.22 8.02 8.02

I_b,int, Bicycle LOS Score for Intersection 2.464 2.234 1.977 1.824

Bicycle LOS B B A A

----------------Ring 4

----------------Ring 3

------------8-65Ring 2

------------4-21Ring 1

Sequence

Scenario 2: 2 PM Existing

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

B-9

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-16-3695-1 
Kendall-Palm Commercial, San Bernardino 

N:\4100\2194139 - Mesa Court Apartments, Upland\Report\4139 Sub-Dividers.doc 

APPENDIX B-II 

EXISTING PLUS PROJECT                    

TRAFFIC CONDITIONS 
 

B-10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0.277Volume to Capacity (v/c):

BLevel Of Service:

13.4Delay (sec / veh):

15 minutesAnalysis Period:

HCM 6th EditionAnalysis Method:

SignalizedControl Type:

Intersection 1: N. Campus Avenue at E. 11th Street

Intersection Level Of Service Report

YesYesYesYesCrosswalk

NoNoNoNoCurb Present

0.000.000.000.00Grade [%]

30.0030.0030.0030.00Speed [mph]

100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.0060.00100.00100.0060.00Pocket Length [ft]

000000001001No. of Lanes in Pocket

12.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.00Lane Width [ft]

RightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftTurning Movement

Lane Configuration

WestboundEastboundSouthboundNorthboundApproach

E. 11th StreetE. 11th StreetN. Campus AvenueN. Campus AvenueName

Intersection Setup

0000Bicycle Volume [bicycles/h]

0000v_ab, Corner Pedestrian Volume [ped/h]

0000v_ci, Inbound Pedestrian Volume crossing mi

0000v_co, Outbound Pedestrian Volume crossing 

0000v_di, Inbound Pedestrian Volume crossing m

0000v_do, Outbound Pedestrian Volume crossing 

000000000000Local Bus Stopping Rate [/h]

000000000000On-Street Parking Maneuver Rate [/h]

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoPresence of On-Street Parking

32441129663539253612025330Total Analysis Volume [veh/h]

811371791063155637Total 15-Minute Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Other Adjustment Factor

0.90900.90900.90900.90900.90900.90900.90900.90900.90900.90900.90900.9090Peak Hour Factor

29401026603235230551823027Total Hourly Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Right-Turn on Red Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Other Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Existing Site Adjustment Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Pass-by Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Diverted Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Site-Generated Trips [veh/h]

000000000000In-Process Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Growth Factor

2.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.00Heavy Vehicles Percentage [%]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Base Volume Adjustment Factor

29401026603235230551823027Base Volume Input [veh/h]

E. 11th StreetE. 11th StreetN. Campus AvenueN. Campus AvenueName

Volumes

Scenario 3: 3 AM Existing + Project

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

B-11

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0Pedestrian Clearance [s]

0Pedestrian Walk [s]

0Pedestrian Signal Group

Exclusive Pedestrian Phase

1.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.00I, Upstream Filtering Factor

0.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.0Detector Length [ft]

0.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.0Detector Location [ft]

NoNoNoNoNoNoPedestrian Recall

NoNoNoNoNoNoMaximum Recall

NoNoNoNoNoNoMinimum Recall

0.02.00.00.02.00.00.02.02.00.02.02.0l2, Clearance Lost Time [s]

0.02.00.00.02.00.00.02.02.00.02.02.0l1, Start-Up Lost Time [s]

NoNoNoNoRest In Walk

0120012001300130Pedestrian Clearance [s]

070070070070Walk [s]

0.03.00.00.03.00.00.03.03.00.03.03.0Vehicle Extension [s]

056005600241002410Split [s]

0.01.00.00.01.00.00.01.01.00.01.01.0All red [s]

0.03.00.00.03.00.00.03.03.00.03.03.0Amber [s]

030003000303003030Maximum Green [s]

060060066066Minimum Green [s]

--------Lead--LagLead / Lag

Auxiliary Signal Groups

040080025061Signal Group

PermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissProtPerPermissPermissProtPerControl Type

Phasing & Timing

12.00Lost time [s]

SingleBandPermissive Mode

LeadGreenOffset Reference

0.0Offset [s]

Fully actuatedActuation Type

Time of Day Pattern CoordinatedCoordination Type

90Cycle Length [s]

-Signal Coordination Group

YesLocated in CBD

Intersection Settings

Scenario 3: 3 AM Existing + Project

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

B-12

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



84.76132.1560.3011.8466.576.3795th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

3.395.292.410.472.660.2595th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

47.0973.4233.506.5836.983.5450th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

1.882.941.340.261.480.1450th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

NoYesYesNoNoYesCritical Lane Group

DDAAAALane Group LOS

40.0242.483.903.394.643.73d, Delay for Lane Group [s/veh]

0.420.600.220.050.210.03X, volume / capacity

Lane Group Results

1.001.001.001.001.001.00PF, progression factor

1.001.001.001.001.001.00Rp, platoon ratio

0.000.000.000.000.000.00d3, Initial Queue Delay [s]

1.312.710.080.070.370.04d2, Incremental Delay [s]

1.001.001.001.001.001.00I, Upstream Filtering Factor

0.110.110.110.500.500.50k, delay calibration

38.7139.773.823.324.263.68d1, Uniform Delay [s]

2102151320125712901114c, Capacity [veh/h]

170017001800170018001700s, saturation flow rate [veh/h]

0.050.080.160.040.150.02(v / s)_i Volume / Saturation Flow Rate

0.100.100.730.730.720.72g / C, Green / Cycle

9966666565g_i, Effective Green Time [s]

2.002.002.000.002.000.00l2, Clearance Lost Time [s]

2.002.000.000.000.002.00l1_p, Permitted Start-Up Lost Time [s]

4.004.004.004.004.004.00L, Total Lost Time per Cycle [s]

909090909090C, Cycle Length [s]

CCCLCLLane Group

Lane Group Calculations

Scenario 3: 3 AM Existing + Project

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

B-13

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Movement, Approach, & Intersection Results

d_M, Delay for Movement [s/veh] 3.73 4.64 4.64 3.39 3.90 3.90 42.48 42.48 42.48 40.02 40.02 40.02

Movement LOS A A A A A A D D D D D D

d_A, Approach Delay [s/veh] 4.55 3.81 42.48 40.02

Approach LOS A A D D

d_I, Intersection Delay [s/veh] 13.43

Intersection LOS B

Intersection V/C 0.277

Other Modes

g_Walk,mi, Effective Walk Time [s] 11.0 11.0 11.0 11.0

M_corner, Corner Circulation Area [ft²/ped] 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

M_CW, Crosswalk Circulation Area [ft²/ped] 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

d_p, Pedestrian Delay [s] 34.67 34.67 34.67 34.67

I_p,int, Pedestrian LOS Score for Intersection 2.149 2.208 1.871 1.886

Crosswalk LOS B B A A

s_b, Saturation Flow Rate of the bicycle lane 2000 2000 2000 2000

c_b, Capacity of the bicycle lane [bicycles/h] 444 444 1156 1156

d_b, Bicycle Delay [s] 27.22 27.22 8.02 8.02

I_b,int, Bicycle LOS Score for Intersection 2.060 2.142 1.774 1.703

Bicycle LOS B B A A

----------------Ring 4

----------------Ring 3

------------8-65Ring 2

------------4-21Ring 1

Sequence

Scenario 3: 3 AM Existing + Project

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

B-14

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0.510Volume to Capacity (v/c):

BLevel Of Service:

16.7Delay (sec / veh):

15 minutesAnalysis Period:

HCM 6th EditionAnalysis Method:

SignalizedControl Type:

Intersection 1: N. Campus Avenue at E. 11th Street

Intersection Level Of Service Report

YesYesYesYesCrosswalk

NoNoNoNoCurb Present

0.000.000.000.00Grade [%]

30.0030.0030.0030.00Speed [mph]

100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.0060.00100.00100.0060.00Pocket Length [ft]

000000001001No. of Lanes in Pocket

12.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.00Lane Width [ft]

RightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftTurning Movement

Lane Configuration

WestboundEastboundSouthboundNorthboundApproach

E. 11th StreetE. 11th StreetN. Campus AvenueN. Campus AvenueName

Intersection Setup

0000Bicycle Volume [bicycles/h]

0000v_ab, Corner Pedestrian Volume [ped/h]

0000v_ci, Inbound Pedestrian Volume crossing mi

0000v_co, Outbound Pedestrian Volume crossing 

0000v_di, Inbound Pedestrian Volume crossing m

0000v_do, Outbound Pedestrian Volume crossing 

000000000000Local Bus Stopping Rate [/h]

000000000000On-Street Parking Maneuver Rate [/h]

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoPresence of On-Street Parking

469420331378660336203348538Total Analysis Volume [veh/h]

12235834221584581219Total 15-Minute Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Other Adjustment Factor

0.92800.92800.92800.92800.92800.92800.92800.92800.92800.92800.92800.9280Peak Hour Factor

438719311278056312193145035Total Hourly Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Right-Turn on Red Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Other Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Existing Site Adjustment Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Pass-by Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Diverted Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Site-Generated Trips [veh/h]

000000000000In-Process Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Growth Factor

2.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.00Heavy Vehicles Percentage [%]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Base Volume Adjustment Factor

438719311278056312193145035Base Volume Input [veh/h]

E. 11th StreetE. 11th StreetN. Campus AvenueN. Campus AvenueName

Volumes

Scenario 4: 4 PM Existing + Project

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

B-15

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0Pedestrian Clearance [s]

0Pedestrian Walk [s]

0Pedestrian Signal Group

Exclusive Pedestrian Phase

1.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.00I, Upstream Filtering Factor

0.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.0Detector Length [ft]

0.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.0Detector Location [ft]

NoNoNoNoNoNoPedestrian Recall

NoNoNoNoNoNoMaximum Recall

NoNoNoNoNoNoMinimum Recall

0.02.00.00.02.00.00.02.02.00.02.02.0l2, Clearance Lost Time [s]

0.02.00.00.02.00.00.02.02.00.02.02.0l1, Start-Up Lost Time [s]

NoNoNoNoRest In Walk

0120012001300130Pedestrian Clearance [s]

070070070070Walk [s]

0.03.00.00.03.00.00.03.03.00.03.03.0Vehicle Extension [s]

056005600241002410Split [s]

0.01.00.00.01.00.00.01.01.00.01.01.0All red [s]

0.03.00.00.03.00.00.03.03.00.03.03.0Amber [s]

030003000303003030Maximum Green [s]

060060066066Minimum Green [s]

--------Lead--LeadLead / Lag

Auxiliary Signal Groups

040080025061Signal Group

PermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissProtPerPermissPermissProtPerControl Type

Phasing & Timing

12.00Lost time [s]

SingleBandPermissive Mode

LeadGreenOffset Reference

0.0Offset [s]

Fully actuatedActuation Type

Time of Day Pattern CoordinatedCoordination Type

90Cycle Length [s]

-Signal Coordination Group

YesLocated in CBD

Intersection Settings

Scenario 4: 4 PM Existing + Project

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

B-16

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



145.43238.36145.083.78194.866.6395th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

5.829.535.800.157.790.2795th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

80.79140.9980.602.10109.183.6850th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

3.235.643.220.084.370.1550th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

NoYesNoYesYesNoCritical Lane Group

CDAAAALane Group LOS

34.8639.067.853.198.253.21d, Delay for Lane Group [s/veh]

0.470.730.340.020.430.03X, volume / capacity

Lane Group Results

1.001.001.001.001.001.00PF, progression factor

1.001.001.001.001.001.00Rp, platoon ratio

0.000.000.000.000.000.00d3, Initial Queue Delay [s]

1.002.950.780.031.140.01d2, Incremental Delay [s]

1.001.001.001.001.001.00I, Upstream Filtering Factor

0.110.110.500.500.500.11k, delay calibration

33.8636.117.073.167.113.20d1, Uniform Delay [s]

3423501170112311961188c, Capacity [veh/h]

170017001800170018001700s, saturation flow rate [veh/h]

0.090.150.220.010.290.02(v / s)_i Volume / Saturation Flow Rate

0.170.170.650.740.670.74g / C, Green / Cycle

161659666066g_i, Effective Green Time [s]

2.002.002.000.002.000.00l2, Clearance Lost Time [s]

2.002.000.000.000.000.00l1_p, Permitted Start-Up Lost Time [s]

4.004.004.004.004.004.00L, Total Lost Time per Cycle [s]

909090909090C, Cycle Length [s]

CCCLCLLane Group

Lane Group Calculations

Scenario 4: 4 PM Existing + Project

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

B-17

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Movement, Approach, & Intersection Results

d_M, Delay for Movement [s/veh] 3.21 8.25 8.25 3.19 7.85 7.85 39.06 39.06 39.06 34.86 34.86 34.86

Movement LOS A A A A A A D D D C C C

d_A, Approach Delay [s/veh] 7.91 7.63 39.06 34.86

Approach LOS A A D C

d_I, Intersection Delay [s/veh] 16.68

Intersection LOS B

Intersection V/C 0.510

Other Modes

g_Walk,mi, Effective Walk Time [s] 11.0 11.0 11.0 11.0

M_corner, Corner Circulation Area [ft²/ped] 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

M_CW, Crosswalk Circulation Area [ft²/ped] 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

d_p, Pedestrian Delay [s] 34.67 34.67 34.67 34.67

I_p,int, Pedestrian LOS Score for Intersection 2.275 2.398 1.969 1.905

Crosswalk LOS B B A A

s_b, Saturation Flow Rate of the bicycle lane 2000 2000 2000 2000

c_b, Capacity of the bicycle lane [bicycles/h] 444 444 1156 1156

d_b, Bicycle Delay [s] 27.22 27.22 8.02 8.02

I_b,int, Bicycle LOS Score for Intersection 2.477 2.246 1.982 1.824

Bicycle LOS B B A A

----------------Ring 4

----------------Ring 3

------------8-65Ring 2

------------4-21Ring 1

Sequence

Scenario 4: 4 PM Existing + Project

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

B-18

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-19-4139-1 
Mesa Court Apartments, Upland 

N:\4100\2194139 - Mesa Court Apartments, Upland\Report\4139 Dividers.doc 

APPENDIX C 

YEAR 2023 CUMULATIVE PLUS PROJECT 

INTERSECTION LEVEL OF SERVICE           

CALCULATION WORKSHEETS 

 

  

 
 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-16-3695-1 
Kendall-Palm Commercial, San Bernardino 

N:\4100\2194139 - Mesa Court Apartments, Upland\Report\4139 Sub-Dividers.doc 

APPENDIX C-I 

YEAR 2023 CUMULATIVE                    

TRAFFIC CONDITIONS 

C-1

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0.298Volume to Capacity (v/c):

BLevel Of Service:

14.0Delay (sec / veh):

15 minutesAnalysis Period:

HCM 6th EditionAnalysis Method:

SignalizedControl Type:

Intersection 1: N. Campus Avenue at E. 11th Street

Intersection Level Of Service Report

YesYesYesYesCrosswalk

NoNoNoNoCurb Present

0.000.000.000.00Grade [%]

30.0030.0030.0030.00Speed [mph]

100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.0060.00100.00100.0060.00Pocket Length [ft]

000000001001No. of Lanes in Pocket

12.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.00Lane Width [ft]

RightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftTurning Movement

Lane Configuration

WestboundEastboundSouthboundNorthboundApproach

E. 11th StreetE. 11th StreetN. Campus AvenueN. Campus AvenueName

Intersection Setup

0000Bicycle Volume [bicycles/h]

0000v_ab, Corner Pedestrian Volume [ped/h]

0000v_ci, Inbound Pedestrian Volume crossing mi

0000v_co, Outbound Pedestrian Volume crossing 

0000v_di, Inbound Pedestrian Volume crossing m

0000v_do, Outbound Pedestrian Volume crossing 

000000000000Local Bus Stopping Rate [/h]

000000000000On-Street Parking Maneuver Rate [/h]

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoPresence of On-Street Parking

33451229683537288622028331Total Analysis Volume [veh/h]

81137179972165718Total 15-Minute Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Other Adjustment Factor

0.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.9500Peak Hour Factor

31431128653335274591926929Total Hourly Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Right-Turn on Red Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Other Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Existing Site Adjustment Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Pass-by Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Diverted Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Site-Generated Trips [veh/h]

000000000000In-Process Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Growth Factor

2.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.00Heavy Vehicles Percentage [%]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Base Volume Adjustment Factor

31431128653335274591926929Base Volume Input [veh/h]

E. 11th StreetE. 11th StreetN. Campus AvenueN. Campus AvenueName

Volumes

Scenario 5: 5 AM Year 2023 Cumulative

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

C-2

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0Pedestrian Clearance [s]

0Pedestrian Walk [s]

0Pedestrian Signal Group

Exclusive Pedestrian Phase

1.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.00I, Upstream Filtering Factor

0.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.0Detector Length [ft]

0.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.0Detector Location [ft]

NoNoNoNoNoNoPedestrian Recall

NoNoNoNoNoNoMaximum Recall

NoNoNoNoNoNoMinimum Recall

0.02.00.00.02.00.00.02.02.00.02.02.0l2, Clearance Lost Time [s]

0.02.00.00.02.00.00.02.02.00.02.02.0l1, Start-Up Lost Time [s]

NoNoNoNoRest In Walk

0120012001300130Pedestrian Clearance [s]

070070070070Walk [s]

0.03.00.00.03.00.00.03.03.00.03.03.0Vehicle Extension [s]

066006600241002410Split [s]

0.01.00.00.01.00.00.01.01.00.01.01.0All red [s]

0.03.00.00.03.00.00.03.03.00.03.03.0Amber [s]

030003000303003030Maximum Green [s]

060060066066Minimum Green [s]

--------Lead--LeadLead / Lag

Auxiliary Signal Groups

040080025061Signal Group

PermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissProtPerPermissPermissProtPerControl Type

Phasing & Timing

12.00Lost time [s]

SingleBandPermissive Mode

LeadGreenOffset Reference

0.0Offset [s]

Fully actuatedActuation Type

Time of Day Pattern CoordinatedCoordination Type

100Cycle Length [s]

-Signal Coordination Group

YesLocated in CBD

Intersection Settings

Scenario 5: 5 AM Year 2023 Cumulative

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

C-3

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



98.78151.1580.436.8980.672.9895th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

3.956.053.220.283.230.1295th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

54.8883.9744.693.8344.821.6550th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

2.203.361.790.151.790.0750th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

NoYesYesNoNoYesCritical Lane Group

DDAAAALane Group LOS

44.5647.324.311.684.691.60d, Delay for Lane Group [s/veh]

0.440.630.240.040.230.02X, volume / capacity

Lane Group Results

1.001.001.001.001.001.00PF, progression factor

1.001.001.001.001.001.00Rp, platoon ratio

0.000.000.000.000.000.00d3, Initial Queue Delay [s]

1.473.080.430.060.410.01d2, Incremental Delay [s]

1.001.001.001.001.001.00I, Upstream Filtering Factor

0.110.110.500.500.500.11k, delay calibration

43.0844.243.891.624.281.59d1, Uniform Delay [s]

2052101346139813201395c, Capacity [veh/h]

170017001800170018001700s, saturation flow rate [veh/h]

0.050.080.180.040.170.02(v / s)_i Volume / Saturation Flow Rate

0.100.100.750.820.730.82g / C, Green / Cycle

101075827382g_i, Effective Green Time [s]

2.002.002.000.002.000.00l2, Clearance Lost Time [s]

2.002.000.000.000.000.00l1_p, Permitted Start-Up Lost Time [s]

4.004.004.004.004.004.00L, Total Lost Time per Cycle [s]

100100100100100100C, Cycle Length [s]

CCCLCLLane Group

Lane Group Calculations

Scenario 5: 5 AM Year 2023 Cumulative

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

C-4

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Movement, Approach, & Intersection Results

d_M, Delay for Movement [s/veh] 1.60 4.69 4.69 1.68 4.31 4.31 47.32 47.32 47.32 44.56 44.56 44.56

Movement LOS A A A A A A D D D D D D

d_A, Approach Delay [s/veh] 4.40 3.89 47.32 44.56

Approach LOS A A D D

d_I, Intersection Delay [s/veh] 14.03

Intersection LOS B

Intersection V/C 0.298

Other Modes

g_Walk,mi, Effective Walk Time [s] 11.0 11.0 11.0 11.0

M_corner, Corner Circulation Area [ft²/ped] 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

M_CW, Crosswalk Circulation Area [ft²/ped] 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

d_p, Pedestrian Delay [s] 39.61 39.61 39.61 39.61

I_p,int, Pedestrian LOS Score for Intersection 2.178 2.235 1.873 1.903

Crosswalk LOS B B A A

s_b, Saturation Flow Rate of the bicycle lane 2000 2000 2000 2000

c_b, Capacity of the bicycle lane [bicycles/h] 400 400 1240 1240

d_b, Bicycle Delay [s] 32.00 32.00 7.22 7.22

I_b,int, Bicycle LOS Score for Intersection 2.111 2.198 1.777 1.708

Bicycle LOS B B A A

----------------Ring 4

----------------Ring 3

------------8-65Ring 2

------------4-21Ring 1

Sequence

Scenario 5: 5 AM Year 2023 Cumulative

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

C-5

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0.557Volume to Capacity (v/c):

BLevel Of Service:

16.8Delay (sec / veh):

15 minutesAnalysis Period:

HCM 6th EditionAnalysis Method:

SignalizedControl Type:

Intersection 1: N. Campus Avenue at E. 11th Street

Intersection Level Of Service Report

YesYesYesYesCrosswalk

NoNoNoNoCurb Present

0.000.000.000.00Grade [%]

30.0030.0030.0030.00Speed [mph]

100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.0060.00100.00100.0060.00Pocket Length [ft]

000000001001No. of Lanes in Pocket

12.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.00Lane Width [ft]

RightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftTurning Movement

Lane Configuration

WestboundEastboundSouthboundNorthboundApproach

E. 11th StreetE. 11th StreetN. Campus AvenueN. Campus AvenueName

Intersection Setup

0000Bicycle Volume [bicycles/h]

0000v_ab, Corner Pedestrian Volume [ped/h]

0000v_ci, Inbound Pedestrian Volume crossing mi

0000v_co, Outbound Pedestrian Volume crossing 

0000v_di, Inbound Pedestrian Volume crossing m

0000v_do, Outbound Pedestrian Volume crossing 

000000000000Local Bus Stopping Rate [/h]

000000000000On-Street Parking Maneuver Rate [/h]

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoPresence of On-Street Parking

489922351448761381223554540Total Analysis Volume [veh/h]

122569362215956913610Total 15-Minute Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Other Adjustment Factor

0.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.9500Peak Hour Factor

469421331378358362213351838Total Hourly Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Right-Turn on Red Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Other Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Existing Site Adjustment Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Pass-by Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Diverted Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Site-Generated Trips [veh/h]

000000000000In-Process Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Growth Factor

2.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.00Heavy Vehicles Percentage [%]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Base Volume Adjustment Factor

469421331378358362213351838Base Volume Input [veh/h]

E. 11th StreetE. 11th StreetN. Campus AvenueN. Campus AvenueName

Volumes

Scenario 6: 6 PM Year 2023 Cumulative

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

C-6

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0Pedestrian Clearance [s]

0Pedestrian Walk [s]

0Pedestrian Signal Group

Exclusive Pedestrian Phase

1.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.00I, Upstream Filtering Factor

0.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.0Detector Length [ft]

0.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.0Detector Location [ft]

NoNoNoNoNoNoPedestrian Recall

NoNoNoNoNoNoMaximum Recall

NoNoNoNoNoNoMinimum Recall

0.02.00.00.02.00.00.02.02.00.02.02.0l2, Clearance Lost Time [s]

0.02.00.00.02.00.00.02.02.00.02.02.0l1, Start-Up Lost Time [s]

NoNoNoNoRest In Walk

0120012001300130Pedestrian Clearance [s]

070070070070Walk [s]

0.03.00.00.03.00.00.03.03.00.03.03.0Vehicle Extension [s]

056005600241002410Split [s]

0.01.00.00.01.00.00.01.01.00.01.01.0All red [s]

0.03.00.00.03.00.00.03.03.00.03.03.0Amber [s]

030003000303003030Maximum Green [s]

060060066066Minimum Green [s]

--------Lead--LeadLead / Lag

Auxiliary Signal Groups

040080025061Signal Group

PermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissProtPerPermissPermissProtPerControl Type

Phasing & Timing

12.00Lost time [s]

SingleBandPermissive Mode

LeadGreenOffset Reference

0.0Offset [s]

Fully actuatedActuation Type

Time of Day Pattern CoordinatedCoordination Type

90Cycle Length [s]

-Signal Coordination Group

YesLocated in CBD

Intersection Settings

Scenario 6: 6 PM Year 2023 Cumulative

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

C-7

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



153.19245.47172.814.33228.257.2795th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

6.139.826.910.179.130.2995th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

85.10146.2996.002.41133.504.0450th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

3.405.853.840.105.340.1650th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

NoYesNoYesYesNoCritical Lane Group

CDAAAALane Group LOS

34.5838.828.573.359.293.36d, Delay for Lane Group [s/veh]

0.480.740.380.020.490.03X, volume / capacity

Lane Group Results

1.001.001.001.001.001.00PF, progression factor

1.001.001.001.001.001.00Rp, platoon ratio

0.000.000.000.000.000.00d3, Initial Queue Delay [s]

1.012.980.960.041.460.01d2, Incremental Delay [s]

1.001.001.001.001.001.00I, Upstream Filtering Factor

0.110.110.500.500.500.11k, delay calibration

33.5735.847.613.317.833.35d1, Uniform Delay [s]

3523601157106511821147c, Capacity [veh/h]

170017001800170018001700s, saturation flow rate [veh/h]

0.100.160.250.010.320.02(v / s)_i Volume / Saturation Flow Rate

0.180.180.640.730.660.73g / C, Green / Cycle

161658665966g_i, Effective Green Time [s]

2.002.002.000.002.000.00l2, Clearance Lost Time [s]

2.002.000.000.000.000.00l1_p, Permitted Start-Up Lost Time [s]

4.004.004.004.004.004.00L, Total Lost Time per Cycle [s]

909090909090C, Cycle Length [s]

CCCLCLLane Group

Lane Group Calculations

Scenario 6: 6 PM Year 2023 Cumulative

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

C-8

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Movement, Approach, & Intersection Results

d_M, Delay for Movement [s/veh] 3.36 9.29 9.29 3.35 8.57 8.57 38.82 38.82 38.82 34.58 34.58 34.58

Movement LOS A A A A A A D D D C C C

d_A, Approach Delay [s/veh] 8.90 8.32 38.82 34.58

Approach LOS A A D C

d_I, Intersection Delay [s/veh] 16.82

Intersection LOS B

Intersection V/C 0.557

Other Modes

g_Walk,mi, Effective Walk Time [s] 11.0 11.0 11.0 11.0

M_corner, Corner Circulation Area [ft²/ped] 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

M_CW, Crosswalk Circulation Area [ft²/ped] 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

d_p, Pedestrian Delay [s] 34.67 34.67 34.67 34.67

I_p,int, Pedestrian LOS Score for Intersection 2.315 2.435 1.979 1.916

Crosswalk LOS B B A A

s_b, Saturation Flow Rate of the bicycle lane 2000 2000 2000 2000

c_b, Capacity of the bicycle lane [bicycles/h] 444 444 1156 1156

d_b, Bicycle Delay [s] 27.22 27.22 8.02 8.02

I_b,int, Bicycle LOS Score for Intersection 2.583 2.325 1.999 1.838

Bicycle LOS B B A A

----------------Ring 4

----------------Ring 3

------------8-65Ring 2

------------4-21Ring 1

Sequence

Scenario 6: 6 PM Year 2023 Cumulative

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

C-9

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

LINSCOTT, LAW & GREENSPAN, engineers  LLG Ref. 2-16-3695-1 
Kendall-Palm Commercial, San Bernardino 

N:\4100\2194139 - Mesa Court Apartments, Upland\Report\4139 Sub-Dividers.doc 

APPENDIX C-II 

YEAR 2023 CUMULATIVE PLUS PROJECT                    

TRAFFIC CONDITIONS 
 
 

  

 

C-10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0.304Volume to Capacity (v/c):

BLevel Of Service:

14.0Delay (sec / veh):

15 minutesAnalysis Period:

HCM 6th EditionAnalysis Method:

SignalizedControl Type:

Intersection 1: N. Campus Avenue at E. 11th Street

Intersection Level Of Service Report

YesYesYesYesCrosswalk

NoNoNoNoCurb Present

0.000.000.000.00Grade [%]

30.0030.0030.0030.00Speed [mph]

100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.0060.00100.00100.0060.00Pocket Length [ft]

000000001001No. of Lanes in Pocket

12.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.00Lane Width [ft]

RightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftTurning Movement

Lane Configuration

WestboundEastboundSouthboundNorthboundApproach

E. 11th StreetE. 11th StreetN. Campus AvenueN. Campus AvenueName

Intersection Setup

0000Bicycle Volume [bicycles/h]

0000v_ab, Corner Pedestrian Volume [ped/h]

0000v_ci, Inbound Pedestrian Volume crossing mi

0000v_co, Outbound Pedestrian Volume crossing 

0000v_di, Inbound Pedestrian Volume crossing m

0000v_do, Outbound Pedestrian Volume crossing 

000000000000Local Bus Stopping Rate [/h]

000000000000On-Street Parking Maneuver Rate [/h]

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoPresence of On-Street Parking

33451229683640297622028531Total Analysis Volume [veh/h]

811371791074165718Total 15-Minute Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Other Adjustment Factor

0.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.9500Peak Hour Factor

31431128653438282591927129Total Hourly Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Right-Turn on Red Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Other Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Existing Site Adjustment Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Pass-by Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Diverted Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Site-Generated Trips [veh/h]

000000000000In-Process Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Growth Factor

2.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.00Heavy Vehicles Percentage [%]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Base Volume Adjustment Factor

31431128653438282591927129Base Volume Input [veh/h]

E. 11th StreetE. 11th StreetN. Campus AvenueN. Campus AvenueName

Volumes

Scenario 7: 7 AM Year 2023 Cumulative + Project

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

C-11

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0Pedestrian Clearance [s]

0Pedestrian Walk [s]

0Pedestrian Signal Group

Exclusive Pedestrian Phase

1.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.00I, Upstream Filtering Factor

0.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.0Detector Length [ft]

0.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.0Detector Location [ft]

NoNoNoNoNoNoPedestrian Recall

NoNoNoNoNoNoMaximum Recall

NoNoNoNoNoNoMinimum Recall

0.02.00.00.02.00.00.02.02.00.02.02.0l2, Clearance Lost Time [s]

0.02.00.00.02.00.00.02.02.00.02.02.0l1, Start-Up Lost Time [s]

NoNoNoNoRest In Walk

0120012001300130Pedestrian Clearance [s]

070070070070Walk [s]

0.03.00.00.03.00.00.03.03.00.03.03.0Vehicle Extension [s]

066006600241002410Split [s]

0.01.00.00.01.00.00.01.01.00.01.01.0All red [s]

0.03.00.00.03.00.00.03.03.00.03.03.0Amber [s]

030003000303003030Maximum Green [s]

060060066066Minimum Green [s]

--------Lead--LagLead / Lag

Auxiliary Signal Groups

040080025061Signal Group

PermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissProtPerPermissPermissProtPerControl Type

Phasing & Timing

12.00Lost time [s]

SingleBandPermissive Mode

LeadGreenOffset Reference

0.0Offset [s]

Fully actuatedActuation Type

Time of Day Pattern CoordinatedCoordination Type

100Cycle Length [s]

-Signal Coordination Group

YesLocated in CBD

Intersection Settings

Scenario 7: 7 AM Year 2023 Cumulative + Project

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

C-12

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



98.67152.2479.5713.1081.617.0795th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

3.956.093.180.523.260.2895th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

54.8184.5844.207.2845.343.9350th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

2.193.381.770.291.810.1650th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

NoYesYesNoNoYesCritical Lane Group

DDAAAALane Group LOS

44.4747.284.093.404.723.69d, Delay for Lane Group [s/veh]

0.440.630.250.050.230.03X, volume / capacity

Lane Group Results

1.001.001.001.001.001.00PF, progression factor

1.001.001.001.001.001.00Rp, platoon ratio

0.000.000.000.000.000.00d3, Initial Queue Delay [s]

1.453.080.160.070.410.05d2, Incremental Delay [s]

1.001.001.001.001.001.00I, Upstream Filtering Factor

0.110.110.170.500.500.50k, delay calibration

43.0244.203.943.324.313.65d1, Uniform Delay [s]

2062111345126213181129c, Capacity [veh/h]

170017001800170018001700s, saturation flow rate [veh/h]

0.050.080.190.040.170.02(v / s)_i Volume / Saturation Flow Rate

0.100.100.750.750.730.73g / C, Green / Cycle

101075757373g_i, Effective Green Time [s]

2.002.002.000.002.000.00l2, Clearance Lost Time [s]

2.002.000.000.000.002.00l1_p, Permitted Start-Up Lost Time [s]

4.004.004.004.004.004.00L, Total Lost Time per Cycle [s]

100100100100100100C, Cycle Length [s]

CCCLCLLane Group

Lane Group Calculations

Scenario 7: 7 AM Year 2023 Cumulative + Project

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

C-13

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Movement, Approach, & Intersection Results

d_M, Delay for Movement [s/veh] 3.69 4.72 4.72 3.40 4.09 4.09 47.28 47.28 47.28 44.47 44.47 44.47

Movement LOS A A A A A A D D D D D D

d_A, Approach Delay [s/veh] 4.63 3.99 47.28 44.47

Approach LOS A A D D

d_I, Intersection Delay [s/veh] 14.02

Intersection LOS B

Intersection V/C 0.304

Other Modes

g_Walk,mi, Effective Walk Time [s] 11.0 11.0 11.0 11.0

M_corner, Corner Circulation Area [ft²/ped] 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

M_CW, Crosswalk Circulation Area [ft²/ped] 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

d_p, Pedestrian Delay [s] 39.61 39.61 39.61 39.61

I_p,int, Pedestrian LOS Score for Intersection 2.181 2.241 1.881 1.896

Crosswalk LOS B B A A

s_b, Saturation Flow Rate of the bicycle lane 2000 2000 2000 2000

c_b, Capacity of the bicycle lane [bicycles/h] 400 400 1240 1240

d_b, Bicycle Delay [s] 32.00 32.00 7.22 7.22

I_b,int, Bicycle LOS Score for Intersection 2.114 2.218 1.779 1.708

Bicycle LOS B B A A

----------------Ring 4

----------------Ring 3

------------8-65Ring 2

------------4-21Ring 1

Sequence

Scenario 7: 7 AM Year 2023 Cumulative + Project

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

C-14

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0.565Volume to Capacity (v/c):

BLevel Of Service:

16.9Delay (sec / veh):

15 minutesAnalysis Period:

HCM 6th EditionAnalysis Method:

SignalizedControl Type:

Intersection 1: N. Campus Avenue at E. 11th Street

Intersection Level Of Service Report

YesYesYesYesCrosswalk

NoNoNoNoCurb Present

0.000.000.000.00Grade [%]

30.0030.0030.0030.00Speed [mph]

100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.00100.0060.00100.00100.0060.00Pocket Length [ft]

000000001001No. of Lanes in Pocket

12.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.0012.00Lane Width [ft]

RightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftRightThruLeftTurning Movement

Lane Configuration

WestboundEastboundSouthboundNorthboundApproach

E. 11th StreetE. 11th StreetN. Campus AvenueN. Campus AvenueName

Intersection Setup

0000Bicycle Volume [bicycles/h]

0000v_ab, Corner Pedestrian Volume [ped/h]

0000v_ci, Inbound Pedestrian Volume crossing mi

0000v_co, Outbound Pedestrian Volume crossing 

0000v_di, Inbound Pedestrian Volume crossing m

0000v_do, Outbound Pedestrian Volume crossing 

000000000000Local Bus Stopping Rate [/h]

000000000000On-Street Parking Maneuver Rate [/h]

NoNoNoNoNoNoNoNoPresence of On-Street Parking

489922351449163386223555340Total Analysis Volume [veh/h]

122569362316976913810Total 15-Minute Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Other Adjustment Factor

0.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.95000.9500Peak Hour Factor

469421331378660367213352538Total Hourly Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Right-Turn on Red Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Other Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Existing Site Adjustment Volume [veh/h]

000000000000Pass-by Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Diverted Trips [veh/h]

000000000000Site-Generated Trips [veh/h]

000000000000In-Process Volume [veh/h]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Growth Factor

2.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.002.00Heavy Vehicles Percentage [%]

1.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.00001.0000Base Volume Adjustment Factor

469421331378660367213352538Base Volume Input [veh/h]

E. 11th StreetE. 11th StreetN. Campus AvenueN. Campus AvenueName

Volumes

Scenario 8: 8 PM Year 2023 Cumulative + Project

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

C-15

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0Pedestrian Clearance [s]

0Pedestrian Walk [s]

0Pedestrian Signal Group

Exclusive Pedestrian Phase

1.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.001.00I, Upstream Filtering Factor

0.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.0Detector Length [ft]

0.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.0Detector Location [ft]

NoNoNoNoNoNoPedestrian Recall

NoNoNoNoNoNoMaximum Recall

NoNoNoNoNoNoMinimum Recall

0.02.00.00.02.00.00.02.02.00.02.02.0l2, Clearance Lost Time [s]

0.02.00.00.02.00.00.02.02.00.02.02.0l1, Start-Up Lost Time [s]

NoNoNoNoRest In Walk

0120012001300130Pedestrian Clearance [s]

070070070070Walk [s]

0.03.00.00.03.00.00.03.03.00.03.03.0Vehicle Extension [s]

056005600241002410Split [s]

0.01.00.00.01.00.00.01.01.00.01.01.0All red [s]

0.03.00.00.03.00.00.03.03.00.03.03.0Amber [s]

030003000303003030Maximum Green [s]

060060066066Minimum Green [s]

--------Lead--LeadLead / Lag

Auxiliary Signal Groups

040080025061Signal Group

PermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissPermissProtPerPermissPermissProtPerControl Type

Phasing & Timing

12.00Lost time [s]

SingleBandPermissive Mode

LeadGreenOffset Reference

0.0Offset [s]

Fully actuatedActuation Type

Time of Day Pattern CoordinatedCoordination Type

90Cycle Length [s]

-Signal Coordination Group

YesLocated in CBD

Intersection Settings

Scenario 8: 8 PM Year 2023 Cumulative + Project

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

C-16

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



152.59248.26178.204.40233.927.3895th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

6.109.937.130.189.360.3095th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

84.77148.3899.002.44137.704.1050th-Percentile Queue Length [ft/ln]

3.395.943.960.105.510.1650th-Percentile Queue Length [veh/ln]

NoYesNoYesYesNoCritical Lane Group

CDAAAALane Group LOS

34.3638.718.753.419.503.42d, Delay for Lane Group [s/veh]

0.470.740.390.020.500.04X, volume / capacity

Lane Group Results

1.001.001.001.001.001.00PF, progression factor

1.001.001.001.001.001.00Rp, platoon ratio

0.000.000.000.000.000.00d3, Initial Queue Delay [s]

0.982.970.990.041.510.01d2, Incremental Delay [s]

1.001.001.001.001.001.00I, Upstream Filtering Factor

0.110.110.500.500.500.11k, delay calibration

33.3835.737.753.377.993.41d1, Uniform Delay [s]

3563641153105311781138c, Capacity [veh/h]

170017001800170018001700s, saturation flow rate [veh/h]

0.100.160.250.010.330.02(v / s)_i Volume / Saturation Flow Rate

0.180.180.640.730.660.73g / C, Green / Cycle

161658665966g_i, Effective Green Time [s]

2.002.002.000.002.000.00l2, Clearance Lost Time [s]

2.002.000.000.000.000.00l1_p, Permitted Start-Up Lost Time [s]

4.004.004.004.004.004.00L, Total Lost Time per Cycle [s]

909090909090C, Cycle Length [s]

CCCLCLLane Group

Lane Group Calculations

Scenario 8: 8 PM Year 2023 Cumulative + Project

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

C-17

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Movement, Approach, & Intersection Results

d_M, Delay for Movement [s/veh] 3.42 9.50 9.50 3.41 8.75 8.75 38.71 38.71 38.71 34.36 34.36 34.36

Movement LOS A A A A A A D D D C C C

d_A, Approach Delay [s/veh] 9.12 8.50 38.71 34.36

Approach LOS A A D C

d_I, Intersection Delay [s/veh] 16.89

Intersection LOS B

Intersection V/C 0.565

Other Modes

g_Walk,mi, Effective Walk Time [s] 11.0 11.0 11.0 11.0

M_corner, Corner Circulation Area [ft²/ped] 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

M_CW, Crosswalk Circulation Area [ft²/ped] 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

d_p, Pedestrian Delay [s] 34.67 34.67 34.67 34.67

I_p,int, Pedestrian LOS Score for Intersection 2.319 2.447 1.982 1.916

Crosswalk LOS B B A A

s_b, Saturation Flow Rate of the bicycle lane 2000 2000 2000 2000

c_b, Capacity of the bicycle lane [bicycles/h] 444 444 1156 1156

d_b, Bicycle Delay [s] 27.22 27.22 8.02 8.02

I_b,int, Bicycle LOS Score for Intersection 2.596 2.337 2.005 1.838

Bicycle LOS B B B A

----------------Ring 4

----------------Ring 3

------------8-65Ring 2

------------4-21Ring 1

Sequence

Scenario 8: 8 PM Year 2023 Cumulative + Project

Mesa Court Apartments, Upland

Version 7.00-06

Generated with

C-18

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

 

Exhibit J – Noise Analysis 

 
EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

LO S  A N GE LE S / O R AN G E  C O U N TY / R I V E R S I D E / V E N TU R A/ F R E S N O / O A K L A N D / B AK E R S F I E LD 
31726 Rancho Viejo Road, Suite 218 ▼ San Juan Capistrano, CA 92675 ▼ Tel: (949) 248-8490 ▼ Fax: (949) 248-8499 

 
August 5, 2019 

Mr. Soroush Rahbari, AIA 
Architect 
Designer Projects 
4790 Irvine Boulevard, Suite 105-276 
Irvine, CA 92620 
Work: (949) 552-1211 
Fax: (949) 679-8778 
E-mail: DesignerProjects@Outlook.com 
 
Subject: CalEEMod-Based FHWA Construction Noise Analysis for a Residential Infill 

Project in Upland, California 
 
Dear Mr. Rahbari: 
 
Yorke Engineering, LLC (Yorke) is pleased to provide this letter Noise Analysis report for a 
proposed residential infill project located at 790 Mesa Court in the City of Upland, CA (the City). 
The screening-level Noise Analysis includes background on noise analyses in general, applicable 
regulations/policies for this location, as well as background and construction noise level 
assessment for the proposed Project. For the infill project, this analysis will support a Class 32 
Categorical Exemption from CEQA from the City Planning Department. It will also show that 
noise levels are expected to be below local thresholds during the construction and ongoing 
operation phases. 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
The proposed Project involves the construction of 60 three-story townhomes comprising 11 
separate buildings. Of the 11 buildings, six of them will be 5-unit complexes with a footprint of 
approximately 3,305-square-feet per building, and the remaining five buildings will be 6-unit 
complexes with a footprint of approximately 3,965-square-feet per building. The aggregate 
footprint of the 11 buildings is approximately 39,655-square-feet. The remaining 
77,957-square-feet of the 2.7-acre parcel will consist of parking, asphalt paved driveways, and 
landscaping. Each three-level unit will feature two bedrooms and a two-car garage. The parcel is 
currently partially occupied by an old two-story residential building that will be demolished. 

ASSUMPTIONS 
The following basic assumptions were used in developing the noise estimates for the proposed 
Project using the screening methodology developed by the U.S. Department of Transportation 
Federal Highway Administration (DOT FHWA) at the John A. Volpe National Transportation 
Systems Center and other technical references consistent with California Emissions Estimator 
Model (CalEEMod®) outputs (equipment utilization): 
 CalEEMod® and FHWA defaults were applied to all phases of the Project, unless specified 

in the assumptions. 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019

mailto:DesignerProjects@Outlook.com


790 Mesa Court, Upland, CA 
August 5, 2019 
Page 2 of 11 

  

 Some Project design features including sizes of buildings and features were defined by the 
Applicant or architectural drawings and replaced some CalEEMod® default settings. 

 The default equipment from CalEEMod® for each construction phase, is representative of 
actual construction equipment used during construction. 

 For the construction noise analysis, U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT) equipment 
categories were correlated with CalEEMod® equipment categories as applicable. Notably 
“forklifts”, which did not have a clear classification, were assumed to be the same noise 
level as a “Backhoe (with loader)”. 

 Construction activities will not occur outside of normal daytime working hours. 
 Non-Traffic urban ambient background noise was assumed to be 40 dBA. 

LIST OF TABLES 
The Project analyses and results are summarized in the following tables: 
 Table 1: Land Use Data for CalEEMod Input – 790 Mesa Court, Upland, CA 
 Table 2: Typical Sound Level Characteristics 
 Table 3: Base Ambient Noise Levels (BANL) – Exterior 
 Table 4: Maximum Residential Noise Levels – Exterior 
 Table 5: FHWA Noise Reference Levels and Usage Factors 
 Table 6: Estimated Peak Activity Daytime Noise Impacts 

NOISE IMPACT ANALYSIS 
The Noise Section of Appendix G of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
Guidelines (Environmental Checklist Form) contains noise significance criteria. Where applicable, 
quantitative significance criteria established by the city or county where the proposed Project will 
be located may be relied upon to make significance determinations based on estimated construction 
and operational noise impacts, as determined in this report. 
Project Activity Estimation 
The construction and operation activity analysis was performed using CalEEMod® (California 
Emissions Estimation Model, version 2016.3.2), the official statewide land use computer model 
designed to provide a uniform platform for estimating potential criteria pollutant and GHG 
emissions associated with both construction and operations of land use projects under CEQA. As 
the official assessment methodology for land use projects in California, CalEEMod® was relied 
upon for construction and operational emissions quantification, which also forms the basis for the 
construction noise impact analysis. 
Based on information received from the Applicant, land use data used for CalEEMod® input is 
presented in Table 1. 
  

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



790 Mesa Court, Upland, CA 
August 5, 2019 
Page 3 of 11 

  

Table 1: Land Use Data for CalEEMod Input - 790 Mesa Court, Upland, CA 

Project Element Land Use 
Type 

Land Use 
Subtype 

Unit 
Amount 

Size 
Metric 

Lot 
Acreage 

(footprint) 

Square 
Feet 
(est.) 

Est. 
Pop. 

Townhomes Residential Condo/Townhouse 60.00 1,000 
sq. ft.  0.910 60,000 172 

Parking Lot Parking  Parking Lot 15.30 1,000 
sq. ft.  0.351 15,300 0 

Driveways, Asphalt 
Paving Parking Other Asphalt 

Surfaces 13.40 1,000 
sq. ft.  0.308 13,400 0 

 Landscaping Parking Other Non-
Asphalt Surfaces 49.27 1,000 

sq. ft.  1.131 49,272 0 

Project Site 2.700 137,972 172 

Source: Applicant 2019, CalEEMod version 2016.3.2 

Notes: 

Southern California Edison 

Site Area: 117,612 sq. ft. 

Noise Analysis Methodology 
The screening-level noise analysis for Project construction was based on methodology developed 
by the U.S. Department of Transportation Federal Highway Administration (DOT FHWA) at the 
John A. Volpe National Transportation Systems Center and other technical references consistent 
with CalEEMod® outputs (equipment utilization).  The DOT FHWA methodology uses actual 
noise measurement data collected during the Boston “Big Dig” project (1991-2006) as reference 
levels for a wide variety of construction equipment in common use, such as on the proposed 
Project.  Noise impacts were evaluated against community noise standards contained in the City 
or County General Plan, noise ordinances, or other state or federal agency standards as applicable 
to the vicinity of the Project site. The scope of the screening-level noise study did not include field 
measurements of ambient noise in the vicinity of the Project site. 
For this Project, the Unnecessary Noise section of the City of Upland Municipal Code, Chapter 
9.40 (City 2016) contained applicable evaluation criteria, with additional context provided by the 
City of Upland General Plan Safety Element, Noise Section (City 2015). 
During construction activities, the Project would generate noise due to operation of off-road 
equipment, portable equipment, and vehicles at or near the Project site.  Screening-level Project-
generated noise is evaluated in relation to established thresholds of significance.  Additionally, the 
same methods are used to determine noise impacts on the nearest sensitive receptor. No significant 
increase in operational traffic is expected due to this relatively small project that does not generate 
large quantities of residential or worker commuting vehicle trips. No strong sources of vibrations 
are planned to be used during construction activities. 
The FHWA noise model provides relatively conservative predictions because it does not account 
for site-specific geometry, dimensions of nearby structures, and local environmental conditions 
that can affect sound transmission, reflection, and attenuation. Further, the screening methodology 
assumes that multiple sources (e.g., construction equipment) would be operating simultaneously 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



790 Mesa Court, Upland, CA 
August 5, 2019 
Page 4 of 11 

  

at the same location point, which would not be the case in actual practice.  As a result, actual 
measured sound levels at receptors may vary somewhat from predictions, typically lower. 
Additionally, the impacts of noise upon receptors (persons) are subjective because of differences 
in individual sensitivities and perceptions. 
Environmental Setting 
The proposed Project is near a major urban street (East Foothill Boulevard, Route 66) thus, the 
incremental effect of Project related increased traffic, primarily passenger cars and other light-duty 
vehicles, would not be quantifiable against existing traffic noise (background) in the Project 
vicinity. In addition, San Antonio Community Hospital is 0.1 miles southeast of the Project site, 
which contributes to the urban noise background in the Project area.   
Noise Descriptors 
Noise is typically described as any unwanted or objectionable sound.  Sound is technically 
described in terms of the loudness (amplitude) and frequency (pitch) of the sound.  The standard 
unit of measurement of the loudness of sound is the decibel (dB).  Because the human ear is not 
equally sensitive to sound at all frequencies, a special frequency-dependent rating scale has been 
devised to relate noise to human sensitivity, the A-weighted decibel scale (dBA).  Table 2 below 
lists common sources of sound and their intensities in dBA. 
In most situations, a 3-dBA change in sound pressure is considered a “just-detectable” difference.  
A 5-dBA change (either louder or quieter) is readily noticeable, and 10-dBA change is a doubling 
(if louder) or halving (if quieter) of the subjective loudness.  Sound from a small localized source 
(a “point” source) radiates uniformly outward as it travels away from the source in a spherical 
pattern.  The sound level attenuates (drops off) at a rate of 6 dBA for each doubling of the distance. 
The duration of noise and the time period at which it occurs are important factors in determining 
the impact of noise on sensitive receptors.  A single number called the equivalent continuous noise 
level (Leq) may be used to describe sound that is changing in level.  It is also used to describe the 
acoustic range of the noise source being measured, which is accomplished through the maximum 
Leq (Lmax) and minimum Leq (Lmin) indicators. 
In determining the daily measure of community noise, it is important to account for the difference 
in human response to daytime and nighttime noise.  Noise is more disturbing at night than during 
the day, and noise indices have been developed to account for the varying duration of noise events 
over time, as well as community response to them.  The Community Noise Equivalent Level 
(CNEL) adds a 5-dB penalty to the “nighttime” hourly noise levels (HNLs) (i.e., 7:00 p.m. to 10:00 
p.m.) and the Day-Night Average Level (Ldn) adds a 10-dB penalty to the evening HNLs (Caltrans 
2013, FTA 2006). 
Vibration Descriptors 
Vibration is a unique form of noise because its energy is carried through structures and the earth, 
whereas noise is carried through the air.  Thus, vibration is generally felt rather than heard.  
Typically, ground borne vibration generated by manmade activities attenuates rapidly as distance 
from the source of the vibration increases.  Actual human and structural response to different 
vibration levels is influenced by a combination of factors, including soil type, distance between 
the source and receptor, duration, and the number of perceived events. 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



790 Mesa Court, Upland, CA 
August 5, 2019 
Page 5 of 11 

  

Table 2: Typical Sound Level Characteristics  
Pressure (P) Level 

Sound Level Characteristic 
N/m2 dB 
2000 160 Rocket Launch 
600 150 Military Jet Plane Takeoff 
200 140 Threshold of Pain 
60 130 Commercial Jet Plane Takeoff 
20 120 Industrial Chipper or Punch Press 
6 110 Loud Automobile Horn 
2 100 Passing Diesel Truck – Curb Line 

0.6 90 Factory - Heavy Manufacturing 
0.2 80 Factory - Light Manufacturing 

0.06 70 Open Floor Office – Cubicles 
0.02 60 Conversational Speech 

0.006 50 Private Office – Walled 
0.002 40 Residence in Daytime 

0.0006 30 Bedroom at Night 
0.0002 20 Recording or Broadcasting Studio 

0.00006 10 Threshold of Good Hearing - Adult 
0.00002 0 Threshold of Excellent Hearing - Child 

Sources: Broch 1971, Plog 1988 

Notes: 

dB = 20 Log (P/PO) 

Reference Level PO = 0.00002 N/m2 = 0.0002 µbar 

N/m2 = Newtons per square meter (the Newton is the unit of force derived in the metric system); it is equal to the 
amount of net force required to accelerate one kilogram of mass at a rate of one meter per second squared (1 kg • 
1 m/s2 ) in the direction of the applied force. 

While not a direct health hazard, the energy transmitted through the ground as vibration may result 
in structural damage, which may be costly to repair and dangerous in the event of structural failure.  
To assess the potential for structural damage associated with vibration, the vibratory ground 
motion in the vicinity of the affected structure is measured in terms of point peak velocity/peak 
particle velocity (PPV) in the vertical and horizontal directions (vector sum).  A freight train 
passing at 100 feet may cause PPVs of 0.1 inch per second, while a strong earthquake may produce 
PPVs in the range of 10 inches per second.  Minor cosmetic damage to buildings may begin in the 
range of 0.5 inch per second (Caltrans 2013, FTA 2006). 
Existing Noise Environment 
The Project site is in Upland, San Bernardino County, in a characteristically urban and densely 
populated area subject to noise from local traffic on public streets (East Foothill Boulevard) and 
small power equipment (e.g., lawn mowers, edgers, etc.).  The FHWA noise model and associated 
references puts the expected ambient background noise from known sources at about 47 dBA 
(peak) at the nearest residential and commercial receptors to the proposed Project. This estimate 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



790 Mesa Court, Upland, CA 
August 5, 2019 
Page 6 of 11 

  

is based on traffic on East Foothill Boulevard, as well as a general 40 dBA urban background 
noise. 
Sensitive and Susceptible Receptors 
Some land uses are generally regarded as being more sensitive to noise than others due to the types 
of population groups or activities involved.  Sensitive population groups include children and the 
elderly. Other sensitive land uses generally include hospitals, schools, child care facilities, senior 
facilities, libraries, churches, and parks. 
Consistent with Localized Significance Thresholds (SCAQMD 2008), the nearest sensitive 
receptors to the Project site as modeled are residences approximately 25 meters (80 feet) north and 
west of the outside portions of the construction zone, and a senior care (assisted living) facility 
east of the outside portions of the construction zone. Similarly, the nearest susceptible commercial 
receptor, a medical office building, is approximately 25 meters (80 feet) south of the outside 
portions of the construction zone.  
All construction activities would be short-term (i.e., temporary). All construction work is planned 
to be conducted during daytime hours only; no nighttime work is planned to be performed.  Upon 
completion of construction, temporary generation of noise would permanently cease. Due to the 
relatively small size of the proposed Project, no significant additional long-term traffic is expected, 
and therefore no additional Project-related noise is expected over the long term. 
Regulatory Setting 
California 
The State of California does not promulgate statewide standards for environmental noise but 
requires each city and county to include a noise element in its general plan [California Government 
Code Section 65302(f)].  In addition, Title 4 of the CCR has guidelines for evaluating the 
compatibility of various land uses as a function of community noise exposure.  In general, the 
guidelines require that community noise standards: 
 Protect residents from the harmful and annoying effects of exposure to excessive noise; 
 Prevent incompatible land uses from encroaching upon existing or programmed land uses 

likely to create significant noise impacts; and 
 Encourage the application of state-of-the-art land use planning methodologies in the area 

of managing and minimizing potential noise conflicts. 
Construction vibration is regulated at the state level in accordance with standards established by 
the Transportation and Construction-Induced Vibration Guidance Manual issued by Caltrans in 
2004.  Continuous sources include the use of vibratory compaction equipment and other 
construction equipment that creates vibration other than in single events.  Transient sources create 
a single isolated vibration event, such as blasting.  Thresholds for continuous sources are 0.5 and 
0.1 inch per second PPV for structural damage and annoyance, respectively.  Thresholds for 
transient sources are 1.0 and 0.9 PPV for structural damage and annoyance, respectively (Caltrans 
2013). 
  

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



790 Mesa Court, Upland, CA 
August 5, 2019 
Page 7 of 11 

  

City of Upland Municipal Code Unnecessary Noise Section  
Per the Unnecessary Noise section of the City of Upland Municipal Code (2019), Tables 3 and 4 
show the Base Ambient Noise Levels and Maximum Residential Noise Levels, i.e., standards, 
respectively. The Municipal Code clearly states that noise impacts would be considered potentially 
significant if noise is increased by 20 dBA above the Base Ambient Noise Level (BANL) at any 
time, and 15 dBA for any one minute in any hour (peak).  For unspecified (other) land uses the 
BANL is listed as 65 dBA. 
The Municipal Code limits construction and building repair activities to the hours of 7:00 a.m. to 
6:00 p.m. on weekdays with a valid building permit. However, no unacceptable-level thresholds 
are established in the Municipal Code specifically for these activities. Therefore, the normally 
unacceptable threshold for construction and building repair is assumed to be 15 dBA above the 
unspecified land use BANL of 65 dBA, which yields a construction threshold of 80 dBA in any 
one minute of any hour (peak) between the hours of 7:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. on weekdays. Similarly, 
for pre- and post-project residential operation, the normally unacceptable threshold is 55 dBA plus 
15 dBA, or 70 dBA (peak) during daytime hours.  

Table 3: Base Ambient Noise Levels (BANL) ― Exterior 

Land Use Time of Day Interval Maximum Exterior Noise Level 
(dBA CNEL) 

Residential (operational) 
7 a.m. to 10 p.m. 55 
10 p.m. to 7 a.m. 45 

Uses Not Specified (other) Anytime 65 
Industrial and Commercial (operational) Any time 75 

Source: City 2016 

 
Table 4: Maximum Residential Noise Levels ― Exterior 

Amount of Time Noise Levels Can Exceed Base 
Values in Any 1-Hour Period 

Allowable dBA Above the Base Ambient Noise 
Level (BANL) 

30 Minutes BANL 
15 Minutes 5 
5 Minutes 10 
1 Minute 15 

Not Permitted 20 
Source: City 2016 

Results 
Use of off-road equipment, on-road vehicles, and portable equipment would generate noise due to 
engine mechanicals, engine exhaust, driveline mechanicals, shaft-driven devices and accessories, 
hydraulics operation, ground friction and displacement, and gravity drops (dumping, unloading).  
Since no intense percussive actions (strikes, impacts) would occur during the site work, no strong 
vibrations are planned to be generated that could affect nearby structures. 
  

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



790 Mesa Court, Upland, CA 
August 5, 2019 
Page 8 of 11 

  

The Project is expected to require about 14 months of planned work activities comprising six 
construction phases: 

1) Demolition 
2) Site Preparation; 
3) Grading; 
4) Building construction; 
5) Paving; and 
6) Architectural coating. 

Deviations from this schedule would not affect the noise analysis because noise does not persist 
or accumulate in the environment. 
Types of equipment (FHWA 2006) to be used during the Project and noise-emitting characteristics 
(i.e., usage factors, reference dBA at 15 meters, and percussive source) are shown in Table 5 
consistent with CalEEMod® outputs. 

Table 5: FHWA Noise Reference Levels and Usage Factors 

CalEEMod Construction Detail  
FHWA Equipment Type Ref. 

 Usage 
Factor 

Ref. 
Level 

Phase 
Name Equipment Description Qty. percent  dBA 

Demolition 
(1) 

Concrete/Industrial Saws 1 Concrete Saw 1 20% 90 

Rubber Tired Dozers 1 Tractor [or Skidder] (rubber tire) 1 40% 84 

Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes 3 Backhoe (with loader) 1 40% 80 

Site 
Preparation 

(2) 

Graders 1 Grader 1 40% 85 

Scrapers 1 Scraper 1 40% 85 

Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes 1 Backhoe (with loader) 1 40% 80 

Grading (3) 

Graders 1 Scraper 1 40% 85 

Rubber Tired Dozers 1 Tractor [or Skidder] (rubber tire) 1 40% 84 

Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes 2 Backhoe (with loader) 1 40% 80 

Building 
Construction 

(4) 

Cranes 1 Crane 1 16% 85 

Forklifts 2 Backhoe (with loader) 1 40% 80 

Generator Sets 1 Generator (general purpose utility) 1 50% 82 

Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes 1 Backhoe (with loader) 1 40% 80 

Welders 3 Welding [or Cutting] Torch 1 40% 73 

Paving (5) 

Cement and Mortar Mixers 1 Drum Mixer 1 50% 80 

Pavers 1 Paver (asphalt) 1 50% 85 

Paving Equipment 1 Pavement Scarifier 1 20% 85 

Rollers 2 Roller 1 20% 85 

Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes 1 Backhoe (with loader) 1 40% 80 
Architectural 
Coating (6) Air Compressors 1 Compressor (air) 1 40% 80 

Source: CalEEMod v 2016.3.2, FHWA 2006 

 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



790 Mesa Court, Upland, CA 
August 5, 2019 
Page 9 of 11 

  

Tables 6 shows a comparison of FHWA screening-level estimated daytime exterior noise impacts 
for peak daytime construction activities at the designated residential and commercial receptors 
versus the noise thresholds outlined in the Municipal Code. If the thresholds are not exceeded, then 
the proposed Project should be considered acceptable. 
 

Table 6: Estimated Peak Activity Daytime Noise Impacts – Exterior 

Construction Phases 

Normal Acceptance Criteria 

Modeled Noise 
Level (L02 dBA)a, b 

CalEEMod 
Duration (days) 

Normally 
Unacceptable 

Threshold (dBA)c 

Exceeds 
Threshold 
(Yes/No)? 

Pre-Project Background (0) 47 ― 70 No 
Demolition (1) 77 20 80 No 

Site Preparation (2) 75 5 80 No 
Grading (3) 76 10 80 No 

Building Construction (4) 75 220 80 No 
Paving (5) 77 20 80 No 

Architectural Coating (6) 67 20 80 No 
Post-Project Background (7) 47 ― 70 No 
Sources: CalEEMod v2013.2.2, FHWA 2006, Broch 1971, Plog 1988, City 2016 

Notes: 
a Includes existing street traffic and ambient noise sources 
b L02 - maximum noise level at any minute in any hour (1.67% of time) at 25 meters 
c Refer to applicable city or county general plan noise element or noise ordinance 

Discussion 
Under the Municipal Code, peak daytime construction noise impacts should not exceed 80 dBA in 
any one minute of any hour. As shown in Table 6, these thresholds should not be exceeded at either 
sensitive residential or susceptible commercial receptors. Thus, the proposed Project would be in 
compliance with the standards. Additionally, all construction noise is expected to take place during 
the least sensitive times of day, i.e., weekday business and school hours, and would permanently 
cease upon project completion. (City 2016) 
When considering the senior care/assisted living facility adjacent to the Project site, construction 
noise impacts will be further mitigated, at a minimum, by single-pane windows and insulating 
window coverings. When closed, these types of windows typically have a minimum Outside-
Inside Transmission Class (OITC) rating of 25.  This further attenuation feature (about 17-19 dBA 
at lower frequencies; about 20-35 dBA at higher frequencies) will provide acceptable interior noise 
levels. (Viracon 2018) 
Operational noise from the proposed Project is expected to be less than significant as well. No 
significant sources of stationary noise are expected to be implemented such as engines, or 
machinery. As determined with CalEEMod®, the estimated the number of light-duty vehicle trips 
per day for the proposed Project is not expected to exceed 500 vehicle trips per day on average. 
The post-project background noise – caused mainly by traffic on East Foothill Boulevard – would 
remain virtually the same as pre-project background noise consistent with General Plan limits of 
65 dBA CNEL for multi-family residential land uses. (City 2015)     

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



790 Mesa Court, Upland, CA 
August 5, 2019 
Page 10 of 11 

  

PROJECTED IMPACT: Less Than Significant 
ADDITIONAL MITIGATION: None Required 

CLOSING 
Thank you very much for the opportunity to be of assistance to the Designer Projects and Powers 
Design & Development. Should you have any questions, please contact me at (805) 293-7967 or 
Cyril Jose at (949) 201-3806. 
Sincerely, 

 
Bradford Boyes, BSEnvE, MBA, QEP | Ventura Office 
Senior Engineer 
Yorke Engineering, LLC 
BBoyes@YorkeEngr.com 
 
cc: Brian Yorke, Yorke Engineering, LLC 
 
Enclosures/Attachments: 

  

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019

mailto:BBoyes@YorkeEngr.com


790 Mesa Court, Upland, CA 
August 5, 2019 
Page 11 of 11 

  

REFERENCES 
Broch, Jens.  1971.  Acoustic Noise Measurements.  Bruel & Kjaer. 
California Department of Transportation (Caltrans).  2013.  Transportation and Construction Vibration 
Guidance Manual.  Website (http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/env/noise/pub/TCVGM_Sep13_FINAL.pdf) 
accessed July 30, 2019. 
California Emissions Estimation Model (CalEEMod®). 2016. Version 2016.3.2. Website 
(http://www.caleemod.com/) accessed July 30, 2019. 
City of Upland (City). 2016. Upland Municipal Code, Title 9, Chapter 9.40 - Unnecessary Noise. 
Website (https://qcode.us/codes/upland/view.php?topic=9-9_40) accessed July 30, 2019. 
City of Upland (City). 2015. General Plan – Safety Element, Noise Section. Website 
(https://www.ci.upland.ca.us/uploads/ftp/city_departments/development_services/planning/gener
al_plan_map/pdfs/09_Safety%20Element.pdf) ) accessed July 30, 2019. 
Plog, Barbara, Ed.  1988.  Fundamentals of Industrial Hygiene – 3rd Edition, National Safety 
Council. 
South Coast Air Quality Management District (SCAQMD). 2008. Localized Significance 
Threshold Methodology. Website (http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-
source/ceqa/handbook/localized-significance-thresholds/final-lst-methodology-
document.pdf?sfvrsn=2) accessed July 30, 2019. 
U.S. Department of Transportation – Federal Highway Administration (FHWA).  2006.  
Roadway Construction Noise Model User’s Guide.  Website 
(https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/Environment/noise/construction_noise/rcnm/) accessed July 30, 2019. 
U.S. Department of Transportation – Federal Transit Authority (FTA).  2006.  Transit Noise and 
Vibration Impact Assessment.  Website 
(https://www.transit.dot.gov/sites/fta.dot.gov/files/docs/FTA_Noise_and_Vibration_Manual.pdf) 
accessed July 30, 2019. 
Viracon. 2018. Acoustic Performance Data Tables. Website 
(http://www.viracon.com/pdf/ViraconAcousticPerfDataTables.pdf) accessed July 30, 2019.

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019

http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/env/noise/pub/TCVGM_Sep13_FINAL.pdf
http://www.caleemod.com/
https://qcode.us/codes/upland/view.php?topic=9-9_40
https://www.ci.upland.ca.us/uploads/ftp/city_departments/development_services/planning/general_plan_map/pdfs/09_Safety%20Element.pdf
https://www.ci.upland.ca.us/uploads/ftp/city_departments/development_services/planning/general_plan_map/pdfs/09_Safety%20Element.pdf
http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-source/ceqa/handbook/localized-significance-thresholds/final-lst-methodology-document.pdf?sfvrsn=2
http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-source/ceqa/handbook/localized-significance-thresholds/final-lst-methodology-document.pdf?sfvrsn=2
http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-source/ceqa/handbook/localized-significance-thresholds/final-lst-methodology-document.pdf?sfvrsn=2
https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/Environment/noise/construction_noise/rcnm/
https://www.transit.dot.gov/sites/fta.dot.gov/files/docs/FTA_Noise_and_Vibration_Manual.pdf
http://www.viracon.com/pdf/ViraconAcousticPerfDataTables.pdf


 
 
 
 

  

 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

 

Exhibit K – Air Quality Analysis 

 
EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

LO S  A N GE LE S / O R AN G E  C O U N TY / R I V E R S I D E / V E N TU R A/ F R E S N O / O A K L A N D / B AK E R S F I E LD 
31726 Rancho Viejo Road, Suite 218 ▼ San Juan Capistrano, CA 92675 ▼ Tel: (949) 248-8490 ▼ Fax: (949) 248-8499 

 
May 29, 2019 

Mr. Soroush Rahbari, AIA 
Architect 
Designer Projects 
4790 Irvine Boulevard, Suite 105-276 
Irvine, CA 92620 
Work: (949) 552-1211 
Fax: (949) 679-8778 
E-mail: DesignerProjects@Outlook.com 
 
Subject: CalEEMod Air Quality, Greenhouse Gas, and Localized Significance Analysis 

for a Class 32 Residential Infill Project in Upland, CA 
 
Dear Mr. Rahbari: 
 
Yorke Engineering, LLC (Yorke) is pleased to provide this letter Air Quality (AQ) and Greenhouse 
Gas (GHG) Report. This AQ/GHG Report includes CalEEMod emissions estimates, criteria 
pollutant analysis, and GHG analysis for the proposed residential infill project located at 790 Mesa 
Court in the City of Upland, CA (the City).  The proposed project will consist of 60 townhome 
apartments on 2.7 acres of land.  For this low-rise, multi-family land use, a traffic analysis was 
performed by an independent consultant using Institute of Traffic Engineers (ITE) Code 220.  The 
traffic analysis results provided with the request for proposal (RFP) were incorporated into the 
analyses described below.  For the infill project, this analysis will support a Class 32 Categorical 
Exemption from CEQA from the City Planning Department. 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
The project site is located within the jurisdiction of the South Coast Air Quality Management 
District (SCAQMD, or District). The proposed project involves the construction of 60 three-story 
townhomes comprising 11 separate buildings. Of the 11 buildings, six of them are 5-unit 
complexes with a footprint of approximately 3,305-square-feet per building, and the remaining 
five buildings are 6-unit complexes with a footprint of approximately 3,965-square-feet per 
building. The aggregate footprint of the 11 buildings is approximately 39,655-square-feet. The 
remaining 77,957-square-feet of the 2.7-acre parcel will consist of parking, asphalt paved 
driveways, and landscaping. Each three-level unit will feature two bedrooms and a two-car garage. 
The parcel is currently partially occupied by an old two-story residential building that will be 
demolished.  

ASSUMPTIONS 
The following basic assumptions were used in developing the emission estimates for the proposed 
project using the California Emissions Estimator Model® (CalEEMod): 

 Some project design features including size of some building features were defined by 
the Applicant. 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019

mailto:DesignerProjects@Outlook.com


790 Mesa Court, Upland, CA 
May 29, 2019 
Page 2 of 12 

  

 Some Project design features such as existing building size, existing pavements size, 
and parking lot sizes were determined using Google Earth® measurement tools or 
approximated using the architect’s drawings. 

 Default construction equipment horsepower ratings and load factors contained in 
CalEEMod were applied to all phases of the project. 

 Construction site watering for fugitive dust control was set to three times daily. Street 
sweeping around the construction site was assumed to control track-out dust. These 
measures substantially reduce fugitive dust impacts. 

 Consumer product usage as applicable to land use. 
 Energy efficiency and water conservation measures generally required by codes are 

implemented. 
 The parking was assumed to be unenclosed, outdoor parking. 
 It was assumed that building coatings (e.g. primer, paint, window coatings etc.) will be 

applied over no less than 20 days. 
 There is no earthen material being imported or exported from the project site. 
 The default equipment from CalEEMod for each construction phase, is representative 

of actual construction equipment used during construction. 
 The independent traffic analysis was performed using Institute of Traffic Engineers 

(ITE) Code 220 and the results were incorporated into CalEEMod® by modifying the 
default daily trip rates for Condominiums/Townhouses to match. 

 It is assumed that no hearths are included in the townhomes for safety. 
 For the SCAQMD’s Localized Significance Threshold (LST), operational PM10 and 

PM2.5 emissions from mobile sources are assumed to impact only within one mile of 
the Project site. 

LIST OF TABLES 
The project analyses and results are summarized in the following tables: 

 Table 1: Land Use Data for CalEEMod Input – 790 Mesa Court, Upland, CA 
 Table 2: SCAQMD CEQA Thresholds of Significance 
 Table 3: Construction Emissions Summary and Significance Evaluation 
 Table 4: Operational Emissions Summary and Significance Evaluation 
 Table 5: Construction Localized Significance Threshold Evaluation 
 Table 6: Operational Localized Significance Threshold Evaluation 
 Table 7: Greenhouse Gas Emissions Summary and Significance Evaluation 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



790 Mesa Court, Upland, CA 
May 29, 2019 
Page 3 of 12 

  

AIR QUALITY AND GREENHOUSE GAS IMPACTS ANALYSES 
The Air Quality Section of Appendix G of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
Guidelines (Environmental Checklist Form) contains air quality and GHG significance criteria. 
Where applicable, quantitative significance criteria established by the local air quality 
management district (AQMD) or air pollution control district (APCD) may be relied upon to make 
significance determinations based on mass emissions of criteria pollutants and GHGs, as 
determined in this report. 
Project Emissions Estimation 
The construction and operation analysis was performed using CalEEMod® (California Emissions 
Estimation Model, version 2016.3.2), the official statewide land use computer model designed to 
provide a uniform platform for estimating potential criteria pollutant and GHG emissions 
associated with both construction and operations of land use projects under CEQA. The model 
quantifies direct emissions from construction and operations (including vehicle use), as well as 
indirect emissions, such as GHG emissions from energy use, solid waste disposal, vegetation 
planting and/or removal, and water use. The mobile source emission factors used in the model –
published by the California Air Resources Board (CARB) – include the Pavley standards and Low 
Carbon Fuel standards. The model also identifies project design features, regulatory measures, and 
mitigation measures to reduce criteria pollutant and GHG emissions along with calculating the 
benefits achieved from the selected measures. CalEEMod was developed by the California Air 
Pollution Control Officers Association (CAPCOA) in collaboration with the SCAQMD, the Bay 
Area Air Quality Management District (BAAQMD), the San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control 
District (SJVAPCD), and other California air districts. Default land use data (e.g., emission factors, 
trip lengths, meteorology, source inventory, etc.) were provided by the various California air 
districts to account for local requirements and conditions. As the official assessment methodology 
for land use projects in California, CalEEMod is relied upon herein for construction and 
operational emissions quantification, which forms the basis for the impact analysis. 
Based on information received from the Applicant, and information collected on Google Earth® 
land use data used for CalEEMod input is presented in Table 1. The SCAQMD quantitative 
significance thresholds shown in Table 2 were used to evaluate project emissions impacts 
(SCAQMD 2019). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



790 Mesa Court, Upland, CA 
May 29, 2019 
Page 4 of 12 

  

Table 1: Land Use Data for CalEEMod Input - 790 Mesa Court, Upland, CA 

Project 
Element 

Land Use 
Type Land Use Subtype Unit 

Amount 
Size 

Metric 
Lot Acreage 
(footprint) 

Square 
Feet 
(est.) 

Est. 
Pop. 

Townhomes Residential Condo/Townhouse 60.00 1,000 
sq. ft.  0.910 60,000 172 

Parking Lot Parking  Parking Lot 15.30 1,000 
sq. ft.  0.351 15,300 0  

Driveways, 
Asphalt Paving Parking Other Asphalt 

Surfaces 13.40 1,000 
sq. ft.  0.308 13,400 0  

 Landscaping Parking Other Non-Asphalt 
Surfaces 49.27 1,000 

sq. ft.  1.131 49,272 0 

Project Site 2.700 137,972 172 

Source: Applicant 2019, CalEEMod version 2016.3.2 

Notes: 

Southern California Edison 

Climate Zone 10 

SRA -Upland-32 

1 acre = 43,560 sf 

 
  

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



790 Mesa Court, Upland, CA 
May 29, 2019 
Page 5 of 12 

  

 
Table 2: SCAQMD CEQA Thresholds of Significance 

Pollutant 
Project Construction Project Operation 

lbs/day lbs/day 
ROG (VOC) 75 55 

NOX 100 55 
CO 550 550 
SOX 150 150 
PM10 150 150 
PM2.5 55 55 

24-hour PM2.5 Increment 10.4 µg/m3 2.5 µg/m3 
24-hour PM10 Increment 10.4 µg/m3 2.5 µg/m3 
Annual PM10 Increment 1.0 µg/m3 annual average 
1-hour NO2 Increment 0.18 ppm (state) 
Annual NO2 Increment 0.03 ppm (state) & 0.0534 ppm (federal) 
1-hour SO2 Increment 0.25 ppm (state) & 0.075 ppm (federal – 99th percentile) 

24-hour SO2 Increment 0.04 ppm (state) 
24-hour Sulfate Increment 25 ug/m3 (state) 

1-hour CO Increment 20 ppm (state) & 35 ppm (federal) 
8-hour CO Increment 9.0 ppm (state/federal) 

Toxic Air Contaminants (including carcinogens 
and non-carcinogens) 

Maximum Incremental Cancer Risk ≥10 in 1 million 
Cancer Burden >0.5 excess cancer cases (in areas ≥1 in 1 

million) 
Chronic & Acute Hazard Index ≥1.0 (project increment) 

Odor  Project creates an odor nuisance pursuant to Rule 402 

Greenhouse Gases 
10,000 MT/yr CO2e for industrial facilities  

3,000 MT/yr CO2e for land use projects (draft proposal) 
Source: SCAQMD 2019, 2008b 

 
Criteria Pollutants from Project Construction 
A project’s construction phase produces many types of emissions, but PM10 (including PM2.5) in 
fugitive dust and diesel engine exhaust are the pollutants of greatest concern. Fugitive dust 
emissions can result from a variety of construction activities, including excavation, grading, 
demolition, vehicle travel on paved and unpaved surfaces, and vehicle exhaust. Construction-
related emissions can cause substantial increases in localized concentrations of PM10, as well as 
affecting PM10 compliance with ambient air quality standards on a regional basis. Particulate 
emissions from construction activities can lead to adverse health effects as well as nuisance 
concerns such as reduced visibility and soiling of exposed surfaces. The use of diesel-powered 
construction equipment emits ozone precursors oxides of nitrogen (NOx) and reactive organic 
gases (ROG), and diesel particulate matter (DPM), the latter being a composite of toxic air 
contaminants (TACs) containing a variety of hazardous substances. Large construction projects 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



790 Mesa Court, Upland, CA 
May 29, 2019 
Page 6 of 12 

  

using multiple large earthmoving equipment are evaluated to determine if operations may exceed 
the District’s daily threshold for NOx emissions and could temporarily expose area residents to 
hazardous levels of DPM. Use of architectural coatings and other materials associated with 
finishing buildings may also emit ROG and TACs. CEQA significance thresholds address the 
impacts of construction activity emissions on local and regional air quality. Thresholds are also 
provided for other potential impacts related to project construction, such as odors and TACs. 
The SCAQMD’s approach to CEQA analyses of fugitive dust impacts is to require implementation 
of effective and comprehensive dust control measures rather than to require detailed quantification 
of emissions. PM10 emitted during construction can vary greatly depending on the level of activity, 
the specific operations taking place, the equipment being operated, local soils, weather conditions, 
and other factors, making quantification difficult. Despite this variability in emissions, experience 
has shown that there are several feasible control measures that can be reasonably implemented to 
significantly reduce fugitive dust emissions from construction. For larger projects, the SCAQMD 
has determined that compliance with an approved fugitive dust control plan comprising Best 
Management Practices (BMPs), primarily through frequent water application, constitutes 
sufficient mitigation to reduce PM10 impacts to a level considered less than significant. 
Criteria Pollutants from Project Operation 
The term “project operations” refers to the full range of activities that can or may generate criteria 
pollutant, GHG, and TAC emissions when the project is functioning in its intended use. For 
projects, such as office parks, shopping centers, apartment buildings, residential subdivisions, and 
other indirect sources, motor vehicles traveling to and from the project represents the primary 
source of air pollutant emissions. For industrial projects and some commercial projects, equipment 
operation and manufacturing processes, i.e., permitted stationary sources, can be of greatest 
concern from an emissions standpoint. CEQA significance thresholds address the impacts of 
operational emission sources on local and regional air quality. Thresholds are also provided for 
other potential impacts related to project operations, such as odors. 
Results of Criteria Emissions Analyses 
Table 3 shows unmitigated and mitigated criteria construction emissions and evaluates mitigated 
emissions against SCAQMD significance thresholds. 
Table 4 shows unmitigated and mitigated criteria operational emissions and evaluates mitigated 
emissions against SCAQMD significance thresholds. 
As shown in Tables 3 and 4, mass emissions of criteria pollutants from construction and operation 
are below applicable SCAQMD significance thresholds, i.e., Less Than Significant (LTS). 
PROJECTED IMPACT: Less Than Significant 
ADDITIONAL MITIGATION: None required  
  

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



790 Mesa Court, Upland, CA 
May 29, 2019 
Page 7 of 12 

  

Table 3: Construction Emissions Summary and Significance Evaluation 
Criteria 

Pollutants 
Unmitigated Mitigated Threshold 

Significance 
lbs/day lbs/day lbs/day 

ROG (VOC) 20.1 20.1 75 LTS 
NOX 21.5 21.5 100 LTS 
CO 18.5 18.5 550 LTS 
SOX 0.0 0.0 150 LTS 

Total PM10 7.4 3.5 150 LTS 
Total PM2.5 4.3 2.2 55 LTS 

Sources: SCAQMD 2019, CalEEMod version 2016.3.2 

Notes: 

lbs/day are winter or summer maxima for planned land use 

Total PM10 / PM2.5 comprises fugitive dust plus engine exhaust 

LTS - Less Than Significant 
     

Table 4: Operational Emissions Summary and Significance Evaluation 
Criteria 

Pollutants 
Unmitigated Mitigated Threshold 

Significance 
lbs/day lbs/day lbs/day 

ROG (VOC) 18.0 2.2 55 LTS 
NOX 5.4 3.7 55 LTS 
CO 45.2 13.0 550 LTS 
SOX 0.1 0.0 150 LTS 

Total PM10 7.7 2.4 150 LTS 
Total PM2.5 5.5 0.7 55 LTS 

Sources: SCAQMD 2019, CalEEMod version 2016.3.2 

Notes: 

lbs/day are winter or summer maxima for planned land use 

Total PM10 / PM2.5 comprises fugitive dust plus engine exhaust 

LTS - Less Than Significant 

   

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



790 Mesa Court, Upland, CA 
May 29, 2019 
Page 8 of 12 

  

Localized Significance Threshold Analysis 
The SCAQMD’s Localized Significance Threshold (LST) methodology (2008a) was used to 
analyze the neighborhood scale impacts of NOX, CO, PM10, and PM2.5 associated with project-
specific mass emissions. Introduced in 2003, the LST methodology was revised in 2008 to include 
the PM2.5 significance threshold methodology and update the LST mass rate lookup tables for the 
new 1-hour NO2 standard. 
For determining localized air quality impacts from small projects in a defined geographic source-
receptor area (SRA), the LST methodology provides mass emission rate lookup tables for 1-acre, 
2-acre, and 5-acre parcels by SRA. The tabulated LSTs represent the maximum mass emissions 
from a project that will not cause or contribute to an exceedance of state or national ambient air 
quality standards (CAAQS or NAAQS) for the above pollutants and were developed based on 
ambient concentrations of these pollutants for each SRA in the South Coast Air Basin. (SCAQMD 
2008a) 
A construction LST analysis was performed, and the results are shown in Table 5. 
Since land use operational emissions – mainly from associated traffic – are dispersed over a wide 
area, localized impacts from project operation are generally lower than during project construction. 
However, an Operational LST analysis was also performed with the results shown in Table 6.  
The proposed project site is 2.7 acres in source-receptor area Zone 32 – Upland, thus the 2-acre 
screening lookup tables were used to evaluate NOx, CO, PM10, and PM2.5 impacts on nearby 
receptors. The impact evaluation was performed using the closest, most conservative, distance of 
25 meters to the nearest receptor. (SCAQMD 2008a) 
Results of Localized Significance Threshold Analysis 
The LST results provided in Tables 5 and 6 show that on-site emissions from construction and 
operations would meet the LST passing criteria at the nearest receptors (25 meters). Thus, impacts 
would be less than significant. 
PROJECTED IMPACT: Less Than Significant 
ADDITIONAL MITIGATION: None required  
 
 
 
 
  

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



790 Mesa Court, Upland, CA 
May 29, 2019 
Page 9 of 12 

  

Table 5: Construction Localized Significance Threshold Evaluation 

Criteria Pollutants 
Mitigated Threshold Percent of 

Threshold Result 
lbs/day lbs/day 

NOX 21.5 170 13% Pass 
CO 18.5 1,232 2% Pass 

PM10 3.5 6 59% Pass 
PM2.5 2.2 5 45% Pass 

Sources: SCAQMD 2008a, CalEEMod version 2016.3.2 

Notes: 

Source-receptor area -Upland- Zone 32 

2-acre area, 25 meters to receptor 
     

Table 6: Operations Localized Significance Threshold Evaluation 

Criteria Pollutants 
Mitigated Threshold Percent of 

Threshold Result 
lbs/day lbs/day 

NOX 3.7 170 2% Pass 
CO 13.0 1,232 1% Pass 

PM10 0.3 2 14% Pass 
PM2.5 0.1 2 6% Pass 

Sources: SCAQMD 2008a, CalEEMod version 2016.3.2 

Notes: 

Source-receptor area -Upland- Zone 32 

2-acre area, 25 meters to receptor 

Mobile source PM10 and PM2.5 calculated within 1 mile of project for LST 

 
Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Construction and Operation 
Greenhouse gases – primarily carbon dioxide (CO2), methane (CH4), and nitrous (N2O) oxide, 
collectively reported as carbon dioxide equivalents (CO2e) – are directly emitted from stationary 
source combustion of natural gas in equipment such as water heaters, boilers, process heaters, and 
furnaces. GHGs are also emitted from mobile sources such as onroad vehicles and offroad 
construction equipment burning fuels such as gasoline, diesel, biodiesel, propane, or natural gas 
(compressed or liquefied). Indirect GHG emissions result from electric power generated elsewhere 
(i.e., power plants) used to operate process equipment, lighting, and utilities at a facility. Also, 
included in GHG quantification is electric power used to pump the water supply (e.g., aqueducts, 
wells, pipelines) and disposal and decomposition of municipal waste in landfills. (CARB 2008) 
California's Building Energy Efficiency Standards are updated on an approximately three-year 
cycle. The 2016 standards improved upon the 2013 standards for new construction of, and 
additions and alterations to, residential, commercial, and industrial buildings. The 2016 standards 
went into effect on January 1, 2017 (CEC 2017). 
Since the Title 24 standards require energy conservation features in new construction (e.g., high-
efficiency lighting, high-efficiency heating, ventilating, and air-conditioning (HVAC) systems, 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



790 Mesa Court, Upland, CA 
May 29, 2019 
Page 10 of 12 

  

thermal insulation, double-glazed windows, water conserving plumbing fixtures, etc.), they 
indirectly regulate and reduce GHG emissions. 
Using CalEEMod, direct onsite and offsite GHG emissions were estimated for construction and 
operation, and indirect offsite GHG emissions were estimated to account for electric power used 
by the proposed project, water conveyance, and solid waste disposal. 
Results of Greenhouse Gas Emissions Analyses 
The SCAQMD officially adopted an industrial facility mass emissions threshold of 10,000 metric 
tons (MT) CO2e per year (SCAQMD 2019) and has proposed a residential/commercial mass 
emissions threshold of 3,000 metric tons (MT) CO2e per year. (SCAQMD 2008b) 
Table 7 shows unmitigated and mitigated GHG emissions and evaluates mitigated emissions 
against SCAQMD significance thresholds. Operational mitigation measures incorporate typical 
code-required energy and water conservation features. Off-site traffic impacts are included in these 
emissions estimates, along with construction emissions amortized over 30 years. 
As shown in Table 7, mitigated GHG emissions are below the proposed GHG significance 
threshold for industrial projects, i.e., Less Than Significant (LTS). 
PROJECTED IMPACT: Less Than Significant 
ADDITIONAL MITIGATION: None required 
 

Table 7: Greenhouse Gas Emissions Summary and Significance Evaluation 

Greenhouse Gases 
Unmitigated Mitigated Threshold 

Significance 
MT/yr MT/yr MT/yr 

CO2 812 681 — — 
CH4 0.51 0.49 — — 
N2O 0.01 0.01 — — 
CO2e 827 695 3,000 LTS 

Sources: SCAQMD 2008b, CalEEMod version 2016.3.2 

Notes: 

Comprises annual operational emissions plus construction emissions amortized over 30 years 

LTS - Less Than Significant 

LTSM - Less Than Significant with Mitigation Incorporated 

PS - Potentially Significant 

 
  

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



790 Mesa Court, Upland, CA 
May 29, 2019 
Page 11 of 12 

  

CLOSING 
Thank you very much for the opportunity to be of assistance to Designer Projects. Should you have 
any questions, please contact me at (805) 293-7867 or Cyril Jose at (949) 201-3806. 
Sincerely, 

 
Bradford Boyes, BSEnvE, MBA, QEP | Ventura Office 
Senior Engineer 
Yorke Engineering, LLC 
BBoyes@YorkeEngr.com 
 
cc: Brian Yorke, Yorke Engineering, LLC 
 
Enclosures/Attachments: 

1. CalEEMod Outputs 
  

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019

mailto:BBoyes@YorkeEngr.com


790 Mesa Court, Upland, CA 
May 29, 2019 
Page 12 of 12 

  

AIR QUALITY AND GHG REFERENCES 
California Air Resources Board (CARB). 2008. Climate Change Scoping Plan. Website 
(http://www.arb.ca.gov/cc/scopingplan/document/scopingplandocument.htm) accessed May 28, 
2019. 
California Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery (CalRecycle). 2016. Solid Waste 
Cleanup Program Weights and Volumes for Project Estimates. Website 
(https://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/swfacilities/cdi/Tools/Calculations) accessed May 28, 2019. 
California Emissions Estimation Model (CalEEMod™). 2016. Version 2016.3.2. Website 
(http://www.caleemod.com/) accessed May 28, 2019. 
California Energy Commission (CEC). 2017. Building Energy Efficiency Program. Website 
(http://www.energy.ca.gov/title24/) accessed May 28, 2019. 
South Coast Air Quality Management District (SCAQMD). 2019. Air Quality Significance 
Thresholds. Website (http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-source/ceqa/handbook/scaqmd-air-
quality-significance-thresholds.pdf?sfvrsn=2) accessed May 28, 2019. 
South Coast Air Quality Management District (SCAQMD). 2008a. Localized Significance 
Threshold Methodology. Website (http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-
source/ceqa/handbook/localized-significance-thresholds/final-lst-methodology-
document.pdf?sfvrsn=2) accessed May 28, 2019. 
South Coast Air Quality Management District (SCAQMD). 2008b. Interim CEQA GHG 
Significance Threshold for Stationary Sources, Rules and Plans. Website 
(http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-source/ceqa/handbook/greenhouse-gases-(ghg)-ceqa-
significance-thresholds/ghgboardsynopsis.pdf?sfvrsn=2) accessed May 28, 2019. 
 
 
 
  

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019

http://www.arb.ca.gov/cc/scopingplan/document/scopingplandocument.htm
https://www.calrecycle.ca.gov/swfacilities/cdi/Tools/Calculations
http://www.caleemod.com/
http://www.energy.ca.gov/title24/
http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-source/ceqa/handbook/scaqmd-air-quality-significance-thresholds.pdf?sfvrsn=2
http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-source/ceqa/handbook/scaqmd-air-quality-significance-thresholds.pdf?sfvrsn=2
http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-source/ceqa/handbook/localized-significance-thresholds/final-lst-methodology-document.pdf?sfvrsn=2
http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-source/ceqa/handbook/localized-significance-thresholds/final-lst-methodology-document.pdf?sfvrsn=2
http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-source/ceqa/handbook/localized-significance-thresholds/final-lst-methodology-document.pdf?sfvrsn=2
http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-source/ceqa/handbook/greenhouse-gases-(ghg)-ceqa-significance-thresholds/ghgboardsynopsis.pdf?sfvrsn=2
http://www.aqmd.gov/docs/default-source/ceqa/handbook/greenhouse-gases-(ghg)-ceqa-significance-thresholds/ghgboardsynopsis.pdf?sfvrsn=2


 
 
 
 

  

 
ATTACHMENT 1 – CALEEMOD OUTPUTS 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Vehicle Trips - per applicant

1.3 User Entered Comments & Non-Default Data

Project Characteristics - 

Land Use - Lot footprint acerage provided by client.

Construction Phase - Paving and architectural coating will need longer timelines

Demolition - 

Grading - Lot area of 2.7 acres

CO2 Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

702.44 CH4 Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

0.029 N2O Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

0.006

31

Climate Zone 10 Operational Year 2022

Utility Company Southern California Edison

1.2 Other Project Characteristics

Urbanization Urban Wind Speed (m/s) 2.2 Precipitation Freq (Days)

Condo/Townhouse 60.00 Dwelling Unit 0.91 60,000.00 172

Parking Lot 15.30 1000sqft 0.35 15,300.00 0

Other Non-Asphalt Surfaces 49.27 1000sqft 1.13 49,270.00 0

Floor Surface Area Population

Other Asphalt Surfaces 13.40 1000sqft 0.31 13,400.00 0

1.0 Project Characteristics

1.1 Land Usage

Land Uses Size Metric Lot Acreage

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2016.3.2
Page 1 of 1 Date: 5/29/2019 9:33 AM

Power Designs and Dev 790 Mesa Ct. - South Coast AQMD Air District, Winter

Power Designs and Dev 790 Mesa Ct.
South Coast AQMD Air District, Winter

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0.0000 3,608.739
4

3,608.7394 0.7699 0.0000 3,621.815
4

6.4202 1.1552 7.4112 3.3708 1.0787 4.2825Maximum 20.1440 21.4995 18.2240 0.0379

0.0000 1,864.460
9

1,864.4609 0.5458 0.0000 1,878.106
7

0.1677 0.5838 0.7515 0.0445 0.5383 0.58272021 20.1440 10.6927 12.2835 0.0194

0.0000 3,608.739
4

3,608.7394 0.7699 0.0000 3,621.815
4

6.4202 1.1552 7.4112 3.3708 1.0787 4.28252020 2.7283 21.4995 18.2240 0.0379

NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Year lb/day lb/day

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2

2.0 Emissions Summary

2.1 Overall Construction (Maximum Daily Emission)
Unmitigated Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

tblVehicleTrips ST_TR 5.67 6.88

tblVehicleTrips WD_TR 5.81 6.88

tblGrading AcresOfGrading 7.50 2.70

tblLandUse LotAcreage 3.75 0.91

tblConstructionPhase NumDays 3.00 5.00

tblGrading AcresOfGrading 5.00 2.70

tblConstructionPhase NumDays 6.00 10.00

tblConstructionPhase NumDays 10.00 20.00

tblConstDustMitigation CleanPavedRoadPercentReduction 0 50

tblConstructionPhase NumDays 10.00 20.00

Construction Off-road Equipment Mitigation - 50% reduction from road cleaning

Mobile Land Use Mitigation - 

Area Mitigation - 

Table Name Column Name Default Value New Value

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Mitigated Operational

562.0151 5,049.749
6

5,611.7647 1.8640 0.0462 5,672.126
4

2.9994 4.6664 7.6658 0.8025 4.6645 5.4670Total 17.9199 5.3954 44.5915 0.1149

3,522.523
9

3,522.5239 0.1709 3,526.796
6

2.9994 0.0279 3.0273 0.8025 0.0260 0.8286Mobile 0.6827 3.7500 8.9690 0.0346

438.2955 438.2955 8.4000e-
003

8.0400e-
003

440.90010.0278 0.0278 0.0278 0.0278Energy 0.0402 0.3433 0.1461 2.1900e-
003

562.0151 1,088.930
2

1,650.9453 1.6847 0.0382 1,704.429
7

4.6107 4.6107 4.6107 4.6107Area 17.1970 1.3021 35.4765 0.0781

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

2.2 Overall Operational
Unmitigated Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0060.26 0.00 48.63 60.55 0.00 42.50

NBio-CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N20 CO2e

Percent 
Reduction

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

0.0000 3,608.739
4

3,608.7394 0.7699 0.0000 3,621.815
4

2.5235 1.1552 3.5145 1.3208 1.0787 2.2325Maximum 20.1440 21.4995 18.2240 0.0379

0.0000 1,864.460
9

1,864.4609 0.5458 0.0000 1,878.106
7

0.0948 0.5838 0.6786 0.0266 0.5383 0.56482021 20.1440 10.6927 12.2835 0.0194

0.0000 3,608.739
4

3,608.7394 0.7699 0.0000 3,621.815
4

2.5235 1.1552 3.5145 1.3208 1.0787 2.23252020 2.7283 21.4995 18.2240 0.0379

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Year lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Acres of Grading (Site Preparation Phase): 2.7

Acres of Grading (Grading Phase): 2.7

Acres of Paving: 1.79

Residential Indoor: 121,500; Residential Outdoor: 40,500; Non-Residential Indoor: 0; Non-Residential Outdoor: 0; Striped Parking Area: 
    

20

6 Architectural Coating Architectural Coating 1/25/2021 2/19/2021 5 20

5 Paving Paving 12/28/2020 1/22/2021 5

10

4 Building Construction Building Construction 2/24/2020 12/25/2020 5 220

3 Grading Grading 2/10/2020 2/21/2020 5

20

2 Site Preparation Site Preparation 2/1/2020 2/7/2020 5 5

End Date Num Days 
Week

Num Days Phase Description

1 Demolition Demolition 1/6/2020 1/31/2020 5

3.0 Construction Detail

Construction Phase

Phase 
Number

Phase Name Phase Type Start Date

100.00 35.35 41.82 91.46 82.59 42.3321.24 98.34 68.17 21.24 98.37 87.05

NBio-CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N20 CO2e

Percent 
Reduction

88.09 31.52 71.90 73.80

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

0.0000 3,264.811
7

3,264.8117 0.1592 8.0400e-
003

3,271.187
1

2.3624 0.0777 2.4401 0.6321 0.0762 0.7083Total 2.1351 3.6946 12.5283 0.0301

2,817.586
0

2,817.5860 0.1422 2,821.140
7

2.3624 0.0225 2.3849 0.6321 0.0210 0.6531Mobile 0.6201 3.2941 7.4189 0.0277

438.2955 438.2955 8.4000e-
003

8.0400e-
003

440.90010.0278 0.0278 0.0278 0.0278Energy 0.0402 0.3433 0.1461 2.1900e-
003

0.0000 8.9302 8.9302 8.6400e-
003

0.0000 9.14630.0274 0.0274 0.0274 0.0274Area 1.4748 0.0572 4.9634 2.6000e-
004

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



14.70 6.90 20.00 LD_Mix HDT_Mix HHDT

6.90 20.00 LD_Mix HDT_Mix HHDT

Building Construction 8 76.00 19.00 0.00

Grading 4 10.00 0.00 0.00 14.70

14.70 6.90 20.00 LD_Mix HDT_Mix HHDT

6.90 20.00 LD_Mix HDT_Mix HHDT

Site Preparation 3 8.00 0.00 0.00

Demolition 5 13.00 0.00 37.00 14.70

Worker Trip 
Length

Vendor Trip 
Length

Hauling Trip 
Length

Worker Vehicle 
Class

Vendor 
Vehicle 
Class

Hauling 
Vehicle 
Class

Trips and VMT

Phase Name Offroad Equipment 
Count

Worker Trip 
Number

Vendor Trip 
Number

Hauling Trip 
Number

Architectural Coating Air Compressors 1 6.00 78 0.48

Paving Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes 1 8.00 97 0.37

Paving Rollers 2 8.00 80 0.38

Paving Paving Equipment 1 8.00 132 0.36

Paving Pavers 1 8.00 130 0.42

Paving Cement and Mortar Mixers 1 8.00 9 0.56

Building Construction Welders 3 8.00 46 0.45

Building Construction Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes 1 6.00 97 0.37

Building Construction Generator Sets 1 8.00 84 0.74

Building Construction Forklifts 2 7.00 89 0.20

Building Construction Cranes 1 8.00 231 0.29

Grading Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes 2 7.00 97 0.37

Grading Rubber Tired Dozers 1 8.00 247 0.40

Grading Graders 1 8.00 187 0.41

Site Preparation Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes 1 7.00 97 0.37

Site Preparation Scrapers 1 8.00 367 0.48

Site Preparation Graders 1 8.00 187 0.41

Demolition Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes 3 8.00 97 0.37

Demolition Rubber Tired Dozers 1 8.00 247 0.40

Load Factor

Demolition Concrete/Industrial Saws 1 8.00 81 0.73

OffRoad Equipment

Phase Name Offroad Equipment Type Amount Usage Hours Horse Power

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



139.1474 139.1474 3.9900e-
003

139.24720.1453 1.1000e-
003

0.1464 0.0385 1.0200e-
003

0.0396Worker 0.0642 0.0433 0.4785 1.4000e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

152.2361 152.2361 0.0109 152.50760.0323 1.6500e-
003

0.0340 8.8600e-
003

1.5800e-
003

0.0104Hauling 0.0145 0.5099 0.1078 1.4100e-
003

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Unmitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

2,322.312
7

2,322.3127 0.5970 2,337.236
3

0.4012 1.1525 1.5537 0.0608 1.0761 1.1369Total 2.1262 20.9463 14.6573 0.0241

2,322.312
7

2,322.3127 0.5970 2,337.236
3

1.1525 1.1525 1.0761 1.0761Off-Road 2.1262 20.9463 14.6573 0.0241

0.0000 0.00000.4012 0.0000 0.4012 0.0608 0.0000 0.0608

CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

Fugitive Dust

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2OSO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

3.1 Mitigation Measures Construction

Water Exposed Area

Clean Paved Roads

3.2 Demolition - 2020
Unmitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO

14.70 6.90 20.00 LD_Mix HDT_Mix HHDT

6.90 20.00 LD_Mix HDT_Mix HHDT

Architectural Coating 1 15.00 0.00 0.00

Paving 6 15.00 0.00 0.00 14.70EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



3.3 Site Preparation - 2020
Unmitigated Construction On-Site

291.3836 291.3836 0.0149 291.75480.1023 2.7500e-
003

0.1050 0.0289 2.6000e-
003

0.0315Total 0.0786 0.5532 0.5864 2.8100e-
003

139.1474 139.1474 3.9900e-
003

139.24720.0822 1.1000e-
003

0.0833 0.0230 1.0200e-
003

0.0241Worker 0.0642 0.0433 0.4785 1.4000e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

152.2361 152.2361 0.0109 152.50760.0201 1.6500e-
003

0.0218 5.8600e-
003

1.5800e-
003

7.4300e-
003

Hauling 0.0145 0.5099 0.1078 1.4100e-
003

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 2,322.312
7

2,322.3127 0.5970 2,337.236
3

0.1565 1.1525 1.3090 0.0237 1.0761 1.0998Total 2.1262 20.9463 14.6573 0.0241

0.0000 2,322.312
7

2,322.3127 0.5970 2,337.236
3

1.1525 1.1525 1.0761 1.0761Off-Road 2.1262 20.9463 14.6573 0.0241

0.0000 0.00000.1565 0.0000 0.1565 0.0237 0.0000 0.0237Fugitive Dust

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

291.3836 291.3836 0.0149 291.75480.1776 2.7500e-
003

0.1804 0.0474 2.6000e-
003

0.0500Total 0.0786 0.5532 0.5864 2.8100e-
003

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

85.6292 85.6292 2.4600e-
003

85.69060.0894 6.8000e-
004

0.0901 0.0237 6.2000e-
004

0.0243Total 0.0395 0.0266 0.2945 8.6000e-
004

85.6292 85.6292 2.4600e-
003

85.69060.0894 6.8000e-
004

0.0901 0.0237 6.2000e-
004

0.0243Worker 0.0395 0.0266 0.2945 8.6000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Unmitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

2,372.906
2

2,372.9062 0.7675 2,392.092
4

0.5727 0.7771 1.3497 0.0618 0.7149 0.7767Total 1.6521 19.9196 11.2678 0.0245

2,372.906
2

2,372.9062 0.7675 2,392.092
4

0.7771 0.7771 0.7149 0.7149Off-Road 1.6521 19.9196 11.2678 0.0245

0.0000 0.00000.5727 0.0000 0.5727 0.0618 0.0000 0.0618Fugitive Dust

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



1,996.406
1

1,996.4061 0.6457 2,012.548
0

6.3084 0.9902 7.2986 3.3411 0.9110 4.2521Total 1.9219 21.3418 9.9355 0.0206

1,996.406
1

1,996.4061 0.6457 2,012.548
0

0.9902 0.9902 0.9110 0.9110Off-Road 1.9219 21.3418 9.9355 0.0206

0.0000 0.00006.3084 0.0000 6.3084 3.3411 0.0000 3.3411Fugitive Dust

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

3.4 Grading - 2020
Unmitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

85.6292 85.6292 2.4600e-
003

85.69060.0506 6.8000e-
004

0.0512 0.0142 6.2000e-
004

0.0148Total 0.0395 0.0266 0.2945 8.6000e-
004

85.6292 85.6292 2.4600e-
003

85.69060.0506 6.8000e-
004

0.0512 0.0142 6.2000e-
004

0.0148Worker 0.0395 0.0266 0.2945 8.6000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 2,372.906
2

2,372.9062 0.7675 2,392.092
4

0.2233 0.7771 1.0004 0.0241 0.7149 0.7390Total 1.6521 19.9196 11.2678 0.0245

0.0000 2,372.906
2

2,372.9062 0.7675 2,392.092
4

0.7771 0.7771 0.7149 0.7149Off-Road 1.6521 19.9196 11.2678 0.0245

0.0000 0.00000.2233 0.0000 0.2233 0.0241 0.0000 0.0241Fugitive Dust EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2ePM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 1,996.406
1

1,996.4061 0.6457 2,012.548
0

2.4603 0.9902 3.4504 1.3031 0.9110 2.2140Total 1.9219 21.3418 9.9355 0.0206

0.0000 1,996.406
1

1,996.4061 0.6457 2,012.548
0

0.9902 0.9902 0.9110 0.9110Off-Road 1.9219 21.3418 9.9355 0.0206

0.0000 0.00002.4603 0.0000 2.4603 1.3031 0.0000 1.3031Fugitive Dust

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

107.0365 107.0365 3.0700e-
003

107.11320.1118 8.5000e-
004

0.1126 0.0296 7.8000e-
004

0.0304Total 0.0494 0.0333 0.3681 1.0700e-
003

107.0365 107.0365 3.0700e-
003

107.11320.1118 8.5000e-
004

0.1126 0.0296 7.8000e-
004

0.0304Worker 0.0494 0.0333 0.3681 1.0700e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Unmitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



813.4774 813.4774 0.0233 814.06060.8495 6.4400e-
003

0.8559 0.2253 5.9400e-
003

0.2312Worker 0.3750 0.2531 2.7975 8.1700e-
003

506.3743 506.3743 0.0352 507.25340.1216 0.0100 0.1316 0.0350 9.5900e-
003

0.0446Vendor 0.0654 1.9917 0.5293 4.7500e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Unmitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

2,288.887
7

2,288.8877 0.4646 2,300.501
4

0.9482 0.9482 0.9089 0.9089Total 2.2879 17.4336 14.8972 0.0250

2,288.887
7

2,288.8877 0.4646 2,300.501
4

0.9482 0.9482 0.9089 0.9089Off-Road 2.2879 17.4336 14.8972 0.0250

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

3.5 Building Construction - 2020
Unmitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

107.0365 107.0365 3.0700e-
003

107.11320.0632 8.5000e-
004

0.0640 0.0177 7.8000e-
004

0.0185Total 0.0494 0.0333 0.3681 1.0700e-
003

107.0365 107.0365 3.0700e-
003

107.11320.0632 8.5000e-
004

0.0640 0.0177 7.8000e-
004

0.0185Worker 0.0494 0.0333 0.3681 1.0700e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Category lb/day lb/dayEXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



3.6 Paving - 2020
Unmitigated Construction On-Site

1,319.851
7

1,319.8517 0.0585 1,321.314
0

0.5585 0.0165 0.5750 0.1590 0.0155 0.1746Total 0.4404 2.2448 3.3268 0.0129

813.4774 813.4774 0.0233 814.06060.4802 6.4400e-
003

0.4867 0.1347 5.9400e-
003

0.1406Worker 0.3750 0.2531 2.7975 8.1700e-
003

506.3743 506.3743 0.0352 507.25340.0783 0.0100 0.0883 0.0244 9.5900e-
003

0.0340Vendor 0.0654 1.9917 0.5293 4.7500e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 2,288.887
7

2,288.8877 0.4646 2,300.501
4

0.9482 0.9482 0.9089 0.9089Total 2.2879 17.4336 14.8972 0.0250

0.0000 2,288.887
7

2,288.8877 0.4646 2,300.501
4

0.9482 0.9482 0.9089 0.9089Off-Road 2.2879 17.4336 14.8972 0.0250

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

1,319.851
7

1,319.8517 0.0585 1,321.314
0

0.9711 0.0165 0.9876 0.2603 0.0155 0.2758Total 0.4404 2.2448 3.3268 0.0129EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

160.5547 160.5547 4.6000e-
003

160.66990.1677 1.2700e-
003

0.1689 0.0445 1.1700e-
003

0.0456Total 0.0740 0.0500 0.5521 1.6100e-
003

160.5547 160.5547 4.6000e-
003

160.66990.1677 1.2700e-
003

0.1689 0.0445 1.1700e-
003

0.0456Worker 0.0740 0.0500 0.5521 1.6100e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Unmitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

1,709.218
0

1,709.2180 0.5417 1,722.760
5

0.6565 0.6565 0.6051 0.6051Total 1.2411 11.5873 11.8076 0.0178

0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Paving 0.0865

1,709.218
0

1,709.2180 0.5417 1,722.760
5

0.6565 0.6565 0.6051 0.6051Off-Road 1.1547 11.5873 11.8076 0.0178

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



1,709.110
7

1,709.1107 0.5417 1,722.652
4

0.5826 0.5826 0.5371 0.5371Total 1.1498 10.6478 11.7756 0.0178

0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Paving 0.0865

1,709.110
7

1,709.1107 0.5417 1,722.652
4

0.5826 0.5826 0.5371 0.5371Off-Road 1.0633 10.6478 11.7756 0.0178

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

3.6 Paving - 2021
Unmitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

160.5547 160.5547 4.6000e-
003

160.66990.0948 1.2700e-
003

0.0961 0.0266 1.1700e-
003

0.0278Total 0.0740 0.0500 0.5521 1.6100e-
003

160.5547 160.5547 4.6000e-
003

160.66990.0948 1.2700e-
003

0.0961 0.0266 1.1700e-
003

0.0278Worker 0.0740 0.0500 0.5521 1.6100e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 1,709.218
0

1,709.2180 0.5417 1,722.760
5

0.6565 0.6565 0.6051 0.6051Total 1.2411 11.5873 11.8076 0.0178

0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Paving 0.0865

0.0000 1,709.218
0

1,709.2180 0.5417 1,722.760
5

0.6565 0.6565 0.6051 0.6051Off-Road 1.1547 11.5873 11.8076 0.0178EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2ePM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 1,709.110
7

1,709.1107 0.5417 1,722.652
4

0.5826 0.5826 0.5371 0.5371Total 1.1498 10.6478 11.7756 0.0178

0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Paving 0.0865

0.0000 1,709.110
7

1,709.1107 0.5417 1,722.652
4

0.5826 0.5826 0.5371 0.5371Off-Road 1.0633 10.6478 11.7756 0.0178

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

155.3502 155.3502 4.1600e-
003

155.45430.1677 1.2300e-
003

0.1689 0.0445 1.1400e-
003

0.0456Total 0.0692 0.0450 0.5078 1.5600e-
003

155.3502 155.3502 4.1600e-
003

155.45430.1677 1.2300e-
003

0.1689 0.0445 1.1400e-
003

0.0456Worker 0.0692 0.0450 0.5078 1.5600e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Unmitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



155.3502 155.3502 4.1600e-
003

155.45430.1677 1.2300e-
003

0.1689 0.0445 1.1400e-
003

0.0456Worker 0.0692 0.0450 0.5078 1.5600e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Unmitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

281.4481 281.4481 0.0193 281.93090.0941 0.0941 0.0941 0.0941Total 20.0748 1.5268 1.8176 2.9700e-
003

281.4481 281.4481 0.0193 281.93090.0941 0.0941 0.0941 0.0941Off-Road 0.2189 1.5268 1.8176 2.9700e-
003

0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Archit. Coating 19.8559

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

3.7 Architectural Coating - 2021
Unmitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

155.3502 155.3502 4.1600e-
003

155.45430.0948 1.2300e-
003

0.0960 0.0266 1.1400e-
003

0.0277Total 0.0692 0.0450 0.5078 1.5600e-
003

155.3502 155.3502 4.1600e-
003

155.45430.0948 1.2300e-
003

0.0960 0.0266 1.1400e-
003

0.0277Worker 0.0692 0.0450 0.5078 1.5600e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Category lb/day lb/dayEXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



4.0 Operational Detail - Mobile

4.1 Mitigation Measures Mobile

155.3502 155.3502 4.1600e-
003

155.45430.0948 1.2300e-
003

0.0960 0.0266 1.1400e-
003

0.0277Total 0.0692 0.0450 0.5078 1.5600e-
003

155.3502 155.3502 4.1600e-
003

155.45430.0948 1.2300e-
003

0.0960 0.0266 1.1400e-
003

0.0277Worker 0.0692 0.0450 0.5078 1.5600e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 281.4481 281.4481 0.0193 281.93090.0941 0.0941 0.0941 0.0941Total 20.0748 1.5268 1.8176 2.9700e-
003

0.0000 281.4481 281.4481 0.0193 281.93090.0941 0.0941 0.0941 0.0941Off-Road 0.2189 1.5268 1.8176 2.9700e-
003

0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Archit. Coating 19.8559

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

155.3502 155.3502 4.1600e-
003

155.45430.1677 1.2300e-
003

0.1689 0.0445 1.1400e-
003

0.0456Total 0.0692 0.0450 0.5078 1.5600e-
003

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



SBUS MHLHD2 MHD HHD OBUS UBUS MCYLand Use LDA LDT1 LDT2 MDV LHD1

0.00 0.00 0 0 0

4.4 Fleet Mix

0.00 0.00 0 0 0

Parking Lot 16.60 8.40 6.90 0.00

0.00 0.00 0 0 0

Other Non-Asphalt Surfaces 16.60 8.40 6.90 0.00

19.20 40.60 86 11 3

Other Asphalt Surfaces 16.60 8.40 6.90 0.00

H-S or C-C H-O or C-NW Primary Diverted Pass-by

Condo/Townhouse 14.70 5.90 8.70 40.20

4.3 Trip Type Information

Miles Trip % Trip Purpose %

Land Use H-W or C-W H-S or C-C H-O or C-NW H-W or C-
W

Total 412.80 412.80 290.40 1,350,849 1,063,942
Parking Lot 0.00 0.00 0.00

Other Non-Asphalt Surfaces 0.00 0.00 0.00
Other Asphalt Surfaces 0.00 0.00 0.00

Annual VMT

Condo/Townhouse 412.80 412.80 290.40 1,350,849 1,063,942

4.2 Trip Summary Information

Average Daily Trip Rate Unmitigated Mitigated
Land Use Weekday Saturday Sunday Annual VMT

3,522.523
9

3,522.5239 0.1709 3,526.796
6

2.9994 0.0279 3.0273 0.8025 0.0260 0.8286Unmitigated 0.6827 3.7500 8.9690 0.0346

2,817.586
0

2,817.5860 0.1422 2,821.140
7

2.3624 0.0225 2.3849 0.6321 0.0210 0.6531Mitigated 0.6201 3.2941 7.4189 0.0277

NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2

Increase Transit Accessibility

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



438.2955 438.2955 8.4000e-
003

8.0400e-
003

440.90010.0278 0.0278 0.0278 0.0278Condo/Townhouse 3725.51 0.0402 0.3433 0.1461 2.1900e-
003

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Land Use kBTU/yr lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

5.2 Energy by Land Use - NaturalGas
Unmitigated

NaturalGa
s Use

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

438.2955 438.2955 8.4000e-
003

8.0400e-
003

440.90010.0278 0.0278 0.0278 0.0278NaturalGas 
Unmitigated

0.0402 0.3433 0.1461 2.1900e-
003

438.2955 438.2955 8.4000e-
003

8.0400e-
003

440.90010.0278 0.0278 0.0278 0.0278

CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

NaturalGas 
Mitigated

0.0402 0.3433 0.1461 2.1900e-
003

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2OSO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

0.000709 0.000896

5.0 Energy Detail

Historical Energy Use: N

5.1 Mitigation Measures Energy

ROG NOx CO

0.005846 0.021394 0.034255 0.002099 0.001828 0.004855Parking Lot 0.549559 0.042893 0.201564 0.118533 0.015569

0.034255 0.002099 0.001828 0.004855 0.000709 0.000896

0.000709 0.000896

Other Non-Asphalt Surfaces 0.549559 0.042893 0.201564 0.118533 0.015569 0.005846 0.021394

0.005846 0.021394 0.034255 0.002099 0.001828 0.004855Other Asphalt Surfaces 0.549559 0.042893 0.201564 0.118533 0.015569

0.034255 0.002099 0.001828 0.004855 0.000709 0.000896Condo/Townhouse 0.549559 0.042893 0.201564 0.118533 0.015569 0.005846 0.021394EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



6.0 Area Detail

6.1 Mitigation Measures Area

Use Low VOC Paint - Residential Interior

Use Low VOC Paint - Residential Exterior

No Hearths Installed

438.2955 438.2955 8.4000e-
003

8.0400e-
003

440.90010.0278 0.0278 0.0278 0.0278Total 0.0402 0.3433 0.1461 2.1900e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Parking Lot 0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Other Non-Asphalt 
Surfaces

0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Other Asphalt 
Surfaces

0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

438.2955 438.2955 8.4000e-
003

8.0400e-
003

440.90010.0278 0.0278 0.0278 0.0278Condo/Townhouse 3.72551 0.0402 0.3433 0.1461 2.1900e-
003

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Land Use kBTU/yr lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated

NaturalGa
s Use

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

438.2955 438.2955 8.4000e-
003

8.0400e-
003

440.90010.0278 0.0278 0.0278 0.0278Total 0.0402 0.3433 0.1461 2.1900e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Parking Lot 0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Other Non-Asphalt 
Surfaces

0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Other Asphalt 
Surfaces

0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Mitigated

562.0151 1,088.930
2

1,650.9453 1.6847 0.0382 1,704.429
7

4.6107 4.6107 4.6107 4.6107Total 17.1970 1.3021 35.4765 0.0781

8.9302 8.9302 8.6400e-
003

9.14630.0274 0.0274 0.0274 0.0274Landscaping 0.1504 0.0572 4.9634 2.6000e-
004

562.0151 1,080.000
0

1,642.0151 1.6760 0.0382 1,695.283
4

4.5833 4.5833 4.5833 4.5833Hearth 15.7222 1.2449 30.5131 0.0778

0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Consumer 
Products

1.2156

0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Architectural 
Coating

0.1088

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

SubCategory lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

6.2 Area by SubCategory
Unmitigated

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

562.0151 1,088.930
2

1,650.9453 1.6847 0.0382 1,704.429
7

4.6107 4.6107 4.6107 4.6107Unmitigated 17.1970 1.3021 35.4765 0.0781

0.0000 8.9302 8.9302 8.6400e-
003

0.0000 9.14630.0274 0.0274 0.0274 0.0274

CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

Mitigated 1.4748 0.0572 4.9634 2.6000e-
004

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2OSO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

ROG NOx CO

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



User Defined Equipment

Equipment Type Number

Load Factor Fuel Type

Boilers

Equipment Type Number Heat Input/Day Heat Input/Year Boiler Rating Fuel Type

Fire Pumps and Emergency Generators

Equipment Type Number Hours/Day Hours/Year Horse Power

Hours/Day Days/Year Horse Power Load Factor Fuel Type

10.0 Stationary Equipment

7.0 Water Detail

7.1 Mitigation Measures Water

8.0 Waste Detail

8.1 Mitigation Measures Waste

9.0 Operational Offroad

Equipment Type Number

0.0000 8.9302 8.9302 8.6400e-
003

0.0000 9.14630.0274 0.0274 0.0274 0.0274Total 1.4748 0.0572 4.9634 2.6000e-
004

8.9302 8.9302 8.6400e-
003

9.14630.0274 0.0274 0.0274 0.0274Landscaping 0.1504 0.0572 4.9634 2.6000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hearth 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Consumer 
Products

1.2156

0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Architectural 
Coating

0.1088

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

SubCategory lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



11.0 Vegetation

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Vehicle Trips - per applicant

1.3 User Entered Comments & Non-Default Data

Project Characteristics - 

Land Use - Lot footprint acerage provided by client.

Construction Phase - Paving and architectural coating will need longer timelines

Demolition - 

Grading - Lot area of 2.7 acres

CO2 Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

702.44 CH4 Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

0.029 N2O Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

0.006

31

Climate Zone 10 Operational Year 2022

Utility Company Southern California Edison

1.2 Other Project Characteristics

Urbanization Urban Wind Speed (m/s) 2.2 Precipitation Freq (Days)

Condo/Townhouse 60.00 Dwelling Unit 0.91 60,000.00 172

Parking Lot 15.30 1000sqft 0.35 15,300.00 0

Other Non-Asphalt Surfaces 49.27 1000sqft 1.13 49,270.00 0

Floor Surface Area Population

Other Asphalt Surfaces 13.40 1000sqft 0.31 13,400.00 0

1.0 Project Characteristics

1.1 Land Usage

Land Uses Size Metric Lot Acreage

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2016.3.2
Page 1 of 1 Date: 5/29/2019 9:31 AM

Power Designs and Dev 790 Mesa Ct. - South Coast AQMD Air District, Summer

Power Designs and Dev 790 Mesa Ct.
South Coast AQMD Air District, Summer

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0.0000 3,680.097
1

3,680.0971 0.7701 0.0000 3,693.154
4

6.4202 1.1552 7.4112 3.3708 1.0787 4.2825Maximum 20.1381 21.4893 18.4790 0.0386

0.0000 1,875.221
2

1,875.2212 0.5461 0.0000 1,888.874
6

0.1677 0.5838 0.7515 0.0445 0.5383 0.58272021 20.1381 10.6889 12.3407 0.0195

0.0000 3,680.097
1

3,680.0971 0.7701 0.0000 3,693.154
4

6.4202 1.1552 7.4112 3.3708 1.0787 4.28252020 2.6941 21.4893 18.4790 0.0386

NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Year lb/day lb/day

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2

2.0 Emissions Summary

2.1 Overall Construction (Maximum Daily Emission)
Unmitigated Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

tblVehicleTrips ST_TR 5.67 6.88

tblVehicleTrips WD_TR 5.81 6.88

tblGrading AcresOfGrading 7.50 2.70

tblLandUse LotAcreage 3.75 0.91

tblConstructionPhase NumDays 3.00 5.00

tblGrading AcresOfGrading 5.00 2.70

tblConstructionPhase NumDays 6.00 10.00

tblConstructionPhase NumDays 10.00 20.00

tblConstDustMitigation CleanPavedRoadPercentReduction 0 50

tblConstructionPhase NumDays 10.00 20.00

Construction Off-road Equipment Mitigation - 50% reduction from road cleaning

Mobile Land Use Mitigation - 

Area Mitigation - 

Table Name Column Name Default Value New Value

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Mitigated Operational

562.0151 5,246.020
1

5,808.0352 1.8641 0.0462 5,868.400
4

2.9994 4.6662 7.6656 0.8025 4.6644 5.4669Total 17.9558 5.3233 45.2298 0.1168

3,718.794
4

3,718.7944 0.1711 3,723.070
6

2.9994 0.0277 3.0272 0.8025 0.0259 0.8284Mobile 0.7186 3.6779 9.6072 0.0365

438.2955 438.2955 8.4000e-
003

8.0400e-
003

440.90010.0278 0.0278 0.0278 0.0278Energy 0.0402 0.3433 0.1461 2.1900e-
003

562.0151 1,088.930
2

1,650.9453 1.6847 0.0382 1,704.429
7

4.6107 4.6107 4.6107 4.6107Area 17.1970 1.3021 35.4765 0.0781

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

2.2 Overall Operational
Unmitigated Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0060.26 0.00 48.63 60.55 0.00 42.50

NBio-CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N20 CO2e

Percent 
Reduction

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

0.0000 3,680.097
1

3,680.0971 0.7701 0.0000 3,693.154
4

2.5235 1.1552 3.5145 1.3208 1.0787 2.2325Maximum 20.1381 21.4893 18.4790 0.0386

0.0000 1,875.221
2

1,875.2212 0.5461 0.0000 1,888.874
6

0.0948 0.5838 0.6786 0.0266 0.5383 0.56482021 20.1381 10.6889 12.3407 0.0195

0.0000 3,680.097
1

3,680.0971 0.7701 0.0000 3,693.154
4

2.5235 1.1552 3.5145 1.3208 1.0787 2.23252020 2.6941 21.4893 18.4790 0.0386

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Year lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Acres of Grading (Site Preparation Phase): 2.7

Acres of Grading (Grading Phase): 2.7

Acres of Paving: 1.79

Residential Indoor: 121,500; Residential Outdoor: 40,500; Non-Residential Indoor: 0; Non-Residential Outdoor: 0; Striped Parking Area: 
    

20

6 Architectural Coating Architectural Coating 1/25/2021 2/19/2021 5 20

5 Paving Paving 12/28/2020 1/22/2021 5

10

4 Building Construction Building Construction 2/24/2020 12/25/2020 5 220

3 Grading Grading 2/10/2020 2/21/2020 5

20

2 Site Preparation Site Preparation 2/1/2020 2/7/2020 5 5

End Date Num Days 
Week

Num Days Phase Description

1 Demolition Demolition 1/6/2020 1/31/2020 5

3.0 Construction Detail

Construction Phase

Phase 
Number

Phase Name Phase Type Start Date

100.00 34.73 41.05 91.50 82.59 41.5421.24 98.34 68.17 21.24 98.37 87.05

NBio-CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N20 CO2e

Percent 
Reduction

87.92 31.49 71.32 72.88

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

0.0000 3,424.092
8

3,424.0928 0.1585 8.0400e-
003

3,430.448
7

2.3624 0.0775 2.4399 0.6321 0.0760 0.7081Total 2.1690 3.6468 12.9715 0.0317

2,976.867
0

2,976.8670 0.1414 2,980.402
3

2.3624 0.0224 2.3847 0.6321 0.0209 0.6529Mobile 0.6540 3.2462 7.8620 0.0292

438.2955 438.2955 8.4000e-
003

8.0400e-
003

440.90010.0278 0.0278 0.0278 0.0278Energy 0.0402 0.3433 0.1461 2.1900e-
003

0.0000 8.9302 8.9302 8.6400e-
003

0.0000 9.14630.0274 0.0274 0.0274 0.0274Area 1.4748 0.0572 4.9634 2.6000e-
004

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



14.70 6.90 20.00 LD_Mix HDT_Mix HHDT

6.90 20.00 LD_Mix HDT_Mix HHDT

Building Construction 8 76.00 19.00 0.00

Grading 4 10.00 0.00 0.00 14.70

14.70 6.90 20.00 LD_Mix HDT_Mix HHDT

6.90 20.00 LD_Mix HDT_Mix HHDT

Site Preparation 3 8.00 0.00 0.00

Demolition 5 13.00 0.00 37.00 14.70

Worker Trip 
Length

Vendor Trip 
Length

Hauling Trip 
Length

Worker Vehicle 
Class

Vendor 
Vehicle 
Class

Hauling 
Vehicle 
Class

Trips and VMT

Phase Name Offroad Equipment 
Count

Worker Trip 
Number

Vendor Trip 
Number

Hauling Trip 
Number

Architectural Coating Air Compressors 1 6.00 78 0.48

Paving Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes 1 8.00 97 0.37

Paving Rollers 2 8.00 80 0.38

Paving Paving Equipment 1 8.00 132 0.36

Paving Pavers 1 8.00 130 0.42

Paving Cement and Mortar Mixers 1 8.00 9 0.56

Building Construction Welders 3 8.00 46 0.45

Building Construction Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes 1 6.00 97 0.37

Building Construction Generator Sets 1 8.00 84 0.74

Building Construction Forklifts 2 7.00 89 0.20

Building Construction Cranes 1 8.00 231 0.29

Grading Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes 2 7.00 97 0.37

Grading Rubber Tired Dozers 1 8.00 247 0.40

Grading Graders 1 8.00 187 0.41

Site Preparation Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes 1 7.00 97 0.37

Site Preparation Scrapers 1 8.00 367 0.48

Site Preparation Graders 1 8.00 187 0.41

Demolition Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes 3 8.00 97 0.37

Demolition Rubber Tired Dozers 1 8.00 247 0.40

Load Factor

Demolition Concrete/Industrial Saws 1 8.00 81 0.73

OffRoad Equipment

Phase Name Offroad Equipment Type Amount Usage Hours Horse Power

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



148.7743 148.7743 4.2800e-
003

148.88120.1453 1.1000e-
003

0.1464 0.0385 1.0200e-
003

0.0396Worker 0.0588 0.0395 0.5315 1.4900e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

155.0909 155.0909 0.0104 155.35110.0323 1.6200e-
003

0.0340 8.8600e-
003

1.5500e-
003

0.0104Hauling 0.0141 0.5035 0.1002 1.4300e-
003

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Unmitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

2,322.312
7

2,322.3127 0.5970 2,337.236
3

0.4012 1.1525 1.5537 0.0608 1.0761 1.1369Total 2.1262 20.9463 14.6573 0.0241

2,322.312
7

2,322.3127 0.5970 2,337.236
3

1.1525 1.1525 1.0761 1.0761Off-Road 2.1262 20.9463 14.6573 0.0241

0.0000 0.00000.4012 0.0000 0.4012 0.0608 0.0000 0.0608

CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

Fugitive Dust

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2OSO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

3.1 Mitigation Measures Construction

Water Exposed Area

Clean Paved Roads

3.2 Demolition - 2020
Unmitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO

14.70 6.90 20.00 LD_Mix HDT_Mix HHDT

6.90 20.00 LD_Mix HDT_Mix HHDT

Architectural Coating 1 15.00 0.00 0.00

Paving 6 15.00 0.00 0.00 14.70EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



3.3 Site Preparation - 2020
Unmitigated Construction On-Site

303.8652 303.8652 0.0147 304.23230.1023 2.7200e-
003

0.1050 0.0289 2.5700e-
003

0.0315Total 0.0729 0.5430 0.6316 2.9200e-
003

148.7743 148.7743 4.2800e-
003

148.88120.0822 1.1000e-
003

0.0833 0.0230 1.0200e-
003

0.0241Worker 0.0588 0.0395 0.5315 1.4900e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

155.0909 155.0909 0.0104 155.35110.0201 1.6200e-
003

0.0217 5.8600e-
003

1.5500e-
003

7.4100e-
003

Hauling 0.0141 0.5035 0.1002 1.4300e-
003

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 2,322.312
7

2,322.3127 0.5970 2,337.236
3

0.1565 1.1525 1.3090 0.0237 1.0761 1.0998Total 2.1262 20.9463 14.6573 0.0241

0.0000 2,322.312
7

2,322.3127 0.5970 2,337.236
3

1.1525 1.1525 1.0761 1.0761Off-Road 2.1262 20.9463 14.6573 0.0241

0.0000 0.00000.1565 0.0000 0.1565 0.0237 0.0000 0.0237Fugitive Dust

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

303.8652 303.8652 0.0147 304.23230.1776 2.7200e-
003

0.1804 0.0474 2.5700e-
003

0.0500Total 0.0729 0.5430 0.6316 2.9200e-
003

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

91.5534 91.5534 2.6300e-
003

91.61920.0894 6.8000e-
004

0.0901 0.0237 6.2000e-
004

0.0243Total 0.0362 0.0243 0.3271 9.2000e-
004

91.5534 91.5534 2.6300e-
003

91.61920.0894 6.8000e-
004

0.0901 0.0237 6.2000e-
004

0.0243Worker 0.0362 0.0243 0.3271 9.2000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Unmitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

2,372.906
2

2,372.9062 0.7675 2,392.092
4

0.5727 0.7771 1.3497 0.0618 0.7149 0.7767Total 1.6521 19.9196 11.2678 0.0245

2,372.906
2

2,372.9062 0.7675 2,392.092
4

0.7771 0.7771 0.7149 0.7149Off-Road 1.6521 19.9196 11.2678 0.0245

0.0000 0.00000.5727 0.0000 0.5727 0.0618 0.0000 0.0618Fugitive Dust

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



1,996.406
1

1,996.4061 0.6457 2,012.548
0

6.3084 0.9902 7.2986 3.3411 0.9110 4.2521Total 1.9219 21.3418 9.9355 0.0206

1,996.406
1

1,996.4061 0.6457 2,012.548
0

0.9902 0.9902 0.9110 0.9110Off-Road 1.9219 21.3418 9.9355 0.0206

0.0000 0.00006.3084 0.0000 6.3084 3.3411 0.0000 3.3411Fugitive Dust

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

3.4 Grading - 2020
Unmitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

91.5534 91.5534 2.6300e-
003

91.61920.0506 6.8000e-
004

0.0512 0.0142 6.2000e-
004

0.0148Total 0.0362 0.0243 0.3271 9.2000e-
004

91.5534 91.5534 2.6300e-
003

91.61920.0506 6.8000e-
004

0.0512 0.0142 6.2000e-
004

0.0148Worker 0.0362 0.0243 0.3271 9.2000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 2,372.906
2

2,372.9062 0.7675 2,392.092
4

0.2233 0.7771 1.0004 0.0241 0.7149 0.7390Total 1.6521 19.9196 11.2678 0.0245

0.0000 2,372.906
2

2,372.9062 0.7675 2,392.092
4

0.7771 0.7771 0.7149 0.7149Off-Road 1.6521 19.9196 11.2678 0.0245

0.0000 0.00000.2233 0.0000 0.2233 0.0241 0.0000 0.0241Fugitive Dust EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2ePM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 1,996.406
1

1,996.4061 0.6457 2,012.548
0

2.4603 0.9902 3.4504 1.3031 0.9110 2.2140Total 1.9219 21.3418 9.9355 0.0206

0.0000 1,996.406
1

1,996.4061 0.6457 2,012.548
0

0.9902 0.9902 0.9110 0.9110Off-Road 1.9219 21.3418 9.9355 0.0206

0.0000 0.00002.4603 0.0000 2.4603 1.3031 0.0000 1.3031Fugitive Dust

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

114.4418 114.4418 3.2900e-
003

114.52400.1118 8.5000e-
004

0.1126 0.0296 7.8000e-
004

0.0304Total 0.0452 0.0304 0.4088 1.1500e-
003

114.4418 114.4418 3.2900e-
003

114.52400.1118 8.5000e-
004

0.1126 0.0296 7.8000e-
004

0.0304Worker 0.0452 0.0304 0.4088 1.1500e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Unmitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



869.7573 869.7573 0.0250 870.38240.8495 6.4400e-
003

0.8559 0.2253 5.9400e-
003

0.2312Worker 0.3439 0.2311 3.1070 8.7300e-
003

521.4521 521.4521 0.0327 522.27060.1216 9.8800e-
003

0.1315 0.0350 9.4500e-
003

0.0445Vendor 0.0624 1.9938 0.4748 4.8900e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Unmitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

2,288.887
7

2,288.8877 0.4646 2,300.501
4

0.9482 0.9482 0.9089 0.9089Total 2.2879 17.4336 14.8972 0.0250

2,288.887
7

2,288.8877 0.4646 2,300.501
4

0.9482 0.9482 0.9089 0.9089Off-Road 2.2879 17.4336 14.8972 0.0250

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

3.5 Building Construction - 2020
Unmitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

114.4418 114.4418 3.2900e-
003

114.52400.0632 8.5000e-
004

0.0640 0.0177 7.8000e-
004

0.0185Total 0.0452 0.0304 0.4088 1.1500e-
003

114.4418 114.4418 3.2900e-
003

114.52400.0632 8.5000e-
004

0.0640 0.0177 7.8000e-
004

0.0185Worker 0.0452 0.0304 0.4088 1.1500e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Category lb/day lb/dayEXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



3.6 Paving - 2020
Unmitigated Construction On-Site

1,391.209
3

1,391.2093 0.0578 1,392.653
0

0.5585 0.0163 0.5748 0.1590 0.0154 0.1744Total 0.4063 2.2249 3.5818 0.0136

869.7573 869.7573 0.0250 870.38240.4802 6.4400e-
003

0.4867 0.1347 5.9400e-
003

0.1406Worker 0.3439 0.2311 3.1070 8.7300e-
003

521.4521 521.4521 0.0327 522.27060.0783 9.8800e-
003

0.0882 0.0244 9.4500e-
003

0.0338Vendor 0.0624 1.9938 0.4748 4.8900e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 2,288.887
7

2,288.8877 0.4646 2,300.501
4

0.9482 0.9482 0.9089 0.9089Total 2.2879 17.4336 14.8972 0.0250

0.0000 2,288.887
7

2,288.8877 0.4646 2,300.501
4

0.9482 0.9482 0.9089 0.9089Off-Road 2.2879 17.4336 14.8972 0.0250

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

1,391.209
3

1,391.2093 0.0578 1,392.653
0

0.9711 0.0163 0.9874 0.2603 0.0154 0.2757Total 0.4063 2.2249 3.5818 0.0136EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

171.6626 171.6626 4.9400e-
003

171.78600.1677 1.2700e-
003

0.1689 0.0445 1.1700e-
003

0.0456Total 0.0679 0.0456 0.6132 1.7200e-
003

171.6626 171.6626 4.9400e-
003

171.78600.1677 1.2700e-
003

0.1689 0.0445 1.1700e-
003

0.0456Worker 0.0679 0.0456 0.6132 1.7200e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Unmitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

1,709.218
0

1,709.2180 0.5417 1,722.760
5

0.6565 0.6565 0.6051 0.6051Total 1.2411 11.5873 11.8076 0.0178

0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Paving 0.0865

1,709.218
0

1,709.2180 0.5417 1,722.760
5

0.6565 0.6565 0.6051 0.6051Off-Road 1.1547 11.5873 11.8076 0.0178

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



1,709.110
7

1,709.1107 0.5417 1,722.652
4

0.5826 0.5826 0.5371 0.5371Total 1.1498 10.6478 11.7756 0.0178

0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Paving 0.0865

1,709.110
7

1,709.1107 0.5417 1,722.652
4

0.5826 0.5826 0.5371 0.5371Off-Road 1.0633 10.6478 11.7756 0.0178

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

3.6 Paving - 2021
Unmitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

171.6626 171.6626 4.9400e-
003

171.78600.0948 1.2700e-
003

0.0961 0.0266 1.1700e-
003

0.0278Total 0.0679 0.0456 0.6132 1.7200e-
003

171.6626 171.6626 4.9400e-
003

171.78600.0948 1.2700e-
003

0.0961 0.0266 1.1700e-
003

0.0278Worker 0.0679 0.0456 0.6132 1.7200e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 1,709.218
0

1,709.2180 0.5417 1,722.760
5

0.6565 0.6565 0.6051 0.6051Total 1.2411 11.5873 11.8076 0.0178

0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Paving 0.0865

0.0000 1,709.218
0

1,709.2180 0.5417 1,722.760
5

0.6565 0.6565 0.6051 0.6051Off-Road 1.1547 11.5873 11.8076 0.0178EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2ePM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 1,709.110
7

1,709.1107 0.5417 1,722.652
4

0.5826 0.5826 0.5371 0.5371Total 1.1498 10.6478 11.7756 0.0178

0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Paving 0.0865

0.0000 1,709.110
7

1,709.1107 0.5417 1,722.652
4

0.5826 0.5826 0.5371 0.5371Off-Road 1.0633 10.6478 11.7756 0.0178

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

166.1105 166.1105 4.4700e-
003

166.22220.1677 1.2300e-
003

0.1689 0.0445 1.1400e-
003

0.0456Total 0.0633 0.0411 0.5651 1.6700e-
003

166.1105 166.1105 4.4700e-
003

166.22220.1677 1.2300e-
003

0.1689 0.0445 1.1400e-
003

0.0456Worker 0.0633 0.0411 0.5651 1.6700e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Unmitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



166.1105 166.1105 4.4700e-
003

166.22220.1677 1.2300e-
003

0.1689 0.0445 1.1400e-
003

0.0456Worker 0.0633 0.0411 0.5651 1.6700e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Unmitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

281.4481 281.4481 0.0193 281.93090.0941 0.0941 0.0941 0.0941Total 20.0748 1.5268 1.8176 2.9700e-
003

281.4481 281.4481 0.0193 281.93090.0941 0.0941 0.0941 0.0941Off-Road 0.2189 1.5268 1.8176 2.9700e-
003

0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Archit. Coating 19.8559

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

3.7 Architectural Coating - 2021
Unmitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

166.1105 166.1105 4.4700e-
003

166.22220.0948 1.2300e-
003

0.0960 0.0266 1.1400e-
003

0.0277Total 0.0633 0.0411 0.5651 1.6700e-
003

166.1105 166.1105 4.4700e-
003

166.22220.0948 1.2300e-
003

0.0960 0.0266 1.1400e-
003

0.0277Worker 0.0633 0.0411 0.5651 1.6700e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Category lb/day lb/dayEXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



4.0 Operational Detail - Mobile

4.1 Mitigation Measures Mobile

166.1105 166.1105 4.4700e-
003

166.22220.0948 1.2300e-
003

0.0960 0.0266 1.1400e-
003

0.0277Total 0.0633 0.0411 0.5651 1.6700e-
003

166.1105 166.1105 4.4700e-
003

166.22220.0948 1.2300e-
003

0.0960 0.0266 1.1400e-
003

0.0277Worker 0.0633 0.0411 0.5651 1.6700e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 281.4481 281.4481 0.0193 281.93090.0941 0.0941 0.0941 0.0941Total 20.0748 1.5268 1.8176 2.9700e-
003

0.0000 281.4481 281.4481 0.0193 281.93090.0941 0.0941 0.0941 0.0941Off-Road 0.2189 1.5268 1.8176 2.9700e-
003

0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Archit. Coating 19.8559

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

166.1105 166.1105 4.4700e-
003

166.22220.1677 1.2300e-
003

0.1689 0.0445 1.1400e-
003

0.0456Total 0.0633 0.0411 0.5651 1.6700e-
003

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



SBUS MHLHD2 MHD HHD OBUS UBUS MCYLand Use LDA LDT1 LDT2 MDV LHD1

0.00 0.00 0 0 0

4.4 Fleet Mix

0.00 0.00 0 0 0

Parking Lot 16.60 8.40 6.90 0.00

0.00 0.00 0 0 0

Other Non-Asphalt Surfaces 16.60 8.40 6.90 0.00

19.20 40.60 86 11 3

Other Asphalt Surfaces 16.60 8.40 6.90 0.00

H-S or C-C H-O or C-NW Primary Diverted Pass-by

Condo/Townhouse 14.70 5.90 8.70 40.20

4.3 Trip Type Information

Miles Trip % Trip Purpose %

Land Use H-W or C-W H-S or C-C H-O or C-NW H-W or C-
W

Total 412.80 412.80 290.40 1,350,849 1,063,942
Parking Lot 0.00 0.00 0.00

Other Non-Asphalt Surfaces 0.00 0.00 0.00
Other Asphalt Surfaces 0.00 0.00 0.00

Annual VMT

Condo/Townhouse 412.80 412.80 290.40 1,350,849 1,063,942

4.2 Trip Summary Information

Average Daily Trip Rate Unmitigated Mitigated
Land Use Weekday Saturday Sunday Annual VMT

3,718.794
4

3,718.7944 0.1711 3,723.070
6

2.9994 0.0277 3.0272 0.8025 0.0259 0.8284Unmitigated 0.7186 3.6779 9.6072 0.0365

2,976.867
0

2,976.8670 0.1414 2,980.402
3

2.3624 0.0224 2.3847 0.6321 0.0209 0.6529Mitigated 0.6540 3.2462 7.8620 0.0292

NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2

Increase Transit Accessibility

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



438.2955 438.2955 8.4000e-
003

8.0400e-
003

440.90010.0278 0.0278 0.0278 0.0278Condo/Townhouse 3725.51 0.0402 0.3433 0.1461 2.1900e-
003

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Land Use kBTU/yr lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

5.2 Energy by Land Use - NaturalGas
Unmitigated

NaturalGa
s Use

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

438.2955 438.2955 8.4000e-
003

8.0400e-
003

440.90010.0278 0.0278 0.0278 0.0278NaturalGas 
Unmitigated

0.0402 0.3433 0.1461 2.1900e-
003

438.2955 438.2955 8.4000e-
003

8.0400e-
003

440.90010.0278 0.0278 0.0278 0.0278

CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

NaturalGas 
Mitigated

0.0402 0.3433 0.1461 2.1900e-
003

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2OSO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

0.000709 0.000896

5.0 Energy Detail

Historical Energy Use: N

5.1 Mitigation Measures Energy

ROG NOx CO

0.005846 0.021394 0.034255 0.002099 0.001828 0.004855Parking Lot 0.549559 0.042893 0.201564 0.118533 0.015569

0.034255 0.002099 0.001828 0.004855 0.000709 0.000896

0.000709 0.000896

Other Non-Asphalt Surfaces 0.549559 0.042893 0.201564 0.118533 0.015569 0.005846 0.021394

0.005846 0.021394 0.034255 0.002099 0.001828 0.004855Other Asphalt Surfaces 0.549559 0.042893 0.201564 0.118533 0.015569

0.034255 0.002099 0.001828 0.004855 0.000709 0.000896Condo/Townhouse 0.549559 0.042893 0.201564 0.118533 0.015569 0.005846 0.021394EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



6.0 Area Detail

6.1 Mitigation Measures Area

Use Low VOC Paint - Residential Interior

Use Low VOC Paint - Residential Exterior

No Hearths Installed

438.2955 438.2955 8.4000e-
003

8.0400e-
003

440.90010.0278 0.0278 0.0278 0.0278Total 0.0402 0.3433 0.1461 2.1900e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Parking Lot 0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Other Non-Asphalt 
Surfaces

0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Other Asphalt 
Surfaces

0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

438.2955 438.2955 8.4000e-
003

8.0400e-
003

440.90010.0278 0.0278 0.0278 0.0278Condo/Townhouse 3.72551 0.0402 0.3433 0.1461 2.1900e-
003

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Land Use kBTU/yr lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated

NaturalGa
s Use

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

438.2955 438.2955 8.4000e-
003

8.0400e-
003

440.90010.0278 0.0278 0.0278 0.0278Total 0.0402 0.3433 0.1461 2.1900e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Parking Lot 0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Other Non-Asphalt 
Surfaces

0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Other Asphalt 
Surfaces

0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Mitigated

562.0151 1,088.930
2

1,650.9453 1.6847 0.0382 1,704.429
7

4.6107 4.6107 4.6107 4.6107Total 17.1970 1.3021 35.4765 0.0781

8.9302 8.9302 8.6400e-
003

9.14630.0274 0.0274 0.0274 0.0274Landscaping 0.1504 0.0572 4.9634 2.6000e-
004

562.0151 1,080.000
0

1,642.0151 1.6760 0.0382 1,695.283
4

4.5833 4.5833 4.5833 4.5833Hearth 15.7222 1.2449 30.5131 0.0778

0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Consumer 
Products

1.2156

0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Architectural 
Coating

0.1088

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

SubCategory lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

6.2 Area by SubCategory
Unmitigated

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

562.0151 1,088.930
2

1,650.9453 1.6847 0.0382 1,704.429
7

4.6107 4.6107 4.6107 4.6107Unmitigated 17.1970 1.3021 35.4765 0.0781

0.0000 8.9302 8.9302 8.6400e-
003

0.0000 9.14630.0274 0.0274 0.0274 0.0274

CO2e

Category lb/day lb/day

Mitigated 1.4748 0.0572 4.9634 2.6000e-
004

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2OSO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

ROG NOx CO

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



User Defined Equipment

Equipment Type Number

Load Factor Fuel Type

Boilers

Equipment Type Number Heat Input/Day Heat Input/Year Boiler Rating Fuel Type

Fire Pumps and Emergency Generators

Equipment Type Number Hours/Day Hours/Year Horse Power

Hours/Day Days/Year Horse Power Load Factor Fuel Type

10.0 Stationary Equipment

7.0 Water Detail

7.1 Mitigation Measures Water

8.0 Waste Detail

8.1 Mitigation Measures Waste

9.0 Operational Offroad

Equipment Type Number

0.0000 8.9302 8.9302 8.6400e-
003

0.0000 9.14630.0274 0.0274 0.0274 0.0274Total 1.4748 0.0572 4.9634 2.6000e-
004

8.9302 8.9302 8.6400e-
003

9.14630.0274 0.0274 0.0274 0.0274Landscaping 0.1504 0.0572 4.9634 2.6000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hearth 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Consumer 
Products

1.2156

0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Architectural 
Coating

0.1088

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

SubCategory lb/day lb/day

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



11.0 Vegetation

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Vehicle Trips - per applicant

1.3 User Entered Comments & Non-Default Data

Project Characteristics - 

Land Use - Lot footprint acerage provided by client.

Construction Phase - Paving and architectural coating will need longer timelines

Demolition - 

Grading - Lot area of 2.7 acres

CO2 Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

702.44 CH4 Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

0.029 N2O Intensity 
(lb/MWhr)

0.006

31

Climate Zone 10 Operational Year 2022

Utility Company Southern California Edison

1.2 Other Project Characteristics

Urbanization Urban Wind Speed (m/s) 2.2 Precipitation Freq (Days)

Condo/Townhouse 60.00 Dwelling Unit 0.91 60,000.00 172

Parking Lot 15.30 1000sqft 0.35 15,300.00 0

Other Non-Asphalt Surfaces 49.27 1000sqft 1.13 49,270.00 0

Floor Surface Area Population

Other Asphalt Surfaces 13.40 1000sqft 0.31 13,400.00 0

1.0 Project Characteristics

1.1 Land Usage

Land Uses Size Metric Lot Acreage

CalEEMod Version: CalEEMod.2016.3.2
Page 1 of 1 Date: 5/29/2019 10:36 AM

Power Designs and Dev 790 Mesa Ct. - South Coast AQMD Air District, Annual

Power Designs and Dev 790 Mesa Ct.
South Coast AQMD Air District, Annual

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0.0000 404.6554 404.6554 0.0633 0.0000 406.23870.1447 0.1259 0.2706 0.0464 0.1200 0.1664Maximum 0.3346 2.5645 2.2683 4.6800e-
003

0.0000 17.5374 17.5374 4.1800e-
003

0.0000 17.64182.9600e-
003

5.6200e-
003

8.5900e-
003

7.9000e-
004

5.2600e-
003

6.0500e-
003

2021 0.2111 0.1013 0.1218 2.0000e-
004

0.0000 404.6554 404.6554 0.0633 0.0000 406.23870.1447 0.1259 0.2706 0.0464 0.1200 0.16642020 0.3346 2.5645 2.2683 4.6800e-
003

NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Year tons/yr MT/yr

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2

2.0 Emissions Summary

2.1 Overall Construction
Unmitigated Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

tblVehicleTrips ST_TR 5.67 6.88

tblVehicleTrips WD_TR 5.81 6.88

tblGrading AcresOfGrading 7.50 2.70

tblLandUse LotAcreage 3.75 0.91

tblConstructionPhase NumDays 3.00 5.00

tblGrading AcresOfGrading 5.00 2.70

tblConstructionPhase NumDays 6.00 10.00

tblConstructionPhase NumDays 10.00 20.00

tblConstDustMitigation CleanPavedRoadPercentReduction 0 50

tblConstructionPhase NumDays 10.00 20.00

Construction Off-road Equipment Mitigation - 50% reduction from road cleaning

Mobile Land Use Mitigation - 

Area Mitigation - 

Table Name Column Name Default Value New Value

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



6.3731 13.2597 19.6328 0.0200 4.3000e-
004

20.26140.0607 0.0607 0.0607 0.0607Area 0.4570 0.0227 1.0018 1.0100e-
003

CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2

Unmitigated Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Highest 0.7345 0.7345

2.2 Overall Operational

4 10-6-2020 1-5-2021 0.6880 0.6880

5 1-6-2021 4-5-2021 0.2740 0.2740

2 4-6-2020 7-5-2020 0.7265 0.7265

3 7-6-2020 10-5-2020 0.7345 0.7345

Quarter Start Date End Date Maximum Unmitigated ROG + NOX (tons/quarter) Maximum Mitigated ROG + NOX (tons/quarter)

1 1-6-2020 4-5-2020 0.7103 0.7103

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0047.05 0.00 24.89 47.01 0.00 12.86

NBio-CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N20 CO2e

Percent 
Reduction

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

0.0000 404.6551 404.6551 0.0633 0.0000 406.23830.0765 0.1259 0.2024 0.0245 0.1200 0.1446Maximum 0.3346 2.5645 2.2683 4.6800e-
003

0.0000 17.5374 17.5374 4.1800e-
003

0.0000 17.64171.6800e-
003

5.6200e-
003

7.3000e-
003

4.7000e-
004

5.2600e-
003

5.7300e-
003

2021 0.2111 0.1013 0.1218 2.0000e-
004

0.0000 404.6551 404.6551 0.0633 0.0000 406.23830.0765 0.1259 0.2024 0.0245 0.1200 0.14462020 0.3346 2.5645 2.2683 4.6800e-
003

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Year tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



3.0 Construction Detail

Construction Phase

48.22 15.92 16.45 4.60 7.26 16.2421.24 82.44 28.64 21.24 82.73 42.04

NBio-CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N20 CO2e

Percent 
Reduction

35.73 12.86 25.20 29.26

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

6.8428 660.4253 667.2681 0.4887 5.4900e-
003

681.12020.4043 0.0124 0.4167 0.1083 0.0121 0.1205Total 0.3734 0.6542 1.9578 5.3200e-
003

1.2402 24.9427 26.1829 0.1284 3.2200e-
003

30.35300.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Water

5.6026 0.0000 5.6026 0.3311 0.0000 13.88010.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Waste

0.0000 452.3381 452.3381 0.0223 0.0000 452.89500.4043 3.9000e-
003

0.4082 0.1083 3.6400e-
003

0.1120Mobile 0.1056 0.5843 1.3107 4.8900e-
003

0.0000 182.1318 182.1318 5.9100e-
003

2.2700e-
003

182.95505.0700e-
003

5.0700e-
003

5.0700e-
003

5.0700e-
003

Energy 7.3300e-
003

0.0627 0.0267 4.0000e-
004

0.0000 1.0127 1.0127 9.8000e-
004

0.0000 1.03723.4300e-
003

3.4300e-
003

3.4300e-
003

3.4300e-
003

Area 0.2605 7.1500e-
003

0.6204 3.0000e-
005

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Operational

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

13.2159 785.4410 798.6570 0.5123 5.9200e-
003

813.22740.5133 0.0706 0.5839 0.1376 0.0703 0.2079Total 0.5809 0.7507 2.6175 7.5200e-
003

1.2402 24.9427 26.1829 0.1284 3.2200e-
003

30.35300.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Water

5.6026 0.0000 5.6026 0.3311 0.0000 13.88010.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Waste

0.0000 565.1069 565.1069 0.0268 0.0000 565.77800.5133 4.8400e-
003

0.5181 0.1376 4.5200e-
003

0.1421Mobile 0.1166 0.6653 1.5890 6.1100e-
003

0.0000 182.1318 182.1318 5.9100e-
003

2.2700e-
003

182.95505.0700e-
003

5.0700e-
003

5.0700e-
003

5.0700e-
003

Energy 7.3300e-
003

0.0627 0.0267 4.0000e-
004

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Paving Cement and Mortar Mixers 1 8.00 9 0.56

Building Construction Welders 3 8.00 46 0.45

Building Construction Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes 1 6.00 97 0.37

Building Construction Generator Sets 1 8.00 84 0.74

Building Construction Forklifts 2 7.00 89 0.20

Building Construction Cranes 1 8.00 231 0.29

Grading Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes 2 7.00 97 0.37

Grading Rubber Tired Dozers 1 8.00 247 0.40

Grading Graders 1 8.00 187 0.41

Site Preparation Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes 1 7.00 97 0.37

Site Preparation Scrapers 1 8.00 367 0.48

Site Preparation Graders 1 8.00 187 0.41

Demolition Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes 3 8.00 97 0.37

Demolition Rubber Tired Dozers 1 8.00 247 0.40

Load Factor

Demolition Concrete/Industrial Saws 1 8.00 81 0.73

Acres of Grading (Site Preparation Phase): 2.7

Acres of Grading (Grading Phase): 2.7

Acres of Paving: 1.79

Residential Indoor: 121,500; Residential Outdoor: 40,500; Non-Residential Indoor: 0; Non-Residential Outdoor: 0; Striped Parking Area: 
    

OffRoad Equipment

Phase Name Offroad Equipment Type Amount Usage Hours Horse Power

20

6 Architectural Coating Architectural Coating 1/25/2021 2/19/2021 5 20

5 Paving Paving 12/28/2020 1/22/2021 5

10

4 Building Construction Building Construction 2/24/2020 12/25/2020 5 220

3 Grading Grading 2/10/2020 2/21/2020 5

20

2 Site Preparation Site Preparation 2/1/2020 2/7/2020 5 5

End Date Num Days 
Week

Num Days Phase Description

1 Demolition Demolition 1/6/2020 1/31/2020 5

Phase 
Number

Phase Name Phase Type Start DateEXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0.0000 21.0677 21.0677 5.4200e-
003

0.0000 21.20310.0115 0.0115 0.0108 0.0108Off-Road 0.0213 0.2095 0.1466 2.4000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00004.0100e-
003

0.0000 4.0100e-
003

6.1000e-
004

0.0000 6.1000e-
004

CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

Fugitive Dust

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2OSO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

3.1 Mitigation Measures Construction

Water Exposed Area

Clean Paved Roads

3.2 Demolition - 2020
Unmitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO

14.70 6.90 20.00 LD_Mix HDT_Mix HHDT

6.90 20.00 LD_Mix HDT_Mix HHDT

Architectural Coating 1 15.00 0.00 0.00

Paving 6 15.00 0.00 0.00 14.70

14.70 6.90 20.00 LD_Mix HDT_Mix HHDT

6.90 20.00 LD_Mix HDT_Mix HHDT

Building Construction 8 76.00 19.00 0.00

Grading 4 10.00 0.00 0.00 14.70

14.70 6.90 20.00 LD_Mix HDT_Mix HHDT

6.90 20.00 LD_Mix HDT_Mix HHDT

Site Preparation 3 8.00 0.00 0.00

Demolition 5 13.00 0.00 37.00 14.70

Worker Trip 
Length

Vendor Trip 
Length

Hauling Trip 
Length

Worker Vehicle 
Class

Vendor 
Vehicle 
Class

Hauling 
Vehicle 
Class

Trips and VMT

Phase Name Offroad Equipment 
Count

Worker Trip 
Number

Vendor Trip 
Number

Hauling Trip 
Number

Architectural Coating Air Compressors 1 6.00 78 0.48

Paving Tractors/Loaders/Backhoes 1 8.00 97 0.37

Paving Rollers 2 8.00 80 0.38

Paving Paving Equipment 1 8.00 132 0.36

Paving Pavers 1 8.00 130 0.42EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Mitigated Construction Off-Site

0.0000 21.0676 21.0676 5.4200e-
003

0.0000 21.20301.5600e-
003

0.0115 0.0131 2.4000e-
004

0.0108 0.0110Total 0.0213 0.2095 0.1466 2.4000e-
004

0.0000 21.0676 21.0676 5.4200e-
003

0.0000 21.20300.0115 0.0115 0.0108 0.0108Off-Road 0.0213 0.2095 0.1466 2.4000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00001.5600e-
003

0.0000 1.5600e-
003

2.4000e-
004

0.0000 2.4000e-
004

Fugitive Dust

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 2.6801 2.6801 1.4000e-
004

0.0000 2.68341.7500e-
003

3.0000e-
005

1.7700e-
003

4.7000e-
004

3.0000e-
005

4.9000e-
004

Total 7.2000e-
004

5.6300e-
003

5.9600e-
003

2.0000e-
005

0.0000 1.2840 1.2840 4.0000e-
005

0.0000 1.28491.4300e-
003

1.0000e-
005

1.4400e-
003

3.8000e-
004

1.0000e-
005

3.9000e-
004

Worker 5.8000e-
004

4.4000e-
004

4.9200e-
003

1.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 1.3961 1.3961 1.0000e-
004

0.0000 1.39853.2000e-
004

2.0000e-
005

3.3000e-
004

9.0000e-
005

2.0000e-
005

1.0000e-
004

Hauling 1.4000e-
004

5.1900e-
003

1.0400e-
003

1.0000e-
005

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Unmitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 21.0677 21.0677 5.4200e-
003

0.0000 21.20314.0100e-
003

0.0115 0.0155 6.1000e-
004

0.0108 0.0114Total 0.0213 0.2095 0.1466 2.4000e-
004

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Unmitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 5.3817 5.3817 1.7400e-
003

0.0000 5.42521.4300e-
003

1.9400e-
003

3.3700e-
003

1.5000e-
004

1.7900e-
003

1.9400e-
003

Total 4.1300e-
003

0.0498 0.0282 6.0000e-
005

0.0000 5.3817 5.3817 1.7400e-
003

0.0000 5.42521.9400e-
003

1.9400e-
003

1.7900e-
003

1.7900e-
003

Off-Road 4.1300e-
003

0.0498 0.0282 6.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00001.4300e-
003

0.0000 1.4300e-
003

1.5000e-
004

0.0000 1.5000e-
004

Fugitive Dust

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

3.3 Site Preparation - 2020
Unmitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 2.6801 2.6801 1.4000e-
004

0.0000 2.68341.0100e-
003

3.0000e-
005

1.0300e-
003

2.9000e-
004

3.0000e-
005

3.1000e-
004

Total 7.2000e-
004

5.6300e-
003

5.9600e-
003

2.0000e-
005

0.0000 1.2840 1.2840 4.0000e-
005

0.0000 1.28498.1000e-
004

1.0000e-
005

8.2000e-
004

2.3000e-
004

1.0000e-
005

2.4000e-
004

Worker 5.8000e-
004

4.4000e-
004

4.9200e-
003

1.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 1.3961 1.3961 1.0000e-
004

0.0000 1.39852.0000e-
004

2.0000e-
005

2.1000e-
004

6.0000e-
005

2.0000e-
005

7.0000e-
005

Hauling 1.4000e-
004

5.1900e-
003

1.0400e-
003

1.0000e-
005

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0.0000 0.1975 0.1975 1.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.19771.2000e-
004

0.0000 1.3000e-
004

3.0000e-
005

0.0000 4.0000e-
005

Total 9.0000e-
005

7.0000e-
005

7.6000e-
004

0.0000

0.0000 0.1975 0.1975 1.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.19771.2000e-
004

0.0000 1.3000e-
004

3.0000e-
005

0.0000 4.0000e-
005

Worker 9.0000e-
005

7.0000e-
005

7.6000e-
004

0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 5.3817 5.3817 1.7400e-
003

0.0000 5.42525.6000e-
004

1.9400e-
003

2.5000e-
003

6.0000e-
005

1.7900e-
003

1.8500e-
003

Total 4.1300e-
003

0.0498 0.0282 6.0000e-
005

0.0000 5.3817 5.3817 1.7400e-
003

0.0000 5.42521.9400e-
003

1.9400e-
003

1.7900e-
003

1.7900e-
003

Off-Road 4.1300e-
003

0.0498 0.0282 6.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00005.6000e-
004

0.0000 5.6000e-
004

6.0000e-
005

0.0000 6.0000e-
005

Fugitive Dust

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 0.1975 0.1975 1.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.19772.2000e-
004

0.0000 2.2000e-
004

6.0000e-
005

0.0000 6.0000e-
005

Total 9.0000e-
005

7.0000e-
005

7.6000e-
004

0.0000

0.0000 0.1975 0.1975 1.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.19772.2000e-
004

0.0000 2.2000e-
004

6.0000e-
005

0.0000 6.0000e-
005

Worker 9.0000e-
005

7.0000e-
005

7.6000e-
004

0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Mitigated Construction On-Site

0.0000 0.4938 0.4938 1.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.49425.5000e-
004

0.0000 5.5000e-
004

1.5000e-
004

0.0000 1.5000e-
004

Total 2.2000e-
004

1.7000e-
004

1.8900e-
003

1.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.4938 0.4938 1.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.49425.5000e-
004

0.0000 5.5000e-
004

1.5000e-
004

0.0000 1.5000e-
004

Worker 2.2000e-
004

1.7000e-
004

1.8900e-
003

1.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Unmitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 9.0556 9.0556 2.9300e-
003

0.0000 9.12880.0315 4.9500e-
003

0.0365 0.0167 4.5500e-
003

0.0213Total 9.6100e-
003

0.1067 0.0497 1.0000e-
004

0.0000 9.0556 9.0556 2.9300e-
003

0.0000 9.12884.9500e-
003

4.9500e-
003

4.5500e-
003

4.5500e-
003

Off-Road 9.6100e-
003

0.1067 0.0497 1.0000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0315 0.0000 0.0315 0.0167 0.0000 0.0167Fugitive Dust

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

3.4 Grading - 2020
Unmitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0.0000 228.4088 228.4088 0.0464 0.0000 229.56780.1043 0.1043 0.1000 0.1000Off-Road 0.2517 1.9177 1.6387 2.7500e-
003

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

3.5 Building Construction - 2020
Unmitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 0.4938 0.4938 1.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.49423.1000e-
004

0.0000 3.2000e-
004

9.0000e-
005

0.0000 9.0000e-
005

Total 2.2000e-
004

1.7000e-
004

1.8900e-
003

1.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.4938 0.4938 1.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.49423.1000e-
004

0.0000 3.2000e-
004

9.0000e-
005

0.0000 9.0000e-
005

Worker 2.2000e-
004

1.7000e-
004

1.8900e-
003

1.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 9.0555 9.0555 2.9300e-
003

0.0000 9.12880.0123 4.9500e-
003

0.0173 6.5200e-
003

4.5500e-
003

0.0111Total 9.6100e-
003

0.1067 0.0497 1.0000e-
004

0.0000 9.0555 9.0555 2.9300e-
003

0.0000 9.12884.9500e-
003

4.9500e-
003

4.5500e-
003

4.5500e-
003

Off-Road 9.6100e-
003

0.1067 0.0497 1.0000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0123 0.0000 0.0123 6.5200e-
003

0.0000 6.5200e-
003

Fugitive Dust

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Mitigated Construction Off-Site

0.0000 228.4086 228.4086 0.0464 0.0000 229.56750.1043 0.1043 0.1000 0.1000Total 0.2517 1.9177 1.6387 2.7500e-
003

0.0000 228.4086 228.4086 0.0464 0.0000 229.56750.1043 0.1043 0.1000 0.1000Off-Road 0.2517 1.9177 1.6387 2.7500e-
003

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 133.9728 133.9728 5.7400e-
003

0.0000 134.11640.1049 1.8000e-
003

0.1067 0.0282 1.7000e-
003

0.0299Total 0.0443 0.2517 0.3719 1.4400e-
003

0.0000 82.5689 82.5689 2.3700e-
003

0.0000 82.62810.0917 7.1000e-
004

0.0924 0.0244 6.5000e-
004

0.0250Worker 0.0373 0.0286 0.3166 9.1000e-
004

0.0000 51.4040 51.4040 3.3700e-
003

0.0000 51.48830.0132 1.0900e-
003

0.0143 3.8000e-
003

1.0500e-
003

4.8500e-
003

Vendor 7.0000e-
003

0.2230 0.0553 5.3000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Unmitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 228.4088 228.4088 0.0464 0.0000 229.56780.1043 0.1043 0.1000 0.1000Total 0.2517 1.9177 1.6387 2.7500e-
003

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Unmitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 3.1012 3.1012 9.8000e-
004

0.0000 3.12571.3100e-
003

1.3100e-
003

1.2100e-
003

1.2100e-
003

Total 2.4800e-
003

0.0232 0.0236 4.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Paving 1.7000e-
004

0.0000 3.1012 3.1012 9.8000e-
004

0.0000 3.12571.3100e-
003

1.3100e-
003

1.2100e-
003

1.2100e-
003

Off-Road 2.3100e-
003

0.0232 0.0236 4.0000e-
005

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

3.6 Paving - 2020
Unmitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 133.9728 133.9728 5.7400e-
003

0.0000 134.11640.0605 1.8000e-
003

0.0623 0.0173 1.7000e-
003

0.0190Total 0.0443 0.2517 0.3719 1.4400e-
003

0.0000 82.5689 82.5689 2.3700e-
003

0.0000 82.62810.0520 7.1000e-
004

0.0527 0.0146 6.5000e-
004

0.0153Worker 0.0373 0.0286 0.3166 9.1000e-
004

0.0000 51.4040 51.4040 3.3700e-
003

0.0000 51.48838.5100e-
003

1.0900e-
003

9.6000e-
003

2.6600e-
003

1.0500e-
003

3.7000e-
003

Vendor 7.0000e-
003

0.2230 0.0553 5.3000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0.0000 0.2963 0.2963 1.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.29651.9000e-
004

0.0000 1.9000e-
004

5.0000e-
005

0.0000 5.0000e-
005

Total 1.3000e-
004

1.0000e-
004

1.1400e-
003

0.0000

0.0000 0.2963 0.2963 1.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.29651.9000e-
004

0.0000 1.9000e-
004

5.0000e-
005

0.0000 5.0000e-
005

Worker 1.3000e-
004

1.0000e-
004

1.1400e-
003

0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 3.1012 3.1012 9.8000e-
004

0.0000 3.12571.3100e-
003

1.3100e-
003

1.2100e-
003

1.2100e-
003

Total 2.4800e-
003

0.0232 0.0236 4.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Paving 1.7000e-
004

0.0000 3.1012 3.1012 9.8000e-
004

0.0000 3.12571.3100e-
003

1.3100e-
003

1.2100e-
003

1.2100e-
003

Off-Road 2.3100e-
003

0.0232 0.0236 4.0000e-
005

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 0.2963 0.2963 1.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.29653.3000e-
004

0.0000 3.3000e-
004

9.0000e-
005

0.0000 9.0000e-
005

Total 1.3000e-
004

1.0000e-
004

1.1400e-
003

0.0000

0.0000 0.2963 0.2963 1.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.29653.3000e-
004

0.0000 3.3000e-
004

9.0000e-
005

0.0000 9.0000e-
005

Worker 1.3000e-
004

1.0000e-
004

1.1400e-
003

0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Mitigated Construction On-Site

0.0000 1.1468 1.1468 3.0000e-
005

0.0000 1.14761.3200e-
003

1.0000e-
005

1.3300e-
003

3.5000e-
004

1.0000e-
005

3.6000e-
004

Total 5.0000e-
004

3.7000e-
004

4.1800e-
003

1.0000e-
005

0.0000 1.1468 1.1468 3.0000e-
005

0.0000 1.14761.3200e-
003

1.0000e-
005

1.3300e-
003

3.5000e-
004

1.0000e-
005

3.6000e-
004

Worker 5.0000e-
004

3.7000e-
004

4.1800e-
003

1.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Unmitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 12.4038 12.4038 3.9300e-
003

0.0000 12.50214.6600e-
003

4.6600e-
003

4.3000e-
003

4.3000e-
003

Total 9.2000e-
003

0.0852 0.0942 1.4000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Paving 6.9000e-
004

0.0000 12.4038 12.4038 3.9300e-
003

0.0000 12.50214.6600e-
003

4.6600e-
003

4.3000e-
003

4.3000e-
003

Off-Road 8.5100e-
003

0.0852 0.0942 1.4000e-
004

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

3.6 Paving - 2021
Unmitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Archit. Coating 0.1986

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

3.7 Architectural Coating - 2021
Unmitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 1.1468 1.1468 3.0000e-
005

0.0000 1.14767.5000e-
004

1.0000e-
005

7.6000e-
004

2.1000e-
004

1.0000e-
005

2.2000e-
004

Total 5.0000e-
004

3.7000e-
004

4.1800e-
003

1.0000e-
005

0.0000 1.1468 1.1468 3.0000e-
005

0.0000 1.14767.5000e-
004

1.0000e-
005

7.6000e-
004

2.1000e-
004

1.0000e-
005

2.2000e-
004

Worker 5.0000e-
004

3.7000e-
004

4.1800e-
003

1.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 12.4038 12.4038 3.9300e-
003

0.0000 12.50214.6600e-
003

4.6600e-
003

4.3000e-
003

4.3000e-
003

Total 9.2000e-
003

0.0852 0.0942 1.4000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Paving 6.9000e-
004

0.0000 12.4038 12.4038 3.9300e-
003

0.0000 12.50214.6600e-
003

4.6600e-
003

4.3000e-
003

4.3000e-
003

Off-Road 8.5100e-
003

0.0852 0.0942 1.4000e-
004

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Mitigated Construction Off-Site

0.0000 2.5533 2.5533 1.8000e-
004

0.0000 2.55769.4000e-
004

9.4000e-
004

9.4000e-
004

9.4000e-
004

Total 0.2008 0.0153 0.0182 3.0000e-
005

0.0000 2.5533 2.5533 1.8000e-
004

0.0000 2.55769.4000e-
004

9.4000e-
004

9.4000e-
004

9.4000e-
004

Off-Road 2.1900e-
003

0.0153 0.0182 3.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Archit. Coating 0.1986

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated Construction On-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 1.4335 1.4335 4.0000e-
005

0.0000 1.43451.6500e-
003

1.0000e-
005

1.6600e-
003

4.4000e-
004

1.0000e-
005

4.5000e-
004

Total 6.3000e-
004

4.6000e-
004

5.2300e-
003

2.0000e-
005

0.0000 1.4335 1.4335 4.0000e-
005

0.0000 1.43451.6500e-
003

1.0000e-
005

1.6600e-
003

4.4000e-
004

1.0000e-
005

4.5000e-
004

Worker 6.3000e-
004

4.6000e-
004

5.2300e-
003

2.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Unmitigated Construction Off-Site

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

0.0000 2.5533 2.5533 1.8000e-
004

0.0000 2.55769.4000e-
004

9.4000e-
004

9.4000e-
004

9.4000e-
004

Total 0.2008 0.0153 0.0182 3.0000e-
005

0.0000 2.5533 2.5533 1.8000e-
004

0.0000 2.55769.4000e-
004

9.4000e-
004

9.4000e-
004

9.4000e-
004

Off-Road 2.1900e-
003

0.0153 0.0182 3.0000e-
005

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



4.2 Trip Summary Information

Average Daily Trip Rate Unmitigated Mitigated

0.0000 565.1069 565.1069 0.0268 0.0000 565.77800.5133 4.8400e-
003

0.5181 0.1376 4.5200e-
003

0.1421Unmitigated 0.1166 0.6653 1.5890 6.1100e-
003

0.0000 452.3381 452.3381 0.0223 0.0000 452.89500.4043 3.9000e-
003

0.4082 0.1083 3.6400e-
003

0.1120Mitigated 0.1056 0.5843 1.3107 4.8900e-
003

NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2

4.0 Operational Detail - Mobile

4.1 Mitigation Measures Mobile

Increase Transit Accessibility

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

0.0000 1.4335 1.4335 4.0000e-
005

0.0000 1.43459.3000e-
004

1.0000e-
005

9.4000e-
004

2.6000e-
004

1.0000e-
005

2.7000e-
004

Total 6.3000e-
004

4.6000e-
004

5.2300e-
003

2.0000e-
005

0.0000 1.4335 1.4335 4.0000e-
005

0.0000 1.43459.3000e-
004

1.0000e-
005

9.4000e-
004

2.6000e-
004

1.0000e-
005

2.7000e-
004

Worker 6.3000e-
004

4.6000e-
004

5.2300e-
003

2.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Vendor 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hauling 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



CO2e

Category tons/yr MT/yr

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2OSO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

0.000709 0.000896

5.0 Energy Detail

Historical Energy Use: N

5.1 Mitigation Measures Energy

ROG NOx CO

0.005846 0.021394 0.034255 0.002099 0.001828 0.004855Parking Lot 0.549559 0.042893 0.201564 0.118533 0.015569

0.034255 0.002099 0.001828 0.004855 0.000709 0.000896

0.000709 0.000896

Other Non-Asphalt Surfaces 0.549559 0.042893 0.201564 0.118533 0.015569 0.005846 0.021394

0.005846 0.021394 0.034255 0.002099 0.001828 0.004855Other Asphalt Surfaces 0.549559 0.042893 0.201564 0.118533 0.015569

0.034255 0.002099 0.001828 0.004855 0.000709 0.000896

SBUS MH

Condo/Townhouse 0.549559 0.042893 0.201564 0.118533 0.015569 0.005846 0.021394

LHD2 MHD HHD OBUS UBUS MCYLand Use LDA LDT1 LDT2 MDV LHD1

0.00 0.00 0 0 0

4.4 Fleet Mix

0.00 0.00 0 0 0

Parking Lot 16.60 8.40 6.90 0.00

0.00 0.00 0 0 0

Other Non-Asphalt Surfaces 16.60 8.40 6.90 0.00

19.20 40.60 86 11 3

Other Asphalt Surfaces 16.60 8.40 6.90 0.00

H-S or C-C H-O or C-NW Primary Diverted Pass-by

Condo/Townhouse 14.70 5.90 8.70 40.20

4.3 Trip Type Information

Miles Trip % Trip Purpose %

Land Use H-W or C-W H-S or C-C H-O or C-NW H-W or C-
W

Total 412.80 412.80 290.40 1,350,849 1,063,942
Parking Lot 0.00 0.00 0.00

Other Non-Asphalt Surfaces 0.00 0.00 0.00
Other Asphalt Surfaces 0.00 0.00 0.00

Annual VMT

Condo/Townhouse 412.80 412.80 290.40 1,350,849 1,063,942

Land Use Weekday Saturday Sunday Annual VMTEXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

72.9960

Other Asphalt 
Surfaces

0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

5.0700e-
003

0.0000 72.5647 72.5647 1.3900e-
003

1.3300e-
003

4.0000e-
004

5.0700e-
003

5.0700e-
003

5.0700e-
003

Land Use kBTU/yr tons/yr MT/yr

Condo/Townhouse 1.35981e+
006

7.3300e-
003

0.0627 0.0267

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2eFugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

72.9960

Mitigated

NaturalGa
s Use

ROG NOx CO SO2

5.0700e-
003

0.0000 72.5647 72.5647 1.3900e-
003

1.3300e-
003

4.0000e-
004

5.0700e-
003

5.0700e-
003

5.0700e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total 7.3300e-
003

0.0627 0.0267

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000

Parking Lot 0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Other Non-Asphalt 
Surfaces

0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

72.9960

Other Asphalt 
Surfaces

0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

5.0700e-
003

0.0000 72.5647 72.5647 1.3900e-
003

1.3300e-
003

4.0000e-
004

5.0700e-
003

5.0700e-
003

5.0700e-
003

Condo/Townhouse 1.35981e+
006

7.3300e-
003

0.0627 0.0267

NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Land Use kBTU/yr tons/yr MT/yr

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2

5.2 Energy by Land Use - NaturalGas
Unmitigated

NaturalGa
s Use

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

0.0000 72.5647 72.5647 1.3900e-
003

1.3300e-
003

72.99605.0700e-
003

5.0700e-
003

5.0700e-
003

5.0700e-
003

NaturalGas 
Unmitigated

7.3300e-
003

0.0627 0.0267 4.0000e-
004

0.0000 72.5647 72.5647 1.3900e-
003

1.3300e-
003

72.99605.0700e-
003

5.0700e-
003

5.0700e-
003

5.0700e-
003

NaturalGas 
Mitigated

7.3300e-
003

0.0627 0.0267 4.0000e-
004

0.0000 109.5671 109.5671 4.5200e-
003

9.4000e-
004

109.95910.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Electricity 
Unmitigated

0.0000 109.5671 109.5671 4.5200e-
003

9.4000e-
004

109.95910.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Electricity 
Mitigated

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0.0000Other Non-Asphalt 
Surfaces

0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

108.2468

Other Asphalt 
Surfaces

0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Land Use kWh/yr t
o
n

MT/yr

Condo/Townhouse 338524 107.8609 4.4500e-
003

9.2000e-
004

109.9591

Mitigated

Electricity 
Use

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Total 109.5671 4.5200e-
003

9.3000e-
004

0.0000

Parking Lot 5355 1.7062 7.0000e-
005

1.0000e-
005

1.7123

Other Non-Asphalt 
Surfaces

0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

108.2468

Other Asphalt 
Surfaces

0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Land Use kWh/yr t
o
n

MT/yr

Condo/Townhouse 338524 107.8609 4.4500e-
003

9.2000e-
004

72.9960

5.3 Energy by Land Use - Electricity
Unmitigated

Electricity 
Use

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

5.0700e-
003

0.0000 72.5647 72.5647 1.3900e-
003

1.3300e-
003

4.0000e-
004

5.0700e-
003

5.0700e-
003

5.0700e-
003

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Total 7.3300e-
003

0.0627 0.0267

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000

Parking Lot 0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Other Non-Asphalt 
Surfaces

0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Architectural 
Coating

0.0199

NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

SubCategory tons/yr MT/yr

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2

20.2614

6.2 Area by SubCategory
Unmitigated

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

0.0607 6.3731 13.2597 19.6328 0.0200 4.3000e-
004

1.0100e-
003

0.0607 0.0607 0.0607

1.0127 1.0127 9.8000e-
004

0.0000 1.0372

Unmitigated 0.4570 0.0227 1.0018

3.4300e-
003

3.4300e-
003

3.4300e-
003

3.4300e-
003

0.0000

Category tons/yr MT/yr

Mitigated 0.2605 7.1500e-
003

0.6204 3.0000e-
005

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2 Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2eFugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

ROG NOx CO SO2

109.9591

6.0 Area Detail

6.1 Mitigation Measures Area

Use Low VOC Paint - Residential Interior

Use Low VOC Paint - Residential Exterior

No Hearths Installed

Total 109.5671 4.5200e-
003

9.3000e-
004

Parking Lot 5355 1.7062 7.0000e-
005

1.0000e-
005

1.7123EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Category t
o
n

MT/yr

7.0 Water Detail

7.1 Mitigation Measures Water

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

0.0000 1.0127 1.0127 9.8000e-
004

0.0000 1.03723.4300e-
003

3.4300e-
003

3.4300e-
003

3.4300e-
003

Total 0.2605 7.1500e-
003

0.6204 3.0000e-
005

0.0000 1.0127 1.0127 9.8000e-
004

0.0000 1.03723.4300e-
003

3.4300e-
003

3.4300e-
003

3.4300e-
003

Landscaping 0.0188 7.1500e-
003

0.6204 3.0000e-
005

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Hearth 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Consumer 
Products

0.2219

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Architectural 
Coating

0.0199

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

SubCategory tons/yr MT/yr

PM10 
Total

Fugitive 
PM2.5

Exhaust 
PM2.5

PM2.5 
Total

Bio- CO2 NBio- CO2

Mitigated

ROG NOx CO SO2 Fugitive 
PM10

Exhaust 
PM10

6.3731 13.2597 19.6328 0.0200 4.3000e-
004

20.26140.0607 0.0607 0.0607 0.0607Total 0.4570 0.0227 1.0018 1.0000e-
003

0.0000 1.0127 1.0127 9.8000e-
004

0.0000 1.03723.4300e-
003

3.4300e-
003

3.4300e-
003

3.4300e-
003

Landscaping 0.0188 7.1500e-
003

0.6204 3.0000e-
005

6.3731 12.2470 18.6201 0.0190 4.3000e-
004

19.22420.0573 0.0573 0.0573 0.0573Hearth 0.1965 0.0156 0.3814 9.7000e-
004

0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.00000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000Consumer 
Products

0.2219 EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0.0000Other Non-Asphalt 
Surfaces

0 / 0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

30.3530

Other Asphalt 
Surfaces

0 / 0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Land Use Mgal t
o
n

MT/yr

Condo/Townhouse 3.90924 / 
2.46452

26.1829 0.1284 3.2200e-
003

30.3530

Mitigated

Indoor/Out
door Use

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Total 26.1829 0.1284 3.2200e-
003

0.0000

Parking Lot 0 / 0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Other Non-Asphalt 
Surfaces

0 / 0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

30.3530

Other Asphalt 
Surfaces

0 / 0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Land Use Mgal t
o
n

MT/yr

Condo/Townhouse 3.90924 / 
2.46452

26.1829 0.1284 3.2200e-
003

7.2 Water by Land Use
Unmitigated

Indoor/Out
door Use

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Unmitigated 26.1829 0.1284 3.2200e-
003

30.3530

Mitigated 26.1829 0.1284 3.2200e-
003

30.3530EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



0.0000Other Non-Asphalt 
Surfaces

0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

13.8801

Other Asphalt 
Surfaces

0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Land Use tons t
o
n

MT/yr

Condo/Townhouse 27.6 5.6026 0.3311 0.0000

8.2 Waste by Land Use
Unmitigated

Waste 
Disposed

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

 Unmitigated 5.6026 0.3311 0.0000 13.8801

t
o
n

MT/yr

 Mitigated 5.6026 0.3311 0.0000 13.8801

30.3530

8.0 Waste Detail

8.1 Mitigation Measures Waste

Category/Year

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Total 26.1829 0.1284 3.2200e-
003

Parking Lot 0 / 0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



User Defined Equipment

Load Factor Fuel Type

Boilers

Equipment Type Number Heat Input/Day Heat Input/Year Boiler Rating Fuel Type

Horse Power Load Factor Fuel Type

10.0 Stationary Equipment

Fire Pumps and Emergency Generators

Equipment Type Number Hours/Day Hours/Year Horse Power

13.8801

9.0 Operational Offroad

Equipment Type Number Hours/Day Days/Year

Total 5.6026 0.3311 0.0000

0.0000

Parking Lot 0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Other Non-Asphalt 
Surfaces

0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

13.8801

Other Asphalt 
Surfaces

0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000

Land Use tons t
o
n

MT/yr

Condo/Townhouse 27.6 5.6026 0.3311 0.0000

13.8801

Mitigated

Waste 
Disposed

Total CO2 CH4 N2O CO2e

Total 5.6026 0.3311 0.0000

Parking Lot 0 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Equipment Type Number

11.0 Vegetation

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

 

Exhibit L – Biological Resources Assessment 

 
EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

Davey Resource Group, Inc. 

Ojai, CA  93023 
(805) 946-1700        david.lee@davey.com 

August 5, 2019 
 
Greg Powers 
Powers Design & Development 
790 Mesa Court E 
Upland, CA 91786 
 
Subject:  Limited Biological Resources Review – Upland Mesa Court Apartments 

790 Mesa Court E, Upland, CA 91786  
 

Dear Mr. Powers, 
 
I am pleased to present you with the conclusions of a Limited Biological Resources Review you requested 
for the above project. This Review was executed to evaluate the proposed project area henceforth called 
the Site or Project Site, for the presence of sensitive plant and wildlife species and their respective 
habitats. 
 
Based on a site visit and literature review of the proposed project plans, project construction will occur in 
a suburban setting with limited habitat for native species. No sensitive species were observed onsite 
during our field visit or found during our desktop review. Given these parameters, we conclude: 
 

• The project will have no significant impacts on native plant or wildlife populations 
 

• No rare plants were observed, and no rare plant habitat was detected.   
 

No additional field surveys or mitigations are recommended unless nesting birds or burrowing owls are 
observed. I thank you for the opportunity to provide you with this Limited Biological Resources Review. 
If there are any questions regarding this report, please contact the undersigned at the phone number 
listed below.   
Sincerely, 

 
David N. Lee, 
Senior Biologist 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Davey Resource Group, Inc.                      Page 2                                                                                                                                                                    
Limited Biological Resources Review  
Upland Mesa Court Apartments 
 

 
 
Project Site Setting  
The Project Site is located on private property in a residential district of Upland, California, within San 
Bernardino County.  
  
Proposed Project Description 

The project involves the construction of eleven residential townhouse apartment buildings for a total 
of sixty units, as well as associated parking structures and landscaping. The project site area is 2.69 
acres (or 117,176 square feet). The estimated total building footprint is 2.53 acres (or 110,388 square 

feet). The project will include the demolition of an existing six-unit apartment in the later phase of 
development.  
 
Methods 
On July 16, 2019, Mr. David N. Lee, Senior Biologist, conducted a desktop literature review of the site. 
He reviewed the California Natural Diversity Database (CNDDB) Rarefind 5 data, the California 
Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) and BIOS websites to review the site for potential habitat for 
Threatened, Endangered, and listed Species. The literature search included a five-mile radius from the 
Project Site. Mr. Lee also checked the US Fish and Wildlife Service Critical Habitat Mapper for any critical 
habitat in or near the project area. 
 

Additionally, Mr. Lee reviewed the plan drawings provided by the client and online aerial 
photography and satellite imagery to assess the characteristics and suitability of the Project Site and 
areas surrounding for species habitat.  Mr. Lee also reviewed the USFWS National Wetlands Inventory 
(NWI) Wetlands Mapper for designated wetland areas and online maps to determine the proximity to 
Wilderness Areas and USFWS National Wildlife Refuges.   
 
On July 23, 2019 Ms. Lauren Garstka, DRG associate biologist, conducted a general site visit to survey for 
native flora, fauna, and habitat, as required by the City of Upland. The survey took place from 8:36 am 
to 9:39 am, where weather conditions were partly cloudy and exhibited calm winds with a temperature 
of about 80 degrees Fahrenheit. Ms. Garstka focused on surveying for rare plant and wildlife species, 
but all wildlife species and habitat were documented. Ms. Garstka used meandering transects to survey 
the entire Site for plants and wildlife. 

 
Findings and Conclusions 
Based on the field visit, the Project Site is primarily disturbed/ ruderal habitat (please see attachments 
for site photos). Bare ground comprised approximately 86% of the site, with 11% comprising of patches 
of non-native herbaceous vegetation, trees, and overhanging vegetation, and 3% comprising of 
pavement from a previous parking lot. Other evidence of disturbance included compacted soils, 
discarded concrete, and miscellaneous refuse. 
 
The herbaceous vegetation (herbs) consisted almost entirely of non-native plants. One native herb, 
narrowleaf milkweed, was observed though not to the extent of the non-native plants. No native trees 
were observed within the Site, with only palm trees, one ash tree, and several overhanging canopies 
from trees adjacent to the survey area. Trees and tree canopies comprised about 10% of aerial cover of 
the site. No rare plants were observed and no rare plant habitat was detected.   

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Davey Resource Group, Inc.                      Page 3                                                                                                                                                                    
Limited Biological Resources Review  
Upland Mesa Court Apartments 
 

 
 
 

Observed Plant Species^ 

Latin Name Common Name 

Ambrosia sp. ragweed 

Asclepias fascicularis* narrowleaf milkweed 

Asteracea Aster species 

Cupressus sp.** cypress 

Cynodon dactylon Bermuda grass 

Cyperaceae sedge 

Erigeron bonariensis flax-leaved horseweed 

Ficus sp. ** ficus  

Fraxinus sp. ash  

Pinus sp.**  pine  

Poaceae young grasses, including non-native bromes 

Sonchus oleraceus sow thistle 

Tribulus terrestris puncture vine 

Ulmus parvifolia Chinese elm 

Washingtonia robusta Mexican fan-palm 

*native 
**tree canopy overhanging into Project Site 
^partial plant list; survey was not intended to create a complete plant list for the Site 
 
Only one wildlife species, a common raven (Corvus corvax), was detected for the duration of the survey.  
 
Although the site is within predicted burrowing owl habitat, no burrowing owls or potential burrows 
were observed on the Project Site.   
 
Based on a review of the CNDDB data for a five (5) mile radius around the project site for both plants and 
wildlife, six (6) federally endangered species, one (1) federally threatened species, three (3) state 
endangered species, one (1) state threatened species, and one (1) candidate threatened species are 
located within the literature search radius.  Additionally, fourteen (14) C D F W  Species of Special 
Concern and fifteen (15) plants listed by the California Native Plant Society are known to exist within 
five miles of the Project Site. Due to the absence of appropriate habitat, none of these listed species are 
expected to be on the Site. Please see Attachments, CNDDB data for details. 
 

Federally Listed Species State Listed Species Other 

Endangered Threatened Endangered Threatened Candidate 
Threatened 

Sp. of Special 
Concern 

CA Native Plant 
Society 

6 1 3 1 1 14 15 
 
No wetlands were located at the Project Site using the National Wetlands Inventory (please see 
attachments), and there are no Wilderness Areas or National Refuges onsite or nearby.  
 
Based on a review of the proposed project plans and site visit, the residential development will take 
place in a highly suburban setting that has been previously disturbed and has moderate potential for 
burrowing owl habitat.  

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Davey Resource Group, Inc.                      Page 4                                                                                                                                                                    
Limited Biological Resources Review  
Upland Mesa Court Apartments 
 

 
Given these parameters, we conclude: 
 

• The project will have no significant impacts to native plant or wildlife populations 
 

• No rare plants were observed, and no rare plant habitat was detected.   
 
 No additional field surveys or mitigations are recommended unless nesting birds or burrowing owls are 
observed. 
 
Limitations and Restrictions 
Species of Special Concern and State and Federally Listed Threatened and/or Endangered Species and 
their habitat have been researched remotely using a review of available species data, aerial photography 
and photographs. Although a general site visit was conducted, no detailed or protocol field surveys were 
conducted to search for rare or listed species, including Species of Special Concern, State and Federally 
Listed Threatened and/or Endangered Species. 
 
  

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Davey Resource Group, Inc.                      Page 5                                                                                                                                                                    
Limited Biological Resources Review  
Upland Mesa Court Apartments 
 

 

APPENDICES 

 

 
Location of Project Site (red marker) 

 

 
Aerial view of the Project Site 

 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Davey Resource Group, Inc.                      Page 6                                                                                                                                                                    
Limited Biological Resources Review  
Upland Mesa Court Apartments 
 

 

National Wetlands Inventory Map accessed 8-5-19 

 

 

 

 

  

Project site 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Davey Resource Group, Inc.                      Page 7                                                                                                                                                                    
Limited Biological Resources Review  
Upland Mesa Court Apartments 
 

 
Site Photographs 

 

View of the Project Site from the NW corner 

 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Davey Resource Group, Inc.                      Page 8                                                                                                                                                                    
Limited Biological Resources Review  
Upland Mesa Court Apartments 
 

 

View of the Project Site from the SW corner 

 

View of the Project Site from the SE corner 

 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Davey Resource Group, Inc.                      Page 9                                                                                                                                                                    
Limited Biological Resources Review  
Upland Mesa Court Apartments 
 

 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



Davey Resource Group, Inc.                      Page 10                                                                                                                                                                    
Limited Biological Resources Review  
Upland Mesa Court Apartments 
 

 

 
CNDDB Search Results – 5 mile radius 

EXCERPT: Planning Commission Packet from December 11, 2019



 

 

Exhibit C – Campus Avenue Existing Condition  

 



Exhibit C – Campus Avenue Existing Condition 

 



 

 

Exhibit D – Public Work Plan and Standards 

 








	AGENDA 1/22/20
	Minutes 12/11/19
	Item 1. SPR-18-02, GPA-18-04, CZ-18-04, TT-18-03, SP-18-10, DR-18-14, EAR-0070 (Villa Serena)
	1A. Draft Resolution
	1B. PC Packet from 12/11/19
	a. Vicinity Map
	b. General Plan and Zoning Map
	c. Villa Serena Specific Plan
	d. Tentative Tract Map
	e. Site Plan
	f. Architectural Plans
	g. Open Space Plan
	h. Storm Drain Plan
	i. Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration

	1C. Response to Public Comments
	INTRODUCTION
	COMMENT LETTER A: SHAWN GOEHRING
	COMMENT LETTER B: BILL RODSTROM
	COMMENT LETTER C: PHILIP A. FERREE
	COMMENT LETTER D: DANTE ZAPPIA
	COMMENT LETTER E: ELVIS MARTINEZ
	COMMENT LETTER F: SANDRA RAMOS
	COMMENT LETTER G: PETER SHUPE
	COMMENT LETTER H: SANDRA SIDDERS
	COMMENT LETTER I: ROBYN AND NATHAN TAN
	COMMENT LETTER J: CARYN ZAPPIA
	Comment Letter K: Catina Simons
	COMMENT LETTER L: ROGER FLORES
	COMMENT LETTER M: BRENDA ROBLES
	COMMENT LETTER N: TEENA ROMERO

	1D. Villa Serena Public Notice for 1/22/20

	Item 2.  CUP-19-05, SP-19-02, DR-19-02, TPM-19-01, EAR-0079 (Mesa Court)
	2A. Revised Draft Resolution
	2B. PC Packet from 12/11/19
	Staff Report
	a. Draft Resolution
	b. Vicinity Map
	c. General Plan and Zoning Map
	d. Tentative Parcel Map
	e. Site Plan
	f. Colored Elevations
	g. Floor Plans
	h. Preliminary Landscape Plan and Open Space Plan
	i. Traffic Impact Analysis
	j. Noise Analysis
	k. Air Quality Analysis
	l. Biological Resources Assessment

	2C. Campus Avenue Exisiting Condition
	2D. Public Work Plan and Standards




